
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OCTOBER 20, 2016 • Page 1 of 4 

MEETING OF THE 

TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

2 NORTH MAIN STREET 

3rd FLOOR – CONFERENCE ROOM 

THURSDAY, OCTOBER 20, 2016 

3:30 P.M. 

AGENDA 

1. Discuss, as may be needed, Regular Meeting agenda items for the meeting posted for Thursday,
October 20, 2016.

2. Discuss Meet and Confer Agreement between the City of Temple and the Temple Police
Association.”

3. Discuss contemplated litigation regarding Temple City Code Chapter 16, Article VIII, “Tattoo
Shops.”

Executive Session – Texas Government Code Section 551.071, Consultations with Attorney –
The City Council may meet in executive session to consult with the City Attorney when the City
Council is seeking the advice of its attorney about pending or contemplated litigation.



REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OCTOBER 20, 2016 • Page 2 of 4 

5:00 P.M. 

 MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

2 NORTH MAIN STREET 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 2ND FLOOR 

TEMPLE, TX 

TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

I. CALL TO ORDER
1. Invocation

2. Pledge of Allegiance

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS
Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may sign up to do so prior to this meeting. 
Public comments will be received during this portion of the meeting.  Please limit comments to three 
minutes.  No discussion or final action will be taken by the City Council.  

III. PROCLAMATIONS & SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS
3. Czech Heritage Month October 2016 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA
All items listed under this section, Consent Agenda, are considered to be routine by the City Council 
and may be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be removed 
from the Consent Agenda at the request of any Councilmember and will be considered separately. 

4. Consider adopting a resolution approving the Consent Agenda items and the appropriate
resolutions and ordinances for each of the following:

Minutes

(A) October 6, 2016 Special and Regular Meeting

Contracts, Leases, & Bids

(B) 2016-8391-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of portions of two
properties necessary for the expansion of Old Howard Road and Moores Mill Road and
authorizing closing costs associated with the purchases, in an amount not to exceed
$36,500.

(C) 2016-8392-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of 1,272 plastic
96-gallon garbage and recycling containers from Toter, Inc., of Statesville, NC, in the
amount of $57,267.52.



REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OCTOBER 20, 2016 • Page 3 of 4 
 

(D) 2016-8393-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of two Toro 
Groundsmaster 5900 mowers from Professional Turf Products, L.P. of Euless, in the 
amount of $183,534.35. 
 

(E) 2016-8394-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing change order #3 to the contract 
with Nelson Lewis, Inc. of Marble Falls, to deduct $27,700 from the construction contract 
for the North 3rd Street and East Adams Avenue Water Line Improvements. 
 

(F) 2016-8395-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a contract with TMI Coatings, 
Inc. of St. Paul, MN, for a lump sum price of $344,400, for construction services required 
to rehabilitate Water Treatment Plant Clarifiers #1 and #2. 
 

(G) 2016-8396-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing high-speed data service during 
FY2017 through Grande Communications Networks LLC, of Dallas, in the estimated 
annual amount of $75,000. 
 

(H) 2016-8397-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the fourth year funding of a five 
year dedicated access services (Telephone and Data Service) agreement with Time 
Warner Cable Enterprises, LLC in the estimated annual amount of $51,000. 
 

(I) 2016-8398-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a Chapter 380 Economic 
Development Agreement between the City of Temple and Temple Economic 
Development Corporation for the conveyance of 14.868 acres of City-owned property 
located at 2575 Lucius McCelvey Drive, Temple. 
 

(J) 2016-8399-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a Chapter 380 Development 
Agreement with Central Texas Castles, Ltd., in an amount not to exceed $57,218, for 
improvements to property located at 19 South Main Street within the Downtown Strategic 
Investment Zone corridor. 
 

(K) 2016-8400-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a five-year lease agreement 
with United Way of Central Texas, for lease of space in the Public Services Building 
located at 102 East Central Avenue. 
 

(L) 2016-8401-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the renewal of an Interlocal 
Agreement with Bell County for the Bell County Crime Coalition project that is 
administered by the Bell County Juvenile Probation Department.   
 

(M) 2016-8402-R: Consider adopting a resolution ratifying a meet and confer agreement with 
the Temple Police Association. 

 Ordinances – Second & Final Reading 
 

(N) 1. 2016-4809: SECOND READING: Consider adopting an ordinance authorizing an 
 amendment to the Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Financing 
 and Project Plans to align with the 2022 Master Plan for years FY 2016-2062. 
 
2.  2016-8403-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a professional 
 services agreement with Kasberg, Patrick & Associates, LP, for a lump sum 
 amount of $35,600, to provide design and construction documents for the Martin 
 Luther King Festival Fields in downtown Temple. 



REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING OCTOBER 20, 2016 • Page 4 of 4 
 

 Misc. 
 

(O) 2016-8404-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing budget amendments for fiscal 
year 2016-2017. 
 

V. REGULAR AGENDA 

ORDINANCES – FIRST READING/PUBLIC HEARING  
 
5. 2016-4811: FIRST READING - PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-16-45: Consider adopting an 

ordinance authorizing a Conditional Use Permit to allow the sales of all alcoholic beverages with 
on-premise consumption, where the gross revenue from such sales is less than 50% of the total 
gross revenue of the establishment, on Lots 2 through 7, 10 & 11, Block 1 of the Highline 
Addition, subdivision, located generally at the northwest corner of Scott Boulevard and South 
31st Street. 

 
6. 2016-4812: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-16-46: Consider adopting an 

ordinance authorizing a rezoning from Commercial to Planned Development Commercial on Lot 
2, Block 1, Tranum Subdivision Phase VIII, located at 5806 South General Bruce Drive, to allow 
for a Recreational Vehicle rental business in the I-35 Corridor Overlay District. 

 
ORDINANCES – SECOND READING 
 
7.  2016-4810: SECOND READING – Z-FY-16-43: Consider adopting an ordinance authorizing a 

rezoning from Agricultural District to Single Family Attached-Three, Multi-Family-Two, 
Neighborhood Service and General Retail Districts on 42.066 +/- acres, Lot 1, Block 1, First 
Baptist-Temple West Campus, located at 8015 West Adams Avenue. 

 
8. 2016-4768: SECOND READING: Consider adopting an ordinance amending Chapter 16 of the 

Code of Ordinances to delete Article VIII, “Tattoo Shops.”   
 
9. 2016-4769: SECOND READING – Z-FY-16-23: Consider adopting an ordinance  amending the 

Temple Unified Development Code (UDC): Article 5 – Use Standards, deleting “tattoo parlor” as 
a prohibited use; allowing Body Piercing Studios and Tattoo Studios by right in Light Industrial, 
Heavy Industrial, General Retail, and Commercial zoning districts; providing certain limitations; 
Article 6 – Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts, prohibiting body Piercing Studios and 
Tattoo Studios in the Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay; and Article 11 – Definitions, providing 
definitions for Body Piercing, Body Piercing Studio, Tattoo, and Tattoo Studio. 

 

The City Council reserves the right to discuss any items in executive (closed) session whenever permitted by the 
Texas Open Meetings Act. 
 
I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of this Notice of Meeting was posted in a public place at 
2:00 PM, on Friday, October 14, 2016. 
 
 
_________________________ 
City Secretary, TRMC 
 



COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 

10/20/16 
Item #4(A) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW: 

Lacy Borgeson, City Secretary  

ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Approve Minutes: 

(A) October 6, 2016 Special and Regular Meeting 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve minutes as presented in item description. 

ITEM SUMMARY: Copies of minutes are enclosed for Council review. 

FISCAL IMPACT: N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 
October 6, 2016 Special and Regular Meeting 



TEMPLE CITY COUNCIL

OCTOBER 6, 2016

The City Council of the City of Temple, Texas conducted a Meeting on Thursday, 
October 6, 2016 at 4:00 PM, at the Municipal Building, 2 North Main Street, in 
the 3rd Floor Conference Room.

PRESENT:

Mayor Pro Tem Perry Cloud
Councilmember Timothy Davis
Councilmember Michael Pilkington
Councilmember Judy Morales
Mayor Daniel A. Dunn

1. Discuss, as may be needed, Regular Meeting agenda items for the
meeting posted for Thursday, October 6, 2016.

Mayor Pro Tem Cloud stated he would abstain from discussing item #7
(Z-FY-16-43).

2. Discuss the City’s current Emergency Medical Services Agreement
and alternative options for the provision of Emergency Medical
Services in the City.

Chief Mitch Randles, Fire Department, provided an overview of the current
contract as well as the proposed changes.

At this time approximately, 4:00 p.m., Mayor Dunn announced that the City 
Council would enter an executive session to discuss both items 3 and 4 on the 
workshop agenda.

3. Discuss the status of right-of-way acquisition for the expansion of
Outer Loop Phase 3B (Old Waco Road) and the purchase of properties
necessary for construction of the project. Executive Session -
Pursuant to Chapter 551, Government Code Section 551.072 - Real
Property - The City Council may enter into executive session to
discuss the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property
relating to City projects, the public discussion of which would have a
detrimental effect on negotiations with a third party.

4. Discuss the status of right-of-way acquisition for the proposed Santa
Fe Plaza and the purchase of properties necessary for construction of
the project. Executive Session - Pursuant to Chapter 551, Government
Code Section 551.072 - Real Property - The City Council may enter
into executive session to discuss the purchase, exchange, lease or

Page 1 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



value of real property relating to City projects, the public discussion 
of which would have a detrimental effect on negotiations with a third 
party.

At approximately, 4:50 p.m., Mayor Dunn adjourned the executive session of the 
City Council workshop.

The City Council of the City of Temple, Texas conducted a Regular Meeting on 
Thursday, October 6, 2016 at 5:00 PM in the Council Chambers, Municipal 
Building, 2nd Floor, 2 North Main Street.  

Present: 
Councilmember Perry Cloud 
Councilmember Timothy Davis 
Councilmember Judy Morales 
Councilmember Michael Pilkington 
Mayor Daniel A. Dunn 

I. CALL TO ORDER

1. Invocation

Associate Pastor, Matthew Dugan, with Immanuel Baptist Church 
voiced the Invocation.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

Welba Dorsey and members of the Nation Society Colonial Dames 
led the Pledge of Allegiance.

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS Citizens who desire to address the Council on 
any matter may sign up to do so prior to this meeting.  Public 
comments will be received during this portion of the meeting.  Please 
limit comments to three minutes.  No discussion or final action will be 
taken by the City Council.

Milton Hensley, thanked the Council for their for support during the 8th 
Annual Life Chain.

Ethel Canyon, Brookdale Meridian 4312 South 31st Street, respectfully 
asked the Council to consider a traffic light on South 31st near the entrance 
of property.  It is difficult to exit onto 31st Street.

III. PROCLAMATIONS & SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS

3. Recognize the sponsors for the 9/11 Cen-Tex remembrance stair 
climb

Page 2 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



Chief Randles recognized those that sponsored the 9/11 Cen-Tex 
stair climb.

4. National Colonial Heritage Month  October 2016

Mayor Dunn presented this proclamation to Ms. Dorsey and members 
of the National Society Colonial Dames.

IV. CONSENT AGENDA

5. Consider adopting a resolution approving the Consent Agenda 
items and the appropriate resolutions and ordinances for each of 
the following:

(A) September 15, 2016 Special and Regular Meeting

(B) 2016-8367-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
purchase of a yearly 2016-2017 sole source maintenance 
contract with Sungard Public Sector in the amount of 
$144,164.46.

(C) 2016-8368-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
purchase of a yearly 2016-2017 sole source maintenance 
contract with Intergraph Public Safety in the amount of $45,277.

(D) 2016-8369-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
single-source purchase of Heil repair parts and services during 
FY2017 from Heil of Texas in the estimated annual amount of 
$60,000.

(E) 2016-8370-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
single-source purchase of Toro service and repair parts during 
FY2017 from Professional Turf Products, LP of Euless in the 
estimated annual amount of $40,000.

(F) 2016-8371-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
single-source purchase and repair of public safety radios during 
FY2017 from Dailey-Wells Communications, Inc. of San Antonio 
in the estimated annual amount of $25,000.

(G) 2016-8372-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
purchase of bunker gear during FY2017 from NAFECO of 
Decatur, AL and Dooley Tackaberry, Inc. of Deer Park in the 
estimated annual amount of $52,050.

(H) 2016-8373-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
purchase of park amenities for Jaycee Neighborhood Park from 

Page 3 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



The PlayWell Group Inc. of Albuquerque, New Mexico, in the 
amount of $40,932.15.

(I) 2016-8374-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
purchase of a Vactor truck from Freightliner of Austin of Austin 
in the amount of $344,990.

(J) 2016-8375-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
construction contract with Joel Brown & Co. LLC of Elm Mott in 
the amount of $73,640.17 for the construction of a concrete slab 
for the relocation of the Temple Skate Park to Miller Park.

(K) 2016-8376-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
construction contract with Webuildfun, Inc. of Allen in the 
amount of $263,943.21 for the purchase and installation of park 
amenities for Jaycee Neighborhood Park.

(L) 2016-8377-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
services agreement with Liberty Press of Springville, UT, in the 
estimated annual amount of $26,000 for the printing and mailing 
of the Play-by-Play and summer camp brochures for FY2017.

(M) 2016-8378-R: Consider adopting a resolution ratifying an 
agreement with National Joint Powers Alliance to enable the City 
to utilize contracts competitively procured by NJPA.

(N) 2016-8379-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing 
contract amendment #3 to the professional services agreement 
with Kasberg, Patrick & Associates, LP, in an amount not to 
exceed $37,996, for additional services needed to phase the 
design of Research Parkway from IH35 to Central Pointe 
Parkway within the Reinvestment Zone No.1 in northwest 
Temple.

(O) 2016-8380-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
professional services agreement with Kasberg, Patrick and 
Associates, LP in the amount not to exceed $56,760 for final 
design and bid phase services for Water Treatment Plant 
Chlorine Storage Safety Improvements.

(P) 2016-8381-R: Consider adopting a resolution entering into a 
services agreement with ASA District 17 in the estimated annual 
amount of $50,000 for officiating/scorekeeping services as 
contracted for various sporting events.

(Q) 2016-8382-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing an 
agreement with Turley Associates, Inc., in the amount of 

Page 4 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



$115,929.12, for professional services required to implement the 
Conner Park drainage channel improvements.

(R) 2016-8383-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the 
City Manager to enter into an agreement with the Texas Lobby 
Group in an amount not to exceed $66,000 for legislative 
lobbying services through September 30, 2017.

(S) 2016-8384-R: Consider adopting a resolution approving a 
Memorandum of Understanding with the Bell/Lampasas Counties 
Community Supervision and Corrections Department in the 
amount of $7,500.

(T) 2016-4807: SECOND READING - Z-FY-16-38: Consider 
adopting an ordinance authorizing a rezoning from the 
Agricultural zoning district to the Planned Developed-Two Family 
zoning district on 13.39 +/- acres, Lot Tract 7 and Lot Tract 
8,Bluebonnet Ridge Estates, 1985 South Pea Ridge and 2255 
South Pea Ridge.

(U) 2016-4808: SECOND READING - Z-FY-16-42: Consider 
adopting an ordinance authorizing a rezoning from General 
Retail District to Planned Development – General Retail District 
with conditions, on Lot 1, Block 1, Daniel A. Magana Subdivision, 
located at 1801 East Adams Avenue.

(V) 2016-8385-R: A-FY-16-08: Consider adopting a resolution 
authorizing the abandonment of a 20 foot wide city utility 
easement encompassing approximately .075 acres, located on a 
portion of Lot 6, Block 1, and a portion of Lot 7, Block 1, of 
Adams Island Commercial in the City of Temple, Bell County, 
Texas

(W) 2016-8386-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
payment to Kinloch Equipment and Supply, Inc of Pasadena for 
the repair of a 2005 Vactor truck in the amount of $29,903.33.

Motion by Councilmember Judy Morales approve Consent Agenda as 
presented seconded by Councilmember Timothy Davis.

Motion passed unanimously.

ORDINANCES- FIRST READING/PUBLIC HEARING

6. 2016-4809: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING: Consider 
adopting an ordinance authorizing an amendment to the Tax 
Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Financing and 

Page 5 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



Project Plans to align with the 2022 Master Plan for years FY 
2016-2062.

Traci Barnard, Director of Finance presented this item to the Council.  
The Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Finance and Project Committees have 
met and discussed the 2022 Master Plan Projects. The result of the 
meeting is recommended changes to the Financing and Project Plans 
to continue with the execution of the 2022 Master Plan. The focus of 
the proposed amendment is for the fiscal years 2016-2020, however, 
state law requires a financing and project plan to span the life of the 
Zone.

Beginning in FY 2021 through 2062, the balance of funding for 
general “non-project specific” improvements is allocated to this line 
item. The amount was determined based on the remaining funds 
available after amounts were allocated for operating expenditures, 
debt service, projects and maintaining an amount of fund balance of 
no less than $2,000,000.

At their September 28, 2016, regular meeting, the Reinvestment Zone 
No. 1 Board approved the recommendation of this amendment.

Mayor Dunn declared the public hearing open with regards to agenda 
item 6 and asked if anyone wished to address this item. There being 
none, Mayor Dunn declared the public hearing closed.

Motion by Councilmember Perry Cloud adopt ordinance as presented 
on first reading, with second and final reading set for October 20, 
2016. seconded by Councilmember Judy Morales.

Motion passed unanimously.

7. 2016-4810: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-16-43: 
Consider adopting an ordinance authorizing a rezoning from 
Agricultural District to Single Family Attached-Three, Multi-
Family-Two, Neighborhood Service and General Retail Districts 
on 42.066 +/- acres, Lot 1, Block 1, First Baptist-Temple West 
Campus, located at 8015 West Adams Avenue.

Mark Baker, Senior Planner presented this case to the Council. 
He noted that staff's recommendation is different than what was 
originally requested by the applicant.  The subject property, being a 
portion of Lot 1 of the recorded First Baptist Church-Temple West 
Campus subdivision plat, specifically, contains approximately 42.066 
+/- acres. It is being proposed for rezoning from Agricultural (AG) 
district to the four zoning districts described in the referenced Item 
Description.  The property is currently undeveloped but is anticipated 

Page 6 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



to be developed by zoning district in the following manner by separate 
investors:

1. General Retail (GR) / Neighborhood Service (NS): Non-
Residential permitted and conditionally-permitted uses as 
allowed by UDC Section 5.1,

2. Single-Family Attached-Three (SFA-3), such as single family 
(attached & detached), townhomes & patio homes): Potential for 
single-family attached or extension of detached residential uses 
consistent with existing housing stock in the adjacent Meadows 
subdivision,

3. Multi-Family Two (MF-2): An apartment complex, pending this 
rezoning request. 

It should be noted however that while uses are anticipated, in 
particular the apartment complex, there are a number of residential 
and non-residential uses that are permitted by right between the four 
districts. In addition, conceptual building elevation designs from other 
Texas apartment complexes, likely to be considered by the developer, 
have been attached for review and includes one example with five 
stories. It should be further noted however that the proposed MF-2 
zoning has a height restriction of four stories. The applicant has 
indicated that the apartment complex will likely be three stories. 
Prohibited uses include HUD-Code manufactured homes and land 
lease communities most commercial & industrial uses.

The applicant / developer has indicated to staff the maximum building 
height would likely be three-stories, staff has suggested limiting the 
height to three stories at the property line rather than the four stories 
allowed by the MF-2 zoning district. To date, staff has not received 
any response to this suggested recommendation. As of Monday this 
week, the developer of the proposed 250 unit apartment complex has 
withdrawn the application.  The applicant continues to pursue a 
number of other options to include a 115 unit age-restricted apartment 
complex on the MF-2 tract.  This has not been confirmed with the 
developers as of yet.  The extension of the Westfield is no longer 
part of this request (as presented to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission); and will be address with future plat.  These changes 
warrant consideration for a planned development to ensure the 
buffering and screening are adequate.

The subject property takes access from West Adams Avenue 
(FM2305), an arterial which will only provide immediate access to the 
GR-zoned portion. Access to the three remaining portions would be 
from the anticipated extension of Westfield Boulevard, a proposed 
minor arterial. Design for the future extension of Westfield Boulevard 
has been taken into consideration based on preliminary discussion 
between the applicant’s development team and planning staff. The 
conceptual circulation plan shows the proposed extension of 

Page 7 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



Westfield Boulevard, that will be dealt with at a later date with the 
platting process. Additionally, it identifies the division between the 
proposed SFA-3 and MF-2 zoning districts following the centerline of 
a potential extension of Tanglehead Drive.

Circulation from the extension of Westfield Boulevard into the Hills of 
Westwood, subdivision to the south of the subject property, is 
proposed to connect through an undeveloped lot at Iron Gate Drive 
and ultimately connect to Tarver Drive. Conceptual design from the 
engineer indicates that Westfield Boulevard would be extended 
across West Adams Avenue as a minor arterial (92-foot ROW) and 
reduce down to 60-foot ROW as an oversized collector at its 
connection with Iron Gate Drive on the southern boundary of the 
development. It should be noted that no homes front on Iron Gate 
Drive between this access point and its intersection with Tarver Drive.

The developer, at this time, is not proposing improvements to a 
potential Tanglehead Drive extension which is currently classified as 
a local street. However, there is a cost-sharing improvement with a 
separate developer to extend Tanglehead Drive from Meadowbrook 
Drive to its intersection with Old Waco Road (Outer Loop). 
Improvements are currently in the design stage with the Public Works 
Department. No other City improvements are proposed to 
Tanglehead Drive at this time. Discussion about sidewalk on the cost-
shared section of Tanglehead Drive is on-going but are currently not 
proposed.

In the case of Tanglehead Drive, increased circulation demands and 
future development could be reduced by the extension of Tanglehead 
Drive as well as scheduled TCIP improvements may provide 
functionality as a collector and warrant reclassification to a collector. 
Reclassification to a collector street requires a Thoroughfare Plan 
amendment. Discussion and design is on-going but will be addressed 
formally with the review of the subdivision plat. No other issues at this 
time have been identified.

As a result, the request is compliant with the Thoroughfare Plan, due 
to the applicant’s commitment to extend Westfield Boulevard. The 
extension of Westfield Boulevard as well as considerations for the 
extension of Tanglehead Drive would be addressed and finalized 
during the subdivision plat review following the rezoning 
determination by City Council.

Enhanced Buffering and Screening: The development of the 
apartment complex within the multi-family-zoned portion of the 
request warrants consideration for enhanced screening for the single 
family lots of the adjacent Hills of Westwood subdivision. While 
enhanced screening and buffering standards cannot be required 
without the use of a Planned Development, after meeting with 

Page 8 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



planning staff, the applicant agreed to enhanced landscape standards 
adopted for the Master Zoning for the Westfield Planned 
Development. The enhanced standards will be incorporated into the 
private deed restrictions.

The Master Zoning for the Westfield development was adopted by 
Ordinance 2015-4717 and addressed the overall 224.549 +/- acre 
Westfield Planned Development, north of West Adams and east and 
west of Westfield Boulevard. The Addendum to the Purchase 
Contract between the developer and the First Baptist Church has 
been attached, which provide for the enhanced buffer and screening 
standards. The language in the addendum is acceptable to Planning 
staff. The attached concept is found and illustrated on page 3-7 of the 
Choice 08 - Comprehensive Plan.

Staff will anticipate a copy of the draft deed restrictions during the plat 
review stage at design review (DRC). This enhanced landscaping and 
buffering is anticipated to reduce the impacts of the apartment 
complex to the adjacent Hills of Westwood subdivision. The Planning 
& Zoning Commission would be the final approval authority unless an 
exception is requested.

Staff recommends approval of the requested rezoning as a Planned 
Development, rezoning from Agricultural “AG” District to: a Planned 
Development – General Retail “PD-GR”; a planned Development - 
Neighborhood Service “PD-NS”; a Planned Development - Single-
Family-Attached Three “PD-SFA-3” and; a Planned Development - 
Multi-Family Two “PD-MF-2” districts. This subject to three 
Conditions of which the applicant is in agreement with.  (1) Enhance 
landscaping; (2) a detailed development plan and/or subdivision plat 
be submitted for review and consideration to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and Council; and (3) building height is limited to three 
stories at the landscape buffer of the multi-family-zone tract, nearest 
to the existing single family residential uses.

Mayor Dunn declared the public hearing open with regards to agenda 
item 7, and asked if anyone wished to address this item.  

Scott Mosinger, 506 North Cliff Drive (Broker of the developers), was 
present for questions.  He also noted that they are trying to address 
the concerns that have been voiced by the surrounding property 
owners.  This will be a quality product with adequate buffers.   Mr. 
Mosinger stated they are currently negotiating other options for 
smaller development, a 115 unit senior facility; no children.  Mr. 
Mosinger asked Council for favorable consideration.

Larry Neal, 4720 Ascott Parkway, member of Property Committee for 
First Baptist Church, read a letter from Judge Jon Burrows.  Asked for 

Page 9 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



favorable consideration as the sale of this (42 acres) property as it 
will allow for expansion of services at First Baptist Church.  

Tom Morgan, 812 Copper Ridge Loop addressed his concerns 
regarding this request. He asked if Iron Gate be open and extended 
along Adams? He stated his concerned for the traffic pattern. Mr. 
Morgan request that more information be available to the neighbors 
prior to any decisions being made.

Kelly Graham, realtor, concerned with the effect this development will 
have on property values.  Mr. Graham stated she believed that 
apartments and duplexes will hinder those values.

Loretta Adams 7312 Brandon Drive,  addressed the Council.  She 
noted her concerns with privacy issues and was not in favor of a 
multi-story development.  She expressed her concerns for the 
increased traffic.

Adam Paul, 912 Copper Ridge Loop, expressed his concerns.  He 
noted the notification to the property owners was not adequate; and 
feels as though there is deception.  Mr. Paul is concerned for 
his property values and the increased traffic. 

John Thomas, lives at the end of Iron Gate noted he too was 
concerned with property values.  The opening of Tarver to Freedom 
Village will contribute to unnecessary traffic. 

Johnny Sodek,  704 Cooper Ridge Loop, asked the Council to vote 
against this request as the development will have adverse affects on 
the property valuesbe effected.

There being no further comments, Mayor Dunn declared the public 
hearing closed.

Motion by Councilmember Timothy Davis adopt ordinance as 
presented with Staff's recommendation on first reading, with second 
and final reading set for October 20, 2016 seconded by 
Councilmember Judy Morales.

Councilmember Perry Cloud abstained. The other Councilmembers 
voted aye.  The motion passed.

V. REGULAR AGENDA

At this time Mayor Dunn stated he would read item 13, and take the rest of 
the agenda out of order.

RESOLUTIONS

Page 10 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



13. 2016-8390-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
services agreement with LIT Consultants, LLC, in the 
amount of $22,500, for the completion of ASHRAE Level II 
Energy Audits at multiple City facilities.

Ashley Williams, General Services Manager presented this item 
to the Council.  The project will result in the performance of an 
ASHRAE Level II Energy Audit, performed by an experienced 
Certified Energy Manager and a Professional Engineer. Staff is 
currently evaluating numerous facility improvement projects that 
have the option to be funded through the State Energy 
Conservation Office LoanSTAR Revolving Loan Program. In 
order to apply energy audits must be completed. 

In FY 2016 staff had the following buildings assessed, under a 
previous agreement totaling $15,000, (1) police station; (2) 
Santa Fe Depot; (3) Animal Shelter; (4) Mayborn Convention 
Center; and (5) Library.  These buildings were chosen based off 
of higher maintenance and energy costs. The provided Energy 
Audit report discussed a high level of information for staff to use 
in order to improve the operations, maintenance and energy use 
of the above City facilities. LIT Consulting, LLC discussed the 
option of funding projects through the SECO LoanSTAR 
program. The program finances energy-related cost-reduction 
retrofits through low-interest rate loans to assist borrowers in 
financing their energy-related cost-reduction efforts. In the next 
three years the City has numerous HVAC and lighting 
upgrade/replacement projects that can be funded through this 
program, enabling the City to be more proactive, increase 
comfort and save energy/funding.

In order to fully identify and account for future projects that are 
eligible under this program, staff is recommending to have 
Energy Audits completed on the following additional buildings, in 
the amount of $22,500: (1)Historic Post Office; (2)City Hall; (3)
Municipal Court/Utility Billing Office; (4) Summit Family Fitness; 
(5) Airport; (6) Service Center A, B, and C; (7) Gober Party 
House; (8) Central Fire Station; (9) Fire Stations 8, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 
and 7; (10) Sammons Golf Course - Club House and Indoor 
Pool; (11) Blackmon Center; (12) Patsy Luna Building; (13) 
PARD Shop; (14) Clarence Martin; (15) Code Enforcement.

The application for the SECO LoanSTAR program is due 
November 15, 2016. Therefore, work needs to begin as soon as 
possible in order to assess each potential project and complete 
the application. With the addition of the above buildings, the 
combined contracts total $37,500. Therefore, staff is seeking 
approval of the additional contract.

Page 11 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



These services are being recommended without a competitive 
bidding process under the professional services exemption 
under the Local Government Code 252.022.

Motion by Councilmember Perry Cloud adopt 
resolution seconded by Councilmember Michael Pilkington.

Motion passed unanimously.

10. 2016-8387-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
one-year renewal to a construction contract with APAC-
Texas, Inc. of Cedar Park for FY2017 in an estimated annual 
amount of $2,897,455 for the street overlay program. 

Nicole Torralva, Director of Public Works, provided a brief 
overview of the program to the Council.She noted that 
authorization of this one year contract extension will provide 
continued street overlay improvements during FY2017 under 
the City’s Street Legacy Program.    On March 3, 2016, Council 
authorized a construction contract with APAC-Texas for the 
2016 Overlay Program. The current contract expired on 
September 30, 2016. The original bid allowed for four additional 
one-year extensions. In order to renew the contract, the vendor 
must agree to hold their prices firm for an additional year, which 
they are willing to do.  

Staff is pleased with the services provided by APAC-Texas, and 
staff believes that the pricing is still a good value. Pavement 
assessment and evaluation criteria have been established to 
identify the roadways which will receive the maintenance work.   
Attached is the FY2017 Legacy Pavement Preservation 
Program Plan that outlines the anticipated roadways that will 
have overlay improvements installed during FY2017. It is 
important to note that this list is subject to change based on 
other capital project needs that may arise during the fiscal year.

The street overlay project was funded with the issuance of CO 
Bonds sold in January 2016. The overlay project was originally 
funded in the amount of $5,425,000, which funded the street 
overlay project for FY2016 and FY2017.

Motion by Councilmember Timothy Davis adopt 
resolution seconded by Councilmember Judy Morales.

Motion passed unanimously.

Page 12 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



11. 2016-8388-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a 
Construction Manager-at-Risk guaranteed maximum price 
construction contract with RM Rodriguez Construction, LP, 
of Temple in the amount of $1,577,100 for the renovations 
to Sammons Community Center.

Chuck Ramm, Assistant Director of Parks and Recreation 
Services presented this item to the Council.  On November 5, 
2015, Council authorized the use of the Construction Manager-
at-Risk (CMAR) delivery method for two projects approved in 
the 2015 Parks Bond: renovations to the Wilson Park 
Recreation Center and the Sammons Community Center. Then 
on February 18, 2016, Council authorized a CMAR contract for 
both projects with RM Rodriguez Construction, LP, (RMR) with 
the following fees related to the Sammons Community Center 
project: pre-construction phase fee of $2,500, on-site 
management fee (general conditions) of $7,425 per month for 
three months and $8,325 per month for the final three months, 
and a profit and overhead fee (construction phase services fee) 
of 2.75%.

On September 19, 2016, RMR opened proposals for the 
construction services for the Sammons Community Center 
project, and has presented to the City a proposed Guaranteed 
Maximum Price (GMP) proposal in the amount of $1,577,100. 
The GMP includes general condition fees and a construction 
phase service fee of $47,250 and $41,540, respectively. 

The Sammons Community Center project includes the following: 
the addition of an approximate 2,000 sf community room in the 
northwest corner of the facility, the addition of an approximate 
2,900 sf Trex deck off of the Morris Ballroom, the incorporation 
of several of the patio areas into interior space on the east side 
of the facility, flooring replacement throughout the facility, roof 
replacement, parking lot and vehicular entrance improvements 
(including the removal of the tennis courts), and other interior 
improvements throughout.

It is anticipated that the Wilson Park Recreation Center will 
close to the public by October 31, 2016, to allow for the 6-month 
renovation project to commence by November 1, 2016. It is 
anticipated that the project will be complete by April 30, 2017, at 
which time it will re-open to the public. 

The remaining GO Bond funds will be used to purchase 
furniture and technology items necessary to complete the 
Sammons Community Center project.

Mayor Pro Tem Cloud abstained; while all other voted in favor.

Page 13 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



Motion by Councilmember Michael Pilkington adopt 
resolution seconded by Councilmember Perry Cloud.

Motion passed unanimously.

8. 2016-4768: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING. Consider 
adopting an ordinance amending Chapter 16 of the Code of 
Ordinances to delete Article VIII, “Tattoo Shops.”

Mayor Dunn read both items 8 & 9 for discussion.

Brian Chandler, Director of Planning presented this item to the 
Council.  He reviewed the current standards in Section 16 as 
follows: 

Sec. 16-108. Definitions. For the purposes of this article, the 
following words and phrases shall be construed as follows: 
Tattooing or Tattoo means the practice of marking the skin with 
indelible patterns or pictures by making punctures and inserting 
pigments by someone other than a licensed physician. Tattoo 
operator means any person, other than a licensed physician, 
who actually performs the work of tattooing, or who operates, 
conducts or manages a tattoo shop, whether actually performing 
the work of tattooing or not. 

Sec. 16-109. Tattooing Prohibited. It shall be unlawful for any 
person within the city limits to operate a tattoo shop or engage 
in the practice or business of tattooing as a tattoo operator.  

Sec. 5.1.1 Prohibited Uses C. Tattoo parlor; Current definition 
also applies to “permanent makeup” or “micropigmentation” or 
“intradermal cosmetics” (Consistent with the Texas Health and 
Safety Code); Body Piercing Studios (Code currently does not 
define; Not currently in the use table; Would be classified as 
“retail sales and service uses other than listed,” which are 
allowed in NS, GR, C, LI and HI zoning districts). 

Mr. Chandler then reviewed P&Z and Staff's recommendations 
as follows.

(1) Delete Chapter 16, Article VIII, “Tattoo Shops” 
(2) New definitions for body piercing, body piercing studio, tattoo 
and tattoo studio 
(3) Amend UDC to allow “Tattoo and Body Piercing Studios” 
according to the following: 
(4) Location Standards (1) Allow in GR, C, LI and HI by 
right •1000’ distance requirement between them (measured 

Page 14 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



from property lines) •1000’ distance from schools (2) Prohibit in 
I-35 Corridor Overlay and SIZ grant corridors 
(5) Staff is recommending a separate handwashing station  

Staff also added additional requirement for location standards 
for tattooing, body piercing or permanent makeup (1) Allow in C, 
LI and HI by right •1000’ distance requirement between them 
(measured from property lines) •1000’ distance from 
schools •1000’ distance from churches (2) Prohibit in I-35 
Corridor Overlay and SIZ grant corridors; and (3) Allow in GR by 
right only if part of a licensed beauty salon (licensed by TDLR) 
providing at least 1 additional salon service regulated by TDLR.

Mayor Dunn declared the public hearing open with regard to 
agenda items 8 & 9 and asked if anyone wished to address 
either of these items. 

Mr. Milton Hensley, 301 Mitchell Drive spoke against this 
ordinance change. 

Christopher Simmons, 2710 Prime Rose Trial (owner Lucky in 
Love Tattoo) addressed the Council. He asked for favorable 
consideration for this change as he believes it is his 
Constitutional right to express art in this manner.  He also asked 
the Council for equal and fair treatment for studios.

JD Zeptner addressed the Council with concerns for the hours 
of operation? 

There being no further comments, Mayor Dunn declared the 
public hearing closed.

Mayor Pro Tem Cloud noted this issue has been on the table for 
many years, and he still has concerns.  But at this time we 
need to establish the regulations and set them in place.

Mayor Dunn noted that Mr. Simmons is correct, this is 
a First Amendment issue.  We as the council took an oath to 
defend the Constitution. 

Councilmember Pilkington commented, there are many 
inturpretations of the Constitution, but allowing the right to have 
a place to express yourself is not part of the Constitutional 
Amendment.

Motion by Councilmember Judy Morales adopt ordinance as 
presented on first reading, with second and final reading set for 
October 20, 2016 seconded by Councilmember Perry Cloud.

Page 15 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



Councilmember Timothy Davis and Councilmember Michael 
Pilkington voted nay. The other Councilmembers voted aye.  
The motion passed.

9. 2016-4769: FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING – Z-FY-16-
23:  Consider adopting an ordinance authorizing 
amendments to Temple Unified Development Code: Article 
5 – Use Standards, deleting “tattoo parlor” as a prohibited 
use; allowing Body Piercing Studios and Tattoo Studios by 
right in Light Industrial, Heavy Industrial, General Retail, 
and Commercial zoning districts; providing certain 
limitations; Article 6 – Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning 
Districts, prohibiting body Piercing Studios and Tattoo 
Studios in the Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay; and Article 11 
– Definitions, providing definitions for Body Piercing, Body 
Piercing Studio, Tattoo, and Tattoo Studio.

Motion by Councilmember Judy Morales adopt ordinance as 
presented and recommended by Staff with the following 
changes: 
(1) amend UDC to allow “Tattoo and Body Piercing Studios” 
according to the following location standards: (1) Allow by right 
in C, LI, and HI with 1000' distance between another like 
establishment and (2) 1000' distance between churches 
and schools; 
(2) Prohibit in the I-35 Corridor Overlay and SIZ grant corridors; 
and 
(3) Allow by right in GR only if part of a licensed (by TDLR) 
beauty salon providing at least one additional salon service 
regulated by TDLR; with second and final reading set for 
October 20, 2016 seconded by Councilmember Perry Cloud.

Councilmember Timothy Davis and Councilmember Michael 
Pilkington voted nay. The other Councilmembers voted aye.  
The motion passed.

12. 2016-8389-R: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing 
the purchase of six properties necessary for the 
construction of the proposed Santa Fe Plaza, authorizing 
closing costs associated with the purchases, and 
authorizing the payment of relocation expenses.

Kayla Landeros, City Attorney presented this item to the 
Council.  The City is currently in the design phase for the 
proposed Santa Fe Plaza. The design requires the acquisition of 
19 parcels from 13 different property owners. Appraisals and 
relocation studies, if required, have been performed on the 

Page 16 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



parcels. On March 3, the City Council authorized the purchase 
of 10 parcels, in an amount not to exceed $813,804. On March 
17, the City Council authorized the purchase of three additional 
parcels, in an amount not to exceed $525,000. Staff is asking 
for authorization to purchase the six remaining properties, pay 
closing costs, and pay any relocation expenses that may be 
required by law.

Funding is available in the Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Financing 
and Project Plans, Line 404, account 795-9500-531-6870, 
project 101008, Santa Fe Plaza, to fund the purchase of six 
properties necessary for the construction of the Santa Fe Plaza.

Motion by Councilmember Timothy Davis purchase of the 
properties located at 10 south 7th Street, 14 South 7th Street, 
and 402 West Avenue A, pay any closing costs associated with 
the purchases, and pay any relocation expenses required by 
law, in an amount not to exceed $890,000 seconded by 
Councilmember Perry Cloud.

Motion passed unanimously.

Motion by Councilmember Timothy Davis purchase the 
properties located at 2 North 5th Street, 8 North 5th Street, and 
314 West Central Avenue and pay any closing costs associated 
with the purchase in an amount not to exceed 
$674,500. seconded by Councilmember Perry Cloud.

Mayor Daniel A. Dunn voted nay. The other Councilmembers 
voted aye.  The motion passed.

________________________ 
Daniel A. Dunn, Mayor 

ATTEST:

____________________ 
Lacy Borgeson 
City Secretary 

Page 17 of 17City Council Meeting

10/14/2016http://temple.granicus.com/MinutesViewer.php?print=1&clip_id=736&doc_id=6866df3e...



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(B) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 2 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Kayla Landeros, City Attorney  
Christina Demirs, Deputy City Attorney 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of portions of two 
properties necessary for the expansion of Old Howard Road and Moores Mill Road and authorizing 
closing costs associated with the purchases, in an amount not to exceed $36,500.  
 
Executive Session – Pursuant to Chapter 551, Government Code § 551.072 – Real Property – The City 
Council may enter into executive session to discuss the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real 
property relating to City projects, the public discussion of which would have a detrimental effect on 
negotiations with a third party. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  The City is currently in the design phase for the proposed expansion of Old Howard 
Road from Central Pointe Parkway to Moores Mill Road, as well as an expansion of Moores Mill Road 
from Old Howard Road to IH-35, including a realigned intersection at Pegasus Drive. The design 
requires the acquisition of right-of-way from 21 different property owners. Several appraisals have been 
completed and others are in the review process. Offers have been made to several of the property 
owners based upon those appraisals, and the remaining offers will be presented in the coming weeks.  
For those properties that will require relocation, the City’s consultant is preparing the necessary 
relocation studies.  
 
Agreements have been reached with six of the property owners. Staff is actively negotiating with each 
of the remaining property owners and hopes to reach agreements with each of them this fiscal year. 
On June 16, Council approved the acquisition of portions of three properties, as well as the payment of 
associated closing costs and any relocation benefits required by law, in an amount not to exceed 
$225,000. On July 7, 2016, Council authorized the purchase of right-of-way from two additional 
properties and the payment of closing costs, in an amount not to exceed $320,000. On September 15, 
2016, Council authorized the purchase of a portion of one property and the payment of closing costs in 
an amount not to exceed $197,000. At this time, Staff is asking for authorization to purchase portions 
of two properties and the payment of closing costs in an amount not to exceed $36,500. The addresses 
of the properties to be acquired are 1700 Moores Mill Road and 4386 Old Howard Road. 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(B) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: Funding for the purchase of portions of the property located at 1700 Moores Mill 
Road is appropriated in Account # 795-9800-531-6863, Project # 101000. 
 
Funding for the purchase of portions of the property located at 4386 Old Howard Road is appropriated 
in Account # 795-9800-531-6864, Project # 101001. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
Resolution 
  



1 
 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8391-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF A PORTION OF TWO 
PROPERTIES NECESSARY FOR THE EXPANSION OF OLD HOWARD 
ROAD AND MOORES MILL ROAD, AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF 
CLOSING COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PURCHASES IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $36,500; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 
CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, the City is currently in the design phase for the proposed expansion of Old 
Howard Road from Central Pointe Parkway to Moores Mill Road, as well as an expansion of 
Moores Mill Road from Old Howard Road to IH-35, including a realigned intersection at 
Pegasus Drive and the design requires the acquisition of right-of-way from 21 different property 
owners; 
 

Whereas, several appraisals have been completed and others are in the review process - 
offers have been made to several of the property owners based upon those appraisals with the 
remaining offers to be presented in the coming weeks; 
 

Whereas, for those properties that will require relocation, the City’s consultant is 
preparing the necessary relocation studies; 
 

Whereas, agreements have been reached with six of the property owners and Staff is 
actively negotiating with each of the remaining property owners and hopes to reach agreements 
with each of them this fiscal year; 
 

Whereas, on June 16, 2016, Council approved the acquisition of portions of three 
properties, as well as the payment of associated closing costs and any relocation benefits required 
by law; on July 7, 2016, Council authorized the purchase of right-of-way from two additional 
properties and the payment of closing costs; and on September 15, 2016, Council authorized the 
purchase of a portion of one property and the payment of closing;  
 

Whereas, Staff recommends Council authorize the purchase of a portion of two 
properties and the payment of closing costs in an amount not to exceed $36,500 - the addresses 
of the properties are: 

 
1700 Moores Mill Road     4386 Old Howard Road; 

 
 Whereas, funding for the purchase of a portion of 1700 Moores Mill Road is available in 
Account No. 795-9800-531-6863, Project No. 101000; 
 
 Whereas, funding for the purchase of a portion of 4386 Old Howard Road is available in 
Account No. 795-9800-531-6864, Project No. 101001; and  
 
 
 



2 
 

 
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the purchase of a portion of two properties necessary 
for the expansion of Old Howard Road and Moores Mill Road located at 1700 Moores Mill Road 
and 4386 Old Howard Road, and authorizes closing costs associated with the purchases, in an 
amount not to exceed $36,500. 
 
 Part 2: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as 
to form by the City Attorney, to execute any documents that may be necessary for the purchase 
of these properties. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
       
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(C) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 1 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, Public Works Director 
Lisa Sebek, Solid Waste Services Director    
 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of 1,272 plastic 96-
gallon garbage and recycling containers from Toter, Inc., of Statesville, NC, in the amount of 
$57,267.52. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 

ITEM SUMMARY: Each year the Solid Waste Division purchases new 96-gallon residential refuse 
containers both for new service and for regular container replacement, for both garbage and recycling 
services. This container purchase will provide for routine growth and normal container replacement.  
The recommended purchase is for 318 recycling containers with a hot stamp recycling symbol at a cost 
of $44.15 per container, and 954 garbage containers at a cost of $43.90 per container, plus $1,347.22 
for freight to Temple.  The pricing is comparable to pricing obtained in recent years, and staff believes 
this to be a good value. 

Toter, Inc. has been awarded National IPA Contract No. 120576-01 as awarded by the City of Tucson 
on January 31, 2013.  Contracts awarded through National IPA have been competitively procured and 
meet the statutory procurements requirements for Texas municipalities.  Per the terms of the National 
IPA contract, pricing is evaluated every three months for price adjustments based on current commodity 
prices.    

The City has done business with Toter, Inc. and finds them to be a responsible vendor. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Funding has been appropriated in the FY 2017 Operating Budget in the account as 
shown below: 
 

 
Description 

 
Account # 

 
Budget 

Proposed 
Expenditure 

 
96 Gallon 

Carts 

 
110-2330-540-2211 

 
$57,488 

 
$57,267.52 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  2016-8392-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF 1,272 PLASTIC 96-GALLON GARBAGE 
AND RECYCLING CONTAINERS IN THE AMOUNT OF $57,267.52, FROM 
TOTER, INC. OF STATESVILLE, NORTH CAROLINA; AND PROVIDING AN 
OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

               
  
 Whereas, each year, the Solid Waste Division purchases new 96-gallon residential refuse 
containers both for new service and regular container replacement, for both garbage and recycling 
services - this purchase will provide for routine growth and normal container replacement; 
 
 Whereas, the recommended purchase is for 318 recycling containers with a hot stamp 
recycling symbol at a cost of $44.15 per container, and the purchase of 954 garbage containers at a 
cost of $43.90 per container, plus $1,347.22 for freight - Staff believes this to be a good cost per 
container and recommends Council authorize this purchase; 
 
 Whereas, Toter, Inc. has been awarded National IPA Contract No. 120576-01 by the City 
of Tucson on January 31, 2013 - contracts awarded through National IPA have been competitively 
procured and meet the statutory procurements requirements for Texas municipalities; 
  
 Whereas, the City has done business with Toter, Inc. in the past and finds it to be a 
responsible vendor – this purchase will be made utilizing a National IPA Cooperative Purchasing 
contract which satisfies the competitive bid requirements; 
 

Whereas, funding for this purchase is available in Account No. 110-2330-540-2211; and 
 

 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1:  The City Council authorizes the purchase of 1,272 plastic, 96-gallon garbage and 
recycling containers, in the amount of $57,487.52 from Toter, Inc., of Statesville, North Carolina, 
utilizing the National IPA Cooperative Contract. 
 
 Part 2:  The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as to 
form by the City Attorney, to execute any documents that may be necessary for this purchase. 
 
 Part 3: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 



2 
 

 
 

 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(D) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 1 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Kevin Beavers, Parks and Recreation Director 
Kirk Scopac, Interim Fleet Services Director 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of two Toro 
Groundsmaster 5900 mowers from Professional Turf Products, L.P. of Euless, in the amount of 
$183,534.35. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Authorization of this purchase will enable the replacement of two aging Toro 580D 
movers that assist in mowing 60 plus City parks, roadways, medians, open spaces, overpasses and 
City facilities with two Toro 2016 Groundmaster 5900 mowers.  
 
This purchase is being recommended utilizing BuyBoard Contract #447-14 awarded to Professional 
Turf Products, LP.  Contracts awarded through BuyBoard have been competitively procured and meet 
the statutory procurement of requirements for Texas municipalities.   
  
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Funding for the purchase of two Toro Groundsmaster 5900 mowers is available in 
account 110-5935-552-6222, project #101529 and #101530, in the amount of $183,535, as follows: 
 

Project Budgets  $        185,000  
Two (2) Toro Groundsmaster 5900 Mowers           (183,535) 

Remaining Project Funds  $            1,465  
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution  



 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8393-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE PURCHASE OF TWO TORO 
GROUNDSMASTER 5900 MOWERS, IN THE AMOUNT OF $183,534.35, 
FROM PROFESSIONAL TURF PRODUCTS, LP OF SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS; 
AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, Staff recommends the replacement of two aging Toro 580D mowers that assist 
in the mowing of 60 plus City parks, roadways, medians, open spaces, overpasses and City 
facilities with two Toro Groundsmaster 5900 mowers; 
 
 Whereas, this purchase is being recommended utilizing BuyBoard Contract No. 447-14 
awarded to Professional Turf Products, LP of San Antonio, Texas - contracts awarded through 
BuyBoard have been competitively procured and meet the statutory procurement requirements 
for Texas municipalities; 
 
 Whereas, Staff has purchased through Professional Turf Products, L. P., of San Antonio, 
Texas, in the past and have found them to be a responsible vendor; 
 
 Whereas, funding for this purchase is available in Account No. 110-5935-552-6222, 
Project No. 101529 and Project No. 101530; and 
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1:  The City Council authorizes the purchase of two Toro Groundsmaster 5900 
mowers, in the amount of $183,534.35 from Professional Turf Products, LP of San Antonio, 
Texas utilizing BuyBoard Contact No. 447-14. 
 

  Part 2: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as to 
form by the City Attorney, to execute any documents that may be necessary for this purchase. 
 

  Part 3: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
       
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney  



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(E) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 2 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, P.E., Public Works Director 
Don Bond, P.E., CFM, City Engineer 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing change order #3 to the contract with 
Nelson Lewis, Inc. of Marble Falls, to deduct $27,700 from the construction contract for the North 3rd 
Street and East Adams Avenue Water Line Improvements. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  On November 6, 2014, Council authorized an agreement with Walker Partners for 
$175,660 for professional services to replace 2” water lines along East Adams Avenue from 16th to 36th, 
replace 2” water mains along both sides of North 3rd Street from Irvin to Nugent, and replace a 2” water 
main between North 3rd Street and North 1st Street from Elm to Irvin (maps attached). 
 
On December 17, 2015, Council authorized a construction contract with Nelson Lewis for $1,595,637. 
 
On June 16, 2016 and June 24, 2016, additive change orders #1 and #2 were approved for $7,085.32 
and $5,000. 
 
Change order #3 proposes the following additions and deductions: 
 

Relocate of Water Meter & Reconnect Service  $15,600 
 Asphalt Surface Replacement       $1,650 
 Service Tap            $250 
 
     Total Additions  $17,500 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(E) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
Remove Concrete Curb & Gutter         ($200) 
Concrete Curb & Gutter         ($ 800) 
Fire Hydrant Assembly        ($6,200) 
8” X 6” Tapping Sleeve & Valve    ($20,000) 
8” Resilient Seat Gate Valve      ($1,800) 
8” 45 Degree Bend        ($2,000) 
8” 22.5 Degree Bend       ($1,000) 
Foreign Fitting Credit     ($13,200)  

 
     Total Deductions  ($45,200) 
  
     Net Change Order      ($27,700) 
        
The previous change orders and this proposed deduction result in a net 0.98% decrease to the original 
contract amount.  A Recommendation Letter and Change Order Form are attached.  City Staff agrees 
with the Engineer that these changes are necessary and recommends the approval of this change 
order. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The savings from the deductive change order in the amount of $27,700 will be 
realized as shown below: 
 
 561-5200-535-6952  561-5200-535-6953   
 Project 101200   Project 101205  Total 

      
Project Budget  $               1,131,861    $                  694,063    $  1,825,924  
Encumbered/Committed to Date                 (1,140,951)                      (684,413)      (1,825,364) 
Change Order #3 - Nelson Lewis                        37,350                            (9,650)              27,700  
Remaining Project Funds  $                    28,260    $                             -      $        28,260  
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Project Maps 
Recommendation Letter 
Change Order Form 
Resolution 
  



Replace Existing Water Lines

E FRENCH AVE

E HOUSTON AVE

E IRVIN AVE

E KING AVE

E LAMAR AVE

E MUNROE AVE

E NUGENT AVE
N 

9T
H 

ST N 
7T

H 
ST

N 
1S

T S
T

N 
3R

D 
ST

N 
4T

H 
ST

N 
4T

H 
ST

N 
MA

IN
 ST

W NUGENT AVE

W MUNROE AVE

W LAMAR AVE

W KING AVE

W IRVIN AVE

W HOUSTON AVE

W GARFIELD AVE

W FRENCH AVE

N 
2N

D 
ST

W ELM AVE

E JACKSON AVE

N 
5T

H 
ST

N 
5T

H 
ST

N 
2N

D 
ST

1 inch = 228 feet

Q

7/29/2014



Replace Existing Water Lines

E B AVE

S 3
4T

H 
ST

E DOWNS AVE

E CENTRAL AVE

E ADAMS AVE

E CALHOUN AVE

E BARTON AVE

N 
16

TH
 ST

S 2
4T

H 
ST

E CALHOUN AVE FO
WL

ER

E BARTON AVE

N 
20

TH
 ST

S 1
8T

H 
ST

S 2
2N

D 
ST

S 2
0T

H 
ST

N 
18

TH
 ST

N 
22

ND
 ST

S 1
6T

H 
ST

N 
36

TH
 ST

E CENTRAL AVE

E A AVE

N 
34

TH
 ST

N 
24

TH
 ST

E ADAMS AVE

FO
WL

ER
 R

D

CURTIS B. ELLIOT DR

PR
EW

ITT
 D

R

1 inch = 250 feet

Q

7/29/2014







CHANGE ORDER 
PROJECT:  Water Main Replacement – C.I.P. North 3rd & East Adams Ave. 
OWNER:  City of Temple 
CONTRACTOR:  Nelson Lewis, Inc. 
ENGINEER: Walker Partners, LLC 
CHANGE ORDER #: Three (3) 
 
Make the following additions, modifications or deletions (circle those that apply) to the work described in the 
Contract Documents: 
 
ADD: 
Item #  Description   Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total 
1.10  Relocation of Water Meter &  13  EA $1,200.00  $15,600.00 

 Reconnect Water Service Line   
1.14  Asphalt Surface Replacement  11  SY $150.00  $1,650.00 
CO3-1  Service Tap   1  EA $250.00  $250.00 
 
        Total Additions  $17,500.00 
DEDUCT: 
Item #  Description   Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total 
1.15  Removal of Concrete Curb & Gutter (40)  LF $5.00  ($200.00) 
1.16  Concrete Curb & Gutter  (40)  LF $20.00  ($800.00) 
2.02  Fire Hydrant Assembly  (1)  EA $6,200.00  (6,200.00) 
2.05  8" x 6" Tapping Sleeve & Valve (4)  EA $5,000.00  (20,000.00) 
2.08  8" Resilient Seat Gate Valve  (1)  EA $1,800.00  (1,800.00) 
2.11  8" 45 degree Bend   (4)  EA $500.00  ($2,000.00) 
2.12  8" 22.5 Degree Bend   (2)  EA $500.00  ($1,000.00) 
CO3-2  Foreign Fitting Credit  (1)  LS $13,200.00              ($13,200.00) 
 
        Total Deductions                ($45,200.00) 
 
        Change Order Total = ($27,700.00) 
 
The compensation agreed upon in this Change Order is full, complete and final payment for all costs the 
Contractor may incur as a result of or relating to this change whether said costs are known, unknown, 
foreseen or unforeseen at this time, including without limitation, any cost for delay (for which only revised 
time is available), extended overhead, ripple or impact cost, or any other effect on changed or unchanged 
work as a result of this Change Order. 
 
Original Contract Amount:      $_1,595,637.00___________ 
Previous Change in Contract Amount:           $_12,085.32_____________ 
Change in Contract Amount:      $_(27,700.00)____________ 
Revised Contract Amount:      $_1,580,022.32 ___________ 
Original Contract Time:       _____180____ Days_______ 
Previous Change in Contract Time:     _____13_____ Days_______ 
Change in Contract Time:      _____34  ____ Days_______ 
Revised Contract Time:       _____227____ Days_______ 
Original Final Completion Date:      _____08-07-2016_________ 
Revised Final Completion Date:      _____09-30-2016_________ 
 
 
Recommended by:     Recommended by: 
 
__________________________________   ___________________________________ 
Project Manager (City Staff) Date   Architect/Engineer      Date 
 
Agreed to:      Approved by City of Temple:   
 
__________________________________   ___________________________________ 
Contractor   Date   Jonathan Graham, City Manager     Date  
 
Approved as to form:     Approved by Finance Department: 
 
_______________________________   ________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office  Date   Finance        Date 



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8394-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING CHANGE ORDER NO. 3, IN THE 
DEDUCTIVE AMOUNT OF $27,700, TO THE CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT WITH NELSON LEWIS, INC. OF MARBLE FALLS, 
TEXAS FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE NORTH 3RD STREET AND 
EAST ADAMS AVENUE WATER LINE IMPROVEMENTS; AND 
PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
 

Whereas, on November 6, 2014, Council authorized an agreement with Walker 
Partners for professional services to replace 2-inch water lines along East Adams 
Avenue from 16th Street to 36th Street, replace 2-inch water mains along both sides of 
North 3rd Street from Irvin to Nugent, and replace a 2-inch water main between North 3rd 
Street and North 1st Street from Elm to Irvin; 

 
Whereas, on December 17, 2015, Council authorized a construction contract 

with Nelson Lewis for construction of the North 3rd Street and East Adams Avenue 
Water Line Improvements in the amount of $1,595,637; 

 
Whereas, on June 16, 2016 and June 24, 2016, additive Change Orders No. 1 

and No. 2 were approved for $7,085.32 and $5,000 - Change Order No. 3 proposes the 
following additions and deductions: 

 
Relocation of Water Meter and Reconnect Services  $15,600 
Asphalt Surface Replacement     $  1,650 
Service Tap       $     250 
Remove Concrete Curb & Gutter    $   (200) 
Concrete Curb & Gutter      $   (800) 
Fire Hydrant Assembly       $ (6,200) 
8” X 6” Tapping Sleeve & Valve    $(20,000) 
8” Resilient Seat Gate Valve       $  (1,800) 
8” 45 Degree Bend      $  (2,000) 
8” 22.5 Degree Bend        $  (1,000) 
Foreign Fitting Credit      $(13,200)  
Net Change Order:   $(27,700) 
 
Whereas, the previous change orders and this proposed deduction, will result in 

a net 0.98% decrease to the original contract amount - Staff recommends Council 
approve Change Order No. 3;  
 

Whereas, the savings from the deductive change order will be realized in 
Account No. 561-5200-535-6952, Project No. 101200 and Account No. 561-5200-535-
6953, Project No. 101205; and 

 
 
 



2 
 

 
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after 
approval as to form by the City Attorney, to execute Change Order No. 3, in the amount 
of $27,700, to the construction contract with Nelson Lewis, Inc. of Marble Falls, Texas, 
for construction of the North 3rd Street and East Adams Avenue Water Line 
Improvements. 

 
Part 2:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the 
time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings 
Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

      DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(F) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 1 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
Nicole Torralva, P.E., Public Works Director 
Don Bond, P.E., CFM, City Engineer  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a contract with TMI Coatings, Inc. of 
St. Paul, MN, for a lump sum price of $344,400, for construction services required to rehabilitate Water 
Treatment Plant Clarifiers #1 and #2. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  The City of Temple owns a water treatment plant located on the north side of the 
Leon River just off Charter Oak Drive. The plant consists of a conventional water treatment train and a 
membrane water treatment train.  The conventional train is an aging facility that has been renovated 
and expanded several times since its construction in 1957. Clarifiers #1 and #2 are the oldest of the 
four clarifiers and need rehabilitation and recoating of the aged concrete and metal surfaces.  
 
On October 6th, six bids were received for the rehabilitation of Clarifiers #1 and #2.  Per the attached 
Recommendation Letter & Bid Tab prepared by Kasberg, Patrick & Associates, TMI submitted the low 
base in the amount of $307,400.  It is KPA’s and staff’s recommendation to award the base bid plus 
Add Alternate #2, which includes priming and painting the exterior of the clarifiers in the amount of 
$37,000, for a total recommended bid award of $344,400.  
 
City Staff and the Engineer agree that TMI is qualified to complete this project and recommend award 
of a construction contract for the Base Bid plus Add Alternate #2 totaling $344,400.  Construction time 
allotted for this project is 160 calendar days with the requirement that only one clarifier can be out of 
service at a time. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Funding is available in account 520-5100-535-6310, project #101571, for TMI 
Coatings, Inc. for construction services to rehabilitate Water Treatment Plant Clarifiers #1 and #2 for 
$344,400 as follows: 

Project Budget  $        781,483  
Encumbered/Committed to Date             (31,483) 

TMI Coatings, Inc.          (344,400) 
Remaining Project Funds  $        405,600  

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Recommendation Letter & Bid Tab 
Project Map 
Resolution 









1 
 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8395-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT WITH TMI 
COATINGS, INC. OF ST. PAUL, MINNESOTA, IN THE LUMP SUM OF 
$344,400, FOR CONSTRUCTION SERVICES REQUIRED TO 
REHABILITATE WATER TREATMENT PLANT CLARIFIERS NO. 1 & NO. 
2; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, the City of Temple owns a water treatment plant located on the north side of 
the Leon River just off Charter Oak Drive that consists of a conventional water treatment train 
and a membrane water treatment train; 
 
 Whereas, the conventional train is an aging facility that has been renovated and expanded 
several times since its construction in 1957 – clarifiers 1 and 2 are the oldest of the four clarifiers 
and are in need of rehabilitation and recoating of the aged concrete and metal surfaces; 
 
 Whereas, on October 6, 2016, the City received six bids for the rehabilitation of the 
clarifiers with the low base bid, including selected Add Alternate 2, being received from TMI 
Coatings, Inc. of St. Paul, Minnesota, in the amount of $344,400;  
 

Whereas, Staff and the City’s Engineer agree that TMI is qualified to complete this 
project and recommend Council authorize a construction contact for the Base Bid plus Add 
Alternate 2 totaling $344,400 to TMI Coatings, Inc.; 
 
 Whereas, funding is available for this construction contract in Account No. 520-5100-
535-6310, Project No. 101571; and  
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as 
to form by the City Attorney, to execute a construction contract in the amount of $344,400, with 
TMI Coatings, Inc. of St. Paul Minnesota, for construction services required to rehabilitate Water 
Treatment Plant Clarifiers 1 and 2. 
 

Part 2:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 



2 
 

 
 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 

 
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 

 
       
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney  



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(G) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 1 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Alan DeLoera, Information Technology Director 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing high-speed data service during 
FY2017 through Grande Communications Networks LLC, of Dallas, in the estimated annual amount of 
$75,000. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: Grande Communications (formerly Centrovision) currently provides the City with 
high-speed data services to multiple City departments which include the Municipal Court, Utility 
Business Office, Fire Station 8, Public Works, Fleet Services, Purchasing, Mayborn Center, Animal 
Services, Wilson Park and Airport. 
 
We currently use services through Grande Communications, Time Warner and ATT in an effort to avoid 
a catastrophic outage at all City facilities if we were only to use one company. We also use this plan 
successfully by having internet service provided by all three companies for backup due to the critical 
nature of providing access to Police, Fire, email services and other critical city applications 
 
As part of our plan to diversify services we recommend to continue this contract with Grande as they 
already have the equipment and services at these locations. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   Funding for the services provided by Grande Communications Networks, LLC for 
high-speed data is available in the following accounts: 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution  

Amount 
Account Description Available

110-1900-519-2610 Telephone/Communications 67,800$      
520-5800-535-2610 Telephone/Communications 7,200$         

Total Funding Available 75,000$      



1 
 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8396-R 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING HIGH-SPEED DATA SERVICE, IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $75,000, THROUGH GRANDE COMMUNICATIONS NETWORKS, LLC, 
OF DALLAS, TEXAS; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 Whereas, Grande Communications (formerly Centrovision) currently provides the City 
with high-speed data services to multiple City departments which include the Municipal Court, 
Utility Business Office, Fire Station 8/EOC, Public Works, Fleet Services, Purchasing, Mayborn 
Center, Animal Services, Wilson Park and the Airport; 
 
 Whereas, in an effort to avoid a catastrophic outage to all City facilities, the City currently 
uses the services of three providers - Grande Communications, Time Warner and ATT - by having 
internet service provided by all three providers, this plan has been successful for backup due to the 
critical nature of providing access to Police, Fire, email services and other critical city 
applications; 
 
 Whereas, as part of the City’s plan to diversify services, Staff recommends Council 
authorize high-speed data services through Grande Communications Networks, in the amount of 
$75,000, for services to multiple City facilities; 
 
 Whereas, funds are available for these services in Account Nos. 110-1900-519-2610 and 
520-5800-535-2610; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1:  The City Council authorizes high-speed data services, in the amount of $75,000, 
through Grande Communications Networks, LLC of Dallas, Texas, for fiscal year 2017. 
 
 Part 2: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, to execute any 
documents, after approval as to form by the City Attorney, that may be necessary for this purchase.  
 

Part 3: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 



2 
 

 
 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(H) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 2 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Alan DeLoera, Information Technology Director 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the fourth year funding of a five year 
dedicated access services (Telephone and Data Service) agreement with Time Warner Cable 
Enterprises, LLC in the estimated annual amount of $51,000. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: The Information Technology department currently has many locations throughout 
the City that require multiple contracts with companies that provide telephone, internet and data 
services. One of these services that is provided is what are called “PRI” Circuits or Primary Rate 
Interfaces that provide 24 channels of voice lines. We also have data circuits that are provided through 
various companies. We currently use multiple vendors such as Grande, AT&T and Time Warner 
because we like redundancy among different city locations so that we do not lose services at all 
locations. 
 
We currently have two PRI Circuits at City Hall and one at Service Center for redundancy purposes as 
well as a Data Circuit to our Summit Recreation Center which will provide at installing a data circuit at 
the Summit Recreation Center to replace our current circuit. The Summit has turned out to be an 
important City asset and we would like to provide the highest level of availability that is provided at 
other City locations like City Hall, Police, Fire Central, EOC, Service Center, Courts and Water Business 
Office among others. The city also has Internet provisional service with Time Warner cable that is 
redundant to our ATT Internet service.  
 
We would still use AT&T at other locations around the City to have redundancy among providers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(H) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: The Information Technology Department currently has funds budgeted in the 
following accounts: 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 
  

Amount 
Account Description Available

110-1900-519-2610 Telephone/Communications 35,000$      
110-1900-519-2515 Subscriptions 10,500$      
110-4000-555-2515 Subscriptions 5,500$         

Total Funding Available 51,000$      



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  2016-8397-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING THE FOURTH YEAR OF A FIVE-YEAR 
DEDICATED ACCESS SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH TIME WARNER 
CABLE, IN THE AMOUNT OF $51,000, FOR TELEPHONE AND DATA 
SERVICE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Whereas, the Information Technology department has many locations throughout the 
City that require multiple contracts with companies that provide telephone, internet and data 
services – one of these services that is provided is Primary Rate Interfaces (PRI) that provides 
24 channels of voice lines; 
 

Whereas, current service is provided by Grande, AT&T and Time Warner Cable 
because the City prefers redundancy among different city locations so that there is no loss of 
service at all locations at one time; 

 
Whereas, the City currently has two PRI circuits at City Hall and one at the Service 

Center for redundancy purposes as well as a data circuit at the Summit Recreation Center - the 
Summit has turned out to be an important City asset and we would like to provide the highest 
level of availability that is provided at other City locations; 

 
Whereas, the City currently also has internet provisional service with Time Warner 

Cable which is redundant to our AT&T internet service – the City will still use AT&T at other 
locations around the City to continue having redundancy among providers; 

 
Whereas, funds are available for this agreement in Account Nos: 110-1900-519-2610, 

110-1900-519-2515, and 110-4000-555-2515; and 
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1: The City Council authorizes the fourth year of a Five-Year Dedicated Access 
Service Agreement with Time Warner Cable, in the amount of $51,000, for telephone and data 
service. 

 
Part 2: The City Manager or his designee, after approval as to form by the City 

Attorney, is authorized to execute any documents associated with this Agreement. 
 

Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
  



2 
 

 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 

______________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________   ______________________________ 
Lacy Borgeson Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary City Attorney 



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(I) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 1  
 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Kayla Landeros, City Attorney  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a Chapter 380 Economic 
Development Agreement between the City of Temple and Temple Economic Development Corporation 
for the conveyance of 14.868 acres of City-owned property located at 2575 Lucius McCelvey Drive, 
Temple. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  The Temple Economic Development Corporation has requested that the City 
convey to it 14.868 acres of City-owned property located at 2575 Lucius McCelvey Drive in Temple. 
The property is Lot 2, Block 1, on the attached Final Plat of Enterprise Business Park, Phase II. The 
property is to be used for business development purposes, which will include job creation and additional 
tax value. The prospective economic development on the site will be a commercial/industrial 
development. The conveyance of the property will be addressed through a Chapter 380 Development 
Agreement between the City and TEDC. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: At the present time, the property is exempt from property taxes, and it will remain so 
under the ownership of TEDC. When the property is conveyed for a commercial purpose it will be added 
back to the property tax rolls. 
 
The City’s cost basis for the 14.868 acres is $128,910.47. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
Plat 
Resolution 
  





 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8398-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING A CHAPTER 380 DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE 
TEMPLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION FOR CONVEYANCE 
OF 14.868 ACRES OF CITY-OWNED LAND LOCATED AT 2575 LUCIUS 
MCCELVEY DRIVE, TEMPLE, TEXAS; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Whereas, the Temple Economic Development Corporation (“TEDC”) has requested that 
the City convey to it 14.868 acres of City-owned land located at 2575 Lucius McCelvey Drive, 
Temple, Texas, also known as Lot 2, Block 1, Enterprise Business Park, Phase II; 

 
Whereas, the property is to be used for business development purposes, which will 

include job creation and additional tax value; 
 

Whereas, the prospective economic development on the site will be a 
commercial/industrial development and the conveyance will be addressed through a Chapter 380 
Development Agreement between the City and TEDC; 

 
Whereas, at the present time, the property is exempt from property taxes, and will remain 

so under the ownership of TEDC - when the property is conveyed for a commercial/industrial 
purpose it will be added back to the property tax rolls; and 
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as to 
form by the City Attorney, to execute a Chapter 380 Development Agreement with the Temple 
Economic Development Corporation for conveyance of 14.868 acres of City-owned land located at 
2575 Lucius McCelvey Drive, Temple, Texas, also known on the Final Plat as Lot 2, Block 1, 
Enterprise Business Park, Phase II, which is attached hereto as Exhibit ‘A’ and incorporated herein 
for all purposes. 
 

Part 2:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 

       _______________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN MAYOR 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________   _______________________________ 
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(J) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 2  
DEPT.  / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:    
Brynn Myers, Assistant City Manager 
Ashley Williams, General Services Manager 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a Chapter 380 Development 
Agreement with Central Texas Castles, Ltd., in an amount not to exceed $57,218, for improvements to 
property located at 19 South Main Street within the Downtown Strategic Investment Zone corridor. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   Adopt resolution as presented in item description.  
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  The proposed resolution would allow the City Manager to enter into a Chapter 380 
Development Agreement with Central Texas Castles, Ltd., through which the City would provide a SIZ 
1:1 matching grant of up to $57,218 for exterior building improvements. This results in a maximum 
eligible grant match of $57,218, for a project with a total capital investment of $350,000.  
 
Improvements included in the proposed first floor commercial/retail area and second floor residential 
area are an improved exterior storefront, with new windows, and restoration of original architecture; 
installation of balconies, awnings and signs;  asbestos abatement; and waiver of potential permitting 
fees. 
 
In order to receive grant funding, the applicant must enter into a development agreement with the City 
prior to commencing work and receiving any grant funds. The agreement shall provide that the applicant 
agrees to:  
• complete the work and total capital investment described in the agreement in a timely fashion;  
• give the City the right to inspect the work described in the development agreement and the financial 

records associated with the same during reasonable business hours;  
• perform all of the work described in the agreement in accordance with all applicable City codes and 

regulations; and  
• maintain those improvements in the future.  

 
FISCAL IMPACT: The total maximum grant match by the City is $57,218. Payment of the grant 
matching funds will not be made until work and inspections are completed, and receipts are received 
by the City.  Funding is available in account 110-1500-515-2695 for Strategic Investment Zone grants 
as follows: 

Available Funding $          102,689 
Central Texas Castles, Ltd.            (57,218) 

Remaining Funds Available  $           45,471  
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(J) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2  

 
ATTACHMENTS:   
Proposed building elevation 
Resolution 
 
  



M
A

K
E

E
N

T
E

C
H

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

IO
N

m
et

P
H

IL
IP

A
.

M
A

R
L

E
Y

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
IN

C
.

C
O

O
K

D
E

S
IG

N
S

IN
A

S
S

O
C

IA
T

IO
N

W
IT

H
:



1 
 

 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8399-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING A CHAPTER 380 DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH 
CENTRAL TEXAS CASTLES, LTD, IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 
$57,218, FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO PROPERTY LOCATED AT 19 SOUTH 
MAIN STREET, WITHIN THE DOWNTOWN STRATEGIC INVESTMENT 
ZONE CORRIDOR; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Whereas, Central Texas Castles, Ltd. has approached the City to request a Chapter 380 
Development Agreement through which the City would provide a Strategic Investment Zone 1:1 
matching grant of up to $57,218 for exterior improvements to property located at 19 South Main 
Street and located within the Downtown Strategic Investment Zone Corridor; 

 
Whereas, improvements included in the proposed first floor commercial/retail area and 

second floor residential area are an improved exterior storefront, with new windows, 
restoration of original architecture, installation of balconies, awnings, signs, asbestos 
abatement, and waiver of potential permitting fees – this will result in a maximum eligible 
grant match of $57,218 for a project with a total capital investment of $350,000; 

 
Whereas, in order to receive grant funding, Central Texas Castles, Ltd. must enter into 

a development agreement with the City prior to commencing work and receiving any grant 
funds - the agreement shall provide that the applicant agrees to the following conditions:  

 
• complete the work and total capital investment described in the agreement in a 

timely fashion;  
• give the City the right to inspect the work described in the development 

agreement and the financial records associated with the same during reasonable 
business hours;  

• perform all of the work described in the agreement in accordance with all 
applicable City codes and regulations; and  

• maintain those improvements in the future; 
 

Whereas, the total maximum grant match by the City is $57,218 - payment of the grant 
matching funds will not be made until work and inspections are completed, and receipts are 
received by the City; 

 
Whereas, funding for the Strategic Investment Zone grants is available in Account No. 

110-1500-515-2695; and  
 
Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 

to authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, THAT: 
 

Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as to 
form by the City Attorney, to execute a Chapter 380 Development Agreement, in an amount not 
to exceed $57,218, with Central Texas Castles, Ltd for improvements to property located at 19 
South Main Street within the Downtown Strategic Investment Zone Corridor.  

 



2 
 

 
 

 
Part 2:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 

       _______________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN MAYOR 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________   _______________________________ 
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(K) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 1 
 
 
DEPT.  / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:    
Kayla Landeros, City Attorney 
Ashley Williams, General Services Manager 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a five-year lease agreement with 
United Way of Central Texas, for lease of space in the Public Services Building located at 102 East 
Central Avenue. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   Adopt resolution as presented in item description.  
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  United Way of Central Texas is expanding services in Temple and is interested in 
leasing building space located at 102 East Central Avenue for their 211 Call Center. The term of the 
lease is for a five-year period. If Council approves the lease the term will run from November 1, 2016 
to October 31, 2021. United Way of Central Texas will pay $1 annually in rent. Utilities will be the 
tenant’s responsibility. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  United Way of Central Texas will pay rent in the amount of $1 per year. United Way 
will be responsible for all utility charges including electricity, and telephone services and will contract 
for those services directly to the utility companies. The City of Temple will bill United Way their share 
of water, sewer, and garbage charges monthly. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
Resolution 
  



 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8400-R 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING A FIVE-YEAR LEASE AGREEMENT WITH UNITED WAY OF 
CENTRAL TEXAS, FOR LEASE OF SPACE IN THE PUBLIC SERVICES 
BUILDING LOCATED AT 102 EAST CENTRAL AVENUE; AND PROVIDING 
AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 

 Whereas, United Way of Central Texas is expanding services in Temple and is interested in 
leasing building space located at 102 East Central Avenue for their 211 Call Center; 

 
Whereas, the term of the lease will be for a five-year period from November 1, 2016 to 

October 31, 2021 with an annual rental payment of $1; 
 

 Whereas, United Way of Central Texas will be responsible for all utility charges including 
electricity, and telephone services and will contract for those services directly with the utility 
companies; 

 
 Whereas, the City of Temple will bill United Way their share of water, sewer, and garbage 
charges monthly; 

 
Whereas, Staff recommends Council authorize a five-year lease agreement with United Way 

of Central Texas for the lease space in the Public Services Building located at 102 East Central 
Avenue; 

 
Whereas, the lease agreement allows for a 30-day termination clause for any reason should 

the lessee or the City desire to terminate the lease; and 
 

 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, to execute a five-year 

lease agreement between the City of Temple and United Way Central Texas for lease of space in the 
Public Services Building located at 102 East Central Avenue, Temple, Texas. 

 
Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this Resolution 

was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, and purpose 
of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 

       
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 

 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(L) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 1 
 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Floyd Mitchell, Chief of Police 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the renewal of an Interlocal 
Agreement with Bell County for the Bell County Crime Coalition project that is administered by the Bell 
County Juvenile Probation Department.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  This agreement will allow Temple Police Officers assigned to investigate juvenile 
crimes to work with Bell County Juvenile Probation Officers in making home visits of children on court-
ordered probation within the City of Temple.  This program has been in place for a number of years. 
The program provides reimbursement for the overtime pay incurred by officers performing home visits 
after normal business hours. Reimbursement for these services will not exceed $60 per hour which 
covers the cost of salary and benefits for the officers who work the program. 
 
The goal of this program is to team Juvenile Police Officers with Juvenile Probation Officers to monitor 
and reduce technical violations of court imposed sanctions through home visits, curfew checks, and 
drug screening for juveniles on court ordered probation.   
 
The term of this contract will commence on September 1, 2016 and will end on September 30, 2017. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  There is no requirement upon the City of Temple to provide any funding to this 
program. All expenditures with regard to the payment of Temple Police Officers will be reimbursed by 
Bell County.   
 
The revenue and associated expenditures for this agreement are included in the FY 2017 budget in the 
amount of $11,548. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 
 
  



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8401-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A RENEWAL TO THE INTERLOCAL 
AGREEMENT WITH BELL COUNTY FOR THE BELL COUNTY CRIME 
COALITION PROJECT THAT IS ADMINISTERED BY THE BELL 
COUNTY JUVENILE PROBATION DEPARTMENT; AND PROVIDING 
AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, the Bell County Crime Coalition project is administered by the Bell County 
Juvenile Probation Department which allows Temple Police Officers assigned to investigate 
juvenile crimes, to work with Bell County Juvenile Probation Officers in making home visits 
of children on court ordered probation within the City of Temple;  
 
 Whereas, this program has been in place for a number of years and provides 
reimbursement for the overtime pay incurred by officers performing home visits after normal 
business hours - reimbursement for these services will not exceed $60 per hour which covers 
the cost of salary and benefits for the officers who work the program; 
 

Whereas, the goal of this program is to team juvenile police officers with juvenile 
probation officers to monitor and reduce technical violations of court imposed sanctions 
through home visits, curfew checks, and drug screenings for juveniles on court ordered 
probation; 
 
 Whereas, the City is required to enter into an interlocal agreement with Bell County 
to participate in this program – the term of this contract will be from September 1, 2016 to 
September 30, 2017; 
 
 Whereas, the City will not be required to provide any funding for the program and all 
expenditures with regard to the payment of Temple police officers will be reimbursed by Bell 
County; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public 
interest to authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1:  The City Manager, or his designee, after approval as to form by the City 
Attorney, is authorized to execute a one-year renewal to the Interlocal Agreement with Bell 
County for the Bell County Crime Coalition project that is administered by the Bell County 
Juvenile Probation Department.  
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 



2 
 

 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 
 

10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 11 

 
 
DEPT.  / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:    
 
Brynn Myers, Assistant City Manager 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  Consider adopting a resolution ratifying a meet and confer agreement with the 
Temple Police Association. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   Adopt resolution as presented in item description.  
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Overview of Meet & Confer.  The “meet & confer” process is governed by Chapter 
142 of the Local Government Code. Chapter 142 allows a “police officers association” to file a petition 
with the City requesting that the City recognize the association as the sole and exclusive bargaining 
agent for all officers and adopt the meet & confer process. The meet and confer process allows the City 
to meet & confer with police officers association over wages, salaries, rates of pay, hours of work, or 
other terms and conditions of employment. The meet and confer deliberations must occur in a meetings 
open to the public. The City and a police officers association are not required to reach agreement on 
any particular topic. An agreement on any issue must be in writing and ratified by the Council and a 
majority of the police officers. A written meet & confer agreement preempts all contrary state statutes, 
local ordinances, executive orders, civil service provisions, or rules and allows variation of civil service 
rules regarding hiring requirements, pay, benefits, promotion standards, and the disciplinary process. 

 
Meet & Confer Process.  On July 2, 2015, the City Secretary received a “Petition Requesting 
Recognition of Bargaining Agent” from the Temple Police Association (“TPA”). The Petition was signed 
by 102 Temple Police Officers and requested that the City recognize TPA as the sole and exclusive 
bargaining agent for all police officers employed by the City and adopt the meet & confer process 
pursuant to Local Gov’t Code Chapter 142. The Petition was presented to the City Council at a special 
called meeting on July 30, 2015 and the City Council ordered a certification election to determine 
whether TPA represents a majority of the affected police officers. The election was conducted by the 
City Secretary and was held at various times on September 9-11 and September 15-16. 98 police 
officers voted “yes” to the recognition of TPA as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent and 11 police 
officers voted “no”. On October 1, 2015, the City Council granted recognition of TPA as the sole and 
exclusive bargaining agent and adopted the meet & confer process. City Administration and TPA 
negotiating teams began meeting in May, 2016. On September 30, 2016, the Parties reached a 
tentative agreement covering 11 issue points. Members of the City Administration negotiating team 
include: 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 11 

 
Brynn Myers, Assistant City Manager, Lead Negotiator 
Nan Rodriguez, Deputy City Attorney 
Jeff Clark, Deputy Police Chief 
Traci Barnard, Director of Finance 
Sandra Esqueda, Director of HR 
 
Members of the Temple Police Association negotiating team include: 
 
Chris Jones, Training Coordinator-CLEAT, Lead Negotiator 
Larry Wilkey, Sergeant, TPA President 
Marlon Reed. Corporal 
Corey Powell, Detective 
Casey Sheppard, Detective 
 
Overview of the Draft Agreement.  This process provided a venue for communication and 
collaboration between City Administration and police officers regarding important employment issues. 
City Administration and TPA agreed to focus our meet and confer process on “interest based 
bargaining”. Interest based bargaining is a bargaining approach that focuses on developing positive 
relationships that permit each party to achieve shared goals. We worked through 11 issues, focusing 
on our shared interest, and working toward an agreement that was mutually beneficial: 
 

1. Association Business 
2. Additional Appointed Position 
3. Military Leave Time Account 
4. Compensation 
5. Overtime 
6. Higher Classification Pay / Rank Structure 
7. Education Incentives for Promotion 
8. Lateral Entry Program 
9. Individual Vehicle Assignment Program (IVAP) 
10. Disciplinary Actions and Appeals 
11. Grievance Procedure 

 
Article 1: Association Business 
Proposed by TPA 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article is intended to establish provisions that enable the Association to adequately represent 
Association members, and administer the terms of the Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 3 of 11 

Key Provisions: 
 

• Recognizes TPA as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all covered police officers; 
• Allows TPA access to the Departmental new hire orientation to explain and answer questions 

about the Association, the Agreement, and the meet & confer process; 
• Establishes a three member team designed to be advisory to the Police Chief; 

• One member is to be appointed by the Police Chief and two members by the Association 
President 

• Commits the City to continue its Association dues deduction program; 
• Allows the Association reasonable access to the premises of the Department for the purpose of 

administering this Agreement; 
• Permits the Association to install one bulletin board (at their expense) at each police facility to 

facilitate communication by the Association to its members; 
• Allows the Association to utilize the City’s email system to communicate with police officers 

regarding issues related to provisions of the Agreement and upcoming  
meet and confer sessions ; 

• Establishes an Association Business Leave Time Pool to be used for the purpose of conducting 
Association business. This provision allows officers the option of donating two hours of accrued 
vacation leave to the Pool each calendar year; 

• Commits the City to pay up to a maximum of five members of the Association’s meet and confer 
team their regular pay for attendance at meet and confer sessions between the City and the 
Association; Police Administration may adjust Association member’s schedules to 
accommodate meeting attendance. 

 
Article 2: Additional Appointed Position 
Proposed by City Administration 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article authorizes the creation of an additional appointed Deputy Police Chief position to enable 
the future alignment of the Departmental command structure into three bureaus: Patrol, Investigations, 
and Administration. 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Allows the creation of a single additional Deputy Chief position in addition to the two Deputy 
Chief positions authorized by Section 143.014(c) of the Local Gov’t Code; 

• Establishes minimum standards that the person appointed to the additional Deputy Chief 
position must meet and extends these standards to the subsequent  
appointment of any person to a Deputy Chief position; 

• Establishes a procedure for posting a vacancy in a Deputy Chief position a minimum of 10 
calendar days in order to allow eligible candidates to express interest in the position by 
submitting documentation of their qualification to the Chief; 

• The final appointment remains solely the Police Chief’s discretion. 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 4 of 11 

 
Article 3: Military Leave Time Account 
Proposed by TPA 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article is intended to clarify the provisions for administration of the City’s Military Leave Time 
Account. 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Reiterates the requirements of Chapter 143.074 of the Local Gov’t Code relating to Military 
Leave Time Accounts; 

• Clarifies that a police officer wishing to donate accrued time to the Military Leave Time Account 
must do so on a form provided by the City; 

• Requires the City to provide a report to the Association each December that includes the current 
balance of the military leave time account and the amount of leave  
used by each police officer from the account during the previous year. 

 
Article 4: Compensation 
Proposed by TPA 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article is intended to communicate the City’s commitment to a maintaining a fair and competitive 
pay and compensation package, with due regard for fiscal restraints and sustainability. 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Establishes an agreement that City Administration and TPA will work together to develop criteria 
for a pay and compensation study, including establishing comparable cities; 

• Commits the City to meet with the Association and discuss criteria for the completion of a study 
no later than January 31, 2017; 

• Commits the City and Association to meet within 30 days of completion of the compensation 
study to discuss a successor agreement to this Agreement. 

 
Article 5: Overtime 
Proposed by TPA 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article is intended to establish a uniform Departmental policy governing overtime compensation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 5 of 11 

 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Establishes an agreement that the overtime exemption provided for by the FLSA known as the 
7(k) exemption is adopted by the City;  

• Establishes the maximum work period to be used as 14 days and the maximum number of hours 
worked without overtime pay within the work period at 80 hours; 

• Commits the City to provide guaranteed overtime for overtime assignments subject  
to contractual agreements with third parties; 

• Requires overtime assignments that will be compensated at guaranteed time and half to be 
identified and posted as such in advance; 

• States that overtime assignments for City sponsored events (such as the Christmas Parade) will 
not be guaranteed overtime assignments; 

• Clarifies that if an officer takes leave during a work period and later is required to work an 
overtime assignment which is not guaranteed overtime during that same work period, s/he may 
choose to apply the overtime assignment to their regular hours in lieu of using leave time; 

• Provides a minimum of two hours of overtime compensation for call-outs and court appearances 
prior to, or after an officer’s regularly scheduled shift; 

• Requires overtime assignments that will be compensated in the form of compensatory leave to 
be identified and posted as such in advance; 

• Allows officers to choose paid overtime or compensatory time for overtime assignments in which 
the form of compensation has not been identified in advance; 

• Maintains the Police Chief’s authority to implement flex time in managing the Department’s 
budget; 

• Commits supervisors to work with officer to schedule flex time off, subject to the  
needs of the Department. 

 
 

Article 6: Higher Classification / Rank Structure 
Proposed by TPA 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article is intended to establish a uniform Departmental policy governing the temporary designation 
of an officer to perform the duties of a higher rank.   
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Requires a Corporal to be temporarily designated as “Acting Sergeant/Field Supervisor” when 
no Sergeant or Lieutenant is available to act as a field supervisor for a shift due to absence, 
illness, or injury; 

• Allows a Lieutenant to designate a Corporal to be temporarily designated as “Acting 
Sergeant/Field Supervisor” when the Lieutenant determines an additional field supervisor is 
necessary to meet staffing needs; 

• Requires the designation to be noted in writing on the Duty Roster; 
• Establishes that a person serving in this temporary designation shall have full authority and 

responsibility for performing all of the duties of the Sergeant rank for the duration of the 
designation; 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 6 of 11 

 
• Requires that the officer designated as Acting Sergeant shall be paid the base salary of the 

Sergeant rank, plus the officer’s own longevity and seniority pay, educational incentive pay, and 
certification pay during the period of the designation; 

• Establishes that the designation will be made on a rotating basis to all Corporals within the Unit, 
but the Police Chief retains discretion to deviate from the order of the list; 

• Allows a Lieutenant to designate a Corporal to act as Mentoring Sergeant under the supervision 
of a Sergeant or Lieutenant, for training and mentoring purposes and 
not to meet a Departmental staffing need; 

• Requires the designation to be noted in writing on the Duty Roster; 
• Establishes that a person serving in this temporary designation will have immediate authority of 

a Sergeant for the duration of the designation, however ultimate authority and responsibility for 
the shift remains with the available Sergeant or Lieutenant; 

• Establishes that a Mentoring Sergeant will not receive higher classification pay during the 
designation period; 

• Establishes that the designation will be made on a rotating basis to all Corporals within the Unit, 
but the Police Chief retains discretion to deviate from the order of the list; 

• Allows a Sergeant to be temporarily designated to perform the administrative duties of a 
Lieutenant/Watch Commander when a Lieutenant will be absent or unavailable for at least 28 
consecutive days; 

• Requires the designation to be noted in writing on the Duty Roster; 
• Establishes that a person serving in this temporary designation shall have full authority and 

responsibility for performing all of the duties of the Lieutenant rank for the duration of the 
designation; 

• Requires that the designated Watch Commander shall be paid the base salary of the Lieutenant 
rank, plus the officer’s own longevity and seniority pay, educational incentive pay, and 
certification pay during the period of the designation; 

• Establishes that the designation will be made on a rotating basis to all Sergeants within the Unit, 
but the Police Chief retains discretion to deviate from the order of the list; 

• Retains authority for the Police Chief to designate a Watch Commander for a period of less than 
28 days, based on Departmental needs; 

• Establishes authority for the Police Chief to temporarily assign an officer to perform the duties 
of a position in the next higher rank when a position has been funded, but not yet created by the 
governing body or when there is a vacancy in an existing position for which no promotional list 
exists; 

• Establishes that a person serving in this temporary assignment shall have full authority and 
responsibility for performing all of the duties of the higher rank for the duration  
of the assignment; 

• Requires that an officer temporarily assigned to a position in the next higher rank shall be paid 
the base salary of the higher rank, plus the officer’s own longevity and seniority pay, educational 
incentive pay, and certification pay during the period of the assignment. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 7 of 11 

 
Article 7: Educational Incentives for Promotion 
Proposed by City Administration 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article establishes incentives to encourage and recognize continuing education as a way to 
improve professionalism for both officers and the Department. 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Establishes additional points for promotional candidates for continuing education as follows: 
• 0.50 points for an Advanced Peace Officer Certificate; 
• 1.0 points for having completed 60 college hours credit  
• 1.5 points for a Master Peace Officer Certificate; 
• 2.0 points for having received an Associates Degree; 
• 3.0 points for having received a Bachelor's Degree or higher 

 
Article 8: Lateral Entry Program 
Proposed by City Administration 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article establishes an expedited process for hiring qualified applicants with previous law 
enforcement experience. 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Establishes the following eligibility requirements to be eligible for hire under this program: 
• have a current TCOLE license; 
• be currently employed with a law enforcement agency; 
• have an honorable standing within their current department; 
• not be under any type of investigation with their current department; 
• have three or more years of work experience with a comparable law enforcement agency  
• take and pass the locally given Civil Service exam; and 
• complete and pass a background investigation and the City of Temple hiring process. 

• Requires that an eligibility list for lateral applicants be maintained and that the score from the 
locally given Civil Service exam be used to rank applicants on that list; 

• Allows the Police Chief the authority to give preference in selection to any person on the lateral 
eligibility list based on the applicant’s years of experience and type of experience; 

• Allows the Police Chief to fill a vacant within the Department by selecting an applicant from the 
lateral eligibility list, or by following the process defined in section 143.026 of the Texas Local 
Government Code; 

• Establishes that actual work experience in another law enforcement agency will  
not be considered for promotional eligibility purposes or seniority purposes; 

• Establishes that applicants hired under this program, once they have successfully completed the 
Probationary classification, will be placed in the pay grade on the compensation plan 
commensurate with their full-time prior service as a police officer, as follows: 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 8 of 11 

 
• Applicants with prior municipal service in a City with a population of 30,000 or greater will 

receive one credit year for each full year of police service, not to exceed ten 10 credit 
years; 

• Applicants with prior municipal service in a City with a population of less than 30,000 will 
receive one credit year for each two full years of police service, not to exceed five credit 
years; 

• Applicants with prior service in a Sherriff Department in a County with a population of 
175,000 or greater will receive one credit year for each full year of police service, not to 
exceed ten 10 credit years; 

• Applicants with other prior service will receive one credit year for each two full years of 
police service, not to exceed five credit years. 

• The credited time is for starting salary only and does not count as time served with the 
Temple Police Department for any other purposes including benefits, step pay, etc.  

 
Article 9: Individual Vehicle Assignment Program (IVAP) 
Proposed by TPA 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article establishes a policy for administering the City’s Individual Vehicle Assignment Program 
(IVAP) and establishes the eligibility criteria for take-home patrol vehicles. 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Establishes requirements to be eligible to participate in the IVAP program; 
• Allows an officer participating in IVAP to take a vehicle home, provided that the officer’s 

residence is no more than seven miles outside the Temple city limits; 
• Establishes a fee of $23 per pay period for officers participating in the take-home vehicle 

program who reside outside the city limits; 
• Provides the following exceptions to the distance and fee requirements: 

• Any officer who resides .5 miles or less outside the City and is currently allowed to take 
a vehicle home is exempt from the payment of the fees unless the officer moves more 
than .5 miles outside the city limits after the effective date of this Agreement 

• Any officer who is assigned a take home vehicle because of their duty assignment (e.g. 
K-9 Officers) and who resides outside the city at the time this Agreement is adopted is 
exempt from the distance limitations and the payment of the fees 

• CID Supervisors and CID Detectives are exempt from the distance limitations and the 
payment of the fees when they are on-call unless they are eligible and elect to fully 
participate in the take-home vehicle program 

 
Article 10: Disciplinary Actions & Appeals 
Proposed by City Administration 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article establishes a policy for disciplinary actions and appeals within the Department. 
 



 
10/20/16 

Item #4(M) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 9 of 11 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• For suspensions of 36 hours or less, allows an officer to forfeit vacation, compensatory, or 
holiday time equal to the length of the suspension, to serve the suspension with no loss of paid 
salary and no break in service. Suspensions served in this manner may not be appealed; 

• Limits the appeal for suspensions of 36 hours or less to the Civil Service Commission; 
• Establishes that suspensions of 36 hours or less that were imposed on or after the effective date 

of this Agreement will no longer be considered for purposes of  
transfer or promotion after 24 months have passed; 

• For suspensions of 37-120 hours, establishes that the Police Chief may allow an officer to forfeit 
vacation, compensatory, or holiday time equal to the length of the suspension, to serve the 
suspension with no loss of paid salary and no break in service. Suspensions served in this 
manner may not be appealed; 

• Allows the Police Chief and an officer to agree to a suspension of 121-720 hours, and establishes 
that the Police Chief may allow an officer to forfeit vacation, compensatory, or holiday time equal 
to the length of the suspension. Suspensions served in this manner may not be appealed; 

• Allows the Police Chief to require an officer be evaluated by a qualified professional designated 
by the Police Chief. If that professional recommends a program of counseling and/or 
rehabilitation for the officer, the Police Chief may: 

• in lieu of or in combination with a suspension or demotion, require that the officer 
successfully complete the recommended program (an officer retains right to appeal) 

• offer an “alternative disciplinary agreement” to the officer under which the officer would 
accept demotion or suspension of up to 720 hours and agree to successfully complete 
the recommended program of counseling and/or rehabilitation 

• offer the officer, as an alternative to indefinite suspension, the opportunity to enter into a 
“Last Chance Agreement” which would include, in addition to any provisions agreed upon 
by the Police Chief and officer, a probationary period not to exceed one year, during  
which if the officer commits the same or a similar act of misconduct, the officer will be 
indefinitely suspended without right of appeal; 

• Allows an officer to request an opportunity to be evaluated by a qualified physician, psychiatrist 
or psychologist in order to seek counseling and/or rehabilitation. The officer’s request will toll the 
180 day deadline for imposing discipline. The Department Head may consider any counseling 
and/or rehabilitation voluntarily undertaken by an officer under this section before imposing any 
discipline; 

• Codifies the Loudermill Hearings process followed by the Department in protection of the due 
process rights of an officer facing any level of formal discipline; 

• Establishes procedures for appeal hearings before Hearing Examiners to facilitate the efficient 
and effective conclusion of such appeals including an agreement that a hearing examiner will be 
selected within 10 days of the receipt of a list of Hearing Examiners and that the Hearing 
Examiner selected shall render a decision within  
30 business days of the conclusion of the hearing; 

• Allows a Hearing Examiner the authority to impose a disciplinary suspension of any length of 
time, including suspensions in excess of fifteen days, and time already served between the 
imposition of discipline and the appeal decision  

• (overrides the judicial limitation imposed on the authority of the Commission or Hearing 
Examiner by the City of Waco v. Kelley case). 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 10 of 11 

 
Article 11: Grievance Procedure 
Proposed by TPA 
 
Overview: 
 
This Article establishes a dispute resolution procedure to provide a just and equitable method for 
resolving disagreements between the Parties regarding the application or interpretation of the 
provisions of this Agreement. 
 
Key Provisions: 
 

• Requires that a dispute be presented in writing to the Police Chief or his designee; 
• Requires an officer to initiate a request for dispute resolution with the Association Executive 

Board and disallows an officer from filing a dispute directly with the City; 
• Establishes a 15 day timeline for an officer to file a claim or dispute from the date they knew or 

should have reasonably known the facts giving rise to the dispute; 
• Establishes a five step process for disputes by the Association Executive Board or police officer: 

• Step 1: Association Executive Board  
• Step 2: Police Chief  
• Step 3: City Manager  
• Step 4: Mediation 
• Step 5: Arbitration 

• Establishes a process for the City to enforce Association compliance with this Agreement 
through notification and subsequent options including termination of agreement. 

 
Ratification & Term of the Agreement.  A meet and confer agreement is enforceable and binding if 
the governing body of the municipality ratifies the agreement by a majority vote and the recognized 
police officers association ratifies the agreement by conducting a secret ballot election at which the 
majority of the police officers who would be covered by the agreement favored ratifying the agreement. 
The Temple Police Association conducted a secret ballot election held on October 9 – 12, 2016. During 
that election, 91 police officers voted “yes” to the ratification of the meet and confer agreement and 15 
police officers voted “no”. 
 
If this resolution is adopted by the City Council, the agreement will become effective immediately and 
continue in effect until September 30, 2017. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(M) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 10 of 11 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Below is a table outlining the fiscal impact of the meet and confer agreement for 
each of the eleven issue points.  This agreement becomes effective immediately and continues in effect 
until September 30, 2017. 

 
 

Issue Fiscal Impact 
Funded 

In FY 
2017 

Article 1: Association Business 
 

Not Applicable N/A 

Article 2: Additional Appointed 
Position 
 

Base salary plus benefits: $135,000 
Additional vehicle: $45,000. 

No 

Article 3: Military Leave Time Account 
 

Not Applicable N/A 

Article 4: Compensation Not Applicable N/A 
Article 5: Overtime 
 

3rd Party reimbursed overtime and benefits 
is estimated for FY 17 at $794,000. 

Yes 

Article 6: Higher Classification / Rank 
Structure 

The amount would be difficult to estimate at 
this time.  

No 
 

Article 7: Educational Incentives for 
Promotion 
 

Not Applicable N/A 

Article 8: Lateral Entry Program 
 

Not Applicable N/A 

Article 9: Individual Vehicle 
Assignment Program (IVAP) 
 

The estimated net cost based on officers 
who are currently employed by the City is 
$26,365.  

No 

Article 10: Disciplinary Actions & 
Appeals 
 

Not Applicable N/A 

Article 11: Grievance Procedure 
 

Not Applicable N/A 

 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Draft Agreement 
Resolution 
  



 Page 1 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

 
 
 

MEET & CONFER AGREEMENT 
 

BETWEEN 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 

AND 
 

TEMPLE POLICE ASSOCIATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF TEMPLE FISCAL YEAR  
2017 



 Page 2 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

Definitions ...............................................................................................................5 
 
Article 1 – Association Business............................................................................6  

Section 1 Intent ............................................................................................6  
Section 2 Recognition ..................................................................................6  
Section 3 Association Access to New Hires ................................................6 
Section 4 Labor Relations ............................................................................6 
Section 5 Association Rights and Indemnification ......................................7 
Section 6 Association Business Leave Time Pool .......................................9 
Section 7 Negotiating Time for Negotiating Team Members .....................9 

 
Article 2 – Creation of Additional Deputy Chief Position…………………....11  

Section 1 Intent ..........................................................................................11  
Section 2 Minimum Standards ...................................................................11  
Section 3 Procedure ...................................................................................11 
Section 4 Adoption and Publication of Rules ............................................11 

 
Article 3 – Military Leave Time Account…………………………………… ..12  

Section 1 City to Maintain Account...........................................................12  
Section 2 Adoption and Publication of Rules ............................................12  

 
Article 4 – Compensation…………………………………………………….. ..13  

Section 1 Intent ..........................................................................................13 
Section 2 Compensation Study ..................................................................13  
Section 3 Successor Agreement .................................................................13 

 
Article 5 – Overtime Compensation………………………….... .......................14   

Section 1 Intent ..........................................................................................14  
Section 2 General Guidelines.....................................................................14  
Section 3 Overtime Exception ...................................................................14 
Section 4 Amendment of Work Period ......................................................14 
Section 5 Scheduled Overtime Assignments .............................................14 
Section 6 Unscheduled Overtime ...............................................................15 
Section 7 Court Appearances .....................................................................15 
Section 8 Compensatory Time ...................................................................15 
Section 9 Administrative Challenge ..........................................................16 
Section 10 Statutory Override ....................................................................16 
Section 11 Adoption and Publication of Rules ..........................................16 

 
 
 
 
 



 Page 3 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

Article 6 – Temporary Work in Higher Classification/Rank Structure…….17 
Section 1 Intent and Scope .........................................................................17  
Section 2 Corporal Rank ............................................................................17  
Section 3 Sergeant Rank ............................................................................18 
Section 4 Temporary Performance of Duties in a Higher Rank ................18 
Section 5 Preemption .................................................................................19 
Section 6 Adoption and Publication of Rules ............................................19 

 
Article 7 – Promotional Incentives for Education………………………… ....20 

Section 1 Intent ..........................................................................................20 
Section 2 Additional Points on Promotional Exams ..................................20 
Section 3 Adoption and Publication of Rules ............................................20 

 
Article 8 – Lateral Entry Program .................................………………………21 

Section 1 Intent and Scope .........................................................................21 
Section 2 Eligibility Requirements ............................................................21 
Section 3 Guidelines ..................................................................................21 
Section 4 Preemption .................................................................................22 
Section 5 Adoption and Publication of Rules ............................................22 

 
Article 9 – Individual Vehicle Assignment Program (IVAP)………………...23  

Section 1 Intent ..........................................................................................23 
Section 2 Eligibility ...................................................................................23 
Section 3 Applicable Guidelines ................................................................23 
Section 4 Fee ..............................................................................................23 
Section 5 Exceptions ..................................................................................23 
Section 6 Adoption and Publication of Rules ............................................24 

 
Article 10 – Disciplinary Actions and Appeals……………………………….. 25  

Section 1 Intent ..........................................................................................25 
Section 2 Suspensions of 36 Hours or Less ...............................................25 
Section 3 Suspensions of 37 to 120 Hours.................................................26 
Section 4 Suspensions of 121 to 720 Hours...............................................26 
Section 5 Alternate Discipline by the Department Head ...........................26 
Section 6 Alternate Discipline by Agreement ...........................................27 
Section 7 Last Chance Agreement .............................................................28 
Section 8 Officer’s Request for Professional Evaluation ..........................29 
Section 9 Due Process – Loudermill Hearings ..........................................29 
Section 10 Hearing Examiner Retained / Suspensions in Excess of 36 Hours .. 31 
Section 11 Procedure Before Commission and Hearing Examiners .................. 31 
Section 12 Appeal Procedures Before Hearing Examiners .......................31 
Section 13 Jurisdiction of Hearing Authority to Modify Discipline..........32 
Section 14 Preemption ...............................................................................33 
Section 15 Adoption and Publication of Rules ..........................................33 
 

 



 Page 4 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

Article 11 – Grievance Procedure ………………………………... ..................34  
Section 1 Intent and Scope of Procedure ...................................................34 
Section 2 Application of Procedure ...........................................................34 
Section 3 Arbitration Option ......................................................................35 
Section 4 Decision Final and Binding .......................................................36 
Section 5 Mutual Extension .......................................................................37 
Section 6 Grievance of Non-Association Members ...................................37 
Section 7 Association Compliance with Agreement .................................37 

 
Article 12 – Savings Clause .................................................................................38  
 
Article 13 – Duration of Agreement ...................................................................38  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 Page 5 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 

1. "Agreement" refers to this Meet and Confer Agreement, negotiated between the City 
of Temple and the Temple Police Association. 

2. "Association" means the Temple Police Association.  
3. "City" means the City of Temple.  
4. "College hours" "Degree" or College Degree" means credit hours or degree from a 

college or university recognized by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools 
or a similar regional association recognized and approved by the United States 
Department of Education.  

5. "Commission" means the Firefighters’ and Police Officers’ Civil Service 
Commission of the City of Temple. 

6. “Day(s)” means calendar days, unless otherwise specified. 
7. "Department" means the Police Department of the City of Temple. 
8. “Department Head” means the administrative head of the Police Department or the 

Chief of Police, including any interim or acting Chief of Police.  
9. "Director" means the Director of the City of Temple Firefighters' and Police Officers' 

Civil Service Commission. 
10. “Dues” means the cost of membership in the Association. 
11. “FY” means financial year.  
12. “Guaranteed Overtime” refers to assignments compensated at a rate of time and a 

half, without regard to the number of hours worked in a pay period. 
13. “IVAP” means the Individual Vehicle Assignment Program. 
14. “Local rules” refers to the Rules and Regulations of the City of Temple Firefighters' 

and Police Officers' Civil Service Commission. 
15. "Party" or "Parties" means the City of Temple and the Temple Police Association. 
16. "Police Officer" or "Officer" means a person who is a peace officer under Article 

2.12, Code of Criminal Procedure, or other law, and who is employed by the City of 
Temple Police Department.  

17. "TCOLE" means the Texas Commission on Law Enforcement, or its successor 
organization.  

18. "TLGC" means the Texas Local Government Code. 



 Page 6 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 1 
Association Business 

 
Section 1. Intent. In adopting this Article, the Parties acknowledge and agree to the following 
provisions for the purpose of enabling the Association to adequately represent Association 
members, and administer the terms of the Agreement. 
 
Section 2. Recognition. The City recognizes the Temple Police Association (TPA) as the sole 
and exclusive bargaining agent for all covered police officers, pursuant to section 142.053 et. 
seq. Texas Local Government Code, excluding the Department Head, employees of the Temple 
Police Department who are exempt under section 142.058(b) Texas Local Government Code, 
and employees occupying appointed positions pursuant to section 143.014 Texas Local 
Government Code. The Agreement is intended to include all permanent paid employees of the 
Temple Police Department who have been hired in substantial compliance with the provisions of 
Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code, but does not include civilian employees, 
other employees, or those excluded above. The Agreement is not intended to, and does not, deny 
local control by the City, or restrict or diminish the management rights of the City, except as 
expressly provided by the Agreement under section 142.059 of the Texas Local Government 
Code. 
 
Section 3. Association Access to New Hires. The Association shall have the right to meet with 
new officers during the Academy and/or Departmental in-house employee orientation sessions to 
ensure they have received a copy of the Agreement, and to be able to explain and answer 
questions about the Association, the Agreement, and the meet and confer process. 
 
Section 4. Labor Relations 
 

1. To improve communications between the Department Head and the Association, and 
to facilitate resolution of issues related to implementing the provisions of this 
Agreement, the Department Head shall establish an Advisory Team comprised of 
three (3) members, including one (1) member of the Department designated by the 
Department Head, and two (2) members of the Department designated by the 
Association. The Association and the Department Head may designate a substitute 
representative to the Team in the event that the designated Team member is unable to 
attend a meeting. The Department Head or his designee will meet with this Team at 
least once every three (3) months. The purpose of the Team is advisory to the 
Department Head, and to provide police managers input on City and Departmental 
policy, procedures, and employee issues.  

 
2. The Association President or the Department Head may request additional meetings 

when issues arise that warrant concern or discussion. The Department Head retains 
discretion regarding the scheduling of additional meetings.  

 



 Page 7 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

3. Members of the Advisory Team will not be required to use leave in order to attend 
Team meetings. Members of the Advisory Team will not receive overtime 
compensation for attendance at Team meetings. 

 
Section 5. Association Rights and Indemnification 
 

(a) Dues Deduction. Upon receipt of a signed authorization from an officer on a form 
supplied by the City, the dues and assessments to the Association and affiliated state 
organizations that existed on the date of this Agreement shall be deducted from each 
member officer’s pay. Officers who are not members are not obligated to pay 
Association dues. Officers who are currently having dues deducted as of the 
execution date of this Agreement are not required to submit a new dues deduction 
form. 

 
The dues deduction shall be remitted promptly to the Treasurer of the Association. 
The City agrees to provide a list of those members for whom deductions are made 
each month. The Association may change the amount of the deduction for those 
employees who have authorized payroll deductions by providing the City with a 
letter, at least thirty (30) days in advance of the change, from the Association 
President advising the City that the amount of the dues deduction has changed 
pursuant to the requirements of the Association’s Constitution and Bylaws. The 
Association will promptly refund to the City any amount paid to the Association in 
error on account of this dues deduction provision. 
 

(b) Indemnification. As a condition of being granted and continuing payroll deduction of 
dues, the Association shall indemnify the City and any departments of the City, and 
hold it harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or other form of liability 
that may arise out of, or by reason of, any actions taken by the City or any department 
of the City for any purpose of complying with the provisions of this Agreement.  
 

(c) Association Access to Premises. Subject to reasonable advance notice from the 
Association and approval from the Department Head or his designee, the Association 
may be permitted reasonable access to the premises of the Department and the Police 
Academy for the purpose of administering this Agreement, including but not limited 
to Departmental in-house employee orientation. Such visits shall be limited to the 
purpose for which approval was granted and shall be conducted in a manner that does 
not interfere with the functions of the Department or Academy. 
 

The Association’s access to the Department facilities and equipment to communicate 
with its membership shall include the use of one (1) bulletin board installed at the 
main police station and one (1) board at each police facility. The Department Head 
must approve in advance the size of, and materials used for, said bulletin boards.  All 
costs incurred in the purchase, installation, and maintenance of said bulletin boards 
shall be at the Association’s expense. All posted materials must be directly related to 
Association business. The following guidelines shall apply to materials properly 
posted on the bulletin boards: 



 Page 8 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

1. recreation and social affairs of the Association; 
2. Association meetings; 
3. Association elections; 
4. reports of Association Committees; 
5. rulings or policies of the state or national Association, without added 

commentary, and 
6. legislative enactments and judicial decisions affecting public employee labor 

relations, without added commentary. 
7. At no time shall the bulletin boards contain any political endorsement, 

whether at the local, state, or federal level. 
8. The Department Head or his designee retains the right to remove material 

which is not directly related to Association, or is offensive or inappropriate. 
 

(d) Communications. Subject to the Temple Police Department General Orders, the 
City’s administrative regulations, and the applicable provisions of this Agreement, the 
Association may utilize electronic communications (“E-mail”) to communicate with 
Temple police officers regarding issues related to provisions of the Agreement and 
upcoming meet and confer sessions in accordance with the following restrictions and 
limitations: 

 
1. Association email communications shall relate solely to the following 

subjects: 
i. issues related to the Agreement; 
ii.   issues related to upcoming meet and confer sessions;  
iii.  issues related to the grievance policy, and 
iv.  Association meetings for the purpose of discussing issues related to 
the Agreement, upcoming meet and confer negotiations, and/or the 
grievance policy. 
 

2. Email communications shall not contain any political commentary, any 
solicitation for membership in, or financial contributions to, any special 
interest organization or political action organization, or derogatory or 
offensive propaganda or commentary which reflects negatively upon the City, 
its officials, its employees, City employee associations or groups, or upon 
citizens of the City. On a case-by-case basis, the Department Head or his 
designee may consider requests from individual officers for approval to 
distribute email communications regarding solicitations for officers (or their 
families) needing financial or other forms of assistance. 
 

3. In the event of a violation, the Department Head shall notify the Association 
of the violation. Subsequent violations of these guidelines will subject the 
Association to the loss of the privilege of using the City’s electronic 
communications system. Such loss will not be subject to review by any 
administrative or judicial body, or the grievance process. 

   
 



 Page 9 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

Section 6. Association Business Leave Time Pool 
 

(a) Time Off for Association Business. An Association Business Leave Pool shall be created 
for the purpose of conducting Association business, defined herein as time spent 
adjusting grievances, attending the annual conference of state affiliated organizations, the 
Association’s Executive Board meetings, and regular Association business meetings.  
 
While Temple Police officers are on Association Business Leave, they shall not wear 
Temple Police Department uniforms or insignia of any kind. 
 

(b) Establishment of Association Leave Time Pool. The Association Business Leave (ABL) 
Pool shall be funded during the first pay date of each calendar year by reduction of 
accrued vacation leave in the amount of two (2) hours for each member of the Temple 
Police Association who provides notice in writing to the City at least thirty (30) calendar 
days prior to the beginning of that calendar year of his/her wish to donate said hours to 
the ABL Pool. Once a contribution has been made to the ABL Pool, there shall be no 
transfer of leave back into any individual officer’s leave account, and there will be no 
cash payout for any remaining time in the Pool. Unused ABL Pool hours will remain in 
the Pool to be utilized the following year. ABL Pool hours shall never have any cash or 
surrender value. The City will track contributions to and deductions from the ABL Pool. 
 

(c) Use of Association Leave Time Pool. The Association President shall request any use of 
Association business leave in writing, and submit the request in advance for approval by 
the Department Head. The Department Head may waive the requirement that the request 
and approval be in writing. Requests for ABL time shall be made as far in advance as is 
practicable, but no less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the date for which leave is 
requested. There shall be no entitlement for overtime pay for any hours worked on 
Association business, as such time is not for the benefit of the City, but for the sole 
benefit of the Association. Unless approved by the Department Head, not more than two 
(2) members may be on ABL at the same time, and such leave may be cancelled by the 
Department Head in the event of any emergency or shortage of manpower, as determined 
by the Department Head. Cancellation of ABL time by the Department Head under these 
circumstances shall not be subject to review by any administrative or judicial body, or the 
grievance process. 
 

(d) Indemnification. The Association shall indemnify the City, its officials and employees, 
and hold them harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or other forms of 
liability that may arise out of, or by reason of, any actions taken by the City for any 
purpose of complying with the provisions of this section. 
 
 

Section 7. Negotiating Time for Negotiating Team Members. The City agrees to pay up to a 
maximum of five members of the Association’s meet and confer team their regular pay for 
attendance at meet and confer meetings between the City and the Association. If subcommittees 
are jointly assigned to work on specific matters, Association members of the subcommittee shall 
receive their regular pay during joint subcommittee meetings.  Association team member time 



 Page 10 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

spent preparing for meetings, or attending internal Association meetings, will not be paid by the 
City. Police administration may adjust Association representatives’ schedules in order to 
minimize overtime expense.  
  
 



 Page 11 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 2 
Creation of Additional Deputy Chief Position 

 
Section 1. Intent. In adopting this Article, the Parties agree to the creation of a single additional 
Deputy Chief position in addition to the two (2) Deputy Chief positions authorized by Section 
143.014(c) Texas Local Government Code. The Parties believe this additional position is necessary 
to align the Departmental command structure with the organization of the Department into three (3) 
bureaus (Patrol, Investigations, and Administration) and to efficiently address the continued growth 
of the Department and the community. 

 
Section 2. Minimum Standards. In addition to the minimum standards required by Sections 
143.013(b) and 143.014(d) Texas Local Government Code, the person appointed to the additional 
Deputy Chief position must have: 

1.  obtained a minimum educational level of a Bachelor’s degree within two (2) calendar 
years from the date the Meet and Confer Agreement is approved by the Parties. 

2.  successfully completed a major law enforcement management school, e.g., the FBI 
National Academy, Southern Police Institute, or be able to complete this requirement 
within the first eighteen (18) months of promotion to the position; 

3. served in the rank of Sergeant or above, and have demonstrated effective supervision, 
leadership and management of the personnel under their control; 

4. obtained the level of Master Peace Officer Certification by the Texas Commission on 
Law Enforcement (TCOLE) or its successor. 

 
The Parties agree that these minimum standards shall apply to the subsequent appointment of 
any person to a Deputy Chief position.  
 

Section 3. Procedure. Upon a vacancy in any Deputy Chief position, the position will be posted for 
a period of ten (10) calendar days during which eligible candidates may submit documentation of 
their qualifications, e.g., resumes, transcripts, certifications, for review by the Department Head. The 
Parties agree that the final appointment will be made solely at the Department Head’s discretion and 
that this procedure is not intended to, and does not, provide a basis for appeal of the appointment. 
 
Section 4. Adoption and Publication of Rules. The Commission shall adopt Local Rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 
 
 



 Page 12 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 3 
Military Leave Time Account 

 
Section 1. City to Maintain Account.   
 

(a) The City of Temple shall maintain a military leave time account for the Police 
Department. The account shall benefit a police officer who: 

(1) is a member of the Texas National Guard or the armed forces reserves of 
the United States;  

(2) was called to active federal military duty while serving as a police officer 
for the City; and 

(3) has served on active duty for a period of 3 continuous months or longer. 

(b) A police officer may donate any amount of accumulated vacation, holiday, sick, 
or compensatory leave time to the military leave time account to help provide 
salary continuation for police officers who qualify as eligible beneficiaries of the 
account under this Article.  

(c) A police officer who wishes to donate time to an account under this section must 
authorize the donation in writing on a form provided by the Police Department 
and approved by the City. 

(d) The City shall equally distribute the leave time donated to the military leave time 
account among all police officers who are eligible beneficiaries of that account. 
The City shall credit and debit the applicable military leave time account on an 
hourly basis, regardless of the cash value of the time donated or used. 

(e) A police officer who wishes to use military leave from the military leave time 
account shall submit the request in writing. 

(f) In December of each year, the City shall provide a report to the Association that 
includes the current balance of the military leave time account and the amount of 
leave used by each police officer from the account during the previous year. 

Section 2. Adoption and Publication of Rules. The Commission shall adopt Local Rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 
 

 



 Page 13 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 4 
Compensation 

 
 
Section 1. Intent. The Parties agree that in order to attract and retain qualified police officers, it 
is necessary to maintain a fair and competitive pay and compensation package, with due regard 
for fiscal restraints and sustainability. When considering total compensation, the Parties agree 
that base pay, longevity pay, education incentive pay, TCOLE certificate pay, shift differential 
pay, and other forms of compensation need to be evaluated with other cities comparable to the 
City of Temple.    

 
Section 2. 2017 Compensation Study.  The Parties agree to diligently work together to develop 
the criteria for a pay and compensation study, including comparable cities.  The Parties agree to 
meet and discuss criteria and a schedule for the completion of the study no later than January 31, 
2017, with the goal of implementing any compensation adjustments in conjunction with the FY 
2018 budget process. 

 
Section 3. Successor Agreement.  Within 30 days after the completion of the study, the Parties 
agree to meet to discuss pay and compensation and the successor agreement to this Agreement. 
 
 



 Page 14 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 5 
Overtime Compensation 

 
Section 1. Intent. In adopting this Article, the Parties agree to the creation of a uniform 
Departmental policy governing overtime compensation, consistent with Section 142.0015 Texas 
Local Government Code, the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), and City policy.  
 
Section 2. General Guidelines. 

  
a. The allocation of budgeted overtime funds is solely within the discretion of the 

Department Head. 
 

b.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, and this Agreement does not, limit the 
Department Head’s discretion to assign employees as necessary to achieve 
Departmental objectives. 

 
Section 3. Overtime Exception. The Parties understand and agree that the overtime exemption 
provided for by the FLSA known as the 7(k) exemption is hereby adopted by the City and shall be 
used to determine an applicable work period for purposes of overtime under the FLSA for certain 
work groups. The City reserves the right to make an initial determination regarding whether an 
overtime exemption applies, based on its own evaluation, or based on a request for an evaluation 
from the Department of Labor (DOL). 
 
Section 4. Amendment of Work Period. The City reserves any and all rights to alter or amend the 
work period, if to do so serves the legitimate governmental and management interests of the City. 
The Parties agree that the maximum work period that will be utilized by the City is a fourteen (14) 
day period. The maximum number of hours that will be worked without overtime pay within a 14-
day work period will be eighty (80). 
 
 
Section 5. Scheduled Overtime Assignments.  
 

a. All scheduled overtime assignments subject to contractual agreements with third parties 
will be compensated at a guaranteed rate of time and a half, without regard to the number 
of hours worked by an officer during that pay period.  

 
b. Other overtime assignments for which compensation will be at a guaranteed rate of time 

and a half, without regard to the number of hours worked by an officer during that pay 
period, shall be identified and posted as such in advance. 

 
c. All scheduled overtime assignments for City events will be paid at time and half, unless 

an officer has worked less than 80 hours during the relevant pay period. In the event that 
an officer scheduled to work a City event has not worked 80 hours due to taking sick or 
vacation leave during that pay period, the officer will be compensated at his regular 
hourly rate for the City event. The officer shall have the option to elect whether to apply 
straight “additional regular” time in lieu of the leave taken, or to receive additional 



 Page 15 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

compensation for working the City event, but in no case shall the officer be compensated 
at the rate of time and a half.  

 
d. Supervisors shall not require officers who are scheduled to work a City event to take flex 

days prior to the City event in order to avoid paying the officers overtime for working the 
City assignment. 
 

 
Section 6. Unscheduled Overtime.  
 

a. Call-Outs – Non-exempt officers who are off-duty and receive notification to return to 
duty status shall be entitled to a minimum of 2 hours of overtime compensation, 
regardless of actual time worked. Time worked, in this circumstance, shall begin when 
the notification is received and continue until the officer is cleared from the call. 

 
b. If an officer is required to work unscheduled overtime, the officer shall have the 

opportunity to elect whether (s)he will be compensated with compensatory time, or paid 
overtime for that assignment, subject to leave balance restrictions. If the supervisor does 
not flex the officer’s time, the overtime slip submitted by the officer will be processed as 
submitted. No supervisor shall amend a payment form submitted by an officer for such an 
assignment without the officer’s prior consent.   

 
c. If the supervisor does flex the officer’s time, the supervisor will work with the officer to 

schedule the flex time off, subject to the needs of the Department. 
 
Section 7. Court Appearances. An officer who makes a required court-related appearance prior to, 
or after his/her regularly scheduled shift, is guaranteed a minimum of 2 hours of overtime 
compensation, regardless of the actual time spent in court. Time worked, in this circumstance, 
includes scheduled report time until released by the court. 
 
Section 8. Compensatory Time. The Parties agree to the following: 
 

a. Overtime assignments for which compensation will be in the form of compensatory time 
off in lieu of paid overtime shall be identified and posted as such in advance. 

 
b. Unless an overtime assignment has been posted as a compensatory time assignment, 

compensation for that assignment shall be paid overtime.  
 

c. If an officer is required to work an overtime assignment for which the form of 
compensation has not been identified prior to the start of the overtime assignment, the 
officer shall have the opportunity to elect whether (s)he will be compensated with 
compensatory time or paid overtime for that assignment, subject to leave balance 
restrictions. If the supervisor does not flex the officer’s time, the overtime slip submitted 
by the officer will be processed as submitted. No supervisor shall amend a payment form 
submitted by an officer for such an assignment without the officer’s prior consent.   

 
d. If the supervisor does flex the officer’s time, the supervisor will work with the officer to 

schedule the flex time off, subject to the needs of the Department. 



 Page 16 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

 
e. This section is not intended to limit the Department Head’s ability to assign officers to 

work overtime assignments paid with compensatory time off as necessary to meet 
Departmental objectives. 

 
f. This section is not intended to limit the Department Head’s authority to implement flex 

time in managing the Department’s budget. 
 

g. Subject to staffing needs, supervisors and officers will schedule compensatory time off at 
a mutually agreeable time.  

 
Section 9. Administrative Challenge. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or preclude an 
individual officer or class of officers from exercising their administrative rights to challenge the 
application of an exemption using applicable DOL procedures and protocols. Further, nothing in the 
Agreement shall prevent or preclude the City from defending its application of an exemption.  
 
Section 10. Statutory Override. This Article supersedes Section 142.0015(j) Texas Local 
Government Code and any and all other contrary state provisions to allow the adoption of the FLSA 
7(k) overtime exemption, and provide for an alternate work period. 
 
Section 11. Adoption and Publication of Rules. The Commission shall adopt Local Rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 
 

 
 



 Page 17 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 6 
Temporary Duties in Higher Classification/Rank Structure 

 
Section 1. Intent and Scope. The Parties acknowledge that an officer’s experience, training and 
performance contribute significantly to his/her efficiency and ability, and the Department’s ability to 
meet public safety needs. The Parties agree that temporarily designating an officer to perform the 
duties of a higher rank may be necessary to meet Departmental staffing needs, and can also provide 
the officer a unique and valuable training opportunity as part of career development.  
 
Section 2. Corporal Rank 
 

(a) Acting Sergeant – When no Sergeant or Lieutenant is available to act as a field supervisor for 
a shift due to absence, illness or injury, a Corporal shall be designated as “Acting 
Sergeant/Field Supervisor” for that shift. When no Sergeant is available to act as a field 
supervisor for a shift due to absence, illness or injury, and the Lieutenant determines an 
additional field supervisor is necessary to meet staffing needs, the Lieutenant may designate a 
Corporal as an “Acting Sergeant/Field Supervisor” for that shift. 

1. The designation shall be made by a Lieutenant, Deputy Chief, or the Department 
Head, and be noted in writing on the Duty Roster. 

2. A person serving in this designation shall have full authority and responsibility for 
performing all of the duties of the Sergeant rank for the duration of the designation. 

3. The officer designated as Acting Sergeant shall be paid the base salary of the 
Sergeant rank, plus the officer’s own longevity and seniority pay, educational 
incentive pay, and certification pay during the period of the designation. 

4. The designation shall be made on a rotating basis to all Corporals, from a list which 
will be distributed to the Unit. 

5. The Department Head, or his designee, retains discretion to deviate from the order of 
names on the list when designating an Acting Sergeant. This decision is not subject to 
appeal and shall not be the basis for a grievance. 

6. If no list is available, the designation will be made on the basis of seniority. 
 

(b) Mentoring Sergeant – A Lieutenant may designate a Corporal to act as Mentoring Sergeant 
under the supervision of a Sergeant or Lieutenant.  

1. The designation is specifically intended for training and mentoring purposes, as part 
of a comprehensive career development plan. The Mentoring Sergeant designation is 
not to be made for the purpose of meeting Departmental staffing needs. 

2. The designated officer will have the immediate authority of a Sergeant for the 
duration of the designation, however ultimate authority and responsibility for the shift 
remains with the available Sergeant or Lieutenant. 

3. The designation shall be made by a Lieutenant, Deputy Chief, or the Department 
Head, and be noted in writing on the Duty Roster. 

4. The Mentoring Sergeant shall not receive higher classification pay during the 
designation period. 

5. The designation shall be made on a rotating basis to all Corporals, from a list which 
will be distributed to the Unit. 



 Page 18 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

6. The Department Head, or his designee, retains discretion to deviate from the order of 
names on the list when designating a Mentoring Sergeant. This decision is not subject 
to appeal and shall not be the basis for a grievance. 

7. If no list is available, the designation will be made on the basis of seniority. 
 
Section 3. Sergeant Rank 
 

Watch Commander – When a Lieutenant will be absent or unavailable for a period of at least 
twenty-eight (28) consecutive days, the Department Head, or his designee, may designate a 
Sergeant to perform the administrative duties of a Lieutenant/Watch Commander. 

 
a. The designation shall be made by a Deputy Chief, or the Department Head, and be 

noted in writing on the Duty Roster. 
b. A person serving in this designation shall have full authority and responsibility for 

performing all of the duties of the Lieutenant rank for the duration of the designation. 
c. The designated Watch Commander shall be paid the base salary of the Lieutenant 

rank, plus the officer’s own longevity and seniority pay, educational incentive pay, 
and certification pay during the period of the designation. 

d. The designation shall be made on a rotating basis from a list of Sergeants. If no list is 
available, the designation shall be made on the basis of seniority. The Department 
Head retains discretion to deviate from the order of names on the list when 
designating a Watch Commander. This decision is not subject to appeal and shall not 
be the basis for a grievance. 

e. The Department Head retains authority to designate a Watch Commander, pursuant to 
this section, for a period of less than twenty-eight (28) days, based on Departmental 
needs.  

  
Section 4. Temporary Performance of Duties in a Higher Rank 
 
In order to meet immediate Departmental staffing needs, the Department Head shall have the 
authority to temporarily assign an officer to perform the duties of a position in the next higher rank 
under the following circumstances: 
 

a. when that position has been funded, but not yet created or authorized by the City’s 
governing body, or 

 
b. when there is a vacancy in an existing position for which no promotional list exists. An 

officer temporarily assigned under this subsection has no property right or interest, in law 
or equity, to continued employment in the temporarily assigned position, and will be 
demoted to the position (s)he occupied prior to the temporary assignment immediately 
upon determination of the officer occupying the first position on the eligibility list. This 
subsection does not preclude back-pay due to the person who is ultimately promoted to 
fill the position from the promotional list once established.  

 
Assignments made pursuant to this provision are temporary in nature, and specifically intended to 
address immediate, pressing Departmental staffing needs. Assignments made pursuant to this 
provision are expressly limited to such period of time as is necessary for the City to formally create 
the position by ordinance, or complete the process of creating a promotional list for the position. 



 Page 19 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

 
A person temporarily serving in a higher rank shall have full authority and responsibility for 
performing all of the duties of the assigned rank for the duration of the assignment. 
 
Under no circumstances is this provision intended to, and it does not, circumvent the express intent 
of Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code, which specifies that promotions are to be made 
solely through the promotional testing process. 
 
An officer temporarily assigned to a position in the next higher rank under this provision shall be 
paid the base salary of the rank to which (s)he has been temporarily assigned, and the officer’s own 
longevity or seniority pay, educational incentive pay, and certification pay for the period of the 
temporary assignment. 
 
Under no circumstances is this provision intended to, and it does not, authorize the Department Head 
to, directly or indirectly, create a position that has not been funded by the City’s governing body. 
 
Section 5. Preemption. It is the specific intent of the Parties to the Agreement that any express 
written provision that specifically provides for a procedure, standard, or practice other than what is 
provided for in Subchapter D, Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code is intended to 
override the applicable statutory provision as allowed by Subchapter C, Chapter 142 of the Texas 
Local Government Code. 
 
Section 6. Adoption and Publication of Rules. The Commission shall adopt Local Rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 

 
 
 



 Page 20 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 7 
Promotional Incentives for Education 

 
 
Section 1. Intent. The Parties agree that it is the goal of the Department to maintain high 
professional standards.  Continuing education is encouraged and recognized as a way to improve 
professionalism for both officers and the Department.   

 
Section 2.  Additional Points on Promotional Exams.   
 

(a) In addition to the points a promotional candidate is entitled to receive under Chapter 
143.033, Local Government Code, for seniority, promotional candidates are also 
entitled to receive points for continuing education as follows: 

 
 Level 1 - 0.50 points for having received an Advanced Certificate issued by the 

Texas Commission on Law Enforcement (TCOLE); 
 Level 2 - 1.0 points for having completed 60 college hours credit with a passing 

grade from an accredited institution of higher education, college or university; 
 Level 3 - 1.5 points for having received a Master Peace Officer Certificate issued 

by the Texas Commission of Law Enforcement (TCOLE); 
 Level 4 - 2.0 points for having received an Associates Degree from an accredited 

institution of higher education, college, or university; 
 Level 5 - 3.0 points for having received a Bachelor's Degree or higher from an 

accredited institution of higher education, college, or university. 
 

(b) A promotional candidate is entitled to receive the points for only the highest level 
attained listed above. 
 

(c) Points awarded to a promotional candidate under this Article shall be added to the final 
score received after the testing process has been completed. 

 
Section 3. Adoption and Publication of Rules.  The Commission shall adopt Local Rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 

 
 



 Page 21 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 8 
Lateral Entry Program 

 
Section 1. Intent and Scope. The Parties acknowledge that the ability to attract and hire qualified 
candidates is beneficial to the Association, the Department, and the City. The Parties agree that an 
expedited process for hiring qualified applicants with previous law enforcement experience will 
support and enhance this goal. 
 
Section 2. Eligibility Requirements. To be eligible for hiring under this Article, an applicant must: 

 
1. have a current TCOLE license; 
2. be currently employed with a law enforcement agency; 
3. have an honorable standing within their current department; 
4. not be under any type of investigation with their current department; 
5. have three (3) or more years of work experience with a municipal, county, or state 

law enforcement agency in a community comparable in size and population to the 
City of Temple;  

6. take and pass the locally given Civil Service exam; and 
7. complete and pass a background investigation, and the City of Temple hiring process. 

 
In addition to the above, the probationary officer, once hired, must:  
 

1. successfully complete a modified Field Training Program of not less than eight (8) 
weeks, and 

2. successfully complete a twelve (12) month probationary period.  
 
The candidate will not have to attend the full training academy. 
 
The Department Head’s final determination regarding whether an applicant meets the Lateral Entry 
Program criteria shall be final. The decision is not subject to appeal to the Commission, and shall not 
be the basis of a grievance under this Agreement.  
 
Section 3. Guidelines 

1. Hiring: An eligibility list for lateral applicants shall be maintained in addition to an entry-
level eligibility list. The score to be placed on the lateral eligibility list for each lateral 
applicant shall be the applicant’s score from the locally given Civil Service exam. That score 
will be used to rank applicants on the lateral eligibility list, however, the Department Head 
may give preference in selection to any person on the lateral eligibility list based on the 
applicant’s years of experience and type of experience. The lateral eligibility list shall expire 
at the discretion of the Department Head. To fill a vacant position within the Department, the 
Department Head may select an applicant from the lateral eligibility list, or follow the 
process defined in section 143.026 of the Texas Local Government Code.  

2. Promotional Eligibility: The Lateral Entry Program is for pay purposes only, and actual work 
experience in another law enforcement agency will not be considered for promotional 
eligibility purposes. 

3. Salary: Upon successful completion of the Probationary classification, applicants hired under 
this lateral entry program will be placed in the current pay grade on the Temple Police 



 Page 22 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

Department compensation plan commensurate with their full-time prior service as a police 
officer. Applicants with prior municipal police service in a city with a population of 30,000 
or more will receive one credit year for each full year of police service, not to exceed ten (10) 
credit years. Applicants with prior municipal police service in a city with a population of less 
than 30,000 will receive one credit year for each two (2) full years of prior police service, not 
to exceed five (5) credit years. Applicants with prior field deputy service with a county 
sheriff’s office with a population of 175,000 or more will receive one credit year for each full 
year of field deputy service, not to exceed ten (10) credit years. Applicants with prior field 
service experience with any TCOLE certified organization other than a municipal police 
organization or a county sheriff’s office will receive one credit year for each two (2) full 
years of prior field service, not to exceed five (5) credit years. The “credited time” will NOT 
count as time served in the Temple Police Department for any purpose(s) except determining 
the starting pay grade. For example, it will not count towards any benefits, assignment, 
promotions, longevity or retirement. Applicants who receive prior service credit will remain 
in the assigned starting pay grade until they have the required years of actual service with the 
Temple Police Department to advance to the next pay grade. Prior service will be calculated 
on full years of service with an entity. Partial years of service with different entities will not 
be added together to make a full year. The City will use the latest official census figures from 
the U.S. Census Bureau at the time the applicant is hired to determine city and county 
populations. 

4. Seniority: Seniority will be based on the applicant’s date of hire within the Department. No 
credit for prior service outside the Department will be granted for seniority purposes.  

 
Section 4. Preemption. It is the specific intent of the Parties to the Agreement that any express 
written provision that specifically provides for a procedure, standard, or practice other than what is 
provided for in Subchapter D, Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code is intended to 
override the applicable statutory provision as allowed by Subchapter C, Chapter 142 of the Texas 
Local Government Code. 

 
Section 5. Adoption and Publication of Rules.  The Commission shall adopt Local Rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 
 

 



 Page 23 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 9 
Individual Vehicle Assignment Program (IVAP) 

 
Section 1. Intent. In adopting this Article, the Parties agree to implement an Individual Vehicle 
Assignment Program for the purpose of providing take-home patrol vehicles to eligible officers. 
The Parties recognize the benefits of reduced vehicle maintenance expense, reduced response 
times, crime deterrence and enhanced police presence in neighborhoods where the vehicles are 
located. 

 
Section 2. Eligibility.  

(a) For an officer to be eligible for the IVAP program, the officer must: 
1. be employed as a Temple Police Officer; 
2. have successfully completed all phases of the Field Training Program, and 
3. have been assigned a designated vehicle. 

 
(b) Except as provided by Section 5, an officer participating in the IVAP program is eligible 

to take a vehicle home, providing the officer’s residence is no more than seven (7) miles 
outside the Temple city limits.  

 
Section 3. Applicable Guidelines.  

(a) Vehicles will be assigned, when available, to new officers on the basis of their civil 
service ranking. 

(b) In addition to the eligibility standards established in Section 2, officers assigned a vehicle 
shall abide by Temple Police Department General Orders, Chapter 803, “Police 
Vehicles,” as amended. 

 
Section 4. Fee. Except as provided by Section 5, officers who are assigned a vehicle in the 
IVAP program and elect to take that vehicle home shall be assessed a fee for the use of the 
vehicle as follows: 

1. Officers residing within the city limits – no charge 
2. Officers residing outside the city limits but no more than seven (7) miles outside 

the city limits - $23/pay period 
 

Section 5. Exceptions.  
(a) Any officer who resides .5 miles or less outside the City and is assigned a vehicle that the 

officer elects to take home at the time this Agreement is adopted is exempt from the 
payment of the fees described in Section 4, unless the officer moves more than .5 miles 
outside the city limits after the effective date of this Agreement. 
 

(b) Any officer who is assigned a take home vehicle because of their assignment and who 
resides outside the city at the time this Agreement is adopted is exempt from the distance 
limitations and the payment of the fees described in this Article.  Officers who are 
assigned a take home vehicle because of their assignment after the effective date of this 
Agreement may be assessed the fees described in Section 4 as a condition for accepting 
the position. The city may impose residential distance restrictions on officers as a 



 Page 24 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

condition of eligibility for assignment to future positions in which an assigned vehicle 
and the ability to respond in a timely manner is a requirement for the position. 
 

(c) One (1) Criminal Investigation Division Supervisor and three (3) Criminal Investigation 
Division Detectives assigned by the Department Head are exempt from the distance 
limitations and the payment of fees described in this Article as follows: 
 

1. If an officer in one of the above listed positions lives more than seven (7)       
miles from the city limits, the officer may utilize an assigned vehicle and take that 
vehicle home when the officer is on-call, and the officer is exempt from the 
payment of the fees described in Section 4 for the use of the vehicle while on-call. 
 

2. Any officer who is assigned to one of the above listed positions and lives 
outside the city limits, but within seven (7) miles from the city limits and does not 
elect to take the vehicle home and pay the fees described in Section 4, may utilize 
a take-home vehicle when the officer is on-call, and the officer is exempt from the 
payment of the fees described in Section 4. 

 
Section 6. Adoption and Publication of Rules. The Department shall adopt rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 

 
 



 Page 25 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 10 
Disciplinary Actions and Appeals 

 
Section 1. Intent. In adopting this Article, the Parties understand and agree that most officers will 
make some errors during their career involving rule violations, including those who are good, 
professional police officers. The Parties agree that some disciplinary suspensions are for the purpose 
of reinforcing the need for compliance with Departmental standards and not necessarily as 
punishment.  
 
Section 2. Suspensions of Thirty-Six (36) Hours or Less.   
 

(a)  The Parties agree that when an officer is suspended for 36 hours or less, the officer may 
choose one of two methods of dealing with the suspensions as set out below: 

 
1. Suspensions that may not be appealed. The officer may forfeit vacation, compensatory, or 

holiday time equal to the length of the suspension, to serve the suspension with no loss of 
paid salary and no break in service for purposes of seniority, retirement, or promotion. 
The forfeited vacation, compensatory, or holiday time will not constitute hours worked. 
In the event an officer has received a disciplinary suspension within the preceding 24-
month period, the officer may only forfeit vacation, compensatory, or holiday time with 
the Department Head’s permission. The officer must agree that there is no right to appeal 
the suspension before any administrative or judicial body if this method of suspension is 
chosen, and the officer must sign a waiver of appeal. Forfeiture of vacation, 
compensatory, or holiday time will not preclude an officer from being paid overtime at 
the rate of time and a half for those overtime assignments that have been identified as 
“guaranteed overtime” assignments. 

 
2. Suspensions that may be appealed. The officer may appeal the suspension solely to the 

Civil Service Commission. If the officer chooses to appeal the suspension, the hearing 
will be conducted as set forth in Section 143.053 Texas Local Government Code.  

 
(b)  Consideration of Suspensions of 36 Hours or Less. The Parties agree that disciplinary 

suspensions of 36 hours or less that were imposed on or after the effective date of this 
Agreement will no longer be considered for purposes of transfer or promotion after 24 
months have passed from the date the suspension ended, without regard to whether the 
suspension was appealed. After the 24 months have passed, the Department Head shall notify 
the Civil Service Commission in writing. A copy of the notification document shall be 
included in the Internal Affairs Division (IAD) investigative file or the file maintained by the 
Director, whichever is appropriate, and the Department shall enter a notation reflecting this.  

 
(c) The Parties agree that the Department and the Civil Service Commission will not alter, 

destroy, conceal, or remove any documents related to the temporary suspension, including 
but not limited to the notice of temporary suspension that was filed with the Commission as 
required by Section 143.052(c) Texas Local Government Code, or the IAD investigative file 
itself. The original suspension paperwork shall still be subject to open records requests and as 
evidence to negate any civil liability claim. 

 



 Page 26 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

Section 3. Suspensions of Thirty-Seven (37) to One Hundred and Twenty (120) Hours. The 
Parties agree that, when an officer is suspended for 37 to 120 hours, the officer may choose one of 
two methods for dealing with the suspension, as set out below: 
 

1. Suspensions that may not be appealed. The Department Head may allow the officer to 
forfeit vacation, compensatory, or holiday time equal to the length of the suspension, to 
serve the suspension with no loss of paid salary and no break in service for purposes of 
seniority, retirement, or promotion. The forfeited vacation, compensatory, or holiday time 
will not constitute hours worked. Forfeiture of vacation, compensatory, or holiday time 
will not preclude an officer from being paid overtime at the rate of time and a half for 
those overtime assignments that have been identified as “guaranteed overtime” 
assignments.  Approval of the use of vacation, compensatory, or holiday time will be 
noted in the suspension paperwork. The officer must agree that there is no right to appeal 
the suspension before any administrative or judicial body if this method of suspension is 
chosen, and the officer must sign a waiver of appeal. 

 
2. Suspensions that may be appealed. The officer may appeal the suspension to the Civil 

Service Commission, or a Hearing Examiner as provided in Section 143.057 Texas Local 
Government Code.  

 
Section 4. Suspensions of One Hundred and Twenty-One (121) to Seven Hundred and Twenty 
(720) Hours. The Parties agree that, when an officer is suspended for 121 to 720 hours, one of the 
two following methods for dealing with the suspension will be used: 
 

1. Mutually Agreed. Either the Department Head or the officer facing discipline may offer 
to impose or accept a suspension without pay for a period from one hundred and twenty-
one (121) to seven hundred and twenty (720) hours. If the officer accepts the mutually 
agreed suspension, there shall be no right to appeal the suspension to any administrative 
or judicial body, and the officer must sign a waiver of appeal. It is also understood and 
agreed that, if the Department Head permits the forfeit of vacation, compensatory, or 
holiday time for suspension, said vacation, compensatory, or holiday time shall be 
considered as equal discipline to unpaid hours of suspension. In no case will sick leave be 
substituted for unpaid hours of suspension. The forfeited vacation, compensatory, or 
holiday time will not constitute hours worked. Forfeiture of vacation, compensatory, or 
holiday time will not preclude an officer from being paid overtime at the rate of time and 
a half for those overtime assignments that have been identified as “guaranteed overtime” 
assignments. 

 
2. Not Agreed. If the Department Head imposes a suspension under this section, the officer 

may appeal to the Civil Service Commission or to a Hearing Examiner as provided in 
Section 143.057 Texas Local Government Code.  

 
Section 5. Alternative Discipline by the Department Head.  
 

(a) In considering appropriate disciplinary action involving suspension of at least 37 hours, the 
Department Head may require that an officer be evaluated by a qualified professional 
designated by the Department Head. If that professional recommends a program of counseling 
and/or rehabilitation for the officer, the Department Head may, as an alternative to demotion, 



 Page 27 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

or temporary or indefinite suspension, or in combination with demotion or temporary 
suspension, require that the officer successfully complete the recommended program. The 
program of counseling and/or rehabilitation will be completed on the officer’s off-duty time, 
unless the Department Head approves the use of accrued vacation leave or sick leave. The 
officer shall be responsible for paying all costs of the program of counseling and/or 
rehabilitation which are not covered by the officer’s health insurance plan.  

 
(b) If the officer’s misconduct involves alcohol or substance abuse related behavior, the 

Department Head may require that the officer submit to mandatory alcohol or drug testing for 
a specified period of time. If the officer fails or refuses to enter into the program, or, after 
entering the program of counseling and/or rehabilitation, the officer fails or refuses to 
complete the program, or fails to submit to mandatory alcohol or drug testing, the officer may 
be indefinitely suspended for failing or refusing to complete the program, or for failing or 
refusing to submit to mandatory alcohol or drug testing.  
 

(c) The officer has the right to appeal to the Civil Service Commission or to a third party Hearing 
Examiner any discipline imposed under this section by filing an appeal notice in accordance 
with the provisions of Chapter 143.  
 

(d) On appeal, the Commission or Hearing Examiner shall have the same duties and powers set 
forth in Chapter 143, but shall not have the power to substitute a program of counseling and/or 
rehabilitation different from the program imposed by the Department Head, or to substitute 
any period of suspension for the required program of counseling and/or rehabilitation. 

 
Section 6. Alternative Discipline by Agreement 
 

(a) In considering appropriate disciplinary action, the Department Head may require that an 
officer be evaluated by a qualified professional designated by the Department Head. If that 
professional recommends a program of counseling and/or rehabilitation for the officer, the 
Department Head may offer the officer the opportunity to enter into an alternative 
disciplinary agreement under which the officer would accept demotion or a temporary 
suspension of up to seven hundred and twenty (720) hours and agree to successfully complete 
the program of counseling and/or rehabilitation recommended by the qualified professional 
designated by the Department Head. 
 

(b) The program of counseling and/or rehabilitation will be completed on the officer’s off-duty 
time, unless the Department Head approves the use of accrued vacation leave or sick leave. 
The officer shall be responsible for paying all costs of the program of counseling and/or 
rehabilitation which are not covered by the officer’s health insurance plan.  

 
(c) If the officer’s misconduct involves alcohol or substance abuse related behavior, the 

Department Head may require that the officer submit to mandatory alcohol or drug testing for 
a specified period of time. If the officer accepts the opportunity for agreed alternative 
discipline, the officer may not appeal any terms of the Agreement or the disciplinary action. 
If the officer fails to complete the program of counseling and/or rehabilitation without good 
cause, the officer may be indefinitely suspended without right of appeal regarding the 
Agreement or the disciplinary action before any administrative or judicial body.   
 



 Page 28 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

(d) In considering whether the officer had good cause for failing to complete the program, the 
Department Head will consider whether the officer was prevented from completing the 
program by circumstances not reasonably within his/her control, e.g. serious illness or death 
in the family, unavailability of the professional. 

 
Section 7. Last Chance Agreement 
 

(a) In considering appropriate disciplinary action, the Department Head may require that an 
officer be evaluated by a qualified professional designated by the Department Head. If that 
professional recommends a program of counseling and/or rehabilitation for the officer, the 
Department Head may offer the officer, as an alternative to indefinite suspension, the 
opportunity to enter into a Last Chance Agreement.  

 
(b) The Agreement may include the following provisions in addition to any other provisions 

agreed upon by the Department Head and the officer. 
 

1. The officer shall successfully complete the program of counseling and/or 
rehabilitation recommended by the qualified professional designated by the 
Department Head. 

2. The program of counseling and/or rehabilitation will be completed on the officer’s 
off-duty time, unless the Department Head approves the use of accrued vacation 
leave or sick leave. The officer shall be responsible for paying all costs of the 
program of counseling and/or rehabilitation which are not covered by the officer’s 
health insurance plan.  

3. The officer shall agree to a probationary period not to exceed one (1) year, with the 
additional requirement that if, during the probationary period, the officer commits the 
same or a similar act of misconduct, the officer will be indefinitely suspended 
without right of appeal regarding the Agreement or the disciplinary action before any 
administrative or judicial body. 

 
(c) If the officer’s misconduct involves alcohol or substance abuse related behavior, the 

Department Head may require that the officer submit to mandatory alcohol or drug testing for 
a specified period of time. If the officer accepts the opportunity for a Last Chance 
Agreement, the officer may not appeal any terms of the Agreement. Successful completion of 
a counseling and/or rehabilitation program will be specifically defined in the Agreement.  

 
(d) If the officer fails to successfully complete the agreed upon program, without good cause, the 

officer may be indefinitely suspended without right of appeal regarding the Agreement or the 
disciplinary action before any administrative or judicial body.  
 

(e) In considering whether the officer had good cause for failing to complete the program, the 
Department Head will consider whether the officer was prevented from completing the 
program by circumstances not reasonably within his/her control, e.g. serious illness or death 
in the family, unavailability of the professional. 

 
 
 
 



 Page 29 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

Section 8. Officer’s Request for Professional Evaluation 
 

(a) Prior to completion of an Internal Affairs investigation or the imposition of any discipline, 
the officer may independently request an opportunity to be evaluated by a qualified 
physician, psychiatrist or psychologist in order to seek counseling and/or rehabilitation.  

 
(b) The officer’s request will toll the 180 day deadline for imposing discipline under Section 

143.052(h) Texas Local Government Code for the duration of time required for the officer to 
be evaluated and complete any program of counseling and/or rehabilitation.  
 

(c) The officer shall be responsible for paying all costs of the program of the evaluation and 
counseling and/or rehabilitation which are not covered by the officer’s health insurance plan. 
The evaluation and the program of counseling and/or rehabilitation will be completed on the 
officer’s accrued vacation and/or sick and/or compensatory leave time.  
 

(d) If the officer has insufficient accrued vacation and/or sick and/or compensatory leave time to 
successfully complete the evaluation and any program of counseling and/or rehabilitation, the 
officer shall complete the evaluation and/or the program while on unpaid leave.  
 

(e) The Department Head may consider any counseling and/or rehabilitation voluntarily 
undertaken by an officer under this section before imposing any discipline. 

 
Section 9. Due Process – Loudermill Hearings 
 

(a) The Parties acknowledge the importance of protecting the due process rights of an officer 
facing any level of formal discipline. The essential components of due process include the 
officer’s right to have adequate notice of the allegations against him/her, the factual basis for 
the allegations, and an opportunity to be heard by the Department Head prior to the 
imposition of discipline. This process is also important to the Department Head in 
determining the nature of the alleged violations, the unique circumstances of the individual 
officer, the appropriate level of discipline, and the fairness and consistency of disciplinary 
actions throughout the Department. 

 
(b) Following completion of an Internal Affairs investigation, the Department Head shall 

conduct the following meetings: 
  

1. Initial Meeting – Delivery of Notice of Proposed Discipline: After review of the Internal 
Affairs investigation and related documents, the Department Head shall draft a Notice of 
Proposed Discipline. This document shall contain the text of any Civil Service rules, 
Departmental General Orders, City personnel policies, City ordinances, City Charter 
provisions, state or federal laws the officer is alleged to have violated, along with a 
detailed description of how the officer’s conduct violated said policies, rules or laws. Any 
documents or recordings that form the basis for the allegations shall be attached to the 
Notice as exhibits. The Notice will also state the level of discipline the Department Head 
is proposing to impose. The Notice of Proposed Discipline is not a public document, is 
not subject to an open records request and is confidential by law pursuant to section 
143.089(g) of the Texas Local Government Code. At the initial hearing, the Notice will 
be delivered to the officer. The officer’s counsel may attend this meeting. The Internal 



 Page 30 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

Affairs investigator, the officer’s supervisor and the Department’s legal advisor will also 
be present. The meeting will be recorded by the Department Head. The officer or his 
counsel may also record the meeting. If the officer appears without assistance of counsel, 
the Department Head will read the full text of the Notice aloud at the meeting. If the 
officer appears with counsel, the Notice will not be read aloud, but will be delivered to 
the officer’s counsel. After the Notice has been read, or delivered to the officer’s counsel, 
the officer will sign acknowledging receipt of the Notice of Proposed Discipline and have 
an opportunity to ask any questions. The Department Head will then schedule a date and 
time for the second meeting. The date of the second meeting will be on the 5th business 
day following the first meeting.  If any necessary party is not available to meet on the 5th 
business day, the meeting will be scheduled for the next business day when all necessary 
parties are available, provided that the second meeting must be held no later than the 8th 
business day after the first meeting. 
 

2. Second Meeting – The Officer’s Response: After a period of time during which the 
officer may review the allegations against him/her and the evidence in support of the 
allegations, the officer will have an opportunity to present his/her side of the case to the 
Department Head. The officer may present mitigating evidence, in any form, that he/she 
believes to be relevant and/or helpful to Department Head in coming to a fair and 
consistent disciplinary decision. The evidence presented by the officer, to the extent it has 
not already been publicly released or is considered ‘super-public’ pursuant to Chapter 
552 of the Texas Government Code, is not public information, not subject to an open 
records request and is confidential by law pursuant to section 143.089 of the Texas Local 
Government Code. The officer’s counsel may be present at this meeting. The Internal 
Affairs investigator, the officer’s supervisor and the Department’s legal advisor will also 
be present. The meeting will be recorded by the Department Head. The officer or his 
counsel may also record the meeting. After the officer has completed his/her presentation, 
the Department Head will schedule a date and time for the final meeting. The date of the 
final meeting will be on the 5th business day following the second meeting. If any 
necessary party is not available to meet on the 5th business day, the meeting will be 
scheduled for the next business day when all necessary parties are available, provided 
that the final meeting must be held no later than the 8th business day after the second 
meeting. 
 

3. Final Meeting – Disciplinary Decision: After review of the evidence presented by the 
officer, the Department Head shall carefully consider the allegations and the officer’s 
evidence. The purpose of the final meeting is to deliver the Department Head’s decision 
regarding the appropriate level of discipline to be imposed. If formal discipline in the 
form of a demotion, suspension or an indefinite suspension is to be imposed, the 
Department Head shall draft a Notice and Order of Demotion, Suspension or Indefinite 
Suspension, as appropriate, for delivery to the officer at this meeting. This document, 
including any supporting exhibits, is a public document and is subject to an open records 
request. Any remedial measure other than a demotion, suspension, or indefinite 
suspension imposed by the Department Head is confidential by law, pursuant to section 
143.089 of the Texas Local Government Code. The officer’s counsel may attend this 
meeting. The Internal Affairs investigator, the officer’s supervisor and the Department’s 
legal advisor will also be present. The meeting will be recorded by the Department Head. 
The officer or his counsel may also record the meeting. If the officer appears without 



 Page 31 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

assistance of counsel, and formal discipline is to be imposed, the Department Head will 
read the full text of the final Notice aloud at the meeting. If the officer appears with 
counsel, the Notice will not be read aloud, but will be delivered to the officer’s counsel. 
After the Notice has been read, or delivered to the officer’s counsel, the officer will sign 
acknowledging receipt of the Notice and Order. The officer will leave with a signed copy 
of the Notice and Order. 
 

Section 10. Texas Local Government Code, Section 143.057– Hearing Examiner Retained for 
Suspensions in Excess of Thirty-Six (36) Hours.  
 

(a) The City recognizes that during the term of this Agreement, officers have the right to an 
appeal of an indefinite suspension before a Hearing Examiner as provided in section 143.057 
of the Texas Local Government Code. During the term of this Agreement, the Parties 
specifically agree to retain this right of appeal, as modified herein, notwithstanding any 
change to section 143.057 which may occur as a result of court or legislative action. 

  
(b) It is the express intention of this provision that an officer may not appeal to a Hearing 

Examiner pursuant to section 143.057, Texas Local Government Code unless the suspension 
exceeds thirty-six (36) hours, or is an indefinite suspension, or a demotion.  

 
Section 11. Procedures for Hearings Before Commission and Hearing Examiners 
 

(a) It is expressly agreed that Commission hearings and hearings before Hearing Examiners 
under section 143.057 are informal administrative hearings and are not subject to discovery 
or evidentiary processes. Specifically, it is understood that neither the Texas Rules of 
Evidence (TRE) nor the Texas Rules of Court (TRC) apply to such hearings. 

  
(b) The burden of proof shall be by a preponderance of the evidence.  

 
(c) If the Department calls a witness to testify during a hearing and that witness has given a 

statement to Internal Affairs regarding the pending case, then the Department will supply a 
copy of that statement to the officer’s counsel at the time the witness is called to testify.  

 
Section 12. Appeal Procedures Before Hearing Examiners 
 

(a) The Parties recognize and agree that protracted, unnecessary delay of disciplinary appeals to 
third-party Hearing Examiners dilutes the primary instructive function of the underlying 
discipline.  

 
(b) The Parties agree that the following procedures are intended to promote the efficient and 

effective conclusion of such appeals. 
 

1. The Parties agree to select a third-party Hearing Examiner: 
 

a. by agreement, no later than ten (10) business days from the date the officer’s 
notice of appeal is filed with the Director of the Civil Service Commission, or 

 



 Page 32 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

b. from a list of seven (7) Hearing Examiners provided by the American 
Arbitration Association. The Director will request the list within ten (10) 
business days of receipt of the officer’s notice of appeal. The Director will 
send the list by email to the officer’s counsel and counsel for the City within 
ten (10) business days of receipt. The selection process will be completed no 
later than ten (10) business days from the date the list is received by counsel, 
using a process of alternately striking names from the list, with the officer’s 
counsel making the initial strike.  
 

2. Failure by the officer’s counsel to comply with the requirements of subsection (a)(1) or 
(a)(2) of this Section 12 shall be deemed a withdrawal of officer’s appeal.  
 

3. The Department shall furnish the charge letter to the Hearing Examiner by delivering a 
copy far enough in advance so that the Hearing Examiner receives the copy at least five 
(5) business days prior to the start of the hearing. 

 
4. The officer may furnish a position statement to the Hearing Examiner by delivering 

copies to the Hearing Examiner and the Department far enough in advance so that the 
Hearing Examiner and the Department receive the copies at least five (5) business days 
prior to the start of the hearing.  

 
5. At the close of the presentation of evidence to the Hearing Examiner, the Hearing 

Examiner shall render a decision within thirty (30) business days. 
 

6. Post-hearing briefs shall only be allowed by mutual agreement of the Parties, and shall be 
sent simultaneously to both the Hearing Examiner and the opposing side using the same 
mutually agreed method.  

 
7. Expenses - It is agreed that the City and the officer disciplined under this Article shall 

equally share the expenses associated with a third-party Hearing Examiner. The cost of 
an expert witness or any other witness not employed by the City is to be paid by the Party 
that subpoenas that witness.  In the event a Party desires a court reporter, that Party shall 
bear 100% of that cost. In the event the officer is not a member of the Association, and 
therefore financially responsible for his/her share of any fees, the officer shall deposit 
with the Director of the Civil Service Commission his/her share of the fees three (3) days 
prior to the Hearing Examiner’s deadline to cancel. Failure to deposit the funds shall 
result in the appeal being dropped.  
 
In the event the fees for a hearing exceed the deposited amount, the non-Association 
member shall pay the remaining amount due within thirty (30) days of receipt of the bill, 
or authorize the City to deduct the amount due from his/her next four (4) paychecks.  

 
Section 13. Jurisdiction of Hearing Authority to Modify Discipline 
 

(a) In addition to the authority provided by section 143.053 Texas Local Government Code, 
the Parties agree that the Civil Service Commission, or a Hearing Examiner appointed 
pursuant to section 143.057 Texas Local Government Code and the provisions of this 
Agreement, shall have the authority to impose a disciplinary suspension of any length of 



 Page 33 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

time, including suspensions in excess of fifteen (15) days, and time already served 
between the imposition of discipline and the appeal decision.  

 
(b) It is the specific intent of the Parties to override the judicial limitation imposed on the 

authority of the Commission or Hearing Examiner by the case styled City of Waco v. 
Kelley, 309 S.W.3d 536 (Tex.2010), which restricts the jurisdiction of the hearing 
authority to imposing only indefinite suspensions, temporary suspensions of fifteen (15) 
calendar days or less, or restoring the officer’s former position.  

 
(c) It is not the intent of the Parties to modify any right or privilege of further appeal or 

appellate review that is otherwise authorized by law to review the decision of the 
Commission or Hearing Examiner. 
 

Section 14. Preemption. The provisions of this Article preempt all contrary local ordinances, 
administrative directives, legislation or rules adopted by the State or by a political subdivision, 
including a Civil Service Commission. It is the specific intent of the Parties to the Agreement that 
any express written provision that specifically provides for a procedure, standard, or practice other 
than what is provided for in Subchapter D, Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code is 
intended to override the applicable statutory provision as allowed by Subchapter C, Chapter 142 of 
the Texas Local Government Code. 
 
Section 15. Adoption and Publication of Rules.  The Commission shall adopt Local Rules in 
accordance with this article upon approval by the City Council. 

 
 



 Page 34 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 11 
Grievance Procedure 

 
Section 1. Intent and Scope of Procedure. The Parties acknowledge that from time to time, 
disagreements between the Parties may arise as to the application or interpretation of this Agreement. 
The Parties therefore agree that the purpose of this dispute resolution procedure is to provide a just 
and equitable method for resolving disagreements between the Parties regarding the application or 
interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement. Only matters involving the interpretation, 
application, or alleged violations of a specified provision of this Meet and Confer Agreement shall be 
subject to this dispute resolution procedure. Any matter for which the right of appeal or review is 
afforded by Chapter 143 of the Texas Local Government Code are excluded from the scope of this 
Article.  
 
Section 2. Application of Procedure 
 

(a) If the Association has a dispute with the City regarding this Agreement, the Association 
Executive Board, or the Association President’s designee, should reduce the dispute to 
writing and deliver it to the City’s designated representative, who shall be its Department 
Head or his designee. 

 
(b) A police officer may not file a request for contract dispute resolution directly with the City. 

All resolution requests must be approved and come from the Association Executive Board. 
 

(c) Each dispute shall be submitted in writing, and must include, at a minimum, the following 
information: 

1. a brief statement of the dispute, and the facts or events on which it is based; 
2. the section(s) of the Agreement alleged to have been violated; 
3. the remedy or adjustment sought, and  
4. the bargaining unit member’s signature or, if filed by the Association Executive 

Board, the signature of the Association President or his designee. 
 

(d) Any claim or dispute by a police officer or group of police officers under this Agreement 
which includes a claim for pay or benefits for any past pay periods, must be filed by the 
employee with the Association Executive Board within fifteen (15) business days of the date 
when the officer(s) knew or reasonably should have known of the claim. Disputes by the 
Association Executive Board or police officer shall proceed as follows: 

 
Step 1. An aggrieved police officer must initiate a dispute with the Association Executive Board 
within fifteen (15) business days of the date upon which the police officer knew of or reasonably 
should have known of the facts giving rise to the dispute. A copy of the notice or receipt of the 
dispute shall be forwarded to the Department Head by the Association Executive Board within three 
(3) business days of the receipt of the dispute. The Association Executive Board shall within their 
sole discretion determine if a dispute exists within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the dispute. 
 
If the Association determines that no dispute exists, the grievance will be deemed denied, and the 
Association shall notify the Department Head in writing that no further proceedings will be 
necessary. If the Association Executive Board determines that the dispute is valid, the Association 



 Page 35 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

will notify the Department Head of such, and forward a copy of the grievance to the Department 
Head within fifteen (15) business days after their determination. 
 
Step 2. Any grievance found to be valid by the Association Executive Board shall be submitted to 
the Department Head within fifteen (15) business days of the Step 1 decision. After receipt of the 
dispute, the Department Head shall, within fifteen (15) business days, submit his/her response in 
writing to the Association Executive Board. If there is no timely reply from the Department Head, 
the grievance is deemed denied and will proceed to Step 3.  
 
Step 3. If the dispute is not resolved in Step 2, the Association Executive Board shall advance the 
dispute in writing to the City Manager or his/her designee within fifteen (15) days from receipt of the 
Step 2 decision by the Department Head. The City Manager or designated representative shall review 
the matter and render a decision in writing to the Association Executive Board and the Department 
Head within fifteen (15) business days of the receipt of the dispute in Step 3. The City Manager or 
designee may, at his/her discretion, conduct a conference to further explore the merits of the dispute 
and to explore resolution options. 
 
Step 4. If the dispute is not resolved in Step 3, either Party shall have the right to seek mediation of 
the dispute by requesting the same in writing within fifteen (15) business days from the City 
Manager’s response. The mediation will proceed before either a mediator with the Federal Mediation 
and Conciliation Service, or before a mutually agreed mediator. The mediation shall be held in 
available City of Temple facilities.  
 
Step 5. If the dispute is not resolved at Step 4, the Association Executive Board shall have fifteen 
(15) business days from the date mediation concludes to determine whether it will pursue the dispute 
under this Article through arbitration. Under this step, the Association Executive Board must deliver 
a letter indicating its election to proceed to arbitration to the Department Head and the City Manager 
within three (3) business days of that election. 
 
Section 3. Arbitration Option.   
 

(a) The Parties have agreed that all disputes under this Agreement, which concern the application 
and interpretation of this Agreement, shall be submitted to final and binding arbitration, and 
the Parties exclude from this Agreement disputes involving statutory application and 
interpretation for rights and claims not arising under sections 142 or 143 of the Texas Local 
Government Code. 

 
(b) The terms of the Agreement, and any factual issues which are determinative in applying the 

Agreement, shall be the sole province of the designated arbitrator, and his or her decision 
shall be final. However, the City will only agree to arbitration on the condition that legal 
issues which are determinative in any contract dispute are subject to judicial review. This 
represents an agreement by the Parties to submit disputes to arbitration within its scope, and 
otherwise preserves the existing jurisdiction of Texas Courts over any contract rights and 
claims not exclusively committed to arbitration.  
 

(c) The Parties have agreed that questions of law, which involve either the interpretation and 
application of state statutes or the application of legal principles from Texas appellate court 
opinions (or the failure to properly apply such legal principles or opinions) to controversies 



 Page 36 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

under this article shall be submitted initially to arbitration, but that either Party shall have a 
limited right of appeal from an arbitration award in the Courts, solely for the purpose of 
reviewing disputed issues of law. No such appeal from arbitration shall include review of any 
factual determinations by the arbitrator, including credibility of witnesses or weight of the 
evidence. If an appeal from arbitration based on erroneous application of the law is not 
successful, the appealing Party shall bear all costs of such appeal. 
 

(d) If a dispute is submitted to arbitration, within seven (7) business days, the Department Head 
and/or the City and the Association may mutually agree on the selection of an arbitrator or, if 
unable to agree, within thirty (30) days shall select an arbitrator by alternately striking names 
from the Parties’ pre-determined panel of six (6) qualified neutral arbitrators. The process 
will be as follows: the Association shall strike the first name under this article with the first 
dispute brought under this Article. Thereafter, the first strike shall alternate between the 
Parties. Should any panel member subsequently refuse or be unable to continue to serve on 
the panel, the Parties may mutually agree to his replacement. The remaining members of the 
panel will continue to serve for the duration of the Agreement. The arbitration should be held 
at the earliest available date, but may be continued for good cause shown, or upon mutual 
agreement.  
 

(e) Upon written request delivered at least fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the date of the 
hearing, a Party to the proceeding shall provide, no later than seven (7) days prior to the 
hearing, to the opposing Party the names and addresses of witnesses expected to be called at 
the hearing. In the absence of good or excusable cause, the arbitrator may exclude the 
testimony of a witness upon the failure of a party to disclose such a witness. The Parties, in 
writing, may request discovery from each other concerning the grievance. Should the 
opposing Party not agree to provide the requested information within seven (7) calendar days 
of the request, the request shall be deemed denied. The requesting Party may then apply to 
the arbitrator, who shall order such discovery consistent with, but not bound by, the rules of 
discovery in Texas civil cases. In considering the application, the arbitrator shall consider the 
burden and expense of producing the information, the need of the requesting Party, the 
amount of time available prior to the hearing, and such other matters as he may deem 
material. In no event shall discovery be requested within thirty-five (35) calendar days prior 
to the hearing, unless agreed to by the Parties. 

 
(f) The hearing shall be held in available facilities of the City of Temple and shall be conducted 

informally, without strict evidentiary or procedural rules. The conduct of the hearing shall be 
governed by the standard rules of the American Arbitration Association. The arbitrator shall 
consider and decide only the issue(s) in the dispute statement, or submitted in writing by 
agreement of the Parties. The hearing shall be concluded as expeditiously as possible and the 
arbitrator’s written decision shall be based on a preponderance of the evidence within thirty 
(30) days after close of the hearing, or after receipt of post-hearing briefs, if applicable. 

 
Section 4. Decision Final and Binding.  
 

(a) If arbitration is selected, the Parties specifically agree that the arbitrator’s authority shall be 
strictly limited to interpreting and applying the explicit provisions of this Agreement. The 
arbitrator shall not have authority to modify the Agreement or create additional provisions 
not included in the Agreement.  



 Page 37 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

 
(b) The Parties agree that neither the City nor the Association shall have ex parte 

communications with the arbitrator concerning any matter involved in the dispute submitted 
to the arbitrator. Each Party shall be responsible for its own expenses in preparing for and 
representing itself at arbitration, but the fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be borne 
equally by the Parties.  
 

(c) The written decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on both Parties and may not 
be appealed by either Party, except for any decision procured by fraud or collusion, or which 
exceeds the arbitrator’s jurisdiction, or which is based on legal conclusions or interpretations 
which are clearly contrary to existing law. 

 
Section 5. Mutual Extension. All deadlines within this article may be extended by mutual 
agreement of the Parties. 
 
Section 6. Grievances of Non-Association Members. Grievances of Non-Association members 
must follow the same procedure outlined by this article. A Non-Association member is entitled to be 
represented by counsel at the hearing at his or her own expense. However, should the grievance of a 
Non-Association member require that Association resources be used, the Non-Association member 
will be required to pay all expenses incurred while pursuing final disposition of their grievance. 
These shall include costs for payment of Arbitrator fees, counsel fees, and any other fees directly 
related to the grievance. All disciplinary appeals shall follow the procedures as outlined in chapter 
143 of the Local Government Code, or those procedures set out elsewhere in this Agreement. 
 
Section 7. Association Compliance with Agreement. If the Association fails to comply with and 
adhere to its respective obligations under this Agreement, the City shall notify, in writing, the 
Association of the alleged failure. No breach of the Agreement may be found to have occurred if the 
alleged failure by the Association is remedied within thirty (30) business days of the receipt of such 
notice. If the Association does not remedy the alleged failure within thirty (30) days of the receipt of 
such notice, the City may (i) terminate this Agreement by the delivery of written notice to the 
Association; (ii) enforce specific performance of the Agreement; and/or (iii) pursue any remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 

 



 Page 38 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 12 
SAVINGS CLAUSE 

 
Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be inoperative, void or invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and 
effect for the duration of this Agreement, it being the intention of the Parties that no portion of 
this Agreement or provision herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of the invalidity of 
any other portion or provision. 
 



 Page 39 
TTeemmppllee  MM&&CC  AAggrreeeemmeenntt  FFiinnaall  1100//66//1166  
 

ARTICLE 13 
DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

 
This Agreement shall become effective after ratification by the affected employees pursuant to a 
vote conducted by the Temple Police Association, and upon approval by the City Council after 
compliance with any procedural or publication requirements imposed by law.  It shall continue in 
effect until September 30, 2017; provided however, the Agreement may be extended by mutual 
consent of the Parties. 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE PARTIES HAVE CAUSED TO HAVE THIS AGREEMENT 
TO BE SIGNED BY THEIR DULY AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES ON THIS         
____ DAY OF __________2016. 
 

 
 

______________________    _____________________________                                                                                                                   
Jonathan Graham,     Larry Wilkey, President,  
Temple City Manager Temple Police Association 



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8402-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, RATIFYING A MEET AND CONFER AGREEMENT WITH THE 
TEMPLE POLICE ASSOCIATION; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

               
  
 Whereas, the “meet & confer” process is governed by Chapter 142 of the Local 
Government Code which allows a “police officers association” to file a petition with the City 
requesting that the City recognize the association as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all 
officers and adopt the meet & confer process; 
 

Whereas, the meet and confer process allows the City to meet & confer with a police 
officers association over wages, salaries, rates of pay, hours of work, or other terms and conditions 
of employment - the meet and confer deliberations must occur in meetings open to the public; 
 

Whereas, on July 2, 2015, the City Secretary received a “Petition Requesting Recognition 
of Bargaining Agent” from the Temple Police Association (“TPA”) which was signed by 102 
Temple Police Officers and requested that the City recognize TPA as the sole and exclusive 
bargaining agent for all police officers employed by the City and adopt the meet & confer process 
pursuant to Local Government Code Chapter 142; 

 
Whereas, the Petition was presented to Council at a special called meeting on July 30, 

2015 and Council ordered a certification election to determine whether TPA represents a majority 
of the affected police officers - the election was conducted by the City Secretary and was held at 
various times on September 9-11 and September 15-16; 

 
Whereas, 98 police officers voted “yes” to the recognition of TPA as the sole and 

exclusive bargaining agent and 11 police officers voted “no”, therefore on October 1, 2015, 
Council granted recognition of TPA as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent and adopted the 
meet & confer process; 
 

Whereas, the meet and confer process provided a venue for communication and 
collaboration between City Administration and police officers regarding important employment 
issues which focused on shared interests, and working toward an agreement that was mutually 
beneficial; 

 
 Whereas, City Administration and TPA agreed to focus the meet and confer process on 
“interest based bargaining” which is a bargaining approach that focuses on developing positive 
relationships that permit each party to achieve shared goals – the eleven issues discussed 
throughout the process were: 
 

1. Association Business; 
2. Additional Appointed Position; 
3. Military Leave Time Account; 
4. Compensation; 
5. Overtime; 
6. Higher Classification Pay / Rank Structure; 



2 
 

 
7. Education Incentives for Promotion; 
8. Lateral Entry Program; 
9. Individual Vehicle Assignment Program (IVAP); 
10. Disciplinary Actions and Appeals; and 
11. Grievance Procedure; 

 
Whereas, a meet and confer agreement is enforceable and binding if the governing body of 

the municipality ratifies the agreement by a majority vote and the recognized police officers 
association ratifies the agreement by conducting a secret ballot election at which the majority of 
the police officers who would be covered by the agreement favored ratifying the agreement; 

 
Whereas, the Temple Police Association conducted a secret ballot election held on October 

9 – 12, 2016 and during that election, 91 police officers voted “yes” to the ratification of the meet 
and confer agreement and 15 police officers voted “no;” 
 

Whereas, Staff recommends Council adopt and ratify the meet and confer agreement which 
will become effective immediately and continue in effect until September 30, 2017; and 

 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, THAT: 

 
Part 1: The City Council ratifies the meet and confer agreement with the Temple Police 

Association as outlined in Exhibit ‘A’ attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes.  
 
Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act.  
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



 
 

 
 

 
COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 

  
 

10/20/16 
Item #4(N-1) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 3 

DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Traci L. Barnard, Director of Finance 

ITEM DESCRIPTION: SECOND READING: Consider adopting an ordinance authorizing an 
amendment to the Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Financing and Project Plans to 
align with the 2022 Master Plan for years FY 2016-2062. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt ordinance as presented on second and final reading. 
  
ITEM SUMMARY:  The Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Finance and Project Committees have met and 
discussed the 2022 Master Plan Projects. The result of the meeting is recommended changes to the 
Financing and Project Plans to continue with the execution of the 2022 Master Plan. The focus of the 
proposed amendment is for the fiscal years 2016-2020, however, state law requires a financing and 
project plan to span the life of the Zone.  
 
At their September 28, 2016, regular meeting, the Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board approved the 
recommendation of this amendment.  
 
Below is a summary of the proposed amendment: 
 
Zone Park Maintenance: Beginning in FY 2017 through FY 2062, Zone Park Maintenance was 
increased $75,000 per year to $330,000 to cover the increased cost of maintenance.   
 
Debt Service: Beginning in FY 2016 through FY 2022, Paying Agent fees were increased by $500 to 
$1,700 per year.  This will cover the actual costs of escrow fees for related to annual bond payments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #4(N-1) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 3 

 
Projects:  The following is a summary of funding for the 2022 Master Plan projects: 
  

 
 
 
The following projects have been adjusted as part of the TRZ Master Plan Project Funding: 
 
 

 
 
See the attached “TRZ Master Plan Project Funding (2016-2020)” for more detail on the projects.  All 
changes have been highlighted in yellow. 
 
 
Public Improvements: Beginning in FY 2021 through 2062, the balance of funding for general “non-
project specific” improvements is allocated to this line item. The amount was determined based on the 
remaining funds available after amounts were allocated for operating expenditures, debt service, 
projects and maintaining an amount of fund balance of no less than $2,000,000.  
 
 
 
 

 Bond Issue
Project Description 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

Temple Industrial Park 622,482$        -$                    -$                    400,000$          -$                   -$                   1,022,482$    
Corporate Campus Park 1,700,000       -                      -                      -                          -                      -                      1,700,000       
Bioscience Park 2,425,000       -                      -                      -                          -                      -                      2,425,000       
Research Parkway/Outer Loop 2,925,000       -                      16,000,000   -                          -                      10,750,000   29,675,000    
Downtown 4,655,400       14,950,000    3,000,000     2,700,000         450,000        450,000        26,205,400    
TMED 4,005,000       -                      -                      -                          6,460,000     -                      10,465,000    
Airport Park 450,000          100,000         -                      1,310,000         -                      -                      1,860,000       
MASTER PLAN PROJECT 
FUNDING 16,782,882$  15,050,000$ 19,000,000$ 4,410,000$       6,910,000$   11,200,000$ 73,352,882$  

Line # Description FY 2016 FY 2019
50 Professional fees (150,000)$         -$                   
56 Rail Maintenance (250,000)$         -$                   
58 Road Maintenance (250,000)$         -$                   

207 Crossroads Park 300,000$          -$                   
408 MLK Festival Fields 350,000$          -$                   
506 Airport Improvements (15,000)$           -$                   
508 Airport Corporate Hangar 15,000$             -$                   
464 Veteran's Memorial Blvd Phase II -$                   6,460,000$       
465 Avenue R - 25th to 31st Street -$                   (2,300,000)$      
466 Avenue R - 25th to 1st Street -$                   (4,160,000)$      

Net change in projects -$                   -$                   



10/20/16 
Item #4(N-1) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 3 of 3 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: Below is a table summarizing the Source and Use of funds included in the Financing 
and Project Plans.  
 

 
 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Financing Plan 
Summary Financing Plan with Detailed Project Plan 
Summary - TRZ Master Plan Project Funding (2016 - 2020) 
TRZ Master Plan Project Funding (2016 - 2020) 
Budget Amendments 
Ordinance 
  

 Description 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Future Years

Available FB @ B-O-Y (1) 21,507,581$     3,746,641$      860,947$         4,404,177$         4,639,119$     689,148$        

Total Source of Funds 25,102,382       38,216,879      16,107,144      15,303,122         15,500,830     894,608,238   
Total Debt & Operating Exp. 5,486,906         7,052,573        8,153,914        8,158,180           8,250,801       95,772,667     
Total Planned Project Exp. 37,376,416       34,050,000      4,410,000        6,910,000           11,200,000     799,524,719   
Available FB@ E-O-Y (2)

3,746,641$       860,947$         4,404,177$      4,639,119$         689,148$        -$                    

(1) - Beginning of Year
(2) - End of Year



City of Temple, Texas

TIF Reinvestment Zone #1 Financing Plan

Financing Plan - 09/28/16 to Zone Board Page 1 of 5

Y/E 9/30/16 Y/E 9/30/17 Y/E 9/30/18 Y/E 9/30/19 Y/E 9/30/20 Y/E 9/30/21 Y/E 9/30/22

DESCRIPTION Year 34 Year 35 Year 36 Year 37 Year 38 Year 39 Year 40

1 "Taxable Increment" 670,071,846$        435,432,974$        382,863,680$        370,649,604$        377,916,559$        382,213,195$        427,532,778$        

1 FUND BALANCE, Begin 21,507,581$       3,746,641$         860,947$            4,404,177$         4,639,119$         689,148$            2,138,714$         

2     Adjustments to Debt Service Reserve -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

3    Fund Balance Available for Appropriation 21,507,581$       3,746,641$         860,947$            4,404,177$         4,639,119$         689,148$            2,138,714$         

SOURCES OF FUNDS:

4 Tax Revenues 23,553,306         19,371,450         16,265,121         15,459,007         15,659,726         15,823,016         16,519,039         

6 Allowance for Uncollected Taxes [1.5% of Tax Revenues] (353,300)             (290,572)             (243,977)             (231,885)             (234,896)             (237,345)             (247,786)             

8 Interest Income-Other 50,000                50,000                50,000                40,000                40,000                30,000                10,000                

10 Grant Funds 970,000              50,000                -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

12 License Fee - Central Texas Railway 36,000                36,000                36,000                36,000                36,000                36,000                36,000                

14 Other Revenues 846,376              -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

17 Bond Proceeds -                      19,000,000         -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

20    Total Sources of Funds 25,102,382$       38,216,878$       16,107,144$       15,303,122$       15,500,830$       15,651,671$       16,317,253$       

25 TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION 46,609,963$       41,963,520$       16,968,091$       19,707,299$       20,139,949$       16,340,819$       18,455,967$       

USE OF FUNDS:

DEBT SERVICE

27 2009 Bond Refunding 1,508,775           1,510,150           1,488,750           1,485,000           -                      -                      -                      

28 2008 Bond Issue-Taxable {$10.365 mil} 1,240,854           1,240,096           1,241,957           1,241,173           1,237,744           1,241,670           1,242,422           

29 Debt Service - 2011A Issue {Refunding} 913,550              912,200              908,350              915,950              2,497,800           2,497,550           2,494,950           

30 Debt Service - 2012 Issue {Refunding} 82,700                76,400                79,600                77,650                80,050                77,250                78,750                

31 Debt Service - 2013 Issue {$25.260 mil} 924,894              2,034,894           2,047,694           2,048,344           2,047,944           2,046,494           2,031,494           

32 Debt Service - 2017 Issue {$19 mil} -                      344,583              1,452,000           1,454,500           1,451,700           1,452,200           1,452,100           

35 Paying Agent Services 1,700                  1,700                  1,700                  1,700                  1,700                  1,700                  1,700                  

40      Subtotal-Debt Service 4,672,473           6,120,023           7,220,051           7,224,317           7,316,938           7,316,864           7,301,416           

OPERATING EXPENDITURES

50 Prof Svcs/Proj Mgmt 36,425                175,000              175,000              175,000              175,000              175,000              175,000              

52 Legal/Audit 1,200                  1,300                  1,300                  1,300                  1,300                  1,300                  1,400                  

54 Zone Park Maintenance [mowing, utilities, botanical supplies] 255,000              330,000              330,000              330,000              330,000              330,000              330,000              

56 Rail Maintenance 131,645              100,000              100,000              100,000              100,000              100,000              100,000              

58 Road/Signage Maintenance 163,913              100,000              100,000              100,000              100,000              100,000              100,000              

60 Contractual Payments [TEDC - Marketing] 200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              200,000              

62 TISD-Reimbursement [per contract] 26,250                26,250                27,563                27,563                27,563                28,941                28,941                

65      Subtotal-Operating Expenditures 814,433              932,550              933,863              933,863              933,863              935,241              935,341              

70 TOTAL DEBT & OPERATING EXPENDITURES 5,486,906$         7,052,573$         8,153,914$         8,158,180$         8,250,801$         8,252,105$         8,236,757$         

80 Funds Available for Projects 41,123,057$       34,910,947$       8,814,177$         11,549,119$       11,889,148$       8,088,714$         10,219,210$       

PROJECTS

150 Temple Industrial Park 2,703,471           -                      400,000              -                      -                      -                      -                      

200 Corporate Campus Park 4,347,341           -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

250 Bioscience Park 3,967,971           -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

350 Research Parkway 7,258,929           16,000,000         -                      -                      10,750,000         -                      -                      

400 Synergy Park 635,497              -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

450 Downtown 7,168,162           17,950,000         2,700,000           450,000              450,000              450,000              450,000              

500 TMED 8,674,261           -                      -                      6,460,000           -                      -                      -                      

550 Airport Park 2,620,784           100,000              1,310,000           -                      -                      -                      -                      

610 Public Improvements -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      5,500,000           7,000,000           

     Subtotal-Projects 37,376,416         34,050,000         4,410,000           6,910,000           11,200,000         5,950,000           7,450,000           

TOTAL USE OF FUNDS 42,863,322$       41,102,573$       12,563,914$       15,068,180$       19,450,801$       14,202,105$       15,686,757$       

700 FUND BALANCE, End 3,746,641$         860,947$            4,404,177$         4,639,119$         689,148$            2,138,714$         2,769,210$         

FINANCING PLAN

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\!Financing & Project Plans\Financing & Project Plan 09-28-16 



TIF Reinvestment Zone #1

Summary Financing Plan with Detailed Project Plan

Project Plan -  09/28/16 - to Zone Board 19,000,000$        

Bond Proceeds

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

1 Beginning Available Fund Balance, Oct 1 21,507,581$      3,746,641$        860,947$                4,404,177$            4,639,119$          

20 Total Sources of Funds 25,102,382        38,216,878        16,107,144             15,303,122            15,500,830          

2 Adjustments to Debt Service Reserve -                        -                        -                              -                            -                          

25 Net Available for Appropriation 46,609,963        41,963,520        16,968,091             19,707,299            20,139,949          

50/52 General Administrative Expenditures 37,625               176,300             176,300                  176,300                 176,300               

54 Zone Park Maintenance [mowing, utilities, botanical supplies] 255,000             330,000             330,000                  330,000                 330,000               

56 Rail Maintenance 131,645             100,000             100,000                  100,000                 100,000               

58 Road/Signage Maintenance 163,913             100,000             100,000                  100,000                 100,000               

60 Contractual Payments (TEDC - Marketing) 200,000             200,000             200,000                  200,000                 200,000               

62 TISD-Reimbursement [per contract] 26,250               26,250               27,563                    27,563                  27,563                 

27 Debt Service - 2009 Issue {Refunding} 1,508,775          1,510,150          1,488,750               1,485,000              -                      

28 Debt Service - 2008 Taxable Issue {$10.365 mil} 1,240,854          1,240,096          1,241,957               1,241,173              1,237,744            

29 Debt Service - 2011A Issue {Refunding} 913,550             912,200             908,350                  915,950                 2,497,800            

30 Debt Service - 2012 Issue {Refunding} 82,700               76,400               79,600                    77,650                  80,050                 

31 Debt Service - 2013 Issue {$25.260 mil} 924,894             2,034,894          2,047,694               2,048,344              2,047,944            

32 Debt Service - 2017 Issue {$19 mil} -                    344,583             1,452,000               1,454,500              1,451,700            

33 Paying Agent Services 1,700                 1,700                 1,700                      1,700                    1,700                   

70 Total Debt & Operating Expenditures 5,486,906          7,052,573          8,153,914               8,158,180              8,250,801            

80 Funds Available for Projects 41,123,057$      34,910,947$      8,814,177$             11,549,119$          11,889,148$        

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

TEMPLE INDUSTRIAL PARK:

100 Northern "Y" Phase I 78,400               -                    -                          -                        -                      

101 Receiving & Delivery {R&D} Tracks 150,000             -                    400,000                  -                        -                      

102 North Lucius McCelvey Extension 1,289,983          -                    

103 Pepper Creek Main Stem Regional Detention Pond 760,231             -                    -                          -                        -                      

107 Property Acquisition - North Industrial Park -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

108 31st Street Sidewalks Grant Match 74,857               

109 31st Street Sidewalks 350,000             -                    -                          -                        -                      

150      Total North Zone/Rail Park (including Enterprise Park) 2,703,471             -                        400,000                      -                             -                           

CORPORATE CAMPUS PARK:

155 Pepper Creek Trail Hwy 36 to McLane Parkway 1,926,800          -                    -                          -                        -                      

156 McLane Pkwy/Research Pkwy Connection 2,420,541          -                    -                          -                        -                      

200      Total Corporate Campus Park 4,347,341             -                        -                               -                             -                           

BIOSCIENCE PARK:

204 Pepper Creek Trail Connection to S&W -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

205 Bioscience Park Service Road & Utility Extensions -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

207 Cross Roads Park @ Pepper Creek Trail 3,967,971          -                    -                          -                        -                      

250      Total Bio-Science Park 3,967,971             -                        -                               -                             -                           

RESEARCH PARKWAY

305 Research Pkwy (IH 35 to Wendland Ultimate) STAG grant 1,925,000          -                    -                          -                        -                      

305 Research Pkwy (IH 35 to Wendland Ultimate) 2,434,039          13,500,000        -                          -                        -                      

310 Research Pkwy (Wendland to McLane Pkwy) 1,760,764          -                    -                              -                             -                           

315 Research Pkwy (McLane Pkwy to Central Point Pkwy) 1,139,126          -                    -                          -                             -                           

320 Outer Loop (I35 South) -                    2,500,000          -                          -                             10,750,000             

350      Total Research Parkway 7,258,929             16,000,000          -                              -                            10,750,000             

SYNERGY PARK:

351 Lorraine Drive (Southeast Industrial Park) - [$1.5M total project cost] 102,675             -                    -                          -                        -                      

352 Entry Enhancement 500,000             -                    -                          -                        -                      

353 Lorraine Drive/Panda Drive Asphalt 32,822               -                    -                          -                        -                      

354 Lorraine Drive - Commitment to Panda -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

400      Total Synergy Park 635,497                -                        -                               -                             -                           

DOWNTOWN:

401 Downtown Improvements {Transformation Team} 375,500             450,000             450,000                  450,000                 450,000               

402 Rail Safety Zone Study 68,210               -                    -                          -                        -                      

403 Lot Identification & Signage -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

404 Santa Fe Plaza 4,964,952          4,500,000          1,500,000               -                        -                      

404 Santa Fe Plaza {bond funded} -                    1,500,000          -                          -                        -                      

405 Downtown Master Plan 19,500               -                    -                          -                        -                      

406 Intersection Improvements at Central & North 4th Street -                    -                    750,000                  -                        -                      

407 Santa Fe Market Trail 1,390,000          1,500,000          -                          -                        -                      

408 MLK Festival Fields 350,000             -                    -                          -                        -                      

409 TISD-Obligation per Contract -                    10,000,000        -                          -                        -                      

450      Total Downtown 7,168,162             17,950,000           2,700,000                   450,000                     450,000                   

TMED:

451 TMED - 1st Street @ Temple College  - STEP Grant Match 1,262                 -                    -                          -                        -                      

452 Master Plan Integration 2010 1,550                 -                    -                          -                        -                      

453 TMED - 1st Street @ Loop 363 Design/Construction - Design only -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

454
TMED - Friars Creek Trail 5th Street to S&W Blvd. - [$1.9M total project cost - 

DOE Grant of $400K]
-                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

455 Avenue R - S&W Blvd, Ave R - 19th Intersections 1,165,773          -                    -                          -                        -                      

456 Ave U from S&W Blvd to 1st St & 13th to 17th connector from Ave R to Loop 363 5,270                 -                    -                          -                        -                      

457 South 1st Street Improvements from the Temple College Apartments to Ave O -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

458 Loop 363 Frontage Rd (UPRR to 5th TIRZ portion) 590,657             -                    -                          -                        -                      

459 31st Street/Loop 363 Improvements/Monumentation 2,081,573          -                    -                          -                        -                      

460 Ave U TMED Ave. to 1st Street 3,566,419          -                    -                          -                        -                      

461 TMED Master Plan (Health Care Campus) 33,209               -                    -                          -                        -                      

462 TMED Master Plan & Thoroughfare Plan 55,000               -                    -                          -                        -                      

463 Friars Creek Trail to Ave. R Trail 248,548             -                    -                          -                        -                      

464 Veteran's Memorial Blvd. Phase II 925,000             -                    -                          6,460,000              -                      

465 Avenue R - 25th to 31st Street -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

466 Avenue R -  25th to 1st Street -                    -                    -                          -                        -                      

500      Total TMED 8,674,261             -                        -                               6,460,000                 -                           

AIRPORT PARK:

506

Airport Improvements {roadway, drainage, parking, lighting, fencing, landscaping, fuel farm 

impr, entrance impr, guard facility} 2,155,784          -                    -                          -                        -                      

507 Taxiway for Airport 90,000               -                    1,310,000               -                        -                      

508 Corporate Hangar Phase II 375,000             -                    -                          -                        -                      

509 Airport RAMP Grant -                    100,000             -                          -                        -                      

550      Total Airport Park 2,620,784             100,000                1,310,000                   -                             -                           

610 Public Improvements -                        -                        -                               -                             -                           

Total Planned Project Expenditures 37,376,416        34,050,000        4,410,000               6,910,000              11,200,000          

700 Available Fund Balance at Year End 3,746,641$        860,947$           4,404,177$             4,639,119$            689,148$             

SUMMARY FINANCING PLAN

PROJECT PLAN

9/22/2016

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\!Financing & Project Plans\Financing & Project Plan 09-28-16



TIF Reinvestment Zone #1

Summary Financing Plan with Detailed Project Plan

Project Plan -  09/28/16 - to Zone Board

1 Beginning Available Fund Balance, Oct 1

20 Total Sources of Funds

2 Adjustments to Debt Service Reserve

25 Net Available for Appropriation

50/52 General Administrative Expenditures

54 Zone Park Maintenance [mowing, utilities, botanical supplies]

56 Rail Maintenance

58 Road/Signage Maintenance

60 Contractual Payments (TEDC - Marketing)

62 TISD-Reimbursement [per contract]

27 Debt Service - 2009 Issue {Refunding}

28 Debt Service - 2008 Taxable Issue {$10.365 mil}

29 Debt Service - 2011A Issue {Refunding}

30 Debt Service - 2012 Issue {Refunding}

31 Debt Service - 2013 Issue {$25.260 mil}

32 Debt Service - 2017 Issue {$19 mil}

33 Paying Agent Services

70 Total Debt & Operating Expenditures

80 Funds Available for Projects

TEMPLE INDUSTRIAL PARK:

100 Northern "Y" Phase I

101 Receiving & Delivery {R&D} Tracks

102 North Lucius McCelvey Extension

103 Pepper Creek Main Stem Regional Detention Pond

107 Property Acquisition - North Industrial Park

108 31st Street Sidewalks Grant Match

109 31st Street Sidewalks 

150      Total North Zone/Rail Park (including Enterprise Park)

CORPORATE CAMPUS PARK:

155 Pepper Creek Trail Hwy 36 to McLane Parkway

156 McLane Pkwy/Research Pkwy Connection

200      Total Corporate Campus Park

BIOSCIENCE PARK:

204 Pepper Creek Trail Connection to S&W 

205 Bioscience Park Service Road & Utility Extensions

207 Cross Roads Park @ Pepper Creek Trail 

250      Total Bio-Science Park

RESEARCH PARKWAY

305 Research Pkwy (IH 35 to Wendland Ultimate) STAG grant

305 Research Pkwy (IH 35 to Wendland Ultimate)

310 Research Pkwy (Wendland to McLane Pkwy)

315 Research Pkwy (McLane Pkwy to Central Point Pkwy)

320 Outer Loop (I35 South)

350      Total Research Parkway

SYNERGY PARK:

351 Lorraine Drive (Southeast Industrial Park) - [$1.5M total project cost]

352 Entry Enhancement

353 Lorraine Drive/Panda Drive Asphalt

354 Lorraine Drive - Commitment to Panda

400      Total Synergy Park

DOWNTOWN:

401 Downtown Improvements {Transformation Team}

402 Rail Safety Zone Study

403 Lot Identification & Signage

404 Santa Fe Plaza 

404 Santa Fe Plaza {bond funded}

405 Downtown Master Plan

406 Intersection Improvements at Central & North 4th Street

407 Santa Fe Market Trail

408 MLK Festival Fields

409 TISD-Obligation per Contract

450      Total Downtown

TMED:

451 TMED - 1st Street @ Temple College  - STEP Grant Match

452 Master Plan Integration 2010

453 TMED - 1st Street @ Loop 363 Design/Construction - Design only

454
TMED - Friars Creek Trail 5th Street to S&W Blvd. - [$1.9M total project cost - 

DOE Grant of $400K]

455 Avenue R - S&W Blvd, Ave R - 19th Intersections

456 Ave U from S&W Blvd to 1st St & 13th to 17th connector from Ave R to Loop 363

457 South 1st Street Improvements from the Temple College Apartments to Ave O

458 Loop 363 Frontage Rd (UPRR to 5th TIRZ portion)

459 31st Street/Loop 363 Improvements/Monumentation 

460 Ave U TMED Ave. to 1st Street

461 TMED Master Plan (Health Care Campus)

462 TMED Master Plan & Thoroughfare Plan

463 Friars Creek Trail to Ave. R Trail

464 Veteran's Memorial Blvd. Phase II

465 Avenue R - 25th to 31st Street

466 Avenue R -  25th to 1st Street

500      Total TMED

AIRPORT PARK:

506

Airport Improvements {roadway, drainage, parking, lighting, fencing, landscaping, fuel farm 

impr, entrance impr, guard facility}

507 Taxiway for Airport

508 Corporate Hangar Phase II

509 Airport RAMP Grant

550      Total Airport Park

610 Public Improvements

Total Planned Project Expenditures 

700 Available Fund Balance at Year End

SUMMARY FINANCING PLAN

PROJECT PLAN

2021 2022

689,148$                   2,138,714$        

15,651,671                16,317,253        

-                                -                        

16,340,819                18,455,967        

176,300                     176,400             

330,000                     330,000             

100,000                     100,000             

100,000                     100,000             

200,000                     200,000             

28,941                       28,941               

-                            -                    

1,241,670                  1,242,422          

2,497,550                  2,494,950          

77,250                       78,750               

2,046,494                  2,031,494          

1,452,200                  1,452,100          

1,700                         1,700                 

8,252,105                  8,236,757          

8,088,714$                10,219,210$      

2021 2022

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                                 -                        

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                                 -                        

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                                 -                        

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                                 -                        

-                                 -                        

-                                 -                        

-                                 -                        

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                                 -                        

450,000                     450,000             

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

450,000                         450,000                

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                                 -                        

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                            -                    

-                                 -                        

5,500,000                      7,000,000             

5,950,000                  7,450,000          

2,138,714$                2,769,210$        

9/22/2016

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\!Financing & Project Plans\Financing & Project Plan 09-28-16



City of Temple, Texas

TIF Reinvestment Zone #1 Financing Plan

Financing Plan - 09/28/16 to Zone Board

DESCRIPTION

1 "Taxable Increment"

1 FUND BALANCE, Begin

2     Adjustments to Debt Service Reserve

3    Fund Balance Available for Appropriation

SOURCES OF FUNDS:

4 Tax Revenues

6 Allowance for Uncollected Taxes [1.5% of Tax Revenues]

8 Interest Income-Other

10 Grant Funds

12 License Fee - Central Texas Railway

14 Other Revenues

17 Bond Proceeds

20    Total Sources of Funds

25 TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION

USE OF FUNDS:

DEBT SERVICE

27 2009 Bond Refunding

28 2008 Bond Issue-Taxable {$10.365 mil}

29 Debt Service - 2011A Issue {Refunding}

30 Debt Service - 2012 Issue {Refunding}

31 Debt Service - 2013 Issue {$25.260 mil}

32 Debt Service - 2017 Issue {$19 mil}

35 Paying Agent Services

40      Subtotal-Debt Service

OPERATING EXPENDITURES

50 Prof Svcs/Proj Mgmt

52 Legal/Audit

54 Zone Park Maintenance [mowing, utilities, botanical supplies]

56 Rail Maintenance

58 Road/Signage Maintenance

60 Contractual Payments [TEDC - Marketing]

62 TISD-Reimbursement [per contract]

65      Subtotal-Operating Expenditures

70 TOTAL DEBT & OPERATING EXPENDITURES

80 Funds Available for Projects

PROJECTS

150 Temple Industrial Park

200 Corporate Campus Park

250 Bioscience Park

350 Research Parkway

400 Synergy Park

450 Downtown

500 TMED

550 Airport Park

610 Public Improvements

     Subtotal-Projects

TOTAL USE OF FUNDS

700 FUND BALANCE, End

Page 2 of 5

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032

41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50

450,142,634$          496,141,511$          537,771,984$          660,938,023$          689,548,837$          696,444,325$          703,408,769$          710,442,856$          717,547,285$          724,722,758$          

2,769,210$           2,612,078$           2,152,104$           2,322,144$           2,163,870$           2,224,822$           2,232,337$           2,448,280$           2,357,693$           2,469,728$           

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

2,769,210$           2,612,078$           2,152,104$           2,322,144$           2,163,870$           2,224,822$           2,232,337$           2,448,280$           2,357,693$           2,469,728$           

16,921,830           17,628,841           18,280,346           19,989,672           20,474,693           20,679,426           20,886,206           21,095,054           21,305,990           21,519,035           

(253,827)              (264,433)              (274,205)              (299,845)              (307,120)              (310,191)              (313,293)              (316,426)              (319,590)              (322,786)              

10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

16,714,003$        17,410,408$        18,052,141$        19,735,827$        20,213,573$        20,415,235$        20,618,913$        20,824,628$        21,032,400$        21,242,249$        

19,483,213$        20,022,486$        20,204,245$        22,057,971$        22,377,443$        22,640,057$        22,851,250$        23,272,908$        23,390,093$        23,711,977$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

2,030,094             2,026,694             2,038,413             2,051,613             2,059,113             2,061,713             2,061,713             2,069,113             2,073,513             2,084,913             

1,454,500             1,455,700             1,455,700             1,454,500             1,454,000             1,456,500             1,451,750             1,455,000             1,455,750             1,454,000             

1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    

3,485,794             3,483,594             3,495,313             3,507,313             3,514,313             3,519,413             3,514,663             3,525,313             3,530,463             3,540,113             

175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                

1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    

330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                

28,941                  30,388                  30,388                  30,388                  31,907                  31,907                  31,907                  33,502                  33,502                  33,502                  

935,341                936,788                936,788                936,788                938,307                938,307                938,307                939,902                939,902                939,902                

4,421,135$           4,420,382$           4,432,101$           4,444,101$           4,452,620$           4,457,720$           4,452,970$           4,465,215$           4,470,365$           4,480,015$           

15,062,078$        15,602,104$        15,772,144$        17,613,870$        17,924,822$        18,182,337$        18,398,280$        18,807,693$        18,919,728$        19,231,962$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

12,000,000           13,000,000           13,000,000           15,000,000           15,250,000           15,500,000           15,500,000           16,000,000           16,000,000           16,500,000           

12,450,000           13,450,000           13,450,000           15,450,000           15,700,000           15,950,000           15,950,000           16,450,000           16,450,000           16,950,000           

16,871,135$        17,870,382$        17,882,101$        19,894,101$        20,152,620$        20,407,720$        20,402,970$        20,915,215$        20,920,365$        21,430,015$        

2,612,078$           2,152,104$           2,322,144$           2,163,870$           2,224,822$           2,232,337$           2,448,280$           2,357,693$           2,469,728$           2,281,962$           

FINANCING PLAN

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\!Financing & Project Plans\Financing & Project Plan 09-28-16 



City of Temple, Texas

TIF Reinvestment Zone #1 Financing Plan

Financing Plan - 09/28/16 to Zone Board

DESCRIPTION

1 "Taxable Increment"

1 FUND BALANCE, Begin

2     Adjustments to Debt Service Reserve

3    Fund Balance Available for Appropriation

SOURCES OF FUNDS:

4 Tax Revenues

6 Allowance for Uncollected Taxes [1.5% of Tax Revenues]

8 Interest Income-Other

10 Grant Funds

12 License Fee - Central Texas Railway

14 Other Revenues

17 Bond Proceeds

20    Total Sources of Funds

25 TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION

USE OF FUNDS:

DEBT SERVICE

27 2009 Bond Refunding

28 2008 Bond Issue-Taxable {$10.365 mil}

29 Debt Service - 2011A Issue {Refunding}

30 Debt Service - 2012 Issue {Refunding}

31 Debt Service - 2013 Issue {$25.260 mil}

32 Debt Service - 2017 Issue {$19 mil}

35 Paying Agent Services

40      Subtotal-Debt Service

OPERATING EXPENDITURES

50 Prof Svcs/Proj Mgmt

52 Legal/Audit

54 Zone Park Maintenance [mowing, utilities, botanical supplies]

56 Rail Maintenance

58 Road/Signage Maintenance

60 Contractual Payments [TEDC - Marketing]

62 TISD-Reimbursement [per contract]

65      Subtotal-Operating Expenditures

70 TOTAL DEBT & OPERATING EXPENDITURES

80 Funds Available for Projects

PROJECTS

150 Temple Industrial Park

200 Corporate Campus Park

250 Bioscience Park

350 Research Parkway

400 Synergy Park

450 Downtown

500 TMED

550 Airport Park

610 Public Improvements

     Subtotal-Projects

TOTAL USE OF FUNDS

700 FUND BALANCE, End

Page 3 of 5

2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042

51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60

731,969,985$          739,289,685$          746,682,582$          754,149,408$          761,690,902$          769,307,811$          777,000,889$          784,770,898$          792,618,607$          800,544,793$          

2,281,962$           2,295,720$           2,118,459$           2,157,156$           2,160,215$           2,136,030$           2,288,854$           2,164,818$           2,268,019$           2,100,730$           

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

2,281,962$           2,295,720$           2,118,459$           2,157,156$           2,160,215$           2,136,030$           2,288,854$           2,164,818$           2,268,019$           2,100,730$           

21,734,211           21,951,539           22,171,040           22,392,736           22,616,650           22,842,802           23,071,215           23,301,913           23,534,918           23,770,253           

(326,013)              (329,273)              (332,566)              (335,891)              (339,250)              (342,642)              (346,068)              (349,529)              (353,024)              (356,554)              

10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

21,454,198$        21,668,266$        21,884,474$        22,102,845$        22,323,400$        22,546,160$        22,771,147$        22,998,384$        23,227,894$        23,459,699$        

23,736,160$        23,963,986$        24,002,933$        24,260,001$        24,483,616$        24,682,190$        25,060,000$        25,163,202$        25,495,913$        25,560,429$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

2,092,913             -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

1,454,750             1,452,750             1,453,000             1,455,250             1,454,250             -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    1,200                    -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

3,548,863             1,453,950             1,454,200             1,456,450             1,454,250             -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                

1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    

330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                330,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                

35,177                  35,177                  35,177                  36,936                  36,936                  36,936                  38,783                  38,783                  38,783                  40,722                  

941,577                941,577                941,577                943,336                943,336                943,336                945,183                945,183                945,183                947,122                

4,490,440$           2,395,527$           2,395,777$           2,399,786$           2,397,586$           943,336$              945,183$              945,183$              945,183$              947,122$              

19,245,720$        21,568,459$        21,607,156$        21,860,215$        22,086,030$        23,738,854$        24,114,818$        24,218,019$        24,550,730$        24,613,307$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

16,500,000           19,000,000           19,000,000           19,250,000           19,500,000           21,000,000           21,500,000           21,500,000           22,000,000           22,000,000           

16,950,000           19,450,000           19,450,000           19,700,000           19,950,000           21,450,000           21,950,000           21,950,000           22,450,000           22,450,000           

21,440,440$        21,845,527$        21,845,777$        22,099,786$        22,347,586$        22,393,336$        22,895,183$        22,895,183$        23,395,183$        23,397,122$        

2,295,720$           2,118,459$           2,157,156$           2,160,215$           2,136,030$           2,288,854$           2,164,818$           2,268,019$           2,100,730$           2,163,307$           

FINANCING PLAN

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\!Financing & Project Plans\Financing & Project Plan 09-28-16 



City of Temple, Texas

TIF Reinvestment Zone #1 Financing Plan

Financing Plan - 09/28/16 to Zone Board

DESCRIPTION

1 "Taxable Increment"

1 FUND BALANCE, Begin

2     Adjustments to Debt Service Reserve

3    Fund Balance Available for Appropriation

SOURCES OF FUNDS:

4 Tax Revenues

6 Allowance for Uncollected Taxes [1.5% of Tax Revenues]

8 Interest Income-Other

10 Grant Funds

12 License Fee - Central Texas Railway

14 Other Revenues

17 Bond Proceeds

20    Total Sources of Funds

25 TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION

USE OF FUNDS:

DEBT SERVICE

27 2009 Bond Refunding

28 2008 Bond Issue-Taxable {$10.365 mil}

29 Debt Service - 2011A Issue {Refunding}

30 Debt Service - 2012 Issue {Refunding}

31 Debt Service - 2013 Issue {$25.260 mil}

32 Debt Service - 2017 Issue {$19 mil}

35 Paying Agent Services

40      Subtotal-Debt Service

OPERATING EXPENDITURES

50 Prof Svcs/Proj Mgmt

52 Legal/Audit

54 Zone Park Maintenance [mowing, utilities, botanical supplies]

56 Rail Maintenance

58 Road/Signage Maintenance

60 Contractual Payments [TEDC - Marketing]

62 TISD-Reimbursement [per contract]

65      Subtotal-Operating Expenditures

70 TOTAL DEBT & OPERATING EXPENDITURES

80 Funds Available for Projects

PROJECTS

150 Temple Industrial Park

200 Corporate Campus Park

250 Bioscience Park

350 Research Parkway

400 Synergy Park

450 Downtown

500 TMED

550 Airport Park

610 Public Improvements

     Subtotal-Projects

TOTAL USE OF FUNDS

700 FUND BALANCE, End

Page 4 of 5

2043 2044 2045 2046 2047 2048 2049 2050 2051 2052

61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70

808,550,241$          816,635,743$          824,802,101$          833,050,122$          841,380,623$          849,794,429$          858,292,373$          866,875,297$          875,544,050$          884,299,491$          

2,163,307$           2,246,434$           2,229,940$           2,213,692$           2,151,750$           2,246,156$           2,046,835$           2,058,010$           2,331,786$           2,268,043$           

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

2,163,307$           2,246,434$           2,229,940$           2,213,692$           2,151,750$           2,246,156$           2,046,835$           2,058,010$           2,331,786$           2,268,043$           

20,334,364           20,537,694           20,743,056           20,950,473           21,159,963           21,371,548           21,585,250           21,801,088           22,019,084           22,239,261           

(305,015)              (308,065)              (311,146)              (314,257)              (317,399)              (320,573)              (323,779)              (327,016)              (330,286)              (333,589)              

10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

20,075,349$        20,275,629$        20,477,910$        20,682,216$        20,888,564$        21,096,975$        21,307,471$        21,520,072$        21,734,798$        21,951,672$        

22,238,656$        22,522,062$        22,707,850$        22,895,908$        23,040,314$        23,343,131$        23,354,306$        23,578,082$        24,066,583$        24,219,715$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

175,100                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                

1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    

150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                

40,722                  40,722                  42,758                  42,758                  42,758                  44,896                  44,896                  44,896                  47,141                  47,141                  

792,222                792,122                794,158                794,158                794,158                796,296                796,296                796,296                798,541                798,541                

792,222$              792,122$              794,158$              794,158$              794,158$              796,296$              796,296$              796,296$              798,541$              798,541$              

21,446,434$        21,729,940$        21,913,692$        22,101,750$        22,246,156$        22,546,835$        22,558,010$        22,781,786$        23,268,043$        23,421,174$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

18,750,000           19,050,000           19,250,000           19,500,000           19,550,000           20,050,000           20,050,000           20,000,000           20,550,000           20,550,000           

19,200,000           19,500,000           19,700,000           19,950,000           20,000,000           20,500,000           20,500,000           20,450,000           21,000,000           21,000,000           

19,992,222$        20,292,122$        20,494,158$        20,744,158$        20,794,158$        21,296,296$        21,296,296$        21,246,296$        21,798,541$        21,798,541$        

2,246,434$           2,229,940$           2,213,692$           2,151,750$           2,246,156$           2,046,835$           2,058,010$           2,331,786$           2,268,043$           2,421,174$           

FINANCING PLAN

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\!Financing & Project Plans\Financing & Project Plan 09-28-16 



City of Temple, Texas

TIF Reinvestment Zone #1 Financing Plan

Financing Plan - 09/28/16 to Zone Board

DESCRIPTION

1 "Taxable Increment"

1 FUND BALANCE, Begin

2     Adjustments to Debt Service Reserve

3    Fund Balance Available for Appropriation

SOURCES OF FUNDS:

4 Tax Revenues

6 Allowance for Uncollected Taxes [1.5% of Tax Revenues]

8 Interest Income-Other

10 Grant Funds

12 License Fee - Central Texas Railway

14 Other Revenues

17 Bond Proceeds

20    Total Sources of Funds

25 TOTAL AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATION

USE OF FUNDS:

DEBT SERVICE

27 2009 Bond Refunding

28 2008 Bond Issue-Taxable {$10.365 mil}

29 Debt Service - 2011A Issue {Refunding}

30 Debt Service - 2012 Issue {Refunding}

31 Debt Service - 2013 Issue {$25.260 mil}

32 Debt Service - 2017 Issue {$19 mil}

35 Paying Agent Services

40      Subtotal-Debt Service

OPERATING EXPENDITURES

50 Prof Svcs/Proj Mgmt

52 Legal/Audit

54 Zone Park Maintenance [mowing, utilities, botanical supplies]

56 Rail Maintenance

58 Road/Signage Maintenance

60 Contractual Payments [TEDC - Marketing]

62 TISD-Reimbursement [per contract]

65      Subtotal-Operating Expenditures

70 TOTAL DEBT & OPERATING EXPENDITURES

80 Funds Available for Projects

PROJECTS

150 Temple Industrial Park

200 Corporate Campus Park

250 Bioscience Park

350 Research Parkway

400 Synergy Park

450 Downtown

500 TMED

550 Airport Park

610 Public Improvements

     Subtotal-Projects

TOTAL USE OF FUNDS

700 FUND BALANCE, End

Page 5 of 5

2053 2054 2055 2056 2057 2058 2059 2060 2061 2062

71 72 73 74 75 76 77 78 79 80

893,142,486$          902,073,910$          911,094,650$          920,205,596$          929,407,652$          938,701,729$          948,088,746$          957,569,633$          967,145,330$          976,816,783$          

2,421,174$           2,343,347$           2,434,396$           2,248,891$           2,289,066$           2,054,703$           2,050,556$           2,278,927$           2,239,542$           2,237,349$           

-                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

2,421,174$           2,343,347$           2,434,396$           2,248,891$           2,289,066$           2,054,703$           2,050,556$           2,278,927$           2,239,542$           2,237,349$           

22,461,639           22,686,241           22,913,089           23,142,206           23,373,614           23,607,336           23,843,395           24,081,814           24,322,618           24,565,830           

(336,925)              (340,294)              (343,696)              (347,133)              (350,604)              (354,110)              (357,651)              (361,227)              (364,839)              (368,487)              

10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  10,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  36,000                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

22,170,714$        22,391,947$        22,615,393$        22,841,073$        23,069,010$        23,299,226$        23,531,744$        23,766,587$        24,003,779$        24,243,343$        

24,591,888$        24,735,294$        25,049,789$        25,089,964$        25,358,076$        25,353,929$        25,582,300$        26,045,514$        26,243,321$        26,480,691$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                175,000                

1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    1,400                    

150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                150,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                100,000                

200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                200,000                

47,141                  49,498                  49,498                  49,498                  51,973                  51,973                  51,973                  54,572                  54,572                  54,572                  

798,541                800,898                800,898                800,898                803,373                803,373                803,373                805,972                805,972                805,972                

798,541$              800,898$              800,898$              800,898$              803,373$              803,373$              803,373$              805,972$              805,972$              805,972$              

23,793,347$        23,934,396$        24,248,891$        24,289,066$        24,554,703$        24,550,556$        24,778,927$        25,239,542$        25,437,349$        25,674,719$        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                450,000                

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        

21,000,000           21,050,000           21,550,000           21,550,000           22,050,000           22,050,000           22,050,000           22,550,000           22,750,000           25,224,719           

21,450,000           21,500,000           22,000,000           22,000,000           22,500,000           22,500,000           22,500,000           23,000,000           23,200,000           25,674,719           

22,248,541$        22,300,898$        22,800,898$        22,800,898$        23,303,373$        23,303,373$        23,303,373$        23,805,972$        24,005,972$        26,480,691$        

2,343,347$           2,434,396$           2,248,891$           2,289,066$           2,054,703$           2,050,556$           2,278,927$           2,239,542$           2,237,349$           0$                         

FINANCING PLAN

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\!Financing & Project Plans\Financing & Project Plan 09-28-16 



9/22/2016

SUMMARY TRZ MASTER PLAN PROJECT FUNDING (2016 - 2020)

2013-2015 44,736,460$    FY2016-2020

Available for allocation 25,361,960$   19,374,500$   18,863,095$      12,164,306$  19,000,000$  7,953,230$      7,144,942$       7,250,029$             72,375,602$     

**2013 Bond Issue**  **See note** Bond Issue

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

Temple Industrial Park -$                114,275$        7,350,277$     622,482$           -$               -$               400,000$         -$                  -$                       8,487,034$       

Corporate Campus Park 127,600           1,037,300       3,175,108       1,700,000          -                 -                 -                  -                    -                         6,040,008         

Bioscience Park 245,000           1,505,000       -                 2,425,000          -                 -                 -                  -                    -                         4,175,000         

Research Parkway 5,665,000        800,000          -                 2,925,000          -                 16,000,000    -                  -                    10,750,000             36,140,000       

Synergy Park -                  871,400          653,280          -                     -                 -                 -                  -                    -                         1,524,680         

Downtown 663,600           -                  2,389,450       4,655,400          14,950,000    3,000,000      2,700,000        450,000            450,000                  29,258,450       

TMED 950,000           7,975,000       6,026,245       4,005,000          -                 -                 -                  6,460,000         -                         25,416,245       

Airport Park 170,000           1,150,000       2,186,497       465,000             100,000         -                 1,310,000        -                    -                         5,381,497         
 MASTER PLAN PROJECT FUNDING 7,821,200$      13,452,975$   21,780,857$   16,797,882$      15,050,000$  19,000,000$  4,410,000$      6,910,000$       11,200,000$           116,422,914$   

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2018 2020 TOTAL

Favorable (Unfavorable) Balance 4,087,785$     (2,406,357)$   2,065,213$        (2,885,694)$   -$                   3,543,230$      234,942$          (3,949,971)$            689,148$          

Cumulative Favorable (Unfavorable) 4,087,785$     1,681,428$     3,746,641$        860,947$       860,947$       4,404,177$      4,639,119$       689,148$                

**Note**:  The amounts shown in FY 2016 for projects will not be the same as in the Financing Plan.  The Financing Plan is a cumulative amount that includes previous 

years allocations. The cumulative balance available at the end of FY 2016 of $3,746,641 balances to Line 700 of the Financing Plan.

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\Finance Committee\June 2016\Master Plan  Project  Funding Updated Schedule (2016-2020) September 2016 1



9/22/2016

 TRZ MASTER PLAN PROJECT FUNDING (2016 - 2020)

2013-2015 44,736,460$      FY 2016-2020

Available for allocation 25,361,960$       19,374,500$       18,863,095$       12,164,306$   19,000,000$   7,953,230$        7,144,942$       7,250,029$      72,375,602$     

Temple Industrial Park **2013 Bond Issue**  Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

1 North Lucius McCelvey Ext. (1/2) Design -                             114,275              -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   114,275            

2 North Lucius McCelvey Ext. (1/2) Constr -                             -                      2,180,301           -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   2,180,301         

3 Northern Y Design 78,400                -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   78,400              

4 Northern Y Construction -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

5 Receivng & Delivery Tracks Preliminary Design 150,000              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   150,000            

6 Receivng & Delivery Tracks ROW -                      -                  -                  400,000             -                    -                   400,000            

7 Pepper Creek Main Stem Regional Detention Pond Constr -                             -                      1,139,201           -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   1,139,201         

8 Property Acquisition -                             -                      4,000,000           -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   4,000,000         

9 N 31st Street Sidewalks Grant Match -                             -                      30,775                44,082                -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   74,857              

10 N 31st Street Sidewalks Construction -                             -                      -                      350,000              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   350,000            

SUBTOTAL -                             114,275              7,350,277           622,482              -                  -                  400,000             -                    -                   8,487,034         

Corporate Campus Park Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

11 Pepper Creek Trail Hwy 36 to McLane Prkwy Design 93,700                       256,300              -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   350,000            

12 Pepper Creek Trail Hwy 36 to McLane Prkwy ROW 33,900                       -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   33,900              

13 Pepper Creek Trail Hwy 36 to McLane Prkwy Constr -                             71,000                -                      1,700,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   1,771,000         

14 McLane Prkwy/Research Pkwy Connection Design -                             710,000              -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   710,000            

15 McLane Prkwy/Research Pkwy Connection Constr -                             -                      3,175,108           -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   3,175,108         

SUBTOTAL 127,600                     1,037,300           3,175,108           1,700,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   6,040,008         

Bioscience Park Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

16 Cross Roads Park @ Pepper Creek Trail 245,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   245,000            

17 Cross Roads Park @ Pepper Creek Trail -                             1,505,000           -                      2,425,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   3,930,000         

SUBTOTAL 245,000                     1,505,000           -                      2,425,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   4,175,000         

Research Parkway Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

18 Research Pkwy (IH35 to Wendland At Grade) Design 1,610,000                  -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   1,610,000         

19 Research Pkwy (IH35 to Wendland Ultimate) ROW 301,364                     -                      -                      1,000,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   1,301,364         

20 Research Pkwy (IH35 to Wendland At Grade) Grant {Little Elm Sewer} 793,636                     -                      -                      1,925,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   2,718,636         

21 Research Pkwy (IH35 to Wendland At Grade) Constr -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  13,500,000     -                     -                    -                   13,500,000       

22 Research Pkwy (Wendland to McLane Prkwy) Design 960,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   960,000            

23 Research Pkwy (Wendland to McLane Prkwy) ROW 1,300,000                  -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   1,300,000         

24 Research Pkwy (Wendland to McLane Prkwy) Constr -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

25 Research Pkwy (McLane Pkwy to Cen Pt Pkwy) Design 700,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   700,000            

26 Research Pkwy (McLane Pkwy to Cen Pt Pkwy) ROW -                             800,000              -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   800,000            

27 Research Pkwy (McLane Pkwy to Cen Pt Pkwy) Constr -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

28 Outer Loop (I35 South) Design -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  1,200,000       -                     -                    750,000           1,950,000         

29 Outer Loop (I35 South) ROW -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  1,300,000       -                     -                    -                   1,300,000         

30 Outer Loop (I35 South) Construction -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    10,000,000      10,000,000       

SUBTOTAL 5,665,000                  800,000              -                      2,925,000           -                  16,000,000     -                     -                    10,750,000      36,140,000       

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\Finance Committee\June 2016\Master Plan  Project  Funding Updated Schedule (2016-2020) September 2016 1



9/22/2016

 TRZ MASTER PLAN PROJECT FUNDING (2016 - 2020)

Synergy Park Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

31 Entry Enhancement Design -                             75,000                -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   75,000              

32 Entry Enhancement Constr -                             425,000              -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   425,000            

33 Lorraine Drive/Panda Drive Service Road Design -                             -                      8,700                  -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   8,700                

34 Lorraine Drive/Panda Drive Service Road Constr -                             371,400              80,000                -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   451,400            

35 Lorraine Drive/Panda Drive {Panda Commitment} -                             -                      564,580              -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   564,580            

SUBTOTAL -                             871,400              653,280              -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   1,524,680         

Downtown **2013 Bond Issue**  Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

36 Santa Fe Plaza Design 538,600                     -                      76,400                261,400              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   876,400            

37 Santa Fe Plaza ROW -                             -                      1,750,000           1,600,000           500,000          -                  -                     -                    -                   3,850,000         

38 Santa Fe Plaza Constr -                             -                      -                      1,100,000           4,000,000       1,500,000       1,500,000          -                    -                   8,100,000         

39 Downtown Master Plan ROW -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

40 Downtown Master Plan 125,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   125,000            

41 TISD-Obligation per Contract -                             -                      -                      -                      10,000,000     -                  -                     -                    -                   10,000,000       

42 Intersection improvements at Central and N. 4th Street -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  750,000             -                    -                   750,000            

43 Santa Fe Market Trail Design -                             -                      190,000              -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   190,000            

44 Santa Fe Market Trail ROW -                             -                      -                      1,200,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   1,200,000         

45 Santa Fe Market Trail Construction -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  1,500,000       -                     -                    -                   1,500,000         

46 MLK Festival Fields Design -                             -                      -                      35,600                -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   35,600              

47 MLK Festival Fields Construction -                             -                      -                      314,400              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   314,400            

48 Downtown Transformation Team -                             -                      373,050              144,000              450,000          -                  450,000             450,000            450,000           2,317,050         

49 North General Bruce Drive Enhancements -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

SUBTOTAL 663,600                     -                      2,389,450           4,655,400           14,950,000     3,000,000       2,700,000          450,000            450,000           29,258,450       

TMED Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

50 Loop 363 FR  (UPRR to 5th TRZ Portion) Design 330,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   330,000            

51 Loop 363 FR  (UPRR to 5th TRZ Portion) ROW 120,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   120,000            

52 Loop 363 FR  (UPRR to 5th TRZ Portion) Constr -                             6,000,000           -                      300,000              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   6,300,000         

53 31st Street/Loop 363 Improvements/Monumentation Design 70,000                       -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   70,000              

54 31 Street/Loop 363 Improvements/Monumentation Constr -                             450,000              1,650,000           -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   2,100,000         

55 Ave U TMED Ave. to 1st Design 175,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   175,000            

56 Ave U TMED Ave. to 1st ROW -                             1,100,000           1,125,000           180,000              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   2,405,000         

57 Ave U TMED Ave. to 1st Constr -                             -                      250,000              2,600,000           -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   2,850,000         

58 TMED Master Plan (Health Care Campus) Design 125,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   125,000            

59 TMED Master Plan &Thoroughfare Plan * Design 55,000                       -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   55,000              

60 Friars Creek Trail to Ave. R Trail Design 75,000                       -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   75,000              

61 Friars Creek Trail to Ave. R Trail Constr -                             425,000              72,759                -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   497,759            

62 1st Street @ Loop 363 Design -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

63 Friars Creek Trail to S&W -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

64 Ave R Intersections Constr -                             -                      2,928,486           -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   2,928,486         

65 Veteran's Memorial Blvd. Phase II Design -                             -                      -                      675,000              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   675,000            

66 Veteran's Memorial Blvd. Phase II ROW -                             -                      -                      250,000              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   250,000            

67 Veteran's Memorial Blvd. Phase II Constr -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     6,460,000         -                   6,460,000         

68 Ave R - 25th to 31st Street Design -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

69 Ave R - 25th to 31st Street Construction -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

70 Ave R - 25th to 1st Street Design -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

71 Ave R - 25th to 1st Street ROW -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

72 Ave R - 25th to 1st Street Construction -                             -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   -                    

SUBTOTAL 950,000                     7,975,000           6,026,245           4,005,000           -                  -                  -                     6,460,000         -                   25,416,245       

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\Finance Committee\June 2016\Master Plan  Project  Funding Updated Schedule (2016-2020) September 2016 2



9/22/2016

 TRZ MASTER PLAN PROJECT FUNDING (2016 - 2020)

Airport Park Bond Issue

Line # Project Description 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

73 Airport Enhancement Projects Design 170,000                     -                      -                      -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   170,000            

74 Airport Enhancement Projects Constr -                             1,150,000           2,186,497           -                      -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   3,336,497         

75 Taxiway for Airport {60 ft width} -                             -                      -                      90,000                -                  -                  1,310,000          -                    -                   1,400,000         

76 Corporate Hangar Phase II -                             -                      -                      375,000              -                  -                  -                     -                    -                   375,000            

77 Airport RAMP Grant -                             -                      -                      100,000          -                  -                     -                    -                   100,000            

SUBTOTAL 170,000                     1,150,000           2,186,497           465,000              100,000          -                  1,310,000          -                    -                   5,381,497         

 MASTER PLAN PROJECT FUNDING 7,821,200$                13,452,975$       21,780,857$       16,797,882$       15,050,000$   19,000,000$   4,410,000$        6,910,000$       11,200,000$    116,422,914$   

Bond Issue

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2017 2018 2019 2020 TOTAL

Favorable (Unfavorable) Balance 4,087,785           (2,406,357)          2,065,213           (2,885,694)      -                  3,543,230          234,942            (3,949,971)       689,148            

Cumulative Favorable (Unfavorable) 4,087,785           1,681,428           3,746,641           860,947          860,947          4,404,177          4,639,119         689,148           

G:\Traci's Files\RZ # 1 (TIF)\Finance Committee\June 2016\Master Plan  Project  Funding Updated Schedule (2016-2020) September 2016 3



Revised form - 10/27/06

FY 2016
BUDGET ADJUSTMENT FORM

Use this form to make adjustments to your budget.  All adjustments must balance within a Department.
Adjustments should be rounded to the nearest $1. 

+ -

ACCOUNT NUMBER
PROJECT 

# DECREASE

795-9500-531-65-69 101588
795-9500-531-68-67 101005
795-9500-531-72-15
795-9500-531-26-16 150,500$      
795-9500-531-65-14 100692 250,000$      
795-9500-531-63-17 100693 250,000$      
795-9500-531-65-58 100811
795-9500-531-68-80 101019 15,000$        

TOTAL…………………………………………………………………………………………………… 665,500$      

DOES THIS REQUEST REQUIRE COUNCIL APPROVAL? x Yes No
DATE OF COUNCIL MEETING

WITH AGENDA ITEM? x Yes No

Approved
Disapproved

Approved
Disapproved

Approved
DisapprovedCity Manager Date

Finance Date

To appropriate funds as recommended by the Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Board at its 09.28.16 meeting and as approved on second reading by Council on 
10.20.16.

10/20/2016

Department Head/Division Director Date

EXPLANATION OF ADJUSTMENT REQUEST- Include justification for increases AND reason why funds in decreased account are available.

665,500$       

ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION INCREASE

MLK Festival Fields 350,000$       
Cross Roads Park 300,000$       
Fiscal Agent Fees 500$              
Professional Fees

Road Maintenance
Corporate Hangar Phase II 15,000$         

Rail Maintenance

Airport Entrance Enhancements



 
 1 

 
 ORDINANCE NO.     
 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT TO THE TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 
REINVESTMENT ZONE NO. 1 FINANCING AND PROJECT PLANS TO ALIGN 
WITH THE 2022 MASTER PLAN WHICH INCLUDES APPROPRIATING BOND 
PROCEEDS, ADJUSTING TAX REVENUES AND ALLOCATING EXPENDITURES 
FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEARS 2016-2062; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; DECLARING 
FINDINGS OF FACT; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Whereas, the City Council (the "Council") of the City of Temple, Texas, (the "City") created 
Reinvestment Zone Number One, City of Temple, Texas (the "Zone") by Ordinance No. 1457 
adopted on September 16, 1982; 
 

Whereas, the Council adopted a Project Plan and Reinvestment Zone Financing Plan for the 
Zone by Ordinance No. 1525 adopted on December 22, 1983, and thereafter amended such plans by 
Ordinance No. 1664 adopted on June 20, 1985, Ordinance No. 1719 adopted on November 21, 1985, 
Ordinance No. 1888 adopted on December 21, 1987, Ordinance No. 1945 adopted on October 20, 
1988; Ordinance No. 1961 adopted on December 1, 1988; Ordinance No. 2039 adopted on April 19, 
1990; Ordinance No. 91-2119 adopted on December 5, 1991; Ordinance No. 92-2138 adopted on 
April 7, 1992; Ordinance No. 94-2260 adopted on March 3, 1994; Ordinance No. 95-2351 adopted 
on June 15, 1995; Ordinance No. 98-2542 adopted on February 5, 1998;  Ordinance No. 98-2582 
adopted on November 19, 1998; Ordinance No. 99-2619 adopted on March 18, 1999; Ordinance No. 
99-2629 adopted on May 6, 1999; Ordinance No. 99-2631 adopted on May 20, 1999; Ordinance No. 
99-2647 adopted on August 19, 1999; Ordinance No. 99-2678 adopted on December 16, 1999; 
Ordinance No. 2000-2682 adopted on January 6, 2000;  Ordinance No. 2000-2729 adopted on 
October 19, 2000; Ordinance No. 2001-2772 adopted on June 7, 2001;  Ordinance No. 2001-2782 
adopted on July 19, 2001; Ordinance No. 2001-2793 adopted on September 20, 2001; Ordinance No. 
2001-2807 on November 15, 2001; Ordinance No. 2001-2813 on December 20, 2001;  Ordinance 
No. 2002-2833 on March 21, 2002; Ordinance No. 2002-2838 on April 18, 2002; Ordinance No. 
2002-3847 on June 20, 2002;  Ordinance No. 2002-3848 on June 20, 2002; Ordinance No. 2002-
3868 on October 17, 2002; Ordinance No. 2003- 3888 on February 20, 2003;Ordinance No. 2003-
3894 on April 17, 2003; Ordinance No 2003-3926 on September 18, 2003; Ordinance No. 2004-
3695 on July 1, 2004;  Ordinance No. 2004-3975 on August 19, 2004; Ordinance No. 2004-3981 on 
September 16, 2004;  Ordinance No. 2005-4001 on May 5, 2005; Ordinance No. 2005-4038 on 
September 15, 2005;  Ordinance No. 2006-4051 on January 5, 2006; Ordinance No. 2006-4076 on 
the 18th day of May, 2006;  Ordinance No. 2006-4118; Ordinance No. 2007-4141 on the 19th day of 
April, 2007;  Ordinance No. 2007-4155 on July 19, 2007; Ordinance No. 2007-4172 on the 20th day 
of September, 2007; Ordinance No. 2007-4173 on October 25, 2007;  Ordinance No. 2008-4201 on 
the 21st day of February, 2008; and Ordinance No. 2008-4217 the 15th day of May, 2008;  Ordinance 
No. 2008-4242 the 21st day of August, 2009; Ordinance No. 2009-4290 on the 16th day of April, 
2009; Ordinance No. 2009-4294 on the 21st day of May, 2009; Ordinance No. 2009-4316 on the 17th 
day of September, 2009; Ordinance No. 2009-4320 on the 15th day of October, 2009; Ordinance No. 
2010-4338 on the 18th day of February, 2010; Ordinance No. 2010-4371 on the 19th day of August, 
2010; Ordinance No. 2010-4405 on November 4, 2010; Ordinance No. 2011-4429 on March 17,  



 
 2 

 
 
 
2011; Ordinance No. 2011-4455 on July 21, 2011; Ordinance No. 2011-4477 on October 20, 2011; 
Ordinance No. 2012-4540 on June 21, 2012; and Ordinance No. 2012-4546 on July 19, 2012; 
Ordinance No. 2012-4554 on September 20, 2012; Ordinance No. 2012-4566 on November 15, 
2012; Ordinance No. 2013-4595 on June 20, 2013; Ordinance No. 2014-4665 on May 15, 2014; 
Ordinance No. 2014-4676 on July 17, 2014; Ordinance No. 2014-4683 on September 18, 2014; 
Ordinance No. 2014-4695 on December 18, 2014; Ordinance No. 2015-4705 on April 16, 2015; 
Ordinance No. 2015-4734 on October 15, 2015; Ordinance No. 2016-4789 on July 21, 2016; 
October 20, 2016; 
 

Whereas, the Board of Directors of the Zone has adopted an additional amendment to the 
Reinvestment Zone  Financing and Project Plans for the Zone and forwarded such amendment to the 
Council for appropriate action; 
 

Whereas, the Council finds it necessary to amend the Reinvestment Zone Financing and 
Project Plans for the Zone to include financial information as hereinafter set forth;  
 

Whereas, the Council finds that such amendment to the Reinvestment Zone Financing and 
Project Plans is feasible and conforms to the Comprehensive Plan of the City, and that this action 
will promote economic development within the City of Temple; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS THAT: 

 
Part 1: Findings. The statements contained in the preamble of this ordinance are true and 

correct and are adopted as findings of fact hereby. 
 

Part 2: Reinvestment Zone Financing and Project Plans. The amendment to the Tax 
Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Financing and Project Plans, heretofore adopted by 
the Board of Directors of the Zone and referred to in the preamble of this ordinance, is hereby 
approved and adopted, as set forth in the Amendments to Reinvestment Zone Number 1, City of 
Temple, Texas, attached hereto as Exhibits A and B.  
 

Part 3: Plans Effective. The Financing Plan and Project Plans for the Zone heretofore in 
effect shall remain in full force and effect according to the terms and provisions thereof, except as 
specifically amended hereby. 

 
Part 4: Severability. It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 

sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any 
phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the 
final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any 
of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this ordinance of 
any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 
 
 



 
 3 

 
 
 

Part 5: Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its 
passage in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 

 
Part 6: Open Meetings.  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at 

which this ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the 
time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meeting Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 6th day of October, 

2016. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS     
 

   
                

DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 

ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
            
Lacy Borgeson      Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary       City Attorney 



 

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
  

 
10/20/16 

Item #4(N-2) 
Consent Agenda 

Page 1 of 2 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Kevin Beavers, CPRP, Parks and Recreation Director 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a professional services agreement 
with Kasberg, Patrick & Associates, LP, for a lump sum amount of $35,600, to provide design and 
construction documents for the Martin Luther King Festival Fields in downtown Temple.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:   The Martin Luther King Festival Fields project is a continuation of the Santa Fe 
Market trail project. It will extend and encompass boundaries listed below (see attached map): 

• North Side- Approximately M.L.K. Drive to 4th Street along East Avenue B.   
• West Side-From East Avenue B down 4th Street to the property line at the BNSF Railroad tracks. 
• South Side-4th  Street and BNSF Railroad tracks to approximately East Avenue E and M.L.K. 

Drive 
• East Side-From approximately East Avenue E and M.L.K. Drive north to approximately East 

Avenue B. 
 

The Martin Luther King Festival Fields project will involve design surveys of the site, site grading plan, 
drainage plan to convey storm water to existing drainage infrastructure, electrical design for stage 
power, and an overall site plan to include fencing of City owned property. This design process is 
projected to last two months from the Notice to Proceed.   
 
KPA will perform construction administration and on-site representation during the construction phase.  
KPA’s preliminary opinion of probable cost is $300,000. 
 
The Reinvestment Zone Board #1 approved this agenda item at their meeting on September 28, 2016 
and recommended to forward it to Council for approval. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT: Funding for the professional services agreement with KPA in the amount of $35,600 
is available in Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Financing and Project Plans, Line 408, MLK Festival Fields, in 
account # 795-9500-531-6569, project 101588, as follows: 

Project Budget  $        350,000  
Encumbered/Committed to Date             (0) 

KPA professional services agreement          (35,600) 
Remaining Project Funds  $        314,400  



10/20/2016 
Item #4(N-2) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 

 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Engineer’s Proposal 
Map 
Resolution 
 
  













 RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8403-R 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
AUTHORIZING A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT, IN A LUMP 
SUM OF $35,600, WITH KASBERG, PATRICK & ASSOCIATES, LP OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, TO PROVIDE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 
DOCUMENTS FOR THE MARTIN LUTHER KING FESTIVAL FIELDS IN 
DOWNTOWN TEMPLE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 
 Whereas, the Martin Luther King Festival Fields project is a continuation of the Santa Fe 
Market trail project and it will extend and encompass the boundaries outlined on the map attached 
hereto as Exhibit ‘A;’ 
 
 Whereas, the Martin Luther King Festival Fields project will involve design surveys of the 
site, site grading, drainage to convey storm water to existing drainage infrastructure, electrical design 
for stage power, and an overall site plan to include fencing of City owned property; 
 
 Whereas, Staff recommends Council authorize a professional services agreement with 
Kasberg, Patrick & Associates, LP in a lump sum of $35,600, to provide design and construction 
documents for the Martin Luther King Festival Fields in Downtown Temple; 
 
 Whereas, funds are available for this professional services agreement in the Reinvestment 
Zone No. 1 Financing and Project Plans, Line 408, Account No. 795-9500-531-6569, Project No. 
101588; and 
 

Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, after approval as to 
form by the City Attorney, to execute a professional services agreement, in a lump sum of $35,600, 
with Kasberg, Patrick & Associates, LP to provide design and construction documents for the Martin 
Luther King Festival Fields in downtown Temple. 
 
 Part 2:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this Resolution 
was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, and purpose 
of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 

       
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 

10/20/16 
Item #4(O) 

Consent Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW: 
 
Traci Barnard, Director of Finance 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: Consider adopting a resolution authorizing budget amendments for fiscal year 
2016-2017. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Adopt resolution as presented in item description. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: This item is to recommend various budget amendments, based on the adopted 
FY 2016-2017 budget. The amendments will involve transfers of funds between contingency 
accounts, department and fund levels. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: The total amount of budget amendments is $215,663. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Budget Amendments 
Resolution 
  



CITY OF TEMPLE
BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2017 BUDGET

October 20, 2016

APPROPRIATIONS
ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

365-1500-515-1112 Salaries / Professional 36,255$         
365-1500-515-1220 Personnel Benefits / Retirement/Pension 5,960$           
365-1500-515-1221 Personnel Benefits / Social Security 526$              
365-1500-515-1222 Personnel Benefits / Health Insurance 2,575$           
365-1500-515-1223 Personnel Benefits / Worker Compensation 78$                
365-1500-515-1224 Personnel Benefits / Unemployment Insurance 135$              
365-1500-515-1228 Personnel Benefits / Long Term Disability 93$                
365-1500-515-1226 Personnel Benefits / Life Insurance 54$                
365-1500-515-1227 Personnel Benefits / AD&D Insurance 11$                
365-1500-515-1225 Personnel Benefits / Dental Insurance 48$                
561-5000-535-1112 Salaries / Professional 36,255$         
561-5000-535-1220 Personnel Benefits / Retirement/Pension 5,960$           
561-5000-535-1221 Personnel Benefits / Social Security 526$              
561-5000-535-1222 Personnel Benefits / Health Insurance 2,575$           
561-5000-535-1223 Personnel Benefits / Worker Compensation 78$                
561-5000-535-1224 Personnel Benefits / Unemployment Insurance 135$              
561-5000-535-1228 Personnel Benefits / Long Term Disability 93$                
561-5000-535-1226 Personnel Benefits / Life Insurance 54$                
561-5000-535-1227 Personnel Benefits / AD&D Insurance 11$                
561-5000-535-1225 Personnel Benefits / Dental Insurance 48$                
365-1500-515-6536 Capital - Special Projects / Contingency-Compensation 45,735$         
561-5000-535-6532 Capital - Special Projects / Contingency 45,735$         

To allocate bond proceeds for the Deputy City Attorney position for FY 2017.  This position
is being funded 50% with Certificate of Obligation (TCIP) bond proceeds and 50% with Utility
Revenue bond proceeds.

362-1300-515-1115 Salaries / Skilled 41,309$         
362-1300-515-1220 Personnel Benefits / Retirement/Pension 6,791$           
362-1300-515-1221 Personnel Benefits / Social Security 599$              
362-1300-515-1222 Personnel Benefits / Health Insurance 5,150$           
362-1300-515-1223 Personnel Benefits / Worker Compensation 89$                
362-1300-515-1224 Personnel Benefits / Unemployment Insurance 270$              
362-1300-515-1225 Personnel Benefits / Dental Insurance 96$                
362-1300-515-1226 Personnel Benefits / Life Insurance 61$                
362-1300-515-1227 Personnel Benefits / AD&D Insurance 13$                
362-1300-515-1228 Personnel Benefits / Long Term Disability 106$              
362-1300-515-6536 Capital - Special Projects / Contingency-Compensation 54,484$         

To allocate bond proceeds for the Senior Buyer II position for FY 2017.  This position
is being funded 100% with General Obligation Parks bonds.

365-1500-515-1112 Salaries / Skilled 56,992$         
365-1500-515-1220 Personnel Benefits / Retirement/Pension 9,616$           
365-1500-515-1221 Personnel Benefits / Social Security 848$              
365-1500-515-1233 Personnel Benefits / $125 To ICMA in Lieu of Insurance 1,500$           
365-1500-515-1223 Personnel Benefits / Worker Compensation 235$              
365-1500-515-1224 Personnel Benefits / Unemployment Insurance 270$              
365-1500-515-1228 Personnel Benefits / Long Term Disability 146$              
365-1500-515-1226 Personnel Benefits / Life Insurance 84$                
365-1500-515-1227 Personnel Benefits / AD&D Insurance 18$                
365-1500-515-6536 Capital - Special Projects / Contingency-Compensation 69,709$         

To allocate bond proceeds for the Project Manager position for FY 2017.  This position
is being funded 100% with Certificate of Obligation (TCIP) bond proceeds.

TOTAL AMENDMENTS 215,663$       215,663$       

1



CITY OF TEMPLE
BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2017 BUDGET

October 20, 2016

APPROPRIATIONS
ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

Reconciliation
GENERAL FUND

Beginning Contingency Balance -$                  
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                    
Carry forward from Prior Year -                    
Taken From Contingency -                    
Net Balance of Contingency Account -$                  

Beginning Judgments & Damages Contingency 5,257$           
Added to Contingency Judgments & Damages from Council Contingency -                    
Taken From Judgments & Damages -                    
Net Balance of Judgments & Damages Contingency Account 5,257$           

Beginning Compensation Contingency 560,000$       
Added to Compensation Contingency -                    
Taken From Compensation Contingency -                    
Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 560,000$       

Net Balance Council Contingency 565,257$       

Beginning Balance Budget Sweep Contingency -$                  
Added to Budget Sweep Contingency -                    
Taken From Budget Sweep -                    
Net Balance of Budget Sweep Contingency Account -$                  

WATER & SEWER FUND
Beginning Contingency Balance 50,000$         
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                    
Taken From Contingency -                    
Net Balance of Contingency Account 50,000$         

Beginning Compensation Contingency 112,500$       
Added to Compensation Contingency -                    
Taken From Compensation Contingency -                    
Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 112,500$       

Net Balance Water & Sewer Fund Contingency 162,500$       

HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND
Beginning Contingency Balance -$                  
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                    
Carry forward from Prior Year -                    
Taken From Contingency -                    
Net Balance of Contingency Account -$                  

Beginning Compensation Contingency 28,300$         
Added to Compensation Contingency -                    
Taken From Compensation Contingency -                    
Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 28,300$         

Net Balance Hotel/Motel Tax Fund Contingency 28,300$         

DRAINAGE FUND
Beginning Contingency Balance -$                  
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                    
Carry forward from Prior Year -                    
Taken From Contingency -                    
Net Balance of Contingency Account -$                  

Beginning Compensation Contingency 24,300$         
Added to Compensation Contingency -                
Taken From Compensation Contingency -                
Net Balance of Compensation Contingency Account 24,300$         

Net Balance Drainage Fund Contingency 24,300$         

2



CITY OF TEMPLE
BUDGET AMENDMENTS FOR FY 2017 BUDGET

October 20, 2016

APPROPRIATIONS
ACCOUNT # PROJECT # DESCRIPTION Debit Credit

FED/STATE GRANT FUND
Beginning Contingency Balance -$                  
Carry forward from Prior Year -                    
Added to Contingency Sweep Account -                    
Taken From Contingency -                    

Net Balance Fed/State Grant Fund Contingency -$                  

3



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2016-8404-R 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TEMPLE, TEXAS, APPROVING BUDGET AMENDMENTS TO THE 
2016-2017 CITY BUDGET; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 Whereas, on the 26th day of August, 2016, the City Council approved a budget 
for the 2016-2017 fiscal year; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council deems it in the public interest to make certain 
amendments to the 2016-2017 City Budget. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1:  The City Council approves amending the 2016-2017 City Budget by 
adopting the budget amendments which are more fully described in Exhibit ‘A,’ 
attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes. 
 
 Part 2: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which 
this Resolution was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice 
of the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open 
Meetings Act. 
  
 PASSED AND APPROVED this the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
             

    DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary     City Attorney 



   
 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 
 

10/20/16 
Item #5 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 3 

 
DEPARTMENT / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Mark Baker, Senior Planner  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  FIRST READING - PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-16-45:  Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing a Conditional Use Permit to allow the sales of all alcoholic beverages with on-
premise consumption, where the gross revenue from such sales is less than 50% of the total gross 
revenue of the establishment, on Lots 2 through 7, 10 & 11, Block 1 of the Highline Addition, subdivision, 
located generally at the northwest corner of Scott Boulevard and South 31st Street. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: At their September 19, 2016 meeting, 
the Planning & Zoning Commission voted 7 to 0 recommend to recommend approval of the proposed 
conditional use permit as presented by staff. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Based on the following analysis: 
 
1. The project has demonstrated compliance with the specific standards in the Unified 

Development Code (UDC Section 5.3.15B) related to distance requirements from a place of 
worship or public hospital; 

2. The project has demonstrated compliance to Chapter 4 of the City of Temple Code of 
Ordinances related to alcoholic beverages; and  

3. The request is consistent with zoning and compatible with existing adjacent and anticipated retail 
and service uses. 

 
Staff recommends approval of the requested Conditional Use Permit to allow sales of alcoholic 
beverages where less than 50% of the total gross revenue of the establishment, subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. That the sale of all alcoholic beverages be restricted to on-premise consumption only, 
contained within Lots 2-7, 10 & 11, Block 1 of the Highline Addition, subdivision, located at 
the northwest corner of Scott Boulevard and South 31st Street; 

2. The use is subject to compliance to Chapter 4 of the City Code of Ordinances related to 
alcoholic beverages; and 

3. That the Conditional Use, complies with UDC Section 5.3.15 related to all alcoholic beverage 
sales with on-premise consumption. 

 
 

 
 



10/20/16 
Item #5 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 3 

 
ITEM SUMMARY: In order to avoid individual requests for a conditional use permit, similar to the 
recently-approved Rosa’s Café (Ord. 2016-4767) on Lot 1 of the Highline Addition, the applicant 
requests a “blanket approval” for eleven lots of the Highline Addition. 
  
BACKGROUND:  Lots 2-7, 10 & 11 are within the recorded subdivision of The Highline Addition 
(attached as Exhibit A). The Highline Addition subdivision is within the 40.389 +/- acre mixed use 
development known as “The District”, which was rezoned on February 4, 2016, by Ordinance 2016-
4749, to Planned Development - Temple Medical Education District (TMED) with an underlying transect 
zone designation of T-5C. Discussion related to Comprehensive Plan compliance was addressed 
during the related analysis of that request. Specific to this request, an establishment that generates 
less than 50% of its total gross revenue from the sale of all alcoholic beverages for on-premise 
consumption is a compatible use subject to approval of a Conditional Use Permit. It is also compatible 
with the anticipated retail and service uses to be developed within “The District” and the surrounding 
area along South 31st Street. 
 
Exterior building elevations, lot layout and site design are subject to Ordinance 2016-4749, which not 
only provided for exceptions to site plan standards, granted by City Council, but also the Planned 
Development as a whole. Compliance to both Ordinance 2016-4749 as well as the Ordinance for the 
Conditional Use Permit will be confirmed during the review of the building permit. 
 
Additionally, it is noteworthy, that City Council has recently approved similar “blanket-type” conditional 
use permits, which included on-premise alcohol sales and consumption for multiple establishments and 
suites along W. Adams Ave. as follows: 
 

1. Multiple addresses within the Westfield Master Plan along the north side West Adams Avenue 
& Honeysuckle Drive under common ownership within a Planned Development for all alcohol 
that is less than 75% of the establishment’s gross revenue (Ord. 2015-4718), and 

2. Multiple suites in the Westfield Market center to allow all alcohol that is between 50% and 75% 
of the establishment’s gross revenue (Ord. 2015-4720). 

 
Section 5.3.15 of the Unified Development Code, a re-iteration of Chapter 4 – Code of Ordinances, 
provides for multiple performance standards related to the provision of a Conditional Use Permit for the 
on-premise sale of alcoholic beverages. Some of which include, but not limited to: 
 

• The permittee must comply with applicable licensing and permit provisions of the Alcoholic 
Beverage Code within 6 months from the date of the issuance of the Conditional Use Permit, 
such limitation in time being subject to City review and possible extension, 

 
• The permittee must demonstrate that the granting of the permit would not be detrimental to 

the public welfare of the Citizens of the City, 
 

• The permittee must, at all times, provide an adequate number of employees for security 
purposes to adequately control the establishment to prevent incidents of drunkenness,     
disorderly conduct and raucous behavior. The permittee must consult with the Chief of Police, 
who acts in an advisory capacity, to determine the number of qualified employees necessary 
to meet such obligations. 

 



10/20/16 
Item #5 

    Regular Agenda 
 Page 3 of 3 

Additionally, the UDC states: 

The City Council may deny or revoke a Conditional Use Permit in accordance with UDC Section 
3.5 if is affirmatively determines that the issuance of the permit is: 
a. Incompatible with the surrounding uses of property; or
b. Detrimental or offensive to the neighborhood or contrary to the health, safety and general

welfare of the City and its inhabitants, and
c. Per UDC Section 3.5.5, the Planning & Zoning Commission may recommend and the City

Council may impose additional conditions of approval.

Adherence to UDC Section 5.3.15 in its entirety is included by reference in the Ordinance as conditions 
of approval.  A Conditional Use Permit runs with the property and a change in ownership or change in 
the lessee does not affect the Conditional Use Permit, unless City Council approves conditions stating 
otherwise. 

Further, UDC Section 5.3.15B provides standards for all establishments with alcoholic beverage sales 
with on-premise consumption that is less than 75% of the gross total revenue. The standards include 
a distance requirement of not being within 300 feet of a place of worship, public school or public hospital 
and how the distance is measured. Using the calculation prescribed by UDC Sec. 5.3.15B2, the nearest 
sensitive use is the Baylor, Scott & White Hospital, located approximately 682 feet away.  The nearest 
Place of Worship, the Avenue T Church of Christ, is located approximately 1,323 feet away and the 
nearest public school, Scott Elementary School, is 3,561 feet away as measured by City-adopted & 
TABC measurement standards. 

Lastly, Chapter 4 of the City of Temple Code of Ordinances reiterates state laws for distancing with 
regard to alcohol sales and on-premise consumption. Compliance to Chapter 4 standards are required 
and are included as a condition. 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE (DRC):  The DRC reviewed the proposed conditional use 
permit on September 6, 2016. No issues were identified during the review. 

PUBLIC NOTICE: There were 25 properties within 200-feet of the subject property, that were sent 
notice of the public hearing as required by State law and City Ordinance. As of Tuesday October 11, 
2016 at 9:00 AM, no notices in agreement and no notices in disagreement have been received. 

The newspaper printed notice of the public hearing on September 8, 2016, in accordance with state 
law and local ordinance. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable 

ATTACHMENTS:  
Street View and Aerial Image 
Maps 
Chapter 4 – Code of Ordinances – Alcoholic Beverages 
Ord. 2016-4749 – The District 
P&Z Excerpts (Sept 19, 2016) 
Ordinance



Site & Surrounding Property Photos 
 

 
 

Site – In Development (From Scott Blvd) Highline Addition, subdivision 
(TMED T5-C) 

 

 
 

Site – In Development (TMED T5-C) 



 
 

Site – In Development (Looking North toward W. Ave T) (TMED T5-C) 
 

 
 

North:  SF Residential Uses along W. Ave T 
Dubose Addition First Extension, subdivision (2F) 



 

 
 

South: Existing Retail Service Uses (Hilton Garden Inn) (GR & TMED T5-C) 
 

 
 

South: Developing & Existing Retail Service Uses  
(GR & TMED T5-C) 



 
 

East: Baylor, Scott & White Hospital (TMED SD-H) 
 

 
 

West: Existing Retail & Service Uses (Candlewood Suites Hotel)  
(C) 



 
 

West: In Development – The District – Highline Addition, subdivision  
(TMED T5-E) 

 

 
 

West: SF Uses along W. Ave V – Skyline, subdivision  
(2F) 



Maps 
 

 
 

Location Map 
 

 
 

Aerial Map 
 

Scott Blvd 

W. Ave V 

W. Ave T 

S. 31st St. 



 
 

Zoning Map 
 

 
 

Notification Map 



mbaker
Polygonal Line

mbaker
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A





























 

 

EXCERPTS FROM THE 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 19, 2016 
 

ACTION ITEMS 
 
Item 2: Z-FY-16-45 – Hold a public hearing to consider and recommend action on a Conditional Use 

Permit (CUP) to allow the sales of all alcoholic beverages with on-premise consumption, 
where the gross revenue from such sales is less than 50% of the total gross revenue of the 
establishment, on Lots 2 through 7, 10 & 11, Block 1 of the Highline Addition, subdivision, 
located generally at the northwest corner of Scott Blvd and South 31st Street. 

Mr. Mark Baker, Senior Planner, stated this item was scheduled to go forward to City Council for first 
reading on October 20, 2016 and second reading on November 3, 2016. 

The District was approved by Ordinance No. 2016-4749 February 4, 2016 as a mixed use Planned 
Development within the TMED T4 and T5-C.  

This proposal would not trigger an amendment to the original Ordinance; however, this request would 
generate a new Ordinance and would be related to the on-premise sales and consumption of all 
alcoholic beverages less than 50 percent of the establishment’s gross revenue. 

This request is for a blanket approval for eight lots, specifically Lots 2 through 7, 10 and 11 of the 
Highline Addition. 

Earlier in 2016, Lot 1 for Rosa’s Café Restaurant was approved by Ordinance No. 2016-4767. 

Vicinity map and site plan are shown. 

In terms of a Conditional Use Permit the request would be subject to Chapter 4, Code of Ordinances 
(Alcoholic Beverages) and addresses a 300 foot minimum distance from sensitive uses, such as place 
of worship (Avenue T Church of Christ – 1,323 feet), public school (Scott Elementary School – 3,561 
feet) or public hospital (Baylor, Scott & White – 682 feet). 

The Unified Development Code (UDC) Section 5.3.15 is also met which provides a reiteration of the 
above distances, including additional distances from a public park for bars. 

The Zoning map designates the subject property as Temple Medical Educational District (TMED–T5-C) 
and consistent with the base T-5-C sub-district, subject to approval of a CUP. 

Surrounding properties include single family residential uses along West Avenue T Dubose Addition 
First Extension Subdivision, zoned Two Family (2F) to the north, Baylor, Scott & White Hospital, zoned 
TMED T5-C and Special District-Hospital (SD-H) to the east, Candlewood Suites Hotel and scattered 
service uses, zoned Commercial (C), to the west, and the Hilton Garden Inn Hotel and developing and 
existing retail service uses, all zoned GR and TMED T5-C to the south. 



 

 

Twenty-five notices were mailed in accordance with all state and local regulations with zero notices 
returned in agreement and zero notices returned in disagreement. 

The request is in compliance with UDC Section 5.3.15B – sensitive uses, Chapter 4 of the Code of 
Ordinances, and is compatible with adjacent and anticipated retail and service uses. 

Staff recommends approval of the request for a Conditional Use Permit to allow establishments where 
less than 50 percent of the total gross revenue may be from the sale of all alcoholic beverages with 
on-premise consumption, subject to the following three conditions: 

1. That the sale of all alcoholic beverages be restricted to on-premise consumption only, 
contained within Lots 2 through 7, 10 and 11,  Block 1 of the Highline Addition subdivision, located at 
the northwest corner of Scott Boulevard and South 31st  Street; 

2. The use is subject to compliance to Chapter 4 of the Code of Ordinances related to alcoholic 
beverages; and 

3. That the conditional use, complies with UDC Section 5.3.15, related to alcoholic beverage sales 
with on-premise consumption. 

Chair Rhoads opened the public hearing. 

There being no speakers, the public hearing was closed. 

Vice-Chair Fettig made a motion to approve Item 2, Z-FY-16-45, and Commissioner Jones made a 
second. 

Motion passed:  (7:0) 
Commissioner Crisp absent 



 
 

1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-4811 
(Z-FY-16-45) 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR THE SALE OF 
ALL ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES WITH ON-PREMISE CONSUMPTION 
WHERE THE GROSS REVENUE FROM THE SALE IS LESS THAN 50% OF 
THE TOTAL GROSS REVENUE OF THE ESTABLISHMENT, ON LOTS 2 
THROUGH 7, 10 & 11 OF THE HIGHLINE ADDITION SUBDIVISION, 
GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SCOTT 
BOULEVARD AND SOUTH 31ST STREET, TEMPLE, TEXAS; DECLARING 
FINDINGS OF FACT; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Whereas, the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the City of Temple, Texas, provides 

for the issuance of conditional use permits under certain conditions and authorizes the City 
Council to impose such developmental standards and safeguards as the conditions and locations 
indicate to be important to the welfare or protection of adjacent property and for the protection of 
adjacent property from excessive noise, vibration, dust, dirt, smoke, fumes, gas, odor, explosion, 
glare, offensive view or other undesirable or hazardous conditions, and for the establishment of 
conditions of operation, time limits, location, arrangement and construction for any use for which 
a permit is authorized;  

 
Whereas, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Temple, Texas, after due 

consideration of the conditions, operation and location of property on Lots 2 through 7, 10 & 11, 
Block 1 of the Highline Addition Subdivision, generally located at the northwest corner of Scott 
Blvd and South 31st Street, recommends that the City Council approve the application for this 
Conditional Use Permit for the sale of all alcoholic beverages with on-premise consumption 
where the gross revenue from the sale of alcoholic beverages is less than 50% of the total gross 
revenue of the establishment sales; and 

 
Whereas, the City Council of the City of Temple, Texas, after public notice as required 

by law, has at a public hearing, carefully considered all the evidence submitted by the applicant 
concerning the proposed plans for operation of said establishment and has heard the comments 
and evidence presented by all persons supporting or opposing this application at said public 
hearing, and after examining the conditions, operation and the location of said establishment, 
finds that the proposed use of the premises substantially complies with the comprehensive plan 
and the area plan adopted by the City Council. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 

TEXAS, THAT: 

Part 1: The City Council approves a Conditional Use Permit for the sale of all alcoholic 
beverages with on-premise consumption where the gross revenue from the sale of alcoholic 
beverages is less than 50% of the total gross revenue of the establishment for Lots 2 through 7, 
10 & 11, Block 1 of the Highline Addition Subdivision, generally located at the northwest corner 
of Scott Blvd and South 31st Street, more fully described in Exhibit ‘A’, attached hereto and 
made a part hereof for all purposes. 



 
 

2 

 
Part 2: The owners/applicants, their employees, lessees, agents or representatives, 

hereinafter called "permittee” operating an establishment with alcoholic beverage sales for on-
premise consumption shall comply with following standards:   

 
1. That the sale of all alcoholic beverages be restricted to on-premise consumption 

only, contained within Lots 2-7, 10 & 11, Block 1 of the Highline Addition, 
subdivision, located at the northwest corner of Scott Blvd and South 31st Street; 

2. The use is subject to compliance to Chapter 4 of the City Code of Ordinances 
related to alcoholic beverages; and 

3. That the Conditional Use, complies with UDC Section 5.3.15 related to all 
alcoholic beverage sales with on-premise consumption. 

 
Part 3: The Director of Planning is hereby directed to make the necessary changes to the 

City Zoning Map accordingly. 
 
Part 4: The declarations, determinations and findings declared, made and found in the 

preamble of this ordinance are hereby adopted, restated and made a part of the operative 
provisions hereof. 

 
Part 5: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 

paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of 
the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of this ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this ordinance of 
any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 

 
Part 6: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 

accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is accordingly 
so ordained. 

 
Part 7: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 20th day of 

October, 2016. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 3rd day of November, 2016. 
 

THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 

_______________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

___________________________   ______________________________ 
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   
 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 
 

10/20/16 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 4 

 
DEPARTMENT / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:   
 
Lynn Barrett, Assistant Director of Planning 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  FIRST READING – PUBLIC HEARING - Z-FY-16-46: Consider adopting an 
ordinance authorizing a rezoning from Commercial to Planned Development Commercial on Lot 2, 
Block 1, Tranum Subdivision Phase VIII, located at 5806 South General Bruce Drive, to allow for a 
Recreational Vehicle rental business in the I-35 Corridor Overlay District. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval for a rezoning from Commercial (C) district 
to Planned Development Commercial (PD-C) district with the following conditions: 
 
1. The proposed paved area for the RVs, required by UDC Sec 7.5.5C, (chip-seal asphalt has been 

proposed by the applicant), shall match the RV inventory stored on site and may be phased; 
2. A decorative metal fence, six feet in height, with matching gate shall be installed across the front 

of the display area; 
3.  No RV storage shall be allowed outside of the screened and paved project area, including the 

unimproved lot bordering Profit Place which is currently being used as overflow RV parking by 
the applicant; 

4.  All signage erected without a permit shall be removed; desired signage will be properly permitted 
prior to installation; free standing signage shall include stone columns; 

5.  The use shall be limited to RV rentals or sales per Chapter 31 Code of Ordinances definition 
(vehicles which are self-propelled or designed to be towed by a motor vehicle, including a travel 
trailer, camper or any other similar vehicle which is designed as temporary living quarters for 
recreational, camping or travel use). And therefore, portable buildings or HUD-Code 
manufactured home sales or rentals shall continue to be prohibited on this site due to its location 
within the I-35 Overlay; 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: At their September 19, 2016 meeting, 
the Planning & Zoning Commission voted to table the case and directed staff to meet with the applicant 
and owner and Planning staff and to come to an agreement on the proposed site plan.  
During the meeting the following topics were discussed: 
 

1. Background 
a. Previous Conditional Use Permits (CUPs) and current conditions 
b. Overlay Uniform Development Code (UDC) requirements 

 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 4 

 
2. Paving and Buffering Improvements 

a. Metal fencing preferred by applicant over trees on proposed site plan for cost, 
compliance, maintenance considerations 

b. Applicant had previously agreed to proposed trees and landscaping, but had changed his 
mind  

3. RV siting on paved surface concerns 
4. Allowable future Signage  

 
After meeting with staff, the applicant expressed agreement with staff recommendations on the 
proposed site plan, which substituted a decorative metal fence for the trees and landscaping. 
 
At their October 3, 2016 meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted unanimously to 
recommend approval of the proposed rezoning from Commercial (C) district to Planned Development 
Commercial (PD-C) district as recommended by Planning staff. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  5806 South General Bruce Drive currently has a base zoning of C (Commercial 
District), which allows recreational vehicle rentals use by right.  However, the I-35 Corridor Overlay 
Freeway Retail/Commercial sub-district specifically prohibits “Trailer, recreational vehicle, portable 
building or HUD-Code manufactured home sales or rental”.  
 
The business owner of Rising Sun RV Rental was allowed to sign a lease by the property owner and 
had set up his business prior to meeting with staff. Efforts to work with the business owner to improve 
the surface for parking the applicant’s RV’s (behind an existing fence screened by 40% landscaping 
per a 2014 CUP--Ordinance 2014-4669 for a nursery and subsequent 2015 CUP for a 
painting/contractor facility) and to add additional landscaping surrounding the leased area have 
continued over the past several months.   
 
City Council had previously approved a CUP for an auto tint business (Ordinance 2016-4757 from case 
Z-FY-16-11) inside a building on this property which is under separate lease to a different applicant and 
is not a part of this project.  The following were past realities with this project: 

1. City staff became involved with this project after the applicant’s business was established 
at the site in violation of UDC zoning for the I-35 Corridor District; 

2. Staff had worked for several months with the applicant to attempt a balanced approach 
to achieve site improvements while finding a solution which would allow the business to 
continue; and 

 
After the September 19, 2016 Planning and Zoning meeting discussion and subsequent tabling of this 
item, staff met with the applicant, Mr. O’Rourke, and owner, Mr. McGregor, on September 21st. The 
staff recommendation was agreed upon by both applicants and staff, Brian Chandler and Lynn Barrett, 
at that meeting. Staff also agreed that the applicant could attain permits and complete the work for 
fencing and or paving prior to City Council approval at their own risk. 

 
 



10/20/16 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 4 

Three CUP’s in the prior three years have been approved on this property: 

Ordinance No. 2014-4669  (CUP-Z-FY-14-28) – for landscaping business 

Ordinance No. 2015-4713  (CUP-Z-FY-15-14) – for paint shop/contractor storage 

Ordinance No. 2016-4757  (CUP-Z-FY-16-11) – for indoor auto window tint business (existing) 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (CP) COMPLIANCE: The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, 
objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan and Sidewalk and Trails Plan. A table summarizing the 
following discussion is attached. 
 
Future Land Use Map (CP Map 3.1) 
The entire area is shown as Auto-Urban Commercial. According to the Comprehensive Plan, “Auto-
Urban Commercial” is for the majority of the areas identified for commercial use, generally concentrated 
at intersections versus strip development along the major roads.” 
 
Thoroughfare Plan (CP Map 5.2) 
The subject property is located along an Expressway (IH-35) and is in the I-35 Overlay District. 
 
Availability of Public Facilities (CP Goal 4.1) 
Water serves the property through an existing 8-inch water line along the I-35 Access Road. Sewer is 
on-site through a 8-inch sewer line also along the I-35 Access Road.   
 
Temple Trails Master Plan Map and Sidewalks Ordinance 
Trails Master Plan depicts I-35 as an Expressway passing by the already developed site along the 
access road. 
 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS: Enhanced screening and buffering standards for the non-compliant 
use in the I-35 Overlay were negotiated through the use of a Planned Development, which would also 
address the paving concerns with RV storage. 
 
REVIEW CRITERIA   Planned Development:  UDC Section 3.4.1 defines a Planned Development as: 

“A flexible overlay zoning district designed to respond to unique development proposals, special 
design considerations and land use transitions by allowing evaluation of land use relationships 
to surrounding areas through development plan approval.”  

As a Planned Development, a Development Plan is subject to review and approval as part of the 
rezoning. As opposed to a standard rezoning, conditions of approval can be included into the rezoning 
Ordinance.  

Enhancements are normally an expectation of a Planned Development to off-set the unique 
manner of the request, and as such, addition of paving of the entire area inside the fence and 
additional landscaping are recommended. 

Per UDC Section 3.4.2C, the City Council may include additional conditions of approval into the 
rezoning ordinance. 

 



10/20/16 
Item #6 

Regular Agenda 
Page 4 of 4 

 
In considering a Planned Development City Council may require additional standards deemed 
necessary to create a reasonable transition to, and protection of, adjacent property and public areas, 
including but not limited to, access and circulations, signs, parking, building design, location and height, 
light and air, orientation, building coverage, outdoor lighting, landscaping, homeowners or property 
owners associations, open space, topography and screening. 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE:  Nine notices of the public hearing were sent out to property owners within 200-feet 
of the subject property.  As of Thursday September 15, 2016, zero notices had been returned.  The 
newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing on September 8, 
2016, in accordance with state law and local ordinance. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
Site and Surrounding Property Photos 
Maps 
Tables 
Proposed and Recommended Site Plan 
P&Z Excerpts (October 3, 2016) 
Ordinance 
 



On-Site View 

 

 



Additional site views

 

 



Surrounding Properties 
North and East 

Looking North Along the Access Road 
 

 

Looking East Across the Access Road 



Aerial Location and Zoning Maps 
5806 S General Bruce Drive Z-FY-16-46 

 

 

C-Commercial and I-35 Corridor Overlay 
(Freeway/Retail Sub District) 



TABLES FOR RV RENTAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AT 5806 S General Bruce 

 

SURROUNDING PROPERTY AND USES: 

The following table provides the direction from the property, Future Land Use Plan (FLUP) 
designation, existing zoning and current land uses: 

 Surrounding Property & Uses  

Direction FLUP Zoning Current Land Use 

Site Auto-Urban Commercial       C Commercial 

North Auto-Urban Commercial       C Commercial 

South Auto-Urban Commercial       C Commercial 

East Auto-Urban Commercial       LI and GR Commercial 

West Auto-Urban Commercial       C Vacant 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: 

The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, objectives or maps of the 
Comprehensive Plan: 

Document Policy, Goal, Objective or Map Compliance? 

CP Map 3.1 - Future Land Use and Character (FLUP) Yes 

CP Map 5.2 - Thoroughfare Plan  Yes 

CP 
Goal 4.1 - Growth and development patterns should 
be consistent with the City’s infrastructure and public 

service capacities 
Yes 

CP = Comprehensive Plan       

 



5806 South General Bruce Drive
Temple, TX 76502

’’

’

Applicant Proposed and Staff 
Recommended Site Plan

Project limit 
for PD 

Decorative 
metal fence

SITE 
IMPROVEMENTS
1. Decorative 

metal fence 
with gate 
across front of  
RV storage area

2. RV’s only 
placed on 
paved surface 
(paved area 
determines 
number)

3. Free standing 
sign with 
masonry 
columns along 
fence after 
permitting.

Paved area (chip seal asphalt is
acceptable per staff analysis) required for
RV display/storage. Phase 1 is proposed as
30’x80’, Phase 2 will be to pave the RV
display area within the fence.

Parking 
space 
for Tint 
business



Public Notification & Property Owner 
Notification 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 

• 9 notices of were sent out to property owners within 200 feet 
• 1 notices returned in Agreement to the proposed rezoning 

(staff recommendation on parking RVs behind fence 
addresses concerns) 

• 0 notices returned in Disagreement to the proposed rezoning  
• The newspaper printed notice of the public hearing on 

September 8, 2016, in accordance with state law and local 
ordinance 

 



 

1 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
OCTOBER 3, 2016 

5:30 P.M. 

PLANNING AND ZONING MEMBERS PRESENT 
Chair Greg Rhoads 

COMMISSIONERS: 
Bryant Ward Omar Crisp 
Lydia Alaniz Lester Fettig 

Lee Armstrong  

PLANNING AND ZONING MEMBERS ABSENT: 
Jeremy Langley David Jones 

Vacancy 

STAFF PRESENT: 
Brian Chandler, Director of Planning 
Lynn R. Barrett, Asst. Director of Planning 
Trudi Dill, Deputy City Attorney 
Richard Wilson, Deputy City Engineer 
Leslie Evans, Planning Technician 
Kelli Tibbit, Administrative Assistant 

The agenda for this meeting was posted on the bulletin board at the Municipal 
Building, September 29, 2016 at 4:00 p.m. in compliance with the Open Meetings 
Law. 

The following is a summary of the proceedings of this meeting.  It is not intended to be a  

Chair Rhoads called Meeting to Order at 5:31 P.M. 
Invocation by Commissioner Armstrong; Pledge of Allegiance by Vice-Chair Fettig. 

A. CONSENT ITEMS 

Item 1: Approval of Minutes: Work session and the regular meeting of September 19, 
2016. 

Approved by general consent. 



 

2 
 

B. ACTION ITEMS 

Item 2: Z-FY-16-46 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and recommend action on a 
Planned Development (PD) Zoning District to allow RV rentals at Lot 2, Block 1, 
Tranum Subdivision Phase VIII, 5806 South General Bruce Drive, that is 
currently zoned Commercial (C) District and currently located in the I-35 
Overlay District.  

Ms. Lynn Barrett, Assistant Director of Planning, stated this item was tabled at the last 
meeting on September 19, 2016 and is scheduled to go forward to City Council for first 
reading on October 20, 2016 and second reading on November 3, 2016. 

Mr. Chris McGregor is the owner of the subject property and Mr. Joseph O’Rourke is the 
applicant. This is a rezoning request for a portion of a lot to allow for RV rental use.  

The auto tinting business located on the property is not part of this request. 

There have been two former CUPs and one current CUP on this property. The property 
is zoned C (Commercial) District and lies within the I-35 Corridor Overlay District. 

The proposed use is defined in the Unified Development Code (UDC) as “Trailer, 
recreational vehicle, portable building or HUD-Code manufactured home sales or 
rental”. The use is allowed by right in a Commercial District but is prohibited in the I-35 
Overlay. 

Staff recommends that the language be defined to say rental/sales use in order for the 
applicant to sell the rental vehicles at a later time, but not the other uses which includes 
HUD-Code manufactured home sales or rentals. 

Since the September 19, 2016 meeting, Staff has been working with the applicant and 
owner on the PD for negotiation of the paving and buffering improvements in order to 
move forward. 

There were three major concerns:  

 No sign permit could be issued until the PD was approved by City Council. 
Acceptable criteria for the signage was discussed and the applicant agreed with 
Staff that the necessary signage will comply with existing Overlay District 
regulations. 

Staff recommended a decorative metal fencing rather than trees for the following 
reasons: 

It brings the front section of the most visible fencing into compliance with 
Overlay requirements and allows greater visibility for the product; 

Improves the property without requiring much maintenance; 

Price would be comparable to the trees and landscape beds; and 



 

3 
 

Provides more room for the RVs and eliminates potential damage and 
cleaning which could result from proximity to the trees and birds which would 
likely be attracted. 

Pavement cost of the entire lot for the RVs would be substantial. Staff suggested 
the RV parking surface needed to be paved but the size of the paved surface 
could be tailored to the number of RVs displayed on site. Mr. O’Rourke stated he 
had an alternate place to park some of the units which is believed to be 12. Ms. 
Barrett explained if the applicant could not afford to pave an entire area for 12 
RVs to be parked, the number of units could be scaled back. The applicant was 
in agreement with Staff that there must be a paved parking surface for all RV 
units. 

Photographs of the site were shown and depicts the non-paved surface the RVs are 
currently parked on. The portion in front of the gate was the original portion discussed 
by the applicant to have a 48 by 72 foot paved pad for the RVs that would be displayed 
on-site. Staff is fine with that as long as no other RVs are displayed there or behind the 
fence. 

The applicant and owner agreed not to have any RVs or vehicle overflow parking on the 
second lot moving forward. 

Nine notices were mailed in accordance with all state and local regulations with one 
notice returned in agreement and zero notices returned in disagreement. 

The UDC, Section 3.4 Planned Development, defines a PD as: 

“A flexible overlay zoning district designed to respond to unique 
development proposals, special design considerations and land use 
transitions by allowing evaluation of land use relationships to surrounding 
areas through development plan approval.”  

Per the UDC, Sections 3.4.3 and 3.4.4, a Planned Development requires approval of a 
Development/Site plan that is binding and part of the application. Staff has been 
working with applicant and owner on the revised site plan (shown) which Staff, 
applicant, and owner were in agreement with. 

There is a paved area (chip seal asphalt) in the middle of the lot which is acceptable per 
Staff analysis, required for RV display/storage. Phase 1 is proposed as a 48 by 72 foot 
area and Phase 2 will be to pave the RV display area within the fence.  As funds 
become available, the applicant/owner may pave more area; however, any RVs 
displayed within the fenced area will be parked on paved material. 

The decorative metal fence will cross the front of the property.  

Staff and applicant and owner discussed needed signage if the PD is approved by City 
Council and what type of allowed signage could be applied for. The Code allows a 



 

4 
 

maximum of a 200 square foot sign with supports covered by a rock façade which 
matches the front of the office building. 

Staff recommends approval of the request for a rezoning from C to C-PD with the 
following conditions: 

1. Proposed paved area for the RVs shall match inventory on-site; 

2. A decorative metal fence, six feet in height, with matching gate shall be 
installed across the front entrance; 

3. No RV storage allowed outside of the screened and paved area; 

4. Signage erected without a permit shall be removed;  

5. The use shall be limited to RV rentals or sales only; and 

6. Staff agreed that applicant could attain permits and complete the work for 
fencing and/or paving prior to City Council approval at their own risk. 

Chair Rhoads opened the public hearing.  

Mr. Joseph O’Rourke, 9506 Adeel Drive, Killeen, Texas, stated pretty much everything 
Ms. Barrett stated was agreed upon. Mr. O’Rourke has been in contact with an asphalt 
company on estimates and the work needed and added this should be done in the next 
24 to 48 hours. 

The fence estimates received are currently too high and the applicant is still looking for 
a vendor that can work with him. 

The signage company the owner and applicant have been working with agreed to credit 
them for the previously unpermitted/illegal sign and assist in making an appropriate sign 
for permitting purposes should City Council approve this request. 

The applicant have been offered incentives to remain in Temple in order to get the 
business going and to wait until the City Council decision is made in November. 

There being no further speakers, the public hearing was closed. 

Commissioner Crisp asked for clarification of Recreational Vehicles since it was a broad 
category. 

Mr.  Brian Chandler, Director of Planning, responded Staff defined Recreational 
Vehicles from Chapter 31 of The City of Temple’s Code of Ordinances (not the UDC) 
that allows campers, 5th wheels, etc., which is a fairly broad definition, but is truly for 
Recreational Vehicles. Mr. Chandler believed it precluded boats, trailers, etc. but would 
confirm this information. 



 

5 
 

Chair Rhoads commented the P&Z is a volunteer commission appointed by the City and 
the applicant would go forward before City Council on October 20th for first reading and 
November 3rd for second reading. 

Chair Rhoads added that anything the applicant is currently doing which Ms. Barrett 
described in her presentation is not guaranteed because City Council has to be the final 
decision maker. 

Ms. Barrett confirmed the question of Recreational Vehicle and quoted the following 
from the Code of Ordinances: 

Vehicles which are self-propelled or designed to be towed by a motor 
vehicle, including a travel trailer, camper, or any other similar vehicle which 
is designed as temporary living quarters for recreational camping or travel 
use.  

Commissioner Crisp made a motion to approve Item 2, Z-FY-16-46, as presented, and 
Commissioner Ward made a second. 

Motion passed:  (6:0) 
Commissioners Jones and Langley absent; one vacancy 

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 5:53 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 
Leslie Evans 



1 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-4812 

(Z-FY-16-46) 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A REZONING FROM COMMERCIAL TO PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT COMMERCIAL ON LOT 2, BLOCK 1, TRANUM 
SUBDIVISION PHASE VIII, LOCATED AT 5806 SOUTH GENERAL BRUCE 
DRIVE, TO ALLOW FOR A RECREATIONAL VEHICLE RENTAL BUSINESS 
IN THE 1-35 CORRIDOR OVERLAY DISTRICT; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND 
PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
THAT: 

 
Part 1: The City Council approves a rezoning from Commercial to Planned 

Development Commercial on Lot 2, Block 1, Tranum Subdivision Phase VIII, located at 5806 
South General Bruce Drive, to allow for a Recreational Vehicle rental business in the I-35 
Corridor Overlay District, as outlined in the map and field notes attached hereto as Exhibit 
‘A,’ and made a part hereof for all purposes. 

 
Part 2:  Staff recommends approval for a rezoning from Commercial district to 

Planned Development Commercial district with the following conditions: 
 
1. All areas of the property to be used for RV storage must be paved; 
2. A decorative metal fence, six feet in height, with matching gate must be 

installed across the front of the display area; 
3.  RV Storage is allowed only in the area depicted on the site plan, attached to this 

Ordinance as Exhibit ‘B’ and made a part hereof for all purposes; 
4.  All free standing signage must include stone columns; 
5.  “Recreational Vehicle” or “RV” has the definition set forth in Code of 

Ordinances, Chapter 31 and includes vehicles which are self-propelled or designed to be 
towed by a motor vehicle, including a travel trailer, camper or any other similar vehicle 
which is designed as temporary living quarters for recreational, camping or travel use. 
Portable buildings and HUD-Code manufactured home sales or rentals are prohibited on 
this site. 

 
Part 3: The City Council directs the Director of Planning to make the necessary 

changes to the City Zoning Map. 
 

Part 4: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 
sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if 
any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared 
invalid by the final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or 
sections of this ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City Council 
without the incorporation in this ordinance of any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph 
or section. 



2 
 

 
 

Part 5: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 

 
Part 6: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the 
time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 20th day of 

October, 2016. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 3rd day of November, 2016. 

     
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 

 
              

____________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
                 
Lacy Borgeson      Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 
 

10/20/16 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 5 

 
DEPARTMENT / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:   
 
Mark Baker, Senior Planner 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:  SECOND READING– Z-FY-16-43: Consider adopting an ordinance authorizing 
a rezoning from Agricultural District to Single Family Attached-Three, Multi-Family-Two, Neighborhood 
Service and General Retail Districts on 42.066 +/- acres, Lot 1, Block 1, First Baptist-Temple West 
Campus, located at 8015 West Adams Avenue. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Based on the following, staff recommends approval for a rezoning from 
Agricultural (AG) district to Multi-Family Two (MF-2), Single-Family Attached Three (SFA-3), 
Neighborhood Service (NS) and General Retail (GR) districts: 
 
1. Enhanced landscaping and buffering standards enforced through a private sales contract and 

anticipated restrictive covenants, would provide improved screening for existing single-family 
residential uses;  

2. The request complies with the Thoroughfare Plan upon future extension of Westfield Boulevard; 
 and  
3. Public facilities are available to serve the subject property. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: At their September 6, 2016 meeting, the 
Planning & Zoning Commission voted 6 to 1 to recommend approval of the proposed rezoning from 
Agricultural (AG) district to Single-Family Attached Three (SFA-3), Multi-Family Two (MF-2), General 
Retail (GR) and Neighborhood Service (NS) districts as recommended by Planning staff. 
 
During the meeting the following topics were discussed: 
 

5. Traffic and Circulation 
a. Extension of Westfield Boulevard. 
b. Extension Tanglehead Drive. 
c. Connection point with Iron Gate  

6. Landscaping and buffering 
a. Incorporation of enhanced landscaping and buffering into sales contract and restrictive 

covenants. 
7. Site & Area Drainage 
8. Impacts to City facilities 

a. Water Pressure 
b. Sewer 

 



10/20/16 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 5 

 
The applicant / developer has indicated to staff the maximum building height would likely be three-
stories, staff has suggested limiting the height to three stories at the property line rather than the four 
stories allowed by the MF-2 zoning district. To date, staff has not received any response to this 
suggested recommendation. 
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  The subject property, being a portion of Lot 1 of the recorded First Baptist Church-
Temple West Campus subdivision plat, specifically, contains approximately 42.066 +/- acres.  It is being 
proposed for rezoning from Agricultural (AG) district to the four zoning districts described in the above 
referenced Item Description.  While Exhibit A shows the proposed district locations and the approximate 
acreage breakdown for each, detail survey sketches for each district as well as the applicable field 
notes will be attached to the rezoning ordinance. 
 
The property is currently undeveloped but is anticipated to be developed by zoning district in the 
following manner by separate investors: 
 

1. General Retail (GR) / Neighborhood Service (NS): Non-Residential permitted and conditionally-
permitted uses as allowed by UDC Section 5.1, 

2. Single-Family Attached-Three (SFA-3), such as single family (attached & detached), townhomes 
& patio homes): Potential for single-family attached or extension of detached residential uses 
consistent with existing housing stock in the adjacent Meadows subdivision, 

3. Multi-Family Two (MF-2): An apartment complex, pending this rezoning request.  
 
It should be noted however that while uses are anticipated, in particular the apartment complex, there 
are a number of residential and non-residential uses that are permitted by right between the four 
districts. A table comparing the four zoning districts can be found in the attachments. In addition, 
conceptual building elevation designs from other Texas apartment complexes, likely to be considered 
by the developer, have been attached for review and includes one example with five stories.  It should 
be further noted however that the proposed MF-2 zoning has a height restriction of four stories.  The 
applicant has indicated that the apartment complex will likely be three stories. 

 
Prohibited uses include HUD-Code manufactured homes and land lease communities most commercial 
& industrial uses.  

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (CP) COMPLIANCE: The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, 
objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan and Sidewalk and Trails Plan. A table summarizing the 
following discussion is attached. 
 
Future Land Use Map (CP Map 3.1) 
The subject property is entirely within the Suburban Residential land use district. The Suburban 
Residential district is intended for mid-sized single family lots with an emphasis on green spaces and 
a separation between dwelling units.  The district does not support the four zoning districts proposed 
for this property. If the rezoning is approved, the Future Land Use Map will need to be updated.  
 
Appropriate designations for the four zoning districts could be accommodated by the Suburban 
Commercial (NS &GR) and the Auto-Urban Residential (SFA-3 & MF-2) districts. 

 
 



10/20/16 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 5 

Thoroughfare Plan (CP Map 5.2) 
The subject property takes access from West Adams Avenue (FM2305), an arterial which will only 
provide immediate access to the GR-zoned portion. Access to the three remaining portions would be 
from the anticipated extension of Westfield Boulevard, a proposed minor arterial.  Design for the future 
extension of Westfield Boulevard has been taken into consideration based on preliminary discussion 
between the applicant’s development team and planning staff. An attached conceptual circulation plan 
shows the proposed extension of Westfield Boulevard. Additionally, it identifies the division between 
the proposed SFA-3 and MF-2 zoning districts following the centerline of a potential extension of 
Tanglehead Drive. 
 
Circulation from the extension of Westfield Boulevard into the Hills of Westwood, subdivision to the 
south of the subject property, is proposed to connect through an undeveloped lot at Iron Gate Drive 
and ultimately connect to Tarver Drive. Conceptual design from the engineer indicates that Westfield 
Boulevard would be extended across West Adams Avenue as a minor arterial (92-foot ROW) and 
reduce down to 60-foot ROW as an oversized collector at its connection with Iron Gate Drive on the 
southern boundary of the development.  It should be noted that no homes front on Iron Gate Drive 
between this access point and its intersection with Tarver Drive. 
 
The developer, at this time, is not proposing improvements to a potential Tanglehead Drive extension 
which is currently classified as a local street. However, there is a cost-sharing improvement with a 
separate developer to extend Tanglehead Drive from Meadowbrook Drive to its intersection with Old 
Waco Road (Outer Loop). Improvements are currently in the design stage with the Public Works 
Department. No other City improvements are proposed to Tanglehead Drive at this time.  Discussion 
about sidewalk on the cost-shared section of Tanglehead Drive is on-going but are currently not 
proposed. 
 
In the case of Tanglehead Drive, increased circulation demands and future development could be 
reduced by the extension of Tanglehead Drive as well as scheduled TCIP improvements may provide 
functionality as a collector and warrant reclassification to a collector.  Reclassification to a collector 
street requires a Thoroughfare Plan amendment. Discussion and design is on-going but will be 
addressed formally with the review of the subdivision plat. No other issues at this time have been 
identified.   
 
As a result, the request is compliant with the Thoroughfare Plan, due to the applicant’s commitment to 
extend Westfield Boulevard. The extension of Westfield Boulevard as well as considerations for the 
extension of Tanglehead Drive would be addressed and finalized during the subdivision plat review 
following the rezoning determination by City Council.  In summary: 
 
At a minimum, Improvements to the extension of Westfield Boulevard. include: 
 

• 70-feet ROW – 49-feet of Pavement 
• 6-foot sidewalks on both sides 

 
Additionally, according to the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 9th 
Ed., an apartment will generate 0.62 trips per unit. Based on 250 units, the peak hour trip rate would 
generate 155 trips.   

 
 



10/20/16 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 4 of 5 

Availability of Public Facilities (CP Goal 4.1) 
Water is available through an existing 3-inch water line in West Adams Avenue.  Water is also available 
through the anticipated extension of an 8-inch water line in Tanglehead Drive. Sewer is available 
through the extension of a 12-inch sewer line in West Adams Avenue.  Sewer is also available from an 
8-inch sewer line that would need to be extended from Tanglehead Drive.   
 
While additional options available, due to the overall complexity of the project, final consideration will 
be addressed with the forthcoming subdivision plat.   
 
Temple Trails Master Plan Map and Sidewalks Ordinance 
Trails Master Plan depicts an existing City-Wide Spine Trail on the north side of West Adams Avenue.  
However, arterials streets require, a 6-foot sidewalk on both sides. The extension of Westfield 
Boulevard as an arterial also requires 6-foot sidewalks on both sides. No trail however is designated.  
 
Accommodations for sidewalk improvements on both West Adams Avenue and the Westfield Boulevard 
extension will be addressed at the platting stage. Additionally, sidewalk improvements for the potential 
extension of Tanglehead Drive would be addressed during the platting stage.   
 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS: While both residential and non-residential setbacks are provided 
for in UDC Section 4.5, the attached table compares residential setbacks in the MF-2, SFA-3 and non-
residential setbacks in the NS and GR zoning districts. 
 
Enhanced Buffering and Screening: The development of the apartment complex within the multi-family-
zoned portion of the request warrants consideration for enhanced screening for the single family lots of 
the adjacent Hills of Westwood subdivision. While enhanced screening and buffering standards cannot 
be required without the use of a Planned Development, after meeting with planning staff, the applicant 
agreed to enhanced landscape standards adopted for the Master Zoning for the Westfield Planned 
Development. The enhanced standards will be incorporated into the private deed restrictions.  
 
The Master Zoning for the Westfield development was adopted by Ordinance 2015-4717 and 
addressed the overall 224.549 +/- acre Westfield Planned Development, north of West Adams and east 
and west of Westfield Boulevard.  The Addendum to the Purchase Contract between the developer and 
the First Baptist Church has been attached, which provide for the enhanced buffer and screening 
standards.  The language in the addendum is acceptable to Planning staff. The attached concept is 
found and illustrated on page 3-7 of the Choice 08 - Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Staff will anticipate a copy of the draft deed restrictions during the plat review stage at design review 
(DRC). This enhanced landscaping and buffering is anticipated to reduce the impacts of the apartment 
complex to the adjacent Hills of Westwood subdivision. The Planning & Zoning Commission would be 
the final approval authority unless an exception is requested. 
  
In addition to the performance standards discussed above, general provisions for buffering and 
screening for non-residential uses adjacent to residential uses are found in UDC Section 7.7, 
highlighted provisions include but not limited to: 
 

* Landscaping or solid fencing from 6 to 8 feet in height (UDC Section 7.7.4), 
* Refuse containers located in the side or rear of the property (UDC Section 7.7.6), and 
* Screened outdoor storage (UDC Section 7.7.8.B1). 



10/20/16 
Item #7 

Regular Agenda 
Page 5 of 5 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE: Ninety notices to property owners within 200-feet of the subject property were sent 
notice of  the public hearing as required by State law and City Ordinance.  As of Tuesday September 
27, 2016 at 10:00 AM, Ten notices (representing 16 properties) in agreement and eight notices 
(representing 10 properties) in disagreement have been received. In addition, staff has received 
numerous emails (attached) and several phone calls from residents outside the notification area 
regarding the proposal.  
 
The newspaper printed notice of the public hearing on August 25, 2016, in accordance with state law 
and local ordinance. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
Site and Surrounding Property Photos 
Maps 
Tables 
Addendum to Purchase Contract (Provisions for Enhanced Landscaping & Buffering) 
Conceptual Apartment Building Elevation Designs 
Conceptual Circulation Plan with Future Road Extension 
Comprehensive Plan - Landscape Buffer Concept Illustration 
Returned Property Notices 
P&Z Excerpts (Sept 6, 2016) 
Ordinance 
 



Site & Surrounding Property Photos 
 

 
 

Site: Undeveloped – Adams (Looking West) (AG) 
 

 
 

Site: Undeveloped – Adams (Looking East) (AG) 



 
 

South: Undeveloped – Potential Iron Gate Drive Access Point,  
Hills of Westwood, subdivision (SF-3) 

 

 
 

South: Iron Gate Drive 
 Hills of Westwood, subdivision (SF-3) 



 
 

South: Existing Single-Family Residential Uses 
 Hills of Westwood, subdivision (SF-3) 

 
 

 

 
 

East: Potential Future Tanglehead Drive Access Point  
The Meadows, subdivision (SF-3) 



 
 

 
 

East: Existing Single Family Residential Uses on Tanglehead Drive 
The Meadows, subdivision (SF-3) 

 

 
 

North: Existing Retail and Service Uses along West Adams Ave  
(GR & PD-GR) 



Maps 
 

Aerial Map 
 

 
 

Location Map 
 

 



Zoning Map 
 

 
 

Future Land Use Map 
 

 
 
 



Thoroughfare & Trails Map 
 

 
 

Utility Map 
 

 
 



Notification Map 
 

 
 



W
es

tfi
el
d 

Dev
el
op

m
en

t

Ph
as

e 
IX

Th
e 

M
ea

do
ws

Ph
as

e 
I

Th
e 

M
ea

do
ws

Ph
as

e 
II

Th
e 

M
ea

do
ws

Ph
as

e 
III

Th
e 

M
ea

do
ws

Ph
as

e 
IV

Hill
s 
of

 W
es

tw
oo

d

Ph
as

e 
VI

I

Hill
s 
of

 W
es

tw
oo

d

Ph
as

e 
II

W
es

tfi
el
d 

Dev
el
op

m
en

t

Ph
as

e 
II

W
es

tfi
el
d 

Dev
el
op

m
en

t

Ph
as

e 
I

C
o
a
s
t
a
l
 
D

r

mbaker
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A

mbaker
Typewritten Text
NS

mbaker
Typewritten Text
SFA-3

mbaker
Typewritten Text
MF-2

mbaker
Typewritten Text
W. Adams Ave

mbaker
Typewritten Text
Iron 
Gate

mbaker
Typewritten Text
Tanglehead Dr

mbaker
Typewritten Text
(FM 2305)

mbaker
Polygonal Line

mbaker
Polygonal Line

mbaker
Line

mbaker
Line

mbaker
Text Box

mbaker
Text Box

mbaker
Text Box

mbaker
Text Box

mbaker
Typewritten Text
GR

mbaker
Typewritten Text
6.932 Acres

mbaker
Typewritten Text
4.917 Acres

mbaker
Typewritten Text
11.771 Acres

mbaker
Typewritten Text
18.484 Acres

mbaker
Typewritten Text
Westfield Blvd

mbaker
Typewritten Text
 

mbaker
Typewritten Text
(Proposed Ext.)



Th
e 

M
ea

do
ws

Ph
as

e 
II

Th
e 

M
ea

do
ws

Ph
as

e 
III

Th
e 

M
ea

do
ws

Ph
as

e 
IV

Hill
s 
of

 W
es

tw
oo

d

Ph
as

e 
VI

I

Hill
s 
of

 W
es

tw
oo

d

Ph
as

e 
II

W
es

tfi
el
d 

Dev
el
op

m
en

t

Ph
as

e 
II

W
es

tfi
el
d 

Dev
el
op

m
en

t

Ph
as

e 
I

FUTURE

TANGLEHEAD DR

ALIGNMENT

FUTURE ROADWAY

ALIGNMENT

LANDSCAPE BUFFER

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 
B

U
F

F
E

R

SECTION 'A'

N.T.S.

SECTION 'C'

N.T.S.

SECTION 'B'

N.T.S.

A

A

BB

CC



Tables 
 

Permitted Uses Table (Comparison between SFA-3 & MF-2) 
 

Use Type Single-Family Three (SFA-3) Multi-Family Two  
(MF-2) 

Agricultural Uses * Farm, Ranch or Orchard * Same as SFA-3 

Residential Uses 

* Single Family Residence 
(Detached & Attached)                                                                                                                                           
*  Industrialized Housing                                                      
* Family or Group Home            
* Townhouse                               
*  Zero-Lot Line Dwelling            
* Patio Home                                                    

* Same as SFA-3                                          
*  Apartment                                                                  
*  Duplex                                                                                    
*  Townhouse                                                                           
*  Home for the Aged 

Retail & Service Uses * None *  Same as SFA-3                                                
Commercial Uses *  None                             *  Same as SFA-3                                                                                               

Industrial Uses * Temporary Asphalt & 
Concrete Batching Plant (CUP)                                                                                      

* Same as SFA-3                                                                                                                            

Recreational Uses * None * Same as SFA-3                                                 

Vehicle Service Uses * None * Same as SFA-3 

Residential Uses * None * Same as SFA-3 

Overnight Accommodations * None *  Same as SFA-3 

Transportation Uses * None                                               * Same as SFA-3                                              

 
Permitted Uses Table (Comparison between NS & GR) 

 
Use Type Neighborhood Service (NS) General Retail (GR) 

Agricultural Uses * Farm, Ranch or Orchard * Same as NS 

Residential Uses 
* SF Residence (Detached & Attached)                                                                                                                                                   
*  Townhouse                                                                           
*  Industrialized Housing                                                                                                             

* Same as NS                                      
*  Duplex                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

Retail & Service Uses 
* Most Retail & Service Uses                                               
* Alcoholic Beverage Sales, off-premise 
consumption, (CUP) 

* All Retail & Service Uses                                   
* Package Store (CUP)                       
* Tool Rental (Indoors)                                               

Commercial Uses 
*  None                          * Kennel w/o vet. hosp. (CUP)                                    

* Contractor Storage Yard                                    

Industrial Uses 
* Temporary Asphalt & Concrete Batching 
Plant (CUP)                                                                                                                                                           

* Same as NS                                      
* Laboratory, medical, dental, 
scientific or research                                                                                                                            

Recreational Uses 
* All Alcohol (On Premise Consumption)     
> 50% < 75% (CUP) 

* Beer & Wine Only < 75% (CUP)                        
* All Alcohol > 75% (CUP)                                                 

Vehicle Service Uses 
* Fuel Sales (CUP) * Auto Leasing & Rental                            

* Auto Sales - New & Used                                 

Restaurant Uses *  Without Drive-In * With & W/O Drive-In 

Overnight 
Accommodations 

* None *  Motel / Hotel 



 
Surrounding Property Uses 

 

 
Surrounding Property & Uses  

Direction FLUP Zoning Current Land Use 
Site Suburban Residential AG Undeveloped 

North Auto-Urban Residential GR & SF-2 (PD) Sf Residential & Retail / 
Service Uses 

South Auto-Urban Residential SF-3 Undeveloped & SF 
Residential Uses 

East Auto-Urban Residential                                     NS (PD) & SF-1  
& SF-3 

Retail Service &  
SF Residential Uses 

West Suburban Residential AG, GR & SF-2 Church, SF Residential 
Uses & Undeveloped Land 

 
 

Comprehensive Plan Compliance 
 

Document Policy, Goal, 
Objective or Map Compliance? 

CP Map 3.1 - Future 
Land Use Map NO 

CP Map 5.2 - 
Thoroughfare Plan  YES 

CP 

Goal 4.1 - Growth 
and development 
patterns should be 
consistent with the 
City’s infrastructure 
and public service 
capacities 

YES 

STP 
Temple Trails 
Master Plan Map 
and Sidewalks 
Ordinance 

YES 

CP = Comprehensive Plan      STP = Sidewalk and Trails Plan 



 
 
 

Development Standards (SFA-3 & MF-2) 
 
 

 
Proposed (SFA-3)  Proposed (MF-2) 

Minimum Lot Size 2,300 SF 
Approximately      

20 Dwelling Units 
Per Acre (DUAC) 

Minimum Lot Width 20 Feet 60 Feet 
Minimum Lot Depth 100 Feet 120 Feet 

Front Setback 15 Feet 25 Feet 

Side Setback 5 Feet & 0 Feet                 15 Feet               
(Per UDC 5.3.3) 

Side Setback 
(corner) 15 Feet 15 Feet 

Rear Setback 10 Feet 10 Feet 
Max Building 

Height 2 1/2 Stories 4 Stories 
 
 

 
 

Development Standards (NS & GR) 
 

 
Proposed (NS)  Proposed (GR) 

Minimum Lot Size N/A N/A 
Minimum Lot Width N/A N/A 
Minimum Lot Depth N/A N/A 

Front Setback 15 Feet 15 Feet 

Side Setback 10 Feet 10 Feet 
Side Setback (corner) 10 Feet 10 Feet 

Rear Setback 10 Feet 0 Feet 
Max Building Height 2 1/2 Stories 3 Stories 

 
 
 



AMENDED AND RESTATED 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS ADDENDUM 
 

AMENDED and RESTATED SPECIAL PROVISIONS ADDENDUM 
 
This Amended and Restated Special Provisions Addendum to Commercial Contract – Unimproved 
Property ("Contract") executed between First Baptist Church Temple, Tx (“Seller”) and American 
Realty Services, Inc. and/or assigns (“Buyer”) concerning the property described in the Contract 
(“Property”) is hereby incorporated to supplement and amend the Contract, and replaced in its 
entirety the previously executed Special Provisions Addendum, as follows:   
 
  Notwithstanding anything in the Contract to the contrary, the Buyer and Seller 
hereby agree as follows: 
 
 1. During the Feasibility Period, Buyer will negotiate an agreement with the City of 
Temple for the placement and construction of a public road , to include an access easement (the 
“Right of Way”).  Seller hereby agrees to dedicate an amount of acreage not to exceed 50% of the 
Right of Way.  Any such designated acreage will have to be acceptable to Seller, and in size and 
location such that it does not affect Seller’s remaining property or access thereto.  All expenses 
pertaining to the Right of Way, including approvals, design, supervision, and construction of the 
Right of Way as a public street, including accompanying infrastructure such as drainage and utilities 
required by the City of Temple, will be at the sole cost and expense of Buyer.   Final terms and 
details pertaining thereto will be agreed upon by Seller and Buyer, and memorialized prior to the 
end of the Feasibility Period. 
 

2. The deed from Seller will incorporate the following restrictions, which restrictions 
will run with the land: 

a. The maximum height for improvements located in the first 250 feet of frontage on 
FM 2305 (Adams Ave) shall be 1 story, with the roofline not to exceed 25 feet in 
height. 

b. No apartments may be located or permitted on the Property that participate in any 
tax credits programs.  Any multi-family improvements must be developed for the 
purpose of receiving full market rents comparable to similar projects within a 3 mile 
radius, and with no possibility of subsidies from any organization or governmental 
entity. 

c. No liquor stores, bars or cocktail lounges that sell alcoholic beverages shall be 
located or permitted on the Property.   Notwithstanding the foregoing, restaurants 
and businesses that derive not more than 50% of their revenue from alcohol sales 
may be located or permitted on the Property. 

d. No adult stores, adult theatres, businesses that provide adult entertainment or 
services (including any entertainment providing partial or full nudity), or facilities 
selling or displaying pornographic materials shall be located or permitted on the 
Property. 

e. No carnivals or amusement parks shall be located (even temporarily) or permitted 
on the Property. 



AMENDED AND RESTATED 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS ADDENDUM 
 

f. No facilities selling paraphernalia for use with illicit drugs, or marijuana (even if the 
sale of marijuana is legalized for recreational or medicinal purposes) shall be 
located or permitted on the Property. 

g. No medical facility that encourages abortions or provides abortion services shall be 
located or permitted on the Property.  

h. No tattoo parlors shall be located or permitted on the Property.  

i. No facility that derives more than 50% of its revenue from the sale of tobacco 
products in any form, including electronic cigarettes or vapor inhaled products, shall 
be located or permitted on the Property.  

j. No noxious, offensive, or unlawful business or use shall be located or permitted on 
the Property. 

k.  There shall be a continuous buffer, along the common boundary between 
nonresidential or multiple-family uses and an agricultural or residential district in 
accordance with the following: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* The required landscaping may be reduced by 30% when used in a combination with a 
decorative fence that is a minimum of 6 feet in height; constructed of wood, wrought iron or 
galvanized ornamental steel; and located behind the landscaped area. 

** All planting shall be in conformance with planting standards located in Section 7.4: 
Landscaping in the City of Temple Unified Development Code 

 
 
 

[[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]] 
 
 
 
 

TYPE Minimum Width Minimum Planting Per 100* feet 

I** 30 feet - 3 canopy trees 
- 10 small trees; (50% evergreen) 
- 14 supplemental shrubs (50% evergreen) 

II** 20 feet - 3 canopy trees 
- 13 small trees; (50% evergreen) 
- 16 supplemental shrubs (50% evergreen) 

III** 15 feet - 3 canopy trees 
- 16 small trees; (50% evergreen) 
- 18 supplemental shrubs (50% evergreen) 



AMENDED AND RESTATED 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS ADDENDUM 
 

Seller: 
 
First Baptist Church- Temple, Tx 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
Buyer:  
 
American Realty Services Inc. 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name: ___________________________________ 
Title: ____________________________________ 



Conceptual Apartment Bldg. Elevations 
 

Echo Station Apartments, Temple, Texas 
 

 
 
 

McKinney Point, McKinney, Texas 
 

 



Landscape Buffer Illustration 
Choices 08 – Comprehensive Plan – Page 3-9) 

 

 



mbaker
Typewritten Text
      RECEIVED
CITY OF TEMPLE 
PLANNING DEPT.
AUGUST 30, 2016

mbaker
Text Box





































From: Karen Flores
To: Mark Baker
Subject: Apartment complex between Iron gate and the church on West Adams
Date: Thursday, September 15, 2016 12:06:00 PM

Mr Baker

      I am emailing to voice my concerns about the supposed apartment complex that they are
wanting to build behind Iron Gate. We the residents of The Vista at Westwood are not in favor
of this project.  This is a very quiet community of elderly and young families. The traffic will
already increase with the expansion of Tarver and expanding Iron gate to Adams will only
bring more danger to the small children who ride their bikes and scooters on Iron Gate. There
has already been a child hit by a car on Iron Gate a few weeks ago.  The city is already aware
of the number of small children in our area because the 8ft sidewalk that was installed over the
summer was for the safety of the school children.  This will probably affect our property value
as well and with the increased traffic more crime. Our neighborhood is not easily accessed by
West Adams and therefore our overall crime has been low compared to that of neighborhoods
like Sage Meadows. If that road goes through that will certainly change.  The thing I loved
about West Temple the most was the land, and as usual it is being taken away. What happened
to keep Temple beautiful? Soon we'll be just a bunch of buildings like any other city. Not to
mention the over crowding of Belton schools located in West Temple. Adding an apartment
complex in an already overcrowded area seems irresponsible.  Does no one care about our
children's education? The school district is having a hard enough time keeping up with the
growth of West Temple as it is.  There are plenty of homes reasonably priced in the area that
there should be no need for another apartment complex.

-- 
Karen Flores
Copper Ridge Loop

mailto:kmf0581@gmail.com
mailto:mbaker@templetx.gov


From: Matthew
To: Mark Baker
Subject: Planned development in West Temple
Date: Sunday, September 18, 2016 2:37:02 PM

Mr. Baker,

  I am writing to voice my concern with the planned development in west Temple on Iron
Gate. I live in the Hills of Westwood subdivision and my concerns are as follow:
- increased traffic in the area during morning and afternoon rush hours. 
- decreased property values for the existing homes in the area. 
- increased crime rates attributed to transient historically lower income population. 
- increased pressure on the school system to handle the increase in students. 

Thank you in advance for any information you can provide to alleviate my concerns. 

Matthew Baird 

mailto:mbaird2000@gmail.com
mailto:mbaker@templetx.gov


From: Noetzel, Jennifer M CPT USARMY MEDCOM CRDAMC (US)
To: Mark Baker
Subject: First Baptist Church Land Re-zoning proposal
Date: Monday, September 19, 2016 11:23:29 AM

Good Morning Sir,

This is my response to the proposed rezoning of First Baptist Church Land.

My opposition is the creation of the through road that will be created with
Iron Gate Drive and Westfield Blvd connecting.  This road will connect to a
residential area with no sidewalks.  Additionally there are multiple
mailboxes posted on that road that not only do residents frequently stop at,
but mail vendors as well.  Creating this as a full connector road I believe
will be dangerous for the residents of that area.  There have already been 2
accidents this school year with children being hit by vehicles.    By
keeping these areas distinct and separate I believe the communities can
maintain their property value.

If the connector road stands I will oppose the whole development.  For
reasons of increased traffic and danger to the community, decreased property
value (multi-family units <2 miles from my resident), increased people (both
residents and their visitors) leads to reduced privacy. There will also be
increased noise and the potential for added crime.  Our neighborhood pool
already has issue with people and kids breaking and vandalizing the area.

v/r

Jennifer Noetzel
859-466-7820
719 Copper Ridge Loop Temple, TX 76502

-----Original Message-----
From: Mark Baker [mailto:mbaker@templetx.gov]
Sent: Thursday, September 15, 2016 12:10 PM
To: Noetzel, Jennifer M CPT USARMY MEDCOM CRDAMC (US)
Subject: [Non-DoD Source] RE: test email

Hi Jennifer:

Staff report and attachments for your review.  Please feel free to forward
any comments that you would like to be included into the public record to my
attention so they can be included for City Council consideration.

Thank you for you participation,
Mark

-----Original Message-----
From: Noetzel, Jennifer M CPT USARMY MEDCOM CRDAMC (US)
[mailto:jennifer.m.noetzel.mil@mail.mil]
Sent: Thursday, September 15, 2016 12:05 PM
To: Mark Baker <mbaker@templetx.gov>
Subject: test email

mailto:jennifer.m.noetzel.mil@mail.mil
mailto:mbaker@templetx.gov
mailto:mbaker@templetx.gov
mailto:jennifer.m.noetzel.mil@mail.mil


Jennifer M. Noetzel
CPT, MS
Ft. Hood Army Hearing Program
(O) 254.285.6168
(SRP) 254.553.3097



EXCERPTS FROM THE 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 

TUESDAY, SEPETEMBER 6, 2016 
 

ACTION ITEMS 

Item 2: Z-FY-16-43 – Hold a public hearing to discuss and recommend action on a rezoning 
from Agricultural (AG) District to Single-Family Attached-Three (SFA-3), Multi-Family-
Two (MF-2), Neighborhood Service (NS) and General Retail (GR) districts on 42.066 
+/- acres, Lot 1, Block 1, First Baptist-Temple West Campus, located at 8015 West 
Adams Avenue. 

Mr. Mark Baker, Senior Planner, stated this item was scheduled to go forward to City Council 
for first reading on October 6, 2016 and second reading October 20, 2016. 

The applicant is proposing four separate zoning districts: General Retail (GR), Neighborhood 
Service (NS), SFR – Attached-Three (SFA-3), and Multi-Family (MF-2) for a proposed 
apartment complex. There are no proposed site or development plans available for the 
remaining three districts. 

With the number of zoning districts proposed, enhanced buffering and screening 
considerations are very important due to the proximity to existing single family residences. 
Applicant has agreed to incorporate enhanced buffering and screening into their development 
and will be included in the sales contract and Deed Restrictions, which is also modeled after 
the Westfield Master Development Plan (Ordinance No. 2015-4717).  

The enhanced buffering and screening standards are identified in the Comprehensive Plan, 
Choices ’08, page 3-7, referred to as Dynamic Buffer Yard Modeling: 

Increased Plant Density based on: 

Buffer yard width; 

Landscape Material Selection; 

Density’ 

Earthen Berms; and 

Fences or Walls. 

Wider Buffer yard with Limited Plant Density or 

Narrow Buffer yard with or without fence/wall & increased plant density 

Circulation is a big consideration for a development this size. There are four areas that could 
be created for circulation; otherwise circulation would be limited without a series of easements 
and/or circulation elements. A plat will come forward after the zoning that would define in more 
detail circulation issues, particularly the extension of Westfield Boulevard. 



Westfield Boulevard would be built to arterial standards which includes a minimum of 70-feet 
right-of-way and 49-feet pavement and include six-foot sidewalks on both sides. This would 
also be addressed during the plat process. 

Potential improvements would include an extension of Tanglehead Drive. Tanglehead Drive is 
currently designated as a local street and would function as a collector. 

There is currently a Cost-Share Improvement for the section of Tanglehead from 
Meadowbrook to Old Waco Road (Outer Loop) and is currently in the design stage. 

In terms of the Zoning Map, the Single-Family Three (SF-3) and GR are consistent with the 
SF-3 that is adjacent to the subject property. The NS and GR zoning districts are already 
established along West Adams. 

The Future Land Use and Character Map designates the subject property as Suburban-
Residential, which is primarily for single family detached residential uses, specifically SF-1, SF-
2. The Suburban-Residential designation does not support the four zoning districts and would 
be more consistent under a Suburban-Commercial designation which supports office, retail 
and services uses. 

The subject property is located at the intersection between two arterials, Westfield Boulevard 
and West Adams Avenue and Single Family residential is not likely to occur within this corridor. 

A 12-inch water line along West Adams Avenue and an eight-inch sewer line along 
Tanglehead Drive are available to serve the property. These would be addressed in more 
detail during the platting process. 

West Adams Avenue (FM 2305) would require a six-foot sidewalk on the south side.  

The proposed arterial for Westfield Boulevard would be a minimum of 70-feet right-of-way and 
49-feet pavement section. This would extend to Iron Gate and ultimately connect to Tarver 
Road leading south of the project site. 

An existing City-Wide Spine Trail is located on West Adams Avenue. 

Anticipated roadway extension of Westfield Blvd (across West Adams and connect to Iron 
Gate Drive) would anticipate a right-of-way width to vary from 92-feet to 60-feet. A six-foot 
sidewalk on both sides of Westfield Boulevard. 

Potential Extension of Tanglehead Drive: 

Functions as a future collector and needs to be built to collector street standards: 55-
feet right-of-way and 36-feet pavement 

Six-foot sidewalk on one side of Tanglehead Extension 

Cost-Sharing improvements to Tanglehead Drive from Meadowbrook to Old Waco Road 

The final design of “Project-Related” improvements to be addressed by subdivision plat. 



The developer efforts for Westfield Boulevard extension provide compliance to Thoroughfare 
Plan. 

Cross-sections of various streets/roads and different right-of-ways are shown and briefly 
explained. 

Surrounding properties include existing retail and service uses along West Adams Avenue, 
zoned PD-GR and GR to the north, existing retail and service uses along West Adams 
Avenue, zoned PD-NS, and Tanglehead Drive Access Point, zoned SF-3, to the east, First 
Baptist Church, zoned AG to the west, and existing single family residences (Hills of 
Westwood Subdivision), zoned SF-3, and potential access point at Iron Gate Drive to the 
south. 

Several NS, GR, SFA-3 and MF-2 allowed uses are briefly covered, along with current and 
proposed development standards for all four districts. 

Ninety notices were mailed in accordance with all state and local regulations with 10 notices 
returned in agreement and nine notices returned in disagreement. 

This request is in compliance with the Thoroughfare Plan, surrounding uses and zoning, and 
public facilities are available to serve the property. The request is not in compliance with the 
Future Land Use and Character Map. 

Developer examples are shown for similar apartment projects. 

Staff recommends approval of the request from AG to GR, NS, SFA-3 and MF-2. 

Mr. Baker explained it was Staff’s understanding a request was made in the design review 
process for a portion of that lot to remain available for potential access for Westfield to extend 
through.  

Mr. Brian Chandler, Director of Planning, added that a proposed extension of Westfield is 
shown through Iron Gate on the Thoroughfare Plan, so the residential phase of the plat 
included dedication of the lot for future connectivity. It is shown as a minor arterial but may 
serve as a collector instead. Mr. Baker stated the extension would be looked at through the 
subdivision plat. 

Mr. Chandler added if it was not proposed to connect to Iron Gate, it would come back to P&Z. 
A change in the Thoroughfare Plan would come back to P&Z if that were part of the 
development proposal. 

It was stated that Iron Gate is a Kiella development. 

Commissioner Sears was concerned that if this connection were not done, there would only be 
one way in and one way out on Westfield and did not feel Tanglehead Drive was a good idea. 

Mr. Chandler stated Staff supports the Thoroughfare Plan alignment that the additional 
connectivity does affect some existing houses at Iron Gate; however, Tanglehead could be an 
additional option but would provide alternate options and not feed all of the traffic in and out of 
2305. 



Mr. Chandler commented there are currently no connections proposed for South Pea Ridge as 
part of this project.  

Commissioner Pitts stated his concern was that a lot of traffic would be dumped in the 
neighborhood, especially as busy as 2305 is, which was not anticipated. 

Commissioner Sears commented that last year approximately 2,000 houses were platted in 
west Temple that had not yet started construction and wondered if Staff had any idea of what 
has been platted versus being built. Mr. Chandler was not certain of any numbers, but some of 
the developments are currently active with permitting. 

Commissioner Rhoads asked about road updates in the area. 

Mr. Chandler did not have a list of the projects but mentioned Tarver is being extended and will 
eventually reach Old Waco Road and Hogan Road is scheduled on the Temple Capital 
Improvement Projects (TCIP) for east/west connectivity.  

Mr. Chandler believed Crossroads Regional Park, Phase I, should be bidding site work within 
the next couple of months and Phase II for the actual improvements should be within the next 
year. 

Chair Jones opened the public hearing. 

Mr. Scott Motsinger, 506 Northcliffe Drive, Belton, Texas, stated he was the broker of record, 
represents First Baptist Church, and believes the development will be a huge benefit to the 
community. 

The applicant would like to have retail use at the front along with some neighborhood services, 
and residential to the rear, similar to the Westfield development. The applicant wants to 
provide a lot of buffering to the residential areas for privacy which is why the enhanced 
landscaping was offered and included. 

Each time a parcel is sold, the applicant will need to go through the platting process which 
would address utility and drainage issues. 

Mr. Motsinger explained Westfield is needed in order to get people to 2305. The estimated 
bridge cost across the drainage easement from Tanglehead to Pea Ridge would cost in the 
$500,000 range, which would be cost prohibitive and Mr. Motsinger is not certain if or when it 
would ever connect to Pea Ridge. 

Tarver would be a major relief from an east/west standpoint. 

Mr. Motsinger stated leaving the trees for the developer would be great; otherwise, the 
developer would need to buy and replant new trees. If the City allowed the trees to remain it 
will help fulfill the buffer requirements and save the developer additional expense. 

Currently, there is no site plan or design for the residential portion of the request. Mr. 
Motsinger stated it could be townhomes, single family garden homes, or something like that.  

Mr. Robert Murray, 4689 Old Pond Drive, Plano, Texas, stated only 15 acres would be needed 
for the MF-2 portion for 240-250 units. The City was planning on putting in the extension on 



Westfield in the future (through the platting process) and the developer would pay half of that 
cost. An easement on Tanglehead would be given to the City.  

As the trees grow, the apartments will most likely not been seen from the neighboring 
residences and the buildings will only be three stories.  

Mr. Jon Burrows, 709 Clover Lane, Temple, Texas, stated he was the Chairman of the 
Property Committee for First Baptist.  Several members of First Baptist were in attendance. 

Mr. Burrows commented this is their neighborhood and in the contract with buyers there are 
very strict restrictions on what can go in there and would be comparable and acceptable for the 
area. 

The apartments would be market rate apartments and are not subsidized. The Church likes the 
look of the Kiella development across the street and what their aim would be. Access 
easements are being worked on for the retail section of the development. The Church has a 
vested interest in this project, will not be going anywhere, and it will benefit the community. 

The long-term plan for the Church will need approximately 60 acres for future development. 

Mr. Burrows responded to the objections made on the responses and believes the developer is 
working on those issues. Buffering, trees, and landscaping would be included to create a first 
class development for the City of Temple. 

Mr. David G. Marsh, 662 Devon Drive, Temple, Texas, stated he lived at the southeast corner 
of the subject development. Mr. Marsh was concerned about the future expansion of Old Waco 
Road. There are currently three other projects off of Old Waco Road (south toward Belton). 
Old Waco Road is not complete yet and here is another project. 

There was extensive flooding with the existing two drainage ditches just north of Tanglehead 
due to all the heavy rains this year causing major traffic issues. 

Staff and the developer confirmed that at this time Tanglehead is not proposed to be extended 
through to Westfield. Mr. Marsh was concerned there would only be one exit. Mr. Baker 
clarified the extension of Tanglehead would be reviewed during the platting process but is not 
currently part of a City proposed project nor is the applicant proposing any extension.  

Mr. Marsh is very concerned about the traffic, especially south, along Old Waco Road due to 
his past and current construction experiences. Mr. Marsh asked that roads in the area would 
be reviewed due to all of the projects being developed. 

Another immediate concern was the water pressure for the area, and this does not even 
include the upcoming projects. Perhaps a new pumping station could be installed. Other 
concerns were Police, Fire, and emergency vehicles. 

Mr. Marsh is all for growth but requested the City needs to consider the hidden, in-depth 
details which would also be involved and affect the current and future residents. 

There being no further speakers, Chair Jones closed the public hearing. 



Mr. Baker confirmed this item would go forward to City Council on October 6, 2016 for first 
reading. 

Chair Jones encouraged the public to bring their concerns to the City Council as well. 

Mr. Chandler explained that Public Works, on the TCIP plan, shows the different timing and 
projects, bonds, phasing, and other information should be on the City’s website.  

Mr. Chandler informed Mr. Marsh he would get the information requested and contact him. 

Commissioner Sears stated he had no problem with the GR/NS portion of the project but was 
very apprehensive about the apartment portion. Placing approximately 240 units in that little 
section would lead to continued drainage issues and add more traffic problems. The entire 
area is not designed very well considering the expansion planned. Commissioner Sears did 
not feel this project fit the Comprehensive Plan at all. 

Commissioner Crisp was in agreement with Commissioner Sears. 

Commissioner Pitts had issues with the Iron Gate portion but agreed outlets were needed, 
preferably in different areas.  

Commissioner Rhoads commented the subject area needs to be well-planned out in order to 
accommodate the fast growth it is experiencing and to take a close look at the Thoroughfare 
Plan. 

Chair Jones reopened the public hearing. 

Mr. Will Sisco, Turley Associates, 911 North 9th Street, Temple, Texas, addressed the Iron 
Gate issue and pointed out that on the west side there are no houses fronting Iron Gate. There 
are houses adjacent to it but the driveways are not off of Iron Gate. Where Iron Gate connects 
to Tarver Road, it has a traffic calming median between the entrance and exit lanes and on the 
west side of Iron Gate there are no houses at all, so some provisions have been designed and 
planned for on the extension of Westfield Boulevard. 

Also, there are existing drainage issues along and behind the existing development east of the 
subject property where Tanglehead crosses and currently some of those issues are being 
worked out by the pertinent entities involved. These items are being reviewed and the current 
projects that Turley Associates and the City are working on will be cleaned up as projects 
progress and develop.  

Mr. Chandler confirmed Tanglehead was not on the Thoroughfare Plan. Tanglehead to the 
east, Old Waco Road, is a developer participation agreement, to make that connection. To the 
west to Westfield, that project is not on the Thoroughfare Plan. If this development were to 
happen it would change the dynamics and the need for that connection. The developer is not 
proposing to build that. 

Mr. Chandler informed the Commission that while this is a base zoning case, conditions may 
not be added; however, a Planned Development (PD) District could be added to the request or 
the Commission could continue the item to another date. This would allow the opportunity for 
staff to get additional direction about the case and perhaps add a PD which could address the 
extension for Tanglehead.  



Mr. Chandler confirmed the extension issue could be addressed at the platting phase. 

Chair Jones closed the public hearing.  

Commissioner Rhoads made a motion to approve Item 2, Z-FY-16-43, as presented, and 
Commissioner Langley made a second. 

Chair Jones reminded the audience that the Commission was taking action on the zoning 
request only. 

Motion passed:  (6:1:0) 
Commissioner Sears voted Nay; Vice-Chair Johnson and Commissioner Fettig absent 



1 
 

 
ORDINANCE NO.     

 
(PLANNING NO. Z-FY-16-43) 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING A REZONING FROM AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT 
TO SINGLE FAMILY ATTACHED-THREE, MULTI-FAMILY-TWO, 
NEIGHBORHOOD SERVICE, AND GENERAL RETAIL DISTRICTS ON 
APPROXIMATELY 42.066 ACRES, LOT 1, BLOCK 1, FIRST BAPTIST-
TEMPLE WEST CAMPUS, LOCATED AT 8015 WEST ADAMS AVENUE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, 
THAT: 

 
Part 1: The City Council approves a rezoning from Agricultural District to Single 

Family Attached-Three, Multi-Family-Two, Neighborhood Service, and General Retail 
Districts on approximately 42.066 acres, Lot 1, Block 1, First Baptist-Temple West 
Campus, located at 8015 West Adams Avenue, as outlined in the map and field notes 
attached hereto as Exhibit ‘A,’ and made a part hereof for all purposes. 

 
Part 2: The City Council directs the Director of Planning to make the necessary 

changes to the City Zoning Map. 
 
Part 3: The applicant/developer has agreed to enhanced landscaping and buffering 

standards as provided for in the private sales contract and further provided for in the 
private deed restrictions for a proposed apartment complex within the Multi-Family Two 
zoning designation. 

 
Part 4: The applicant/developer proposes to extend Westfield Boulevard from 

West Adams Avenue (FM 2305) and connect to Iron Gate Drive as conceptually depicted 
by the attached Exhibit ‘B.’ 

 
Part 5: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the 

sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if 
any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared 
invalid by the final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such 
invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or 
sections of this ordinance, since the same would have been enacted by the City Council 
without the incorporation in this ordinance of any such phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph 
or section. 
 

Part 6: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 

 



2 
 

 
 

Part 7: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the 
time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 6th day of 

October, 2016. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 20th day of October, 2016. 

     
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 

 
              

____________________________ 
DANIEL A. DUNN, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:       APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
                 
Lacy Borgeson      Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 
 

10/20/16 
Item #8 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 1 

 
DEPT./DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:  
 
Kayla Landeros, City Attorney  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION:   SECOND READING: Consider adopting an ordinance amending Chapter 16 
of the Code of Ordinances to delete Article VIII, “Tattoo Shops.”   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Conduct a public hearing, and adopt ordinance as presented in item 
description on first reading, with second and final reading set for October 20, 2016.  
 
ITEM SUMMARY:  Chapter 16, Article VIII of the Code of Ordinances currently states: 
 

ARTICLE VIII. TATTOO SHOPS 
Sec. 16-108.  Definitions. 
 
 For the purposes of this article, the following words and phrases shall be construed as follows: 
 
 Tattooing or Tattoo means the practice of marking the skin with indelible patterns or pictures by 
making punctures and inserting pigments by someone other than a licensed physician. 
 
 Tattoo operator means any person, other than a licensed physician, who actually performs the 
work of tattooing, or who operates, conducts or manages a tattoo shop, whether actually performing 
the work of tattooing or not. 
 
 Tattoo shop means any room or space where tattooing is practiced or where the business of 
tattooing is conducted, or any part thereof. 
 
Sec. 16-109. Tattooing Prohibited. 
 
 It shall be unlawful for any person within the city limits to operate a tattoo shop or engage in the 
practice or business of tattooing as a tattoo operator. 
 
 In a separate item, Staff is proposing amendments to the Unified Development Code which, if 
approved by Council, would allow “tattoo studios” and “body piercing studios” by right in certain zoning 
districts. In conjunction with those proposed amendments, Chapter 16 of the Code of Ordinances must 
be amended to delete Article VIII, “Tattoo Shops.”  

  
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  
Ordinance 



 1 

ORDINANCE NO.   
  

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AMENDING CHAPTER 16 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, TO DELETE ARTICLE VIII, “TATTOO 
SHOPS;” PROVIDING A REPEALER; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

               
 
 Whereas, Chapter 16, Article VIII of the Code of Ordinances currently states: 
 

ARTICLE VIII. TATTOO SHOPS 
 
Sec. 16-108.  Definitions. 
 
 For the purposes of this article, the following words and phrases shall be construed as 
follows: 
 
 Tattooing or Tattoo means the practice of marking the skin with indelible patterns or 
pictures by making punctures and inserting pigments by someone other than a licensed 
physician. 
 
 Tattoo operator means any person, other than a licensed physician, who actually 
performs the work of tattooing, or who operates, conducts or manages a tattoo shop, whether 
actually performing the work of tattooing or not. 
 
 Tattoo shop means any room or space where tattooing is practiced or where the business 
of tattooing is conducted, or any part thereof. 
 
Sec. 16-109. Tattooing Prohibited. 
 
 It shall be unlawful for any person within the city limits to operate a tattoo shop or 
engage in the practice or business of tattooing as a tattoo operator. 
 
 Whereas, Staff recommends Council approve certain amendments to the City of Temple 
Unified Development Code which, if approved by Council, would allow “tattoo studios” and 
“body piercing studios” in certain zoning districts by right; 
 
 Whereas, in conjunction with those proposed amendments, Chapter 16 of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Temple, Texas must be amended to delete Article VIII, “Tattoo 
Shops”; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest 
to authorize this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 



 2 

 
 

 
 Part 1: The City Council amends Chapter 16, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Temple, Texas to delete Article VIII, “Tattoo Shops,” as outlined in Exhibit ‘A,’ attached 
hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes. 
 

Part 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of 
the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this ordinance 
of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is 
accordingly so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 6th day of 

October, 2016. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              
       DANIEL A. DUNN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 



   

 
            

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM MEMORANDUM 
 
 

10/20/16 
Item #9 

Regular Agenda 
Page 1 of 4 

 
DEPT. /DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:   
 
Brian Chandler, Planning Director  
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION: SECOND & FINAL READING – Z-FY-16-23: Consider adopting an ordinance  
amending the Temple Unified Development Code (UDC): Article 5 – Use Standards, deleting “tattoo 
parlor” as a prohibited use; allowing Body Piercing Studios and Tattoo Studios by right in Light 
Industrial, Heavy Industrial, General Retail, and Commercial zoning districts; providing certain 
limitations; Article 6 – Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts, prohibiting body Piercing Studios 
and Tattoo Studios in the Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay; and Article 11 – Definitions, providing 
definitions for Body Piercing, Body Piercing Studio, Tattoo, and Tattoo Studio. 
 
P&Z RECOMMENDATION:  At the April 18, 2016 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, P&Z 
recommended unanimous approval per staff recommendation.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt ordinance as presented on second and final reading. 
 
BACKGROUND 

• Tattoo studios are currently prohibited in the City limits according to Sec. 5.1.1.C. “Prohibited 
Uses” of the UDC 

• Chris Simmons, owner of Lucky in Love tattoo studio in Morgan’s Point, is a Temple resident 
• He has previously addressed City Council requesting the ability to open a studio in Temple 
• Legal and Planning agreed to meet with him to discuss and educate ourselves about his 

business and the industry in general 
• Met in July 2015 
• Took a site visit in October 2015 (photos included in attachments) to see his studio and to learn 

about their operations 
• Tattoo and body piercing studios are regulated by the Texas Health and Safety Code (Chapter 

146. Tattoo and Certain Body Piercing Studios) 
• Body piercing studios would currently be allowed in any of the following zoning districts and 

classified as a “retails sales and service use other than those listed”: 
o NS (Neighborhood Services) 
o GR (General Retail) 
o C (Commercial) 
o CA (Central Area) 
o LI (Light Industrial) 
o HI (Heavy Industrial) 

 
 



10/20/16 
Item #9 

Regular Agenda 
Page 2 of 4 

CITY COUNCIL  
The Tattoo Studios topic was discussed with City Council at their February 4, 2016 workshop. The 
recommended amendments were presented to Council at its May 5, 2016 meeting, but were not 
approved at that time.  
 
At its October 6, 2016 meeting, the City Council approved the proposed amendments on first reading 
with the following changes: 

• A 1000 foot distance requirement from churches was added; and 
• Tattoo Studio and Body Piercing Studios are allowed in GR by right only if part of a licensed 

beauty salon (licensed by the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation) providing at least 
one additional salon service regulated by TDLR. 

 
Staff is proposing amending the following articles of the UDC. 
 
Article 5 Use Standards 
Staff is proposing amending section 5.1 to allow for both Body Piercing and Tattoo Studios by right in 
GR (General Retail), C (Commercial), LI (Light Industrial) and HI (Heavy Industrial) zoning districts with 
the limitations listed below.

 
 
 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #9 

Regular Agenda 
Page 3 of 4 

 

 
 
 
Sec. 5.3.27 Body Piercing Studio and Tattoo Studio standards 
 
A Body Piercing Studio or Tattoo Studio may be permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 
subject to the following standards:  

A. A Body Piercing Studio or Tattoo Studio may not be located within 1000 feet of another Body 
Piercing Studio or Tattoo Studio. 

B. A Body Piercing Studio or Tattoo Studio may not be located within 1000 feet of a School, Public 
or Private, as that term is defined in this Code. 

C. For purposes of this section, measurements are made in a straight line, without regard to 
intervening structures or objects, from property line to property line.  

D. A Body Piercing Studio or Tattoo Studio may not be located on property that falls within the 
Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay or any designated Strategic Investment Zone (SIZ) Grant Corridor.  

E. A handwashing sink is required that is separate from restroom sinks. 
 
 
Article 11 Definitions would be amended to add the following definitions: 
 
Body Piercing. The creation of an opening in an individual’s body, other than in an individual’s earlobe, 
to insert jewelry or another decoration. 
 
Body Piercing Studio. A facility in which body piercing is performed.  
 
Tattoo. The practice of producing an indelible mark or figure on the human body by scarring or inserting 
a pigment under the skin using needles, scalpels, or other related equipment. The term includes the 
application of permanent cosmetics.  
 
Tattoo Studio. An establishment or facility in which tattooing is performed.  
 
PUBLIC NOTICE: The newspaper printed notice of the Planning and Zoning Commission public 
hearing on April 7, 2016, in accordance with state law and local ordinance.  
 
The newspaper printed notice of the City Council’s public hearing on September 18, 2016, in 
accordance with state law and local ordinance.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of the proposed amendments. 
 
 



10/20/16 
Item #9 

Regular Agenda 
Page 4 of 4 

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not Applicable 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment 1: UDC Draft Amendments (Body Piercing and Tattoo Studios) 
Attachment 2: Chapter 146 Texas Health and Safety Code (relevant pages) 
Attachment 3: GR, C, LI and HI Zoned Property Map 
Attachment 4: Strategic Investment Zone (SIZ) Map 
Ordinance 



U n i f i e d  D e v e l o p m e n t  C o d e  T e x t  A m e n d m e n t s :  P a g e  | 35 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 0204/0516/154 

 

Article 5 Use Standards 

Sec. 5.1. Use Table  
5.1.1 Prohibited Uses 

The following uses are prohibited in the City: 

A. Mobile home; 

B. Temporary sales that are unrelated and accessory to the primary use of 
the property except as provided for below: 

1. Temporary uses identified in Section 5.6 Temporary Uses; and 

2. Temporary sales associated with fundraising campaigns sponsored 
by non-profit organizations subject to the general conditions 
identified in Section 5.6.2. 

C. Tattoo parlor. 
5.1.2 Legend for Interpreting Use Table  

5.1.3 Use Table 

The following table sets forth the meaning of the symbols used in the use 
table below. 

P= Permitted by Right     L = Permitted by Right Subject to Limitations      
[blank cell] = Prohibited     C= Conditional Use Permit 

Specific Use A
 

UE
 

SF
-1

 

SF
-2

 

SF
-3

 

SF
A

-1
 

SF
A

-2
 

SF
A

-3
 

TH
 

2F
 

M
F-

1 

M
F-

2 

M
F-

3 

O
-1

 

O
-2

 

N
S 

G
R 

C
 

C
A

 

LI
 

HI
 

Standards 
INDUSTRIAL USES                        
Animal feedlot C                    C  
Asphalt or concrete 
batching plant 
(permanent) 

                   C P  

Asphalt or concrete 
batching plant 
(temporary) 

See Section 5.6 Temporary Uses 

Brick kiln or tile plant                     C  
Cement or hydrated 
lime plant 

                    C  

Compost operations                    C C 5.3.13 
Distribution Center                    P P  
Laboratory 
Manufacturing 

                 P  P P  



Article 5: Use Standards 

Sec. 5.1. Use Table 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 0204/05/16/15 

 5-8 

P= Permitted by Right     L = Permitted by Right Subject to Limitations      
[blank cell] = Prohibited     C= Conditional Use Permit 

Specific Use A
G

 

UE
 

SF
-1

 

SF
-2

 

SF
-3

 

SF
A

-1
 

SF
A

-2
 

SF
A

-3
 

TH
 

2F
 

M
F-

1 

M
F-

2 

M
F-

3 

O
-1

 

O
-2

 

N
S 

G
R 

C
 

C
A

 

LI
 

HI
 

Standards 
consumption, beer and wine store  
Alcohol beverage sales, off-premise 
consumption, package store  

                C C C C C 5.3.175.3.17 

Antique shop               P P P P P P P  
Art supply store               P P P P P P P  
Bakery or confectionary shop (retail)               P P P P P P P  
Bank or savings and loan               P P P P P P P P  
Barber shop or beauty shop               P P P P P P P  
Body Piercing Studio                 P P  P P 5.3.27 
Cleaning, pressing and pick up shop               L L L L L L L 5.3.185.3.18 
Cleaning plant (commercial)                  P P    
Discount or department store                 P P P P P  
Drug store or pharmacy               P P P P P P P  
Exercise gym   C          C C C  P C P P P P P  
Fabric store                 P P P P P P  
Florist or garden shop               P P P P P P P  
Food or beverage sales store without fuel 
sales  

               P P P P P P  

Furniture and appliance sales and service                 P P P P P  
Greenhouse or nursery (retail)                P P P P P P  
Handcraft and art objects shop               P P P P P P P  
Hardware store or hobby shop                 P P P P P  
Key shop               P P P P P P P  
Kiosk              L L L L L L L L Sec. 5.3.25 
Laundry and cleaning (self-service)               P P P P P P P  
Medical appliances, fitting, sales or rental               P P P P P P P  

Formatted: Font: (Default) Gill Sans, 9 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Gill Sans, 9 pt



Article 5: Use Standards 

Sec. 5.1. Use Table 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 0204/0516/15 

 5-9 

P= Permitted by Right     L = Permitted by Right Subject to Limitations      
[blank cell] = Prohibited     C= Conditional Use Permit 

Specific Use A
G

 

UE
 

SF
-1

 

SF
-2

 

SF
-3

 

SF
A

-1
 

SF
A

-2
 

SF
A

-3
 

TH
 

2F
 

M
F-

1 

M
F-

2 

M
F-

3 

O
-1

 

O
-2

 

N
S 

G
R 

C
 

C
A

 

LI
 

HI
 

Standards 
Mixed media store or newsstand                 P P P P P P P  
Mortuary or funeral home               P  P P P P P  
Office supply store                P P P P P P P  
Pawn shop                 P P P P P  
Pet shop                 P P P P P  
Retail shop, gift, apparel, accessory and 
similar items 

              P P P P P P P  

Retail Sales and Service uses other than 
listed 

               P P P P P P  

Studio: decorator, artist, photographer, 
music, dance or drama   

             P P P P P P P P  

Tattoo Studio                 P P  P P 5.3.27 
Tool rental (indoors)                 P P P P P  
Tool rental (outside equipment storage)                  P  P P  
Travel agency                P P P P P P P P  
Upholstery shop                  P P P P P  
Veterinary office (no animal hospital)              P P P P P P P P  
Veterinary hospital (no kennels)                  P P P P P  
Veterinary hospital (kennels) C                 C  P P  
TRANSPORTATION AND RELATED USES                       
Airport or landing field C C                C  P P  
Bus station or terminal                  P P P P  
Emergency vehicle service               C P  P P P P P  
Hauling or storage company                  P P P P  
Heliport C C             C   C C P P  
Helistop C C            C C C C  C P P  





Article 6: Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts 
Sec. 6.7. I35, Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay 

 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 04/16/15 

 6-64 

1. An additional 10 percent of vegetation is required above the general landscaping 
requirements in landscape buffer areas. 

2. In addition to those trees already required ornamental trees must be used in the 
landscape buffer. One, minimum two-inch caliper, ornamental tree must be planted 
for each 30 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along the 
lot lines. 

6.7.8 Industrial Sub-District 

The industry component of Temple’s economy has been and should continue to be a major factor 
in the City’s growth and employment. These Industrial Sub-District standards will keep the 
City’s industrial base strong and growing while protecting the City’s image and enhancing the I-
35 Corridor. 

A. Permitted Uses 

Permitted uses are governed by the uses permitted in the use table in Sec. 5.1 of this UDC 
for the underlying zoning district. Unless otherwise regulated in the standards for this 
overlay district, permitted uses are governed by the standards of this Zoning Ordinance for 
the underlying base zoning district. 

B. Prohibited and Conditional Uses 

Notwithstanding such uses being permitted in the underlying base zoning district according 
to the use table in Sec. 5.1, the following uses are prohibited or require a Conditional Use 
Permit in accordance with Sec. 3.5.   

 
Use Prohibited Use Conditional Use Standards 
Residential    
All Residential Uses listed in the 
use table in Sec. 5.1 except as 
follows: 

  5.3.1through 
5.3.7 

Multiple-family dwelling 
(apartment)   5.3.3 

Recreational vehicle park    
Nonresidential    
Animal feed lot    
Animal shelter (public or 
private)    

Auto storage or auto auction    
Boat sales or repair    
Body Piercing Studio    
Bottling works    
Building material sales    
Car wash    
Child care facility    
Contractor storage and 
equipment yard    

Correctional facility    
Day camp for children    



Article 6: Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts 
Sec. 6.7. I35, Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay 

 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 04/16/15 

 6-65 

Use Prohibited Use Conditional Use Standards 
Drag strip or commercial 
racing    

Flea market (outdoors)    
Greenhouse or nursery (retail)    
Hatchery, fish or shrimp, fish 
farm    

Hatchery, poultry    
Heavy machinery sales, 
storage and repair    

Industrial Uses listed in the use 
table in Sec. 5.1     

Kennel    
Livestock auction    
Major vehicle repair   5.3.22 
Milk depot, dairy or ice cream 
plant    

Minor vehicle servicing   5.3.23 
Motorcycle or scooter sales 
and repair    

Open storage of furniture, 
appliances or machinery    

Paint shop    
Sexually oriented business    
Shooting range (outdoor)    
Stable, residential or 
noncommercial    

Tattoo Studio    
Trailer, recreational vehicle, 
portable building or HUD-
Code manufactured home 
sales or rental 

   

Transitional or emergency 
shelter    

Upholstery shop    
Veterinarian hospital (kennels)    
Wrecking or salvage yard   5.3.24 

[Ord. 2012-4505] 

C. Dimensional Standards  

Dimensional standards for the base zoning districts as found in Sec. 4.5 of this UDC apply 
except that the following regulations supersede such requirements for properties in the 
Industrial Sub-District. Nonconforming lots of record that are smaller than the minimum 
required lot area may be developed but all requirements of the I-35 Corridor Overlay 
District apply. 

 



Article 6: Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts 
Sec. 6.7. I35, Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay 

 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 04/16/15 

 6-69 

Use Prohibited Use Conditional Use Standards 
Residential    
All Residential Uses listed in the 
use table in Sec. 5.1 except as 
follows: 

   

Multiple-family dwelling 
(apartment)   5.3.3 

Recreational vehicle park    
Nonresidential    
Animal feed lot    
Animal shelter (public or 
private)    

Auto storage or auto auction    
Boat sales or repair    
Body Piercing Studio    
Bottling works    
Building material sales    
Car wash    
Child care facility   5.3.9 and 5.3.10 
Contractor storage and 
equipment yard    

Correctional facility    
Day camp for children    
Drag strip or commercial 
racing    

Flea market (outdoors)    
Greenhouse or nursery (retail)    
Hatchery, fish or shrimp, fish 
farm    

Hatchery, poultry    
Heavy machinery sales, 
storage and repair    

Industrial Uses listed in the use 
table in Sec. 5.1     

Kennel    
Livestock auction    
Major vehicle repair   5.3.22 
Milk depot, dairy or ice cream 
plant    

Minor vehicle servicing   5.3.23 
Open storage of furniture, 
appliances or machinery    

Paint shop    
Sexually oriented business    
Shooting range (outdoor)    
Stable, residential or 
noncommercial    

Tattoo Studio    



Article 6: Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts 
Sec. 6.7. I35, Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay 

 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 04/16/15 

 6-75 

Use Prohibited Use Conditional Use Standards 
Residential    
All Residential Uses listed in the 
use table in Sec. 5.1 except as 
follows: 

   

Multiple-family dwelling 
(apartment)   5.3.3 

Recreational vehicle park    
Nonresidential    
Animal feed lot    
Animal shelter (public or 
private)    

Auto storage or auto auction    
Boat sales or repair    
Bottling works    
Body Piercing Studio    
Building material sales    
Car wash    
Child care facility   5.3.9 and 5.3.10 
Contractor storage and 
equipment yard    

Correctional facility    
Day camp for children    
Drag strip or commercial 
racing    

Flea market (outdoors)    
Greenhouse or nursery (retail)    
Hatchery, fish or shrimp, fish 
farm    

Hatchery, poultry    
Heavy machinery sales, 
storage and repair    

Industrial Uses listed in the use 
table in Sec. 5.1     

Kennel    
Livestock auction    
Major vehicle repair    
Milk depot, dairy or ice cream 
plant    

Minor vehicle servicing   5.3.23 
Motorcycle or scooter sales 
and repair    

Open storage of furniture, 
appliances or machinery    

Paint shop    
Tattoo Studio    
Trailer, recreational vehicle, 
portable building or HUD-    



Article 11: Definitions 

Sec. 11.2. Defined Terms 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 0204/0516/15 

 11-5 

non-industrial organic material, such as grass clippings, leaves, brush, clean 
wood material or vegetative food material, generated by a homeowner, tenant of 
a single to multi-family residential or apartment complex, or a commercial or 
institutional complex where the composting, land application or mulching 
occurs on the dwelling property and the final product is utilized on the same 
property. Backyard operations includes neighborhood composting 
demonstration sites that generate less than 50 cubic yards of final product per 
year. 

Barber Shop or Beauty Shop. A business of cutting or dressing hair, shaving or 
trimming beards, performing manicures, facials or other grooming services 
including the performing of other related services or the selling of related goods 
for human beings or animals. 

Basement. A building story that is partly underground, but having a minimum of one-
half of its height above the average level of the adjoining ground.  

Block. A unit of land bounded by streets or a combination of streets and public land, 
railroad rights-of-way, waterways or any other barrier to the continuity to 
development. 

Block Face. The aggregate of all the building facades on one side of a block. [Ord. 
2010-4415] 

Board or Zoning Board. Zoning Board of Adjustment. 

Boarding House/Rooming House. A building other than a hotel, where lodging and 
meals for four or more persons are served for compensation and no 
rehabilitation services are provided. 

Body Piercing. The creation of an opening in an individual’s body, other than in an 
individual’s earlobe, to insert jewelry or another decoration. 

Body Piercing Studio. A facility in which body piercing is performed.  

Building. Any structure built for the support, shelter and enclosure of persons, animals, 
chattels or movable property of any kind. If subdivided in a manner sufficient to 
prevent the spread of fire, each portion so subdivided may be deemed a 
separate building. This term is synonymous with "structure".   

Building Line. A line parallel or approximately parallel to the street line at a specified 
distance therefrom creating the minimum distance from the street line that a 



Article 11: Definitions 

Sec. 11.2. Defined Terms 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 0204/0516/15 

 11-24 

Structure. (Same as Building) 

Substance Abuse Treatment Facility. An outpatient or residential facility that offers 
treatment for persons with chemical dependency and operates such facility 
under a state license or registration of a faith-based (non-medical) exempt 
program. 

Swimming Pool, Commercial. A swimming pool with accessory facilities, not part of the 
municipal or public recreational system and not a private swim club, but where 
the facilities are available to the general public for a fee. 

Swimming Pool, Private. A swimming pool constructed for the exclusive use of the 
residents of a one-family, two-family or multiple-family dwelling and located 
and fenced in accordance with the regulations of the City. A private swimming 
pool must not be operated as a business nor maintained in a manner to be 
hazardous or obnoxious to adjacent property owners. 

Street Width. The distance from back-of-curb to back to back-of-curb. For a rural 
street, the distance between the outer edges of asphalt pavement. 

Subdivider. Any person or authorized agent dividing or proposing to divide land so as 
to constitute a subdivision, as defined in this Section, The term "subdivider" is 
restricted to include only the owner, equitable owner or authorized agent of 
such owner or equitable owner, of land sought to be divided. 

Subdivision. A division of any tract of land, situated within the corporate limits of the 
City or within its extraterritorial jurisdiction, into two or more parts for the 
purpose of laying out any addition to the City, or for laying out lots, streets, 
alleys, access easements, public utility easements or parks or other portions 
intended for public use or the use of purchasers or owners of adjacent or 
fronting lots. The term “Subdivision” also means the development, within the 
corporate limits of the City or within its extraterritorial jurisdiction, of a HUD-
Code manufactured home land lease community. 

Surveyor. A registered public surveyor authorized by state statute to practice the 
profession of surveying. 

Tattoo. The practice of producing an indelible mark or figure on the human body by 
scarring or inserting a pigment under the skin using needles, scalpels, or other 
related equipment. The term includes the application of permanent cosmetics.  



Article 11: Definitions 

Sec. 11.2. Defined Terms 
 

Temple, Texas Unified Development Code 
Effective 12/16/10   ●   Last Amended 0204/0516/15 

 11-25 

Tattoo Studio. An establishment or facility in which tattooing is performed.  

Teaser Parking. A technique to include a few parking spaces located in front of a 
business to lure customers with their apparent convenience. Teaser parking acts 
as a visual cue, leading drivers to the access points for larger parking lots or 
parking structures that provide the remaining required parking to be placed 
behind or below buildings, with the option of a small amount of “teaser” parking 
visible from the street in more automobile-oriented areas. [Ord. 2010-4415] 

Telephone Exchange. Switching relay and transmitting equipment, but not including 
public business facilities, storage or repair facilities. 

Temporary Field or Construction Office. A structure or shelter used in connection with 
a development or building project for housing on the site of temporary 
administrative and supervisory functions and for sheltering employees and 
equipment. 

Temporary Use. A non-permanent use permitted in a particular zoning district only 
upon showing that such use in a specified location can comply with all the 
conditions and standards for the location, duration, or operation of such a 
temporary use as specified in this UDC. 

[Ord. 2015-4701] 

Thoroughfare Plan. A general graphic presentation, accompanied by written text, 
describing the proposed arrangement of various classes of streets in the City at 
some future date. A thoroughfare plan is a component of the City's adopted 
Comprehensive Plan. 

Townhouse. A structure on an individual lot, that is one of a series of three or more 
dwelling units designed for single-family occupancy, with dwelling units that are 
structurally connected or immediately adjacent to and abutting each other 
between individual dwelling units. An apartment in a condominium may be 
deemed a townhouse if no other dwelling unit or use of any kind exists 
immediately above or below it. Any project including three or more such 
condominiums or townhouses is deemed a "Townhouse Project". 

Trail. A walking path composed of concrete, crushed granite or improved natural 
surfaces that traverses land, does not generally run parallel with a street and 
that is located in a public right-of-way or a public access easement. [Ord. 
2011-4430] 



11/16/2015 HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE CHAPTER 146. TATTOO AND CERTAIN BODY PIERCING STUDIOS

file:///P:/Tattoo%20Parlors/HEALTH%20AND%20SAFETY%20CODE%20CHAPTER%20146.%20TATTOO%20AND%20CERTAIN%20BODY%20PIERCI… 1/20

 
         

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE

TITLE 2. HEALTH

SUBTITLE G. LICENSES

CHAPTER 146. TATTOO AND CERTAIN BODY PIERCING STUDIOS

Sec. 146.001.  DEFINITIONS.  In this chapter:

(1)  "Body piercing" means the creation of an opening in an 

individual's body, other than in an individual's earlobe, to insert 

jewelry or another decoration.

(1­a)  "Body piercer" means a person who performs body 

piercing.

(2)  "Body piercing studio" means a facility in which body 

piercing is performed.

(3)  "Tattoo" means the practice of producing an indelible 

mark or figure on the human body by scarring or inserting a pigment 

under the skin using needles, scalpels, or other related equipment.  

The term includes the application of permanent cosmetics.

(4)  "Tattooist" means a person who performs tattooing.

(5)  "Tattoo studio" means an establishment or facility in 

which tattooing is performed.

(6)  "Temporary location" means a fixed location at which an 

individual operator performs tattooing or body piercing for a 

specified period of not more than seven days in conjunction with a 

single event or celebration, where the primary function of the event 

or celebration is tattooing or body piercing.

Added by Acts 1993, 73rd Leg., ch. 580, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1993.  

Amended by Acts 1995, 74th Leg., ch. 936, Sec. 2, eff. Sept. 1, 1995;  

Acts 1999, 76th Leg., ch. 516, Sec. 2, eff. Sept. 1, 1999;  Acts 2003, 

78th Leg., ch. 1226, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 2003.

Sec. 146.002.  LICENSE REQUIRED.  (a)  A person may not conduct, 

operate, or maintain a tattoo studio unless the person holds a license 

issued by the department to operate the tattoo studio.  Except as 

provided by Section 146.0025, a person may not conduct, operate, or 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=HS&Value=146.0025&Date=7/18/2015


11/16/2015 HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE CHAPTER 146. TATTOO AND CERTAIN BODY PIERCING STUDIOS

file:///P:/Tattoo%20Parlors/HEALTH%20AND%20SAFETY%20CODE%20CHAPTER%20146.%20TATTOO%20AND%20CERTAIN%20BODY%20PIERCI… 2/20

maintain a body piercing studio unless the person holds a license 

issued by the department to operate the body piercing studio.

(b)  Except as provided by Section 146.0025, a person may not 

practice tattooing or body piercing at a temporary location unless the 

person holds a temporary location license for tattooing or body 

piercing, as appropriate, issued by the department.

(c)  The license must be displayed in a prominent place in the 

tattoo or body piercing studio or temporary location.

(d)  Tattooing and body piercing are permitted only at a location 

that is in compliance with this chapter and rules adopted under this 

chapter.

Added by Acts 1993, 73rd Leg., ch. 580, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 1993.  

Amended by Acts 1995, 74th Leg., ch. 936, Sec. 3, eff. Sept. 1, 1995;  

Acts 1999, 76th Leg., ch. 516, Sec. 3, eff. Sept. 1, 1999.

Sec. 146.0021.  EMPLOYMENT OF TATTOOISTS AND BODY PIERCERS;  

REGISTRATION REQUIRED.  A tattoo studio or a body piercing studio may 

not employ a tattooist or a body piercer unless the person is 

registered with the department under this chapter.

Added by Acts 2003, 78th Leg., ch. 1226, Sec. 2, eff. Sept. 1, 2003.

This section was amended by the 84th Legislature. Pending publication 

of the current statutes, see S.B. 219, 84th Legislature, Regular 

Session, for amendments affecting this section.

Sec. 146.0025.  EXEMPTIONS FROM LICENSING REQUIREMENTS;  EAR 

PIERCING ESTABLISHMENTS EXEMPT.  (a)  This chapter does not apply to:

(1)  a medical facility licensed under other law;

(2)  an office or clinic of a person licensed by the Texas 

State Board of Medical Examiners;

(3)  a person who performs only ear piercing;  or

(4)  a facility in which only ear piercing is performed.

(b)  A person who conducts, operates, or maintains a facility, 

office, or clinic described by Subsection (a)(1), (2), or (4) is not 

required to obtain a license under this chapter to operate that 

facility.

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/GetStatute.aspx?Code=HS&Value=146.0025&Date=7/18/2015
http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/84R/billtext/html/SB00219F.HTM


11/16/2015 HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE CHAPTER 146. TATTOO AND CERTAIN BODY PIERCING STUDIOS

file:///P:/Tattoo%20Parlors/HEALTH%20AND%20SAFETY%20CODE%20CHAPTER%20146.%20TATTOO%20AND%20CERTAIN%20BODY%20PIERCI… 3/20

Added by Acts 1999, 76th Leg., ch. 516, Sec. 3, eff. Sept. 1, 1999.

This section was amended by the 84th Legislature. Pending publication 

of the current statutes, see S.B. 219, 84th Legislature, Regular 

Session, for amendments affecting this section.

Sec. 146.003.  LICENSE APPLICATION.  (a)  To receive a tattoo 

studio license, body piercing studio license, or temporary location 

license, a person must submit a signed, verified license application 

to the department on a form prescribed by the department and must 

submit an application fee.  In addition, the person must submit 

evidence from the appropriate zoning officials in the municipality or 

county in which the studio is proposed to be located that confirms 

that the studio is in compliance with existing zoning codes applicable 

to the studio.

 

Text of subsec. (b) as amended by Acts 1999, 76th Leg., ch. 516, Sec. 

4

 

(b)  On receipt of a tattoo studio or body piercing studio 

license application, the department shall inspect the proposed tattoo 

or body piercing studio to determine compliance with this chapter and 

rules adopted by the board under this chapter.  In addition, the 

department shall request confirmation from the appropriate building 

and zoning officials in the municipality or county in which the studio 

is proposed to be located to determine compliance with existing 

building and zoning codes applicable to the studio.  The department 

may issue a license for a tattoo or body piercing studio after 

determining that the studio is in compliance with applicable statutes, 

rules, and building and zoning codes.

 

Text of subsec. (b) as amended by Acts 1999, 76th Leg., ch. 1528, Sec. 

1

 

(b)  The department may issue a license or temporary location 

license for a tattoo studio after determining that the studio is in 

compliance with applicable statutes, rules, and zoning codes.

http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/84R/billtext/html/SB00219F.HTM


!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(!(

!(!(

!(!(!(!(

!(

!(!(!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(!(!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(
!(

!( !(
!(

!(!( !(!(!(!(!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(!(!(

!(

!(
!(

!(
!(

!(!(

!(!(!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(!(

!(

!(
!(

!(!(
!(

!( !(
!(

!(!(

W FM 93

AIRPORT RD

S 3
1S

T S
T

W ADAMS AVE

S INTERSTATE 35

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

S 5
TH

 ST

W AVE L

PE
GA

SU
S D

R

W AVE M

ST
AT

E H
IG

HW
AY

 31
7

W AVE R

AIR
PO

RT
 TR

L

S 1
ST

 ST

OLD
 HOWAR

D RD

S G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

W AVE H

N 1
ST

 ST

S K
EG

LE
Y R

D

E ADAMS AVE

NE H K DODGEN LOOP

CHAR
TE

R OAK D
R

E AVE H

OL
D 

WA
CO

 R
D

N 1
3T

H 
ST

INDUSTRIAL BLVD

N 1
5T

H 
ST

SE
 H

 K 
DO

DG
EN

 LO
OP

E AVE C

WE
ND

LA
ND

 R
D

S 1
1T

H 
ST

S 2
5T

H 
ST

W AVE I

S 1
5T

H 
ST

N 7
TH

 ST

FM
 22

71

S 2
4T

H 
ST

E AVE B

MOORES MILL RD

LO
WE

S D
R

S 9
TH

 ST

E AVE A

W NUGENT AVE

MIDWAY DR

MOUSER RD

E YOUNG AVE

N 3
RD

 ST

HIC
KO

RY
 R

D

N M
AIN

 ST

TARVER DR

HOGAN RD

CE
AR

LE
Y R

D

S 4
3R

D 
ST

N 5
TH

 ST

W AVE P

EB
ER

HA
RD

T R
D

S 5
7T

H
ST

N 8
TH

 ST

S 1
9T

H 
ST

HILLIARD RD

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

W AVE D

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

W AVE F

S M
AIN

 ST

CEDAR CREEK RD

N 1
1T

H S
T

W AVE G

HA
RT

RI
CK

BL
UF

F R
D

SCOTT BLVD

LO
WE

R T
RO

Y R
D

S WHITEHALL RD

N 3
1S

T S
T

S 7
TH

 ST

S 3
5T

H 
ST

S 3
7T

H 
ST

W CENTRAL AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

N 1
4T

H 
ST

S 2
ND

 ST

N 9
TH

 ST

N 6
TH

 ST
S 4

TH
 ST

RA
NG

E R
D

S M
AR

TIN
 LU

TH
ER

 KI
NG

 JR
 D

R

MARLANDWOOD RD

RO
AD

 5

N 4
TH

 ST

S 3
0T

H 
ST

N 4
2N

D 
ST

E AVE D

ST
AR

LIG
HT

 D
R

FOREST TRL

HOPI TRL

LU
CI

US
 M

CC
EL

VE
Y D

R

W AVE J

RID
GE

WA
Y

KELLER RD

WILD BOYS RUN

S 6
TH

 ST

S 3
4T

H 
ST

STRATFORD DR

ANTELOPE TRL

S 2
6T

H 
ST

N 1
2T

H 
ST

N K
EG

LE
Y R

D

PRAIRIE VIEW RD

CASE RD

W
ESTFIELD

BLVD

MCLANE PKWY

W AVE A

S 1
7T

H 
ST

TOWER RD

N 1
6T

H 
ST

S 1
8T

H 
ST

RO
AD

 1

S P
EA

 R
IDG

E R
D

ER
IE

DR

ST
ON

EH
AV

EN
 D

R

N P
EA

 R
ID

GE
 R

D

S 5
1S

T S
T

S 2
3R

D 
ST

W AVE C

DA
IR

Y R
D

PECAN DR

N 5
0T

H 
ST

SHALLOW
FO

RD RD

S 1
4T

H 
ST

LITTLE MEXICO RD

OL
AF

 D
R

DEER TRL
ADAMS LN

CENTRAL POINTE PKWY

CA
NY

ON CREEK DR

S 1
0T

H 
ST

W AVE B

E FRENCH AVE

SAULSBURY DR

20
5 L

OO
P

S49 TH
ST

S4 7TH
ST

S 2
2N

D 
ST

W AVE Z

EAS T
DR

JUPITER DR

N 2
3R

D 
ST

E BLACKLAND RD

SLOUGH DR

BR
OO

KS
 D

R

N 2
ND

 ST

E CENTRAL AVE

FM 2483

W STATE HIGHWAY 36

HEMLOCK BLVD

HERITAGE

HILLCREST RD

S 2
9T

H 
ST

B IRD C RE EK DR

ORION DR

FILLY LN

W KING AVE

E SHELL AVE

S 2
7T

H 
ST

WATERS DAIRY RD

E AVE I

S 5
5T

H S
T

E DOWNS AVE

AZALEA DR

SUNFLOWER LN

S 2
0T

H 
ST

PRAIRE VIEW RD

ELM DR

TRINO RD

WILSONART DR

LARK TRL

S 2
1S

T S
T

BA
TT

LE

DR

OAK HILLS DR

BU
CK

SK
IN

TR
L

WHITE OAK DR

EVERTON DR

COTTONWOOD LNOA
KD

AL
E D

R

W AVE T

W IRVIN AVE

N 2
1S

T S
T

E AVE J

SHALLOW
FORD

WESTRD

S 4
5T

H 
ST

HONEYSUCKLE

WILDFLOWER LN

WHISPERING OAKS

E HOUSTON AVE

PASEO DEL PLATA

PIN OAK DR

MILLER SPRING RD

ROAD 8A

CE
NT

ER
 ST

S 61S
T ST

E AVE G

TRAILRIDGE DR

PEPPER CREEK RD

CE
DA

R 
LN

ST
AG

EC
OA

CH
TRL

ERMINE TRL

E AVE K

KACIE DR

CO
AS

TA
L D

R

W AVE N

ME
AD

OW
OA

KS
DR

RIC
HL

AND
DR

W FRENCH AVE

OS
AG

E

W ELM AVE

N 2
0T

H 
ST

NW H K DODGEN LOOP

CHISHOLM TRL

H K ALLEN PKWY

S T
ER

RA
CE

 ST

THORNTON LN

FAIR HILL DR

S C
ED

AR
 R

D

ENTERPRISE RD

OA
KL

AW
N

DR

MAGNOLIA BLVD

PIM
A

SCOTT & WHITE BLVD

L INWO OD RD

KAREY DR

W HOUSTON AVE

S 1
2T

H 
ST

COLE AVE

W ILD BUC
K RUN

WREN RD

KTON RD

S3RD
ST

MOFFAT RD

LIONS PARK DR

TU
RL

EY
DR

LAKEWOOD DR

E KILLEN LN

W AVE E

VENUS DR

SKYVIEW

KIM
IL

N

KA
SB

ER
G 

DR

LAKE POINTE DR

LAS MORAS DR

E IRVIN AVE

LIT
TL

E R
IVE

R 
RD

WINCHESTER DR

ALABAMA AVE

W DOWNS AVE

HANCOCK DR

EAGLE LANDING DR

GILA TRL

BUFFALO TRL

W GARFIELD AVE

N 1
7T

H 
ST

S 1
6T

H 
ST

GU
N C

LU
B R

D

E ZENITH AVE

PA RK
WAY

DR

FA
WN

 LI
LY

 DR

TAYLORS VALLEY RD

ALEXANDRIA DR

RICKEY DR

W AVE K

E AVE E

BRO OK
LA

WN
DR

OLYMPIA DR

TWIN OAKS DR

E MUNROE AVE

BUTTERFLY DR

BRIAR CLIFF RD

LO NGH OR N
TR L

ALASKA AVE

RIDGEVIEW DR

LORRAINE AVE

BELLMONT

S 2
8T

H 
ST

BUNKER HILL DR

DEERFIELD DR

W AVE V

LAVENDUSKY DR

RAVEN DR

SLEEPY HOLLOW LN

TEXAS

ROBINHOOD DR

SU
GA

R
BR

OO
KD

R

FOX TRL

SW
 W

ES
T L

OO
P

W BARTON AVE

MAR KET LOOP

E UPSHAW AVE

WAGON TRL

W ROYAL AVE

SKYLINE DR

INVERNESS RD
PEANUT DR

PRIVATE DR

CH
EY

EN
NE

DR

ROAD
10

WILLIAMS DR

BRIDGEPORT DR

REDBRUSH

CO
MM

ER
CE

 ST

TW
IN

 C
ITY

 BL
VD

WI
TT

ER
 LN

RO
AD

 3A

STARVIEW ST

FIKES DR

NORTH POINT RD

DA
KO

TA
DR

E XAVIER AVE

BECKER DR
HAWTHORN

KI N G CIR

BURLINGTON

OLD WACO LN

BAKER BLVD

S 41ST ST

W AVE U

SUNSET TRL

STADIUM RD

IRA YOUNG DR

PA
ND

A D
R

OA
KV

IEW
 D

R

CA
LL

E R
OB

LE

EAST RI
DG

E BLV
D

ROAD 7

SHA
DY HILL DR

<Null>

BRANDON DR

GREENVI EW DR

WYNDHAM HILL PKWY

WI
ND

CL
IFF

 D
R

KENDRA DR

SW SOUT H LOOP

E WALKER AVE

W CALHOUN AVE

KEVIN DR

EA

GLE R D
SIO

UX

N 1
8T

H 
ST

HART RD

WEATHERFORD DR

SAGE MEADOW DR

PARKSIDE DR

DOVELN

DUKE DR

STA NDREWS PL

SW
EA

ST
LO

OP

BOWIE TRL

VALLE YVIE W
D R

LOOP D
R

HOPKINS DR

GI
LL

ME
IST

ER
 LN

RO
AD

 4
C RYER LN

CH
ER

IN
G 

DR

E BARTON AVE

WAHLE LN

POISON OAK RD

A SPEN TRL

ALAMO TRL

LAUREL RIDGE

TUCSON

DR

BR
UT

US
 LN

W PARK AVE

DO
GW

OO
D 

LN

CROCKER DR

AM
BR

OS
E C

IR

LIG
HT

NE
R 

LN

OKLAHO
M A

S 39TH ST

PECOS DR

CARRIAGEH OUSE
DR

W KILLEN LN

RESEARCH LOOP

S 5
3R

D 
ST

L AND FIL L RD

FOXHILL RD

DR
U R

YL
N

GENE ST

EMERALD
GATEDR

ME
AD

OW
BR

OO
K D

R

FIELDSTONE DR

J I
 BR

UC
E D

R

MISTY PINE DR

AS
H LN

RED BUD RD

HILLSIDE DR

TA
NG

LE
WO

OD RD

TRENTON DR

VALLEYM IST DR

CREASEY DR

W WELTON AVE

W ZENITH AVE

MAYB ORN DR

OAKRI DG EDR
FREEDOM DR

SU
ND

AN
CE

 D
R

MO
RG

AN
S P

OI
NT

 R
D

VIL
LA

GE
 W

AY

S 32ND ST

W UPSHAW AVE

CARNATION LN

STANFORD DR

BERGER RD

TIMBER RIDGE DR

FR
IEN

DS
HI

P L
N

SUMAC
DR

N C
ED

AR
 R

D

RUGGLES LOOP

TENNESSEE

GU
Y D

R

RA
LE

IG
H 

DR

AS
CO

T PKWY

IOWA AVE

MONTANADR

PARKDALE DR

OX
FO

RD
DR

PULLMAN PLACE BLVD

W WALKER AVE

PHOENIXDR

W AVE S

FAN

NIN LOOP

BRIDGEPOINTE DR

LAWNWOOD DR

MITCHELL DR

BOX CANYON DR

DODGE DR

GEORGIA AVE

WHITER OCK DR

W VIRGINIA AVE

DUSTYLN

MA
DI

S O
N

N 2
7T

H 
ST

BLUE MEADOW DR

PASEO DEL ORO

N 3
6T

H 
ST

SU
N 

VA
LL

EY
 D

R

WENDY OAKS DR

RO
BIN

 R
D

ROSELLE DR

DRAPER DR

E AV E N

IRO
N GAT

E DR

NA
PL

ES
 D

R

B RYSO

N DR

WILSHIRE DR

CORDOVA DR

FA
WN

MEADOWS DR

LA
S C

OL
IN

AS
DR

CA
DDO

HUNTINGTON
D R

KANSAS AVE

IDAHO AVE

WESTW

AY
DR

ROAD 8

CHURCH ST

WI
LD

WO
OD

BULLSEYE LN

VA
N 

DY
CK

 D
R

BELL DR

EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
FA

RM
 D

R

E STATE HIGHWAY 36
N 1

9T
H 

ST

COVENTRY DR

E AVE F

W OAKLAND AVE

ELK TRL

PAINTBRUSH LN

BROKEN SHOE TRL

BRAZOS
DR

AMBER
DAWN

DR

E LAMAR AVE

WA
L N

UT
R D

OTTOWAY DR

STONEHAM

DONS TRL

E MARVIN R FELDER DR

FAIRWAY DR

DEEP DR

PU
MP

KIN
 D

R

LAGO TERRA BLVD

IROQUOIS TRL

DAISY LN

RO
AD

 9

CREEKVIEW TRL

SAN JACINTO RD

SAGEBRUSH DR

CRYSTAL DR

W YOUNG AVE

SYCAMORE ST

ARIZONA

DUDLEYS DRAW DR

STATION RD

KINGSBURY DR

E LAMAR DR

BIRCH BLVD

BROOKHAVEN DR

PA
LO

MI
NO

 D
R

SILVER STONE DR

MA
RK

HA
M

DR
W BLACKLAND RD

S 3
8T

H 
ST

DEWBERRY LN

BIG TIMBER
DR

MAR
IAM DR

WOODBURY DR

CALVIN DR

FERRARA CIR

NEUBERRYCLIFFE

BIRDC REEK TER

LAS CIENEGA BLVD

N 49TH ST
TRADE PL

DE
VIN

 D
R

S 1
3T

H 
ST

SANDSTONE DR

MICHAELS DR

S 3
6T

H 
ST

BR
EW

ST
ER

 R
D

KATHY DR

S 4
0T

H 
ST

WICKERSHAM DR

WICKER DR

TA

LON DR

LIBERTY DR

SH
EL

TO
N 

DR

S K
NO

B S
T

BL
AC

KS
TO

NE
 D

R

WE
ST

ER
N 

WA
Y

BL
UE

 JA
Y D

R

FO
XT

AIL

TW
EL

VE
OA

KS
DR

GRAND
AV

E

TAYLORS DR

COUNTRY VIEW LN

E VICTORY AVE

BU
RN

HA
M 

DR

MI
LA

N 
CT

EDGEWOOD LN

CH
EV

Y CIR

COLE PORTER DR

N 43RD ST

WILDCAT DR

N 41ST ST

E OAKLAND AVE

BLUEBONNET LN

W SHELL AVE

WEEPING WILLOW DR

TRAILVIEW DR

INCA D OVE DR

VISTA VALLEY DR

LAGO DEL NORTE DR

BIR
DS

ON
G 

LN

FOS SIL CREEK DR

GRANITE DR

PE
NR

OS
E L

N

W BELLAIRE NORTH

E ELM AVE

N KATY ST

WIND CHIME WAY

SARAH'S WAY

SW UTILITY DR

EX
CH

AN
GE

 PL

DAVIS
LN

PAPPUS CT

VALLEY FORGE AVE

FOX GLEN LN

ANDY LN

MEADOW WOOD DR

BU
ZZ

I C
T

LAKE WHITNEY DR

ALAMO CT

NORTHGATE LOOP

N 1
0T

H 
ST

E AVE M

VIC
TO

RI
AN

 D
R

FAWN TRLBENBROOK CT

LILLY CIR

KELLY DR

RIVER HILLS CT

HONEYSUCKLE DR

MENDOZA CIR

DAN IELS DR

STONEHOLLOW DR

WEST RIDGE BLVD

ROS EMARY LN

TANGLEHEAD DR

KYLE DR

ER ATH DR

GALLETA CT

WINDSONG LN

MARKET PL

JU
NI

PE
R 

DR
JA

ME
ST

OW
N 

DR

FU
TU

RE
 KI

MI
 LN

WE
ST

 CA
MP

US
 DR

POPLAR RD

S FRYE RS CREEK CIR

LILAC LN

HOPE ST

GEORGE DR

BROKEN SPOKE DR

CA
LL

E N
OG

AL

LIBER T Y HILL

BASHAW L OOP

PAUL REVERE ST

IGLESIA LN

W AVE O

N 2
4T

H 
ST

ST
ON

EB
RO

OK
 D

R

N 3
4T

H 
ST

WO
OD

 C
RE

EK
 D

R

MARDEAN LN

EL
K C

RE
EK

 ST

OPEN PRAIRIE DR

CO
NN

OR
 D

R

EL CAPITAN DR

ALAMOSA LN

FO
WL

ER
 R

D

PARNELL DR

BOBCAT TRL

DUVAL CT

SMOCK MILL LN

LU
NA

 LN

RAMCON DR

MALL DR

WILLOW RD

TWILIGHT DR

N 2
9T

H 
ST

N 2
5T

H 
ST

TRISTAN LN

N 2
2N

D 
ST

E NUGENT AVE

HEMLOCK CT

TR
OY

 ST

FANTAIL LN

SO
UT

HW
OO

D 
DR

PRCIN LN

CHADEL ST

CASLER CIR

LA
RK

SP
UR

 LN

WAL-MART DR

IRIS CIR

BL
UE

ST
EM

 C
T

MI
ST

Y L
N

FALLEN LEAF LN

MONTSCOTIA LN

BOWIE CT

W XAVIER AVE

WILSON PL

S H
EN

DE
RS

ON
 ST

TAYLOR`S VALLEY RD

HO
PI 

CI
R

RIVERSIDE TRL

E CALHOUN AVE

W VICTORY AVE

N 1
1T

H S
T

S 3
3R

D 
ST

W AVE B

S 3
5T

H 
ST

FOREST TRL

S 5
5T

H 
ST

N 1
8T

H 
ST

W AVE G

S 7
TH

 ST

AZALEA DR

S 3
RD

 ST

S 4
1S

T S
T

E AVE N

E AVE E

FOREST TRL

W ADAMS AVE

S 2
2N

D 
ST

STONEHOLLOW DR

GU
N 

CL
UB

 R
D

S INTERSTATE 35

W AVE K

S 1
7T

H 
ST

S GENERAL BRU
CE D

R

W AVE V

W AVE P

E IRVIN AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

SCOTT &
WHI TEBLVD

W AVE J

S 49T
H ST

S 2
0T

H 
ST

E AVE M

W AVE T

N 2
ND

 ST

N 1
0T

H 
ST

W ZENITH AVE

N 2
ND

 ST

S 5
TH

 ST

N PEA RIDGE RD

W AVE U

N 1
4T

H 
ST

W AVE J

S 4
5T

H 
ST

S 7
TH

 ST

S 5
TH

 ST

S 1
6T

H 
ST

POISON OAK RD

W AVE K

S 1
3T

H 
ST

E AVE J

S P
EA

 R
IDG

E R
D

W NUGENT AVE

W AVE E

W PARK AVE

CANYON CREEK DR

W AVE J

S 5
7T

H 
ST

HIL
LIA

RD
 R

D

W SHELL AVE

S 2
3R

D 
ST

E AVE D

S 61
ST

ST

S 6
TH

 ST

W AVE N

CANYON CREEK DR

W AVE A

E AVE I

S 1
2T

H 
ST

N 2
0T

H 
ST

W AVE G

W AVE O

LU
NA

LN

E AVE M

E AVE B

E MUNROE AVE

W AVE R

E AVE H

S 9
TH

 ST

<Null>

PRAIRE VIEW RD

N 1
3T

H 
ST

W
ES

TF
IEL

D
BL

VD

S 2
1S

T S
T

S 4
9T

H 
ST

S 4
1S

T S
T

S 3
9T

H 
ST

S 9
TH

 ST

E AVE K

E AVE E

N 1
5T

H 
ST

S 2
0T

H 
ST

W WALKER AVE

E AVE N

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

E CALHOUN AVE

S 3
7T

H 
ST

S 5
5T

H 
ST

S 4
7T

H 
ST

W BARTON AVE

E SHELL AVE

N
12TH

ST

RED BUD RD

W AVE T

S 4
TH

 ST

S KNOB ST

LAVENDUSKY DR

E DOWNS AVE N 2
2N

D 
ST

E AVE F

N I
NT

ER
ST

AT
E 3

5

S 5
3R

D 
ST

BR
EW

ST
ER

 R
D

E AVE N

S 2
ND

 ST

E AVE F

S 4
TH

 ST

N
15 TH

ST

W AVE K

N G
EN

ER
AL

 BR
UC

E D
R

PR
IVA

TE
 DR

W AVE C

E BLACKLAND RD

S 5
3R

D 
ST

S 11TH ST

S 30TH S T

S 5
1S

T S
T

S 2
1S

T S
T

N 9
TH

 ST

E AVE D

LINW OOD RD

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

S 1
3T

H 
ST

Ü0 1.5 30.75 Miles
GIS products are for informational purposes and 
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They 
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and 
represent only the approximate relative location 
of property boundaries and other features.

!( Current Salon Locations

<all other values>

DISTRICT
I35-CITY ENTRY DISTRICT

I35-CIVIC DISTRICT

I35-FREEWAY RETAIL/COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

I35-INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT

NAME
COMMERCIAL ZONE

DOWNTOWN ZONE

Temple Parcels

current_Zoning
Representation: CurrentZoning_Rep_1

HI - CUP

UE

UE - PD

SF-1

SF-1 - CUP

SF-1 - PD

SF-2

SF-2 - PD

SF-3

SF-3 - PD

SF-3 - CUP, PD

SFA

SFA-2

SFA-2 - PD

SFA-3

SFA-3 - PD

2F

2F - CUP

2F - PD

MF-1

MF-1 - CUP

MF-1 - PD

MF-2

MF-2 - CUP

MF-2 - PD

MF-3 - PD

O-1

O-1 - CUP

O-1 - PD

O-2

O-2 - CUP

O-2 - PD

NS

NS - CUP

NS - PD

NS - CUP, PD

GR

GR - CUP

GR - PD

GR - CUP, PD

CA

CA - CUP

CA - PD

C

C - CUP

C - PD

C - CUP, PD

LI

LI - CUP

LI - PD

LI - CUP, PD

HI

HI - PD

AG

AG - CUP

AG - PD

MH

MH - CUP

MH - PD

MU

MU - CUP

SD-C

SD-C - CUP

SD-H

SD-H - CUP

SD-T

SD-V

T4

T4 - PD

T4 - CUP

T5-C

T5-C - CUP

T5-C - PD

T5-E

T5-E - CUP

T5-E - PD

NO BASE

CUP

PD

Industrial, Commercial, and General Retail
Zoned Property



W AVE L

S 3
1S

T S
T

W AVE R

W AVE M

S 1
ST

 ST
N 

1S
T S

T

W AVE H

E AVE C

N 
13

TH
 ST

N 
15

TH
 ST

N 
IN

TE
RS

TA
TE

 35

S 1
1T

H 
ST

S 2
5T

H 
ST

S 1
5T

H 
ST

E AVE B

S 2
4T

H 
STW AVE I

N 
7T

H 
ST

S 1
3T

H 
ST

E AVE A

S 9
TH

 STS 4
3R

D 
ST

E YOUNG AVE

W AVE P

E ADAMS AVE

N 
MA

IN
 ST

N 
5T

H 
ST

S 1
9T

H 
ST

W AVE T

E AVE H

N 
8T

H 
ST

W AVE F

W AVE D

S M
AI

N 
ST

W AVE G

N 
11

TH
 ST

N 
31

ST
 ST

S 7
TH

 ST

S 5
TH

 ST

S 3
5T

H 
ST

S 3
7T

H 
ST

W CENTRAL AVE

S 3
3R

D 
ST

S 2
ND

 ST

SCOTT BLVD

S 4
TH

 ST

N 
14

TH
 ST

N 
9T

H 
ST

N 
6T

H 
ST

EB
ER

HA
RD

T R
D

E AVE D

S 3
0T

H 
ST

S 57TH ST

RO
AD

 5

N 
4T

H 
ST

W AVE J

S 6
TH

 ST

N 
42

ND
 ST

S M
AR

TIN
 LU

TH
ER

 KI
NG

 JR
 D

R

S 3
4T

H 
ST

N
3R D

ST

S 2
6T

H 
ST

N 
12

TH
 ST

S INTERSTATE 35

S 1
7T

H 
ST

S 5
1S

T S
T

S 1
8T

H 
ST

INDUSTRIAL BLVD

W AVE A

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

N 
16

TH
 ST

S 2
3R

D 
ST

RO
AD

 1

W AVE C
S 1

4T
H 

ST

E FRENCH AVE

S 1
0T

H 
ST

W AVE B

W NUGENT AVE

S 4
9T

H 
ST

S 4
7T

H 
ST

CASE RD

S 2
2N

D 
ST

N 
23

RD
 ST

E CENTRAL AVE

HILLCREST RD

HERITAGE

E SHELL AV E

N 
2N

D 
ST

S 2
9T

H 
ST

E AVE I

SAULSBURY DR

W AVE Z

S 2
7T

H 
ST

S 5
5T

H 
ST

E DOWNS AVE

S 2
0T

H 
ST

S 2
1S

T S
T

W AVE K

NE H K DODGEN LOOP

E AVE J

EVERTON DR

N 
21

ST
 ST

S 4
5T

H 
ST

W LAMAR AVE

E HOUSTON AVE

E AVE G

N GENERAL BRUCE DR

W IRVIN AVE

E AVE K

S T
ER

RA
CE

 ST

OS
AG

E

ROAD 8A

ENTERPRISE RD

W FRENCH AVE

W ELM AVE

W AVE N

COLE AVE

N 
20

TH
 ST

S 3RD
ST

SCOTT & WHITE BLVD

S 1
2T

H 
ST

S GENERAL BRUCE DR

SE H K DODGEN LOOP

W HOUSTON AVE

E KILLE
N LN

W AVE E

PIM
A

E IRVIN AVE

E AVE E

W GARFIELD AVE

S16TH
S T

LU
CIU

S M
CC

EL
VE

Y D
R

HANCOCK DR

E ZENITH AVE

W DOWNS AVE

N 
17

TH
 ST

W ADAMS AVE

TEXAS

E MUNROE AVE

S 2
8T

H 
ST

BUNKER HILL DR

BELLMONT

SW
 W

ES
T L

OO
P

W AVE V

SKYLINE DR

E UPSHAW AVE

W ROYAL AVE

W BARTON AVE

E XAVIER AVE

S 41ST ST

ROAD
10

BAKER BLVD

RO
AD

 3A

KI N G CIR

LOWERTROY RD

W AVE U

E WALKER AVE

W MUNROE AVE

STADIUM RD

SW SOUT H LOOP

ROAD 7

SIO
UX

AIRPORT RD

SW
EA

ST
LO

OP

W CALHOUN AVE

N 
18

TH
 STE BARTON AVE

S 39TH ST

S 5
3R

D 
ST

W PARK AVE

W KILLEN LN

<N ull>

TENNESSEE

LAVENDUSKY DR

RUGGLES LOO P
W WELTON AVE

W ZENITH AVE

S 32N

D ST

MAY BORN DR

W UPSHAW AVE

W WALKER AVE

DODGE DR

MITCHE LL DR

DRAPER DR

E AV E N

GU
N CL

UB
RD

Y O
RK

T O
W

N
DR

F ANNIN LOOP

E AVE F

W VIRGINIA AVE

N 
27

TH
 ST

N 
36

TH
 STCHURCH ST

RA
NG

E R
D

C ADDO
CE

NT
ER

 ST

ROAD 13

ROAD 8

VA
N 

DY
CK

 D
R

E MARVIN R FELDER DR

N 
19

TH
 ST

E LAMAR AVE

W OAKLAND AVE

STONEHAM
E KING AVE

TRADE PL

S 3
8T

H 
ST

ARIZONA

S 3
6T

H 
ST

S 4
0T

H 
ST

S K
NO

B S
T

BURLINGTON

E VICTORY AVE

FOSSIL CREEK DR

W SHELL AVE

N 41ST ST
N 43RD ST

E OAKLAND AVE

E ELM AVE

EX
CH

AN
GE

 PL

N KATY ST

SW UTILITY DR

RIVER HILLS CT

E AVE M

ALAMO CT

N 
10

TH
 ST

S FRYE RS CREEK CIR

ERATH DR

GEORGE DR

MARKET PL
HOPE ST

EL
K C

RE
EK

 ST
W AVE O

N 
24

TH
 ST

MARDEAN LN

DUVAL CT

RAMCON DR

LU
NA

 LN

E NUGENT AVE

N 
29

TH
 ST

N 
25

TH
 ST

N 
22

ND
 ST

N 
33

RD
 ST

BOWIE CT

S H
EN

DE
RS

ON
 ST

W XAVIER AVE

E CALHOUN AVE

E AVE M

S 2
ND

 ST

S 1
8T

H 
ST

W AVE T

S 3
RD

 ST

S 1
7T

H 
ST

N 
2N

D 
ST

W AVE C
W AVE B

S 7
TH

 ST

S 3
9T

H 
ST

S 7
TH

 ST

N 
10

TH
 ST

E AVE N

S 4
7T

H 
ST

S 3
RD

 ST

S5TH
ST

S 1
2T

H 
ST

N 12 TH
ST

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

W AVE G

N 
15

TH
 ST

S 2
0T

H 
ST

S 5
5T

H 
ST

S KNOB ST

W AVE G

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

S 11TH ST

N 
2N

D 
ST

W AVE K

W AVE N

E AVE F

S 2
3R

D 
ST

W SHELL AVE

E BARTON AVE

S GENER
AL BR

UC
E D

R

W AVE J

W AVE D

N 
13

TH
 ST

W AVE E

W AVE K

S 4
TH

 ST

N 
9T

H 
ST

S 4
1S

T S
T

W AVE V

S 5
1S

T S
T

S 2
2N

D 
ST

N
12T H

ST

S 5
3R

D 
ST

S 4
5T

H 
ST

S 4
1S

T S
T

W AVE J

S 4
9T

H 
ST

E AVE J

S 2
1S

T S
T

E AVE I

E AVE B

N 
1S

T S
T

E IRVIN AVE

S 9
TH

 ST E AVE E

W AVE K

S 5
7T

H 
ST

E AVE F

N 
14

TH
 ST

N 
18

TH
 ST

N 
MA

IN
 ST

S 1
3T

H 
ST

E AVE D

W PARK AVE

W ZENITH AVE

E CALHOUN AVE

S 5
5T

H 
ST

S 4
TH

 ST S 6
TH

 STS 9
TH

 ST

N 
5T

H 
ST

E AVE I

S 5
3R

D 
ST

N 
7T

H 
ST

S 1
6T

H 
ST

E AVE M

S 2
0T

H 
ST

E AVE E

E AVE N

S 5
TH

 ST

S GENERAL BRU
CE

DR

E AVE D

E AVE N

N 
11

TH
 ST

S 1
0T

H 
ST

E CENTRAL AVE

SW H K DODGEN LOOP

W NUGENT AVE

W AVE P

N 
IN

TE
RS

TA
TE

 35

W AVE A

S 2
1S

T S
T

S 30TH ST

N
GEN ERALBR UCE DR

S 49T
H ST

SIZ  AREAS
0 10.5 Miles

GIS products are for informational purposes and 
may not have been prepared for or be suitable for 
legal, engineering, or surveying purposes.  They 
do not represent an on-the-ground survey and 
represent only the approximate relative location 
of property boundaries and other features.

Ü

DOWNTOWN ZONE
COMMERCIAL ZONE



  1 

 ORDINANCE NO.      
[Z-FY-16-23] 

  
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TEMPLE, 
TEXAS, AUTHORIZING AMENDMENTS TO TEMPLE UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, ARTICLE 5 – USE OF STANDARDS, DELETING 
‘TATTOO PARLOR’ AS A PROHIBITED USE; ALLOWING BODY 
PIERCING STUDIOS AND TATTOO STUDIOS BY RIGHT IN LIGHT 
INDUSTRIAL, HEAVY INDUSTRIAL, GENERAL RETAIL AND 
COMMERCIAL ZONING DISTRICTS AND PROVIDING CERTAIN 
LIMITATIONS; AMENDING ARTICLE 6 – SPECIAL PURPOSE AND 
OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICTS; PROHIBITING BODY PIERCING 
STUDIOS AND TATTOO STUDIOS IN THE INTERSTATE 35 CORRIDOR 
OVERLAY; AND AMENDING ARTICLE 11 – DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING 
DEFINITIONS FOR BODY PIERCING, BODY PIERCING STUDIO, TATTOO, 
AND TATTOO STUDIO; PROVIDING A REPEALER; PROVIDING A 
SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 

              
 

Whereas, tattoo studios are currently prohibited in the City limits according to Section. 
5.1.1.C. “Prohibited Uses” of the Temple Unified Development Code (“UDC”); 
 
 Whereas, at its April 18, 2016 meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission voted 
unanimously to amend Article 5, Article 6, and Article 11 of the UDC - the recommended changes 
are as follows: 
 

• ARTICLE 5:  USE STANDARDS: The amendment will allow for both body piercing and 
tattoo studios, by right, in General Retail, Commercial, Light Industrial and Heavy 
Industrial zoning districts with the following limitations: 

 
• ARTICLE 5, SECTION 5.3.27 – Body Piercing Studio and Tattoo Studio Standards:   

 
o a body piercing studio or tattoo studio may not be located within 1000 feet of 

another body piercing studio or tattoo studio; 
o A body piercing studio or tattoo studio may not be located within 1000 feet of a 

School, Public or Private, as that term is defined in this Code; 
 

o for purposes of this section, measurements are made in a straight line, without 
regard to intervening structures or objects, from property line to property line;  

o a body piercing studio or tattoo studio may not be located on property that falls 
within the Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay or any designated Strategic Investment 
Zone Corridor; and 

o a handwashing sink is required that is separate from restroom sinks. 
 

• ARTICLE 11: DEFINITIONS – Article 11 has been amended to add a definition for: 
 

o Body Piercing – The creation of an opening in an individual’s body, other than in 
an individual’s earlobe, to insert jewelry or another decoration; 

o Body Piercing Studio – A facility in which body piercing is performed; 
 



  2 

 
o Tattoo – The practice of producing an indelible mark or figure on the human body 

by scarring or inserting a pigment under the skin using needles, scalpels, or other 
related equipment. The term includes the application of permanent cosmetics; and 

o Tattoo Studio – An establishment or facility in which tattooing is performed. 
 
 Whereas, the City Council has considered the matter and deems it in the public interest to 
approve this action. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Part 1: The City Council approves amendments to Temple Unified Development Code 
Article 5, Article 6, and Article 11, as set forth more fully in Exhibit A, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein for all purposes. 
 

Part 2: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance are to the extent of such conflict hereby repealed. 
 

Part 3: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the sections, 
paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable and, if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this ordinance should be declared invalid by the final 
judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any of 
the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation in this ordinance of 
any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section. 
 

Part 4: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage in 
accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Temple, Texas, and it is accordingly 
so ordained. 
 

Part 5: It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this ordinance 
was passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place, and purpose 
of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on First Reading and Public Hearing on the 6th day of 
October, 2016. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED on Second Reading on the 20th day of October, 2016. 
 
       THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS 
 
 
              
       DANIEL A. DUNN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
              
Lacy Borgeson     Kayla Landeros 
City Secretary      City Attorney 


	UITEM DESCRIPTION:U   Consider adopting a resolution authorizing the purchase of portions of two properties necessary for the expansion of Old Howard Road and Moores Mill Road and authorizing closing costs associated with the purchases, in an amount n...
	UITEM DESCRIPTION:U Consider adopting a resolution authorizing a Chapter 380 Economic Development Agreement between the City of Temple and Temple Economic Development Corporation for the conveyance of 14.868 acres of City-owned property located at 257...
	UDEPT.  / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:U
	UFISCAL IMPACT:U The total maximum grant match by the City is $57,218. Payment of the grant matching funds will not be made until work and inspections are completed, and receipts are received by the City.  Funding is available in account 110-1500-515-...
	UATTACHMENTS:U
	Proposed building elevation
	Resolution
	10/20/16
	Item #4(K)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 1 of 1
	UDEPT.  / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:U
	UFISCAL IMPACT:U  United Way of Central Texas will pay rent in the amount of $1 per year. United Way will be responsible for all utility charges including electricity, and telephone services and will contract for those services directly to the utility...
	Item #4(L)
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 1 of 11
	UDEPT.  / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:U
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 2 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 3 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 4 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 5 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 6 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 7 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 8 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 9 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 10 of 11
	10/20/16
	Item #4(M)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 10 of 11
	UATTACHMENTS:
	Draft Agreement Resolution
	UITEM DESCRIPTION:U SECOND READING: Consider adopting an ordinance authorizing an amendment to the Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone No. 1 Financing and Project Plans to align with the 2022 Master Plan for years FY 2016-2062.
	10/20/16
	Item #4(O)
	Consent Agenda
	Page 1 of 1
	ATTACHMENTS:
	10/20/16
	Item #5
	Regular Agenda
	Page 1 of 3
	DEPARTMENT / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:
	Mark Baker, Senior Planner
	10/20/16
	Item #5
	Regular Agenda
	Page 2 of 3
	10/20/16
	Item #5
	Regular Agenda
	Page 3 of 3
	FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable
	10/20/16
	Item #6
	Regular Agenda
	Page 1 of 4
	DEPARTMENT / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:
	Lynn Barrett, Assistant Director of Planning
	COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (CP) COMPLIANCE: The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan and Sidewalk and Trails Plan. A table summarizing the following discussion is attached.
	FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable
	10/20/16
	Item #7
	Regular Agenda
	Page 1 of 5
	DEPARTMENT / DIVISION SUBMISSION & REVIEW:
	Mark Baker, Senior Planner
	COMPREHENSIVE PLAN (CP) COMPLIANCE: The proposed rezoning relates to the following goals, objectives or maps of the Comprehensive Plan and Sidewalk and Trails Plan. A table summarizing the following discussion is attached.
	FISCAL IMPACT:  Not Applicable
	10/20/16
	Item #8
	Regular Agenda
	Page 1 of 1
	ITEM DESCRIPTION:   SECOND READING: Consider adopting an ordinance amending Chapter 16 of the Code of Ordinances to delete Article VIII, “Tattoo Shops.”
	ARTICLE VIII. TATTOO SHOPS
	10/20/16
	Item #9
	Regular Agenda
	Page 1 of 4
	10/20/16
	Item #9
	Regular Agenda
	Page 2 of 4
	10/20/16
	Item #9
	Regular Agenda
	Page 3 of 4
	10/20/16
	Item #9
	Regular Agenda
	Meet & Confer Agrment 2017 Final 100716 (002).pdf
	DEFINITIONS
	ARTICLE 1
	Association Business
	Military Leave Time Account
	ARTICLE 8


	SAVINGS CLAUSE
	ARTICLE 13


	TRZ Budget Adjustment -Zone FP amendment 10 20 16.pdf
	Budget Adjustment 2016

	Z-FY-16-46 ATTACHMENTS.pdf
	1On  Site Photos
	2Additional Site Views
	2Surrounding Properties
	3Aerial Location Map
	4TABLES FOR RV RENTAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENT AT 5806 S General Bruce
	5Recommended Site Plan
	6Public Notification
	10-03-16 P & Z Draft Minutes

	Z-FY-16-43 Staff Report Attachments.pdf
	Zoning 20160725 - Submittal.pdf
	Application
	OverAll
	4.917 aCRES
	Tract 1
	6.932 Acres
	Tract 2
	11.771 Acres
	Tract 3
	18.464 Acres
	Tract 4

	Exhibit A.pdf
	Application
	OverAll
	4.917 aCRES
	Tract 1
	6.932 Acres
	Tract 2
	11.771 Acres
	Tract 3
	18.464 Acres
	Tract 4

	Vicinity Map for Poster.pdf
	Application
	OverAll
	4.917 aCRES
	Tract 1
	6.932 Acres
	Tract 2
	11.771 Acres
	Tract 3
	18.464 Acres
	Tract 4


	Z-FY-16-23 - City Council attachments for 10-20-16 CC (tattoo and body piercing studio code).pdf
	APPLICANT: City of Temple
	UDC Draft Amendments (Body Piercing and Tattoo Studios).pdf
	Article 1 General Provisions
	Sec. 1.1. Title
	Sec. 1.2. Purpose
	1.2.1 This UDC is established in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan for the purpose of promoting the health, safety and general welfare of the City. It is designed to:
	A. Lessen the congestion in the streets;
	B. Secure safety from fire, panic and other dangers;
	C. Provide adequate light and air;
	D. Prevent the overcrowding of land and avoid undue concentration of population; and
	E. Facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, wastewater, schools, parks and other public requirements.


	Sec. 1.3. Compliance
	1.3.1 No land may be hereafter used or occupied and no structure may be hereafter designed, erected, altered, used, or occupied except in compliance with all standards established in this UDC.
	1.3.2 No land may be used or occupied and no structure may be designed, erected, altered, used, or occupied except in compliance with all conditions set forth and approved by City Council through ordinance or resolution.

	Sec. 1.4. Enforcement
	1.4.1 The Director of Planning, in coordination with the Chief Building Official and the Director of Public Works, will be responsible for the administration, interpretation, and enforcement of this UDC. The City Manager may make a final staff ruling,...
	1.4.2 The City Attorney may institute appropriate action in a court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of this UDC with respect to any applicable violation that occurs within any area subject to the provisions of this UDC.

	Sec. 1.5. Violations and Penalties
	1.5.1 All violations are subject to the enforcement and penalties established in Chapter 1, Sec. 1-9 of the City Code of Ordinances.

	Sec. 1.6. Authority
	1.6.1 This UDC is adopted under authority of the constitution and laws of the State of Texas, including particularly Chapters 211, 212, 213, 216 and 242 of the Local Government Code, and pursuant to the provisions of the Charter of the City.
	1.6.2 Wherever this UDC cites a local, state or federal statute that is later amended or superseded, the citation is deemed to refer to the amended statute or the statute that most closely corresponds to the superseded statute.

	Sec. 1.7. Jurisdiction
	1.7.1 Within City Limits
	1.7.2 Within the City’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction

	Sec. 1.8. Definition Reference
	Sec. 1.9. Rules of Language and Statutory Construction
	1.9.1 The following general rules of statutory construction apply when interpreting this UDC.
	A. Words in the present tense include the future. The reverse is also true.
	B. Words in the singular number include the plural number. The reverse is also true.
	C. The word "building" includes the word "structure.”
	D. The word "lot" includes the words "plot" or "tract.”
	E. The words “must” and “may not” are mandatory and the word “may” is permissive.
	F. The word “district” means zoning district.
	G. The word "City" means the City of Temple, Texas.
	H. The text material of this UDC controls over illustrative material.
	I. Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the use of terms such as “including,” “such as,” or similar language are intended to provide examples, not to be exhaustive lists of all possibilities.
	J. Commentaries are sometimes included in this UDC as a means of clarifying certain provisions or providing supplemental information thought to be useful for UDC users. Text marked as “commentary” has no regulatory effect. It is intended solely as a g...
	K. All references to other city, county, state or federal regulations in this UDC refer to the most current version and citation for those regulations, unless expressly indicated otherwise. If the referenced regulations have been repealed and not repl...
	L. All references to “days” are to be deemed working days unless otherwise expressly stated. The time in which an act must be completed is computed by excluding the first day and including the last day. If the last day is a Saturday, Sunday or holiday...
	M. Wherever a provision appears requiring the head of a department or another official or employee of the City to perform an act or duty, that provision is construed as authorizing the department head or official to delegate that responsibility to a d...

	1.9.2 In construing this UDC, all provisions are given equal weight, unless the context clearly demands otherwise.

	Sec. 1.10. Completion of Building Under Construction
	Sec. 1.11. Vested Rights
	1.11.1 Adoption of Chapter 245
	1.11.2 Purpose
	A. It is the intent of the City to consider approval of all development permits, except as provided in this UDC or by State law, on the basis of those standards and regulations that are in effect on the date that original application or a master plan ...
	B. While the City provides for the expiration of development permits under certain terms and conditions as provided in Sec. 1.11.3, the City will not shorten the normal life of any permit in the series of permits needed for a developmental project, af...

	1.11.3 Expiration of Permit Applications
	A. The intent of this Section is to provide an expiration date for applications for development permits which otherwise lack an expiration date, in accordance with Local Government Code Section 245.002(e).
	B. Whenever the City requires the filing of an application for a development permit, no rights shall accrue to the applicant until an administratively complete application, in terms of form and content, is filed with the City. An application for a dev...
	1. The applicant fails to provide documents or other information necessary to comply with the City’s technical standards related to the form and content of the permit application;
	2. The City provides written notice to the applicant within 10 business days after the application is filed that specifies what documents or information is missing from the application, and provides the date that the application will expire; and
	3. The applicant fails to provide the document or additional information by the date specified in the City’s written notice to the applicant.


	1.11.4 Dormant Projects
	A. In accordance with Section 245.005, “Dormant Projects,” of Chapter 245 of the Local Government Code, the City adopts an expiration date of two years from the date of issue of any development permit issued by the City if no progress has been made to...
	B. For purposes of this Section, “progress towards completion of the project,” includes any one of the following:
	1. The applicant submits an application for a Final Plat is to the Planning & Zoning Commission;
	2. The applicant makes a good faith attempt to file with the Planning & Zoning Commission an administratively complete application for a permit necessary to begin or continue towards completion of the applicant’s project,
	3. The applicant has incurred costs towards developing the infrastructure needed for the development including but not limited to roadways, utilities or other infrastructure needed to serve, in whole or part, the project;
	4. The applicant posts fiscal security with the City to ensure the applicant’s performance of an obligation required by the City; or
	5. The applicant has paid utility connection fees to the City.


	1.11.5 Process for Certifying Vested Rights Associated with a Project
	A. The applicant used its property or filed an application as provided in Texas Local Government Code Section 43.002 prior to annexation of that property, and that the regulations against which vested rights are claimed are not subject to an exemption...
	B. The applicant filed an application as provided in Texas Local Government Code Chapter 245 prior to adoption of the regulations against which vested rights are claimed, that regulations against which vested rights are claimed are not subject to an e...


	Sec. 1.12. Severability

	Article 2 Development Review Bodies
	Sec. 2.1. General
	Sec. 2.2. City Council
	2.2.1 Establishment, Membership and Procedure
	2.2.2 Final Action
	A. UDC Text Amendment;
	B. I-35 Appeal;
	C. Zoning District Map Amendment;
	D. Planned Development;
	E. Conditional Use Permit;
	F. Approval of plats requiring exceptions; and
	G. Extension of time for completing plat review process.


	Sec. 2.3. Zoning Board of Adjustment
	2.3.1 Establishment
	2.3.2 Final Action
	A. Variance; and
	B. Appeal of Administrative Decision.

	2.3.3 Membership
	A. Appointment and Term
	1. For the purposes of this Section, except as otherwise indicated, the terms “member” and “alternate” are synonymous.
	2. The Zoning Board of Adjustment consists of five members and four alternates, each to be appointed by resolution of the City Council for a term of two years. Vacancies are filled for the unexpired term of any member, whose place becomes vacant for a...

	B. Removal

	2.3.4 Proceedings
	A. Chair of the Board and Vice-Chair
	B. Meetings
	C. Quorum and Vote Required
	1. A minimum of 75 percent of the members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment must hear each case.
	2. The concurring vote of 75 percent of the members of the Zoning Board of Adjustment is necessary to approve a Variance or an Appeal of Administrative Decision.

	D. Rules of Proceeding
	E. Minutes


	Sec. 2.4. Planning and Zoning Commission
	2.4.1 Establishment
	2.4.2 Powers and Duties
	A. Review and Recommendation
	1. UDC Text Amendment;
	2. I-35 Appeal;
	3. Zoning District Map Amendment;
	4. Planned Development; and
	5. Conditional Use Permit.

	B. Final Action
	1. Preliminary Plat;
	2. Final Plat;
	3. Replat Without Plat Vacation; and
	4. Plat Vacation.


	2.4.3 Policies and Procedures
	2.4.4 Overrule of Planning & Zoning Commission Denial Recommendation

	Sec. 2.5. Development Review Committee
	2.5.1 Establishment
	2.5.2 Review and Recommendation
	A. Planned Development;
	B. Conditional Use Permit;
	C. Preliminary Plat;
	D. Final Plat;
	E. Replat Without Plat Vacation;
	F. Minor or Amending Plat; and
	G. Plat Vacation.

	2.5.3 Membership
	A. Chair
	B. Other Members
	1. Director or Construction Safety;
	2. Director of Public Works;
	3. Director of Parks and Leisure Services;
	4. Director of Information Technology;
	5. City Attorney;
	6. Fire Chief; and
	7. Any other City staff or external agencies the Chair deems necessary for the professional review of an application.


	2.5.4 Proceedings

	Sec. 2.6. TMED Review Committee
	2.6.1 Establishment
	2.6.2 Final Action

	Sec. 2.7. Chief Building Official
	2.7.1 Building Permits; and
	2.7.2 Sign Permits.

	Sec. 2.8. Director of Planning
	2.8.1 Powers and Duties
	A. Review and Recommendation
	1. UDC Text Amendment;
	2. Zoning District Map Amendment;
	3. Planned Development;
	4. Conditional Use Permit;
	5. Preliminary Plat;
	6. Final Plat;
	7. Replat Without Plat Vacation;
	8. Plat Vacation;
	9. Building Permit;
	10. Sign Permit; and
	11. Variance.

	B. Final Action
	1. Minor or Amending Plat;
	2. Administrative Adjustment;
	3. Sidewalk Waiver requests or may refer the request to the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council; and
	4. Determination of Comparable Temporary Uses.




	Article 3 Development Review Procedures
	Sec. 3.1. Common Review Procedures
	3.1.1 Application Initiation
	A. Who May Initiate
	B. Application Forms
	C. Application Fees

	3.1.2 Plats Approved Unless Disapproved Within 30 Days
	3.1.3 Appeals
	A. Administrative Decisions
	B. Quasi-Judicial Decisions
	C. Building Exterior Materials
	D. I-35 Corridor Overlay Zoning District
	E. 1st and 3rd Street Overlay

	3.1.4 Revocation of Permit or Approval

	Sec. 3.2.  UDC Text Amendment
	3.2.1 Applicability
	3.2.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Planning and Zoning Commission Review
	C. City Council Final Action

	3.2.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing
	A. Planning and Zoning Commission
	B. City Council

	3.2.4 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.3.  Zoning District Map Amendment (Rezoning)
	3.3.1 Applicability
	3.3.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Planning and Zoning Commission Review
	C. City Council Final Action

	3.3.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing
	A. Planning and Zoning Commission
	1. Mailed Notice
	2. School District Notice
	3. Published Notice

	B. City Council

	3.3.4 Protest
	A. A Zoning District Map Amendment application requires a three-fourths vote of the City Council in order to be approved if a written protest has been signed and submitted by the owners of a minimum of  20 percent of either:
	1. The area of the properties covered by the proposed change;  or
	2. The area of the properties immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed change and extending 200 feet from that area.

	B. In computing the percentage of land area under Subsection A above, the area of streets and alleys must be included.

	3.3.5 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.4. Planned Development
	3.4.1 Applicability
	3.4.2 Review Process
	A. Except as described below, the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council review of a Planned Development application must follow the review process, public notice, public hearing, protest and limitation on resubmittal requirements for a Zonin...
	B. The Director of Planning must review the Planned Development application and, with input from the Development Review Committee, make a recommendation to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. Development Review Committee review must f...
	C. In approving a Planned Development, the City Council may require additional standards deemed necessary to create a reasonable transition to, and protection of, adjacent property and public areas, including but not limited to, access and circulation...

	3.4.3 Development Plan
	A. A Development Plan of the entire property within the Planned Development must be submitted concurrently with a Planned Development application.
	B. A Development Plan may be approved for a portion of a Planned Development district where the district is divided by a major thoroughfare and the Development Plan includes all the property located on one side of the street.
	C. In approving a Planned Development district, a standard may not be modified unless this UDC expressly permits such modification, and in no case may a standard be modified if this UDC prohibits such modifications.
	D. Approval of a Development Plan will determine the design elements listed in 3.4.2C above.

	3.4.4 Binding Nature of Approved Development Plan
	3.4.5 Review Criteria
	A. The plan complies with all provisions of the Design and Development Standards Manual, this UDC and other ordinances of the City.
	B. The environmental impact of the development relating to the preservation of existing natural resources on the site and the impact on the natural resources of the surrounding properties and neighborhood is mitigated.
	C. The development is in harmony with the character, use and design of the surrounding area.
	D. Safe and efficient vehicular and pedestrian circulation systems are provided.
	E. Off-street parking and loading facilities are designed to ensure that all such spaces are usable and are safely and conveniently arranged.
	F. Streets are designed with sufficient width and suitable grade and location to accommodate prospective traffic and to provide access for firefighting and emergency equipment to buildings.
	G. Streets are coordinated so as to compose a convenient system consistent with the Thoroughfare Plan of the City.
	H. Landscaping and screening are integrated into the overall site design:
	1. To provide adequate buffers to shield lights, noise, movement or activities from adjacent properties when necessary; and
	2. To complement the design and location of buildings.

	I. Open space areas are designed to ensure that such areas are suitable for intended recreation and conservation uses.
	J. Water, drainage, wastewater facilities, garbage disposal and other utilities necessary for essential services to residents and occupants are provided.

	3.4.6 Modification of Approved Development Plan
	A. Consideration of modification to an approved Development Plan must take into consideration the effect of the proposed modification on the remainder of the property. Amendments to the approved Development Plan or any Planned Development conditions w...
	B. The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council, in approving modifications to the Development Plan or Planned Development conditions, must be guided by the purpose intended by the base zoning district and general intent of this UDC.

	3.4.7 Expiration

	Sec. 3.5.  Conditional Use Permit
	3.5.1 Applicability
	A. The Conditional Use Permit (CUP) provides a means for developing certain uses in a manner in which the conditional use will be compatible with adjacent property and consistent with the desired character of the area according to the Comprehensive Pl...
	B. Conditional uses are identified in the use table in Article 5.

	3.5.2 Review Process
	A. Except as described below, the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council review of a CUP application must follow the review process, public notice, public hearing, protest and limitation on resubmittal requirements for a Zoning District Map A...
	B. Application for a CUP must occur in conjunction with the submittal of a site plan.
	C. The Director of Planning must review the CUP application and, with input from the Development Review Committee, make a recommendation to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. Development Review Committee review must focus on the oper...
	D. A Building Permit or Certificate of Occupancy may not be issued for any use that requires a CUP unless a CUP has first been approved in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

	3.5.3 Duration
	3.5.4 Review Criteria
	A. The conditional use is compatible with and not injurious to the use and enjoyment of the property, and does not significantly diminish or impair property values within the immediate vicinity.
	B. The establishment of the conditional use does not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property.
	C. Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and other necessary support facilities have been or will be provided.
	D. The design, location and arrangement of all driveways and parking spaces provide for the safe and convenient movement of vehicular and pedestrian traffic without adversely affecting the general public or adjacent development.
	E. Adequate nuisance prevention measures have been or will be taken to prevent or control offensive odors, fumes, dust, noise and vibration.
	F. Directional lighting is provided so as not to disturb or adversely affect neighboring properties.
	G. There is sufficient landscaping and screening to insure harmony and compatibility with adjacent property.

	3.5.5 Additional Conditions
	3.5.6 Revocation and Modification
	A. The CUP was obtained or extended by fraud of deception;
	B. One or more of the conditions imposed by the permit has not been met or has been violated; or
	C. The CUP previously authorized is determined to be detrimental to the public health, safety and/or welfare.

	3.5.7 Modification of Approved CUP
	3.5.8 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.6.  Subdivision Plat Review
	3.6.1 Applicability
	A. Pursuant to the authority granted in Chapter 212 of the Local Government Code, the owner of a tract of land located within the City limits or in the extraterritorial jurisdiction who divides the tract in two or more parts must have a plat prepared ...
	1. A subdivision;
	2. Lots; or
	3. Streets, alleys, squares, parks or other parts of the tract intended to be dedicated to public use or for the use of purchasers or owners of lots fronting on or adjacent to the streets, alleys, squares, parks, or other parts.

	B. A division of a tract under this subsection includes a division regardless of whether it is made:
	1. Using a metes and bounds description in a deed of conveyance;
	2. In a contract for a deed, by using a contract of sale or other executory contract to convey; or
	3. Using any other method.


	3.6.2 Exemptions from Required Plat
	A. A division of land into lots all of which are five acres or more in the City limits and 10 acres or more in the ETJ, where each lot has public street access and no public improvement is being dedicated;
	B. Establishment of a cemetery complying with all state and local laws and regulations;
	C. Acquisition of land for a governmental purpose by dedication, condemnation or easement; or
	D. Partitions of land among co-tenants by a court.

	3.6.3 Application Process
	A. Pre-Application Conference;
	B. Preliminary Plat (where applicable per 3.6.5);
	C. Final Plat and Construction Plans;
	D. Acceptance of subdivision as complete; and
	E. Acceptance of public improvements for ownership and maintenance

	3.6.4 Pre-Application Conference
	3.6.5 Preliminary Plat
	A. A preliminary plat is required for:
	B. Preliminary Plat Requirements
	C. Review Process
	1. Director of Planning Review
	2. Planning and Zoning Commission Final Action
	a. If no exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and approve, approve with conditions or den...
	b. If exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and make a recommendation to the City Council.
	c. Approval of a Preliminary Plat does not constitute automatic approval of the Final Plat.

	3. City Council Final Action

	D. Expiration
	E. Extension of Plat Term
	1. Final Platting and Construction
	a. The Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council, as appropriate, must approve a Final Plat for a phase of the subdivision that is reasonable in size and layout and must find that the Final Plat substantially conforms to the Preliminary Plat.
	b. The developer must begin construction of the required subdivision improvements.
	c. Each Final Plat phase extends the term of the Preliminary Plat for two additional years from the date the last Final Plat phase was approved.

	2. Administrative Extension
	a. The owner or the developer of property for which an unexpired Preliminary Plat has been approved may apply for, and the Director of Planning may approve, a two-year extension of the life of the Preliminary Plat. In making a decision as to whether t...
	i. The state of the national and regional economy and housing market;
	ii. The state of the local economy and housing market, including:
	(A) The number of new lots platted within the City limits;
	(B) The number of building permits for single-family residences issued within the City limits; and
	(C) The inventory of platted single family lots within the City limits.

	iii. The availability (or lack thereof) of financing for construction of subdivision improvements, home construction, or for end-purchasers of single-family residences during the previous two years;
	iv. The inventory of unsold homes and lots in Temple; and
	v. The owner’s or developer’s prior experience in completing multiphase subdivisions.

	b. An applicant denied a request for an extension of the life of a Preliminary Plat may appeal the Director of Planning’s decision to the City Manager whose decision is final.



	3.6.6 Final Plat
	A. Review Process
	1. Development Review Committee Review
	2. Director of Planning Review
	3. Planning and Zoning Commission Final Action
	a. If no exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and approve or deny the Final Plat.
	b. If exceptions to the subdivision design and improvements standards found in Article 8 have been requested as set forth in Sec. 3.6.7 below, the Planning and Zoning Commission must hold a public meeting and make a recommendation to the City Council.

	4. City Council Final Action

	B. Conformance to Preliminary Plat
	C. Construction Plans
	D. Expiration
	1. Water and wastewater services are available to serve the property being permitted; and
	2. A letter of credit, escrow account or other means suitable to the City Attorney to ensure funds are available for completion of the remaining subdivision improvements is filed with the Director of Public Works in accordance with paragraph 3.6.9D.2 ...


	3.6.7 Exceptions
	A. An applicant may request an exception to the subdivision design and improvement standards found in Article 8. The applicant must submit written justification for such exception along with the plat application. Exceptions may be granted only when in...
	B. The City Council may approve, approve with conditions or deny the request after consideration of the following factors:
	1. That there are special circumstances or conditions affecting the land involved such that the strict application of the provisions of Article 8 would have a substantial adverse impact on the applicant's reasonable use of the land;
	2. That the granting of the exception will not be detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare, or injurious to other property in the area; and
	3. That the granting of the exception will not have the effect of preventing the orderly subdividing of other land in the area in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

	C. In considering the above criteria, the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council must take into account, at least, the nature of the proposed use of the land involved, existing uses of land in the vicinity, the number of persons who will ...

	3.6.8 Resubmission of Plats
	A. Significant Change or In Proposal
	B. Extended Delays in Processing by Applicant

	3.6.9 Procedures Following Final Plat Approval
	A. Certificate of Approval
	B. Coordination with County
	C. Final Plat Copies
	D. Acceptance of Improvements
	1. One Mylar reproducible print of the subdivision construction plans, marked "drawings of work as built," and one copy of the as-built drawings in the same digital format required in subsection C above for the approved Final Plat.
	2. The City Attorney may approve security for warranty of a subdivision, payable to the City, for one year in an amount of 35 percent of the total construction cost in one of the following forms:
	a. Cash deposit to the city;
	b. An irrevocable letter of credit issued by any bank duly chartered under the laws of the State of Texas.
	c. A bond that will guarantee such funds to the city.



	3.6.10 Obligation by City for Maintenance of Improvements
	3.6.11 No City Obligation

	Sec. 3.7.  Replat Without Plat Vacation
	3.7.1 Applicability
	A. A replat of a subdivision or part of a subdivision may be recorded and is controlling over the preceding plat without vacation of that plat if the replat:
	1. Is signed and acknowledged by only the owners of the property being replatted; and
	2. Does not attempt to amend or remove any covenants or restrictions.

	B. The subdivision standards imposed are those in effect at the time of original platting of the subdivision.

	3.7.2 Review Process
	A. Development Review Committee Review
	B. Director of Planning Review
	C. Planning and Zoning Commission Final Action

	3.7.3 Public Hearing and Public Notice
	A. Criteria
	1. Any of the area to be replatted was zoned UE, SF-1, SF-2, SF-3, SFA, SFA-2, SFA-3, 2F, or TH ; or
	2. Deed restrictions limited any lot in the preceding plat to not more than two residential units per lot.

	B. Mailed Notice
	C. Published Notice

	3.7.4 Protest
	A. A Zoning District Map Amendment application requires a three-fourths vote of the City Council in order to be approved if a written protest has been signed and submitted by the owners of a minimum of  20 percent of either:
	1. The area of the properties covered by the proposed change;  or
	2. The area of the properties immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed change and extending 200 feet from that area.

	B. In computing the percentage of land area under subsection 3.3.4A above, the area of streets and alleys must be included.

	3.7.5 Expiration
	A. Water and wastewater services are available to serve the property being permitted; and
	B. A letter of credit, escrow account or other means suitable to the City Attorney to ensure funds are available for completion of the remaining subdivision improvements is filed with the Director of Public Works in accordance with paragraph 3.6.9D.2 ...


	Sec. 3.8.  Minor or Amending Plat
	3.8.1 Applicability
	A. Minor Plat
	1. A Minor Plat is any plat for four or fewer lots fronting on an existing street and not requiring the creation of any new street or the extension of public facilities.
	2. The Director of Planning may approve a Minor Plat involving extension of an existing City street or the addition of a turning lane to an existing street, provided that all other standards of Article 8 are met, including specifically the requirement...
	3. Any plat that requires an exception from the subdivision design and improvement standards of Article 8, any public utility dedication or any public dedication of land may not be processed as a Minor Plat.

	B. Amending Plat
	1. Correct an error in a course or distance shown on the preceding plat;
	2. Add a course or distance that was omitted on the preceding plat;
	3. Correct an error in a real property description shown on the preceding plat;
	4. Indicate monuments set after the death, disability or retirement from practice of the surveyor responsible for setting monuments;
	5. Show the location or character of a monument that has been changed in location or character or that is shown incorrectly as to location or character on the preceding plat;
	6. Correct any other type of scrivener or clerical error or omission on a previously approved plat, including lot numbers, acreage, street names and identification of adjacent recorded plats;
	7. Correct an error in courses and distances of lot lines between two adjacent lots if:
	a. Both lot owners join in the application for amending the plat;
	b. Neither lot is abolished;
	c. The amendment does not attempt to remove recorded covenants or restrictions; and
	d. The amendment does not have a material adverse effect on the property rights of the other owners in the plat;

	8. Relocate a lot line to eliminate an inadvertent encroachment of a building or other improvements on a lot line or easement;
	9. Relocate one or more lot lines between one or more adjacent lots if:
	a. The owners of all those lots join in the application for amending the plat;
	b. The amendment does not attempt to remove recorded covenants or restrictions; and
	c. The amendment does not increase the number of lots;

	10. Make necessary changes to the preceding plat to create six or fewer lots in the subdivision or a part of the subdivision covered by the preceding plat if:
	a. The changes do not affect applicable zoning and other regulations of the municipality;
	b. The changes do not attempt to amend or remove any covenants or restrictions; and
	c. The area covered by the changes is located in an area that the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council has approved, after a public hearing, as a residential improvement area;

	11. Replat one or more lots fronting on an existing street if the:
	a. Owners of all those lots join in the application for amending the plat;
	b. Amendment does not attempt to remove recorded covenants or restrictions;
	c. Amendment does not increase the number of lots; and
	d. Amendment does not create or require the creation of a new street or make necessary the extension of municipal facilities.



	3.8.2 Review Process
	A. Development Review Committee Review
	B. Director of Planning Final Action
	1. The Director of Planning may approve a Minor or Amending Plat.
	2. The Director of Planning may not deny a Minor or Amending Plat. Any such plat that does not meet the requirements of this UDC must be forwarded to the Planning and Zoning Commission for recommendation and to the City Council for final action.


	3.8.3 Expiration

	Sec. 3.9.  Plat Vacation
	3.9.1 Applicability and Review Process
	A. The proprietors of a tract covered by a plat may vacate the plat at any time before any lot in the plat is sold.
	B. If lots in a plat have been sold, the plat, or any part of the plat, may be vacated on the application of all the owners of the lots in the plat with approval obtained in the manner prescribed for the original plat.
	C. The plat is vacated when a signed, acknowledged instrument declaring the plat vacated is approved and recorded in the manner prescribed for the original plat.
	D. On the execution and recording of the vacated instrument, the vacated plat has no effect.

	3.9.2 Expiration

	Sec. 3.10.   Sidewalk Waiver
	3.10.1 Applicability
	3.10.2 Review Process
	3.10.3 Review Criteria
	A. Special topographical or other conditions exist on the property being platted, developed or redeveloped, such that a literal enforcement of this section would result in unnecessary hardship.
	B. The purpose of this UDC is observed and substantial justice is done.
	C. The waiver is in the public interest.
	D. The anticipated volume of vehicular and pedestrian traffic in the area based on the proposed development and the current or future uses of surrounding property as set forth in the Comprehensive Plan, Zoning District Map and Citywide Trails Master P...
	E. The likelihood that a proposed new sidewalk will connect to other sidewalks in the adjoining areas within five years.
	F. The likelihood of the area for which a waiver is being requested to serve as a pedestrian link between public or private facilities in adjoining areas.
	G. Whether due to the width or the anticipated reconstruction of adjoining roadways, construction of a sidewalk on the property under consideration makes economic sense.


	Sec. 3.11.  TMED Site Plan Review
	3.11.1 Applicability
	3.11.2 Review Process
	A. Subdivision Plat Required
	B. Director of Planning Determination of Completeness
	1. The Director of Planning must determine whether a TMED Site Plan application is complete and satisfies the initial submittal requirements within five working days of the application being properly submitted and received by the City.
	2. If the application is determined incomplete, the Director of Planning must notify the applicant in writing. The notification must list all missing or incomplete items.
	3. The Director of Planning may request additional information not specifically stated in the application submittal requirements if such information is required for the accurate review of the proposal.
	4. Upon receipt of a complete application, the Director of Planning must distribute the application to the DRC, to review the site plan for compliance with the provisions of Sec. 6.3.

	C. Development Review Committee Review
	D. Director of Planning Final Action

	3.11.3 Review Criteria
	A. The application exhibits conformance with the standards of the TMED  zoning district, the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted planning policies;
	B. Utilities and services, including, but not limited to, sewer, water service, police and fire protection are available and adequate to serve the proposed use; and
	C. The application exhibits no substantial negative impacts on the historic, cultural or architectural nature of the site or surrounding area, or successfully mitigates such impacts.

	3.11.4 TMED Site Plan Application Life
	3.11.5 TMED Site Plan Permit Expiration and Extension
	A. All TMED Site Plan Permits are valid for two years from the date the permit is issued.
	B. A modification to an approved TMED Site Plan Permit replaces the previous TMED Site Plan Permit and is valid two years from the date the latest permit modification is approved.
	C. The Director of Planning may approve a one-time, 180-day extension application if the TMED Site Plan Permit remains valid under the existing TMED standards at the time of the request.
	D. The Director of Planning may deny any extension request. If denied, the applicant may appeal the decision to City Council.
	E. Any subsequent extension request requires a separate application to be forwarded to the City Council for consideration. At no time may an extension request be greater than 180-days.

	3.11.6 Warrants and Variances
	A. There are two types of deviations from the requirements of the TMED zoning district requirements: warrants and variances.
	B. The request for a warrant or variance does not subject the entire application to public hearing, but only that portion necessary to rule on the specific issue requiring the relief.
	C. Whether a deviation requires a warrant or variance shall be determined by the Director of Planning in accordance with the following standards:
	1.  Warrants
	a. A warrant is a ruling that would permit a practice that is not consistent with a specific provision of the TMED standards in Sec. 6.3 but is justified by the purpose of the TMED zoning district. The TRC has the authority to approve, approve with co...
	b. Warrant requests are permitted for the following:
	i. Maximum residential density;
	ii. Increase in maximum height;
	iii. Alternative fence materials;
	iv. Alternative materials for hike and bike trails;
	v. Alternative building materials;
	vi. Monument sign in T5-e;
	vii. Multi-tenant sign in T5-e; and
	viii. Signs for Recreational and Entertainment uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3.


	2. Variances
	a. Review of a Variance request in relation to a TMED Site Plan must be in accordance with Sec. 3.15. Such Section applies in its entirety with the exception of height, signage and landscaping.
	b. Variance requests are permitted for the following:
	i. Minimum yard and setbacks;
	ii. Minimum lot area;
	iii. Maximum lot coverage;
	iv. Secondary street frontage build out; and
	v. Permitted encroachment into setbacks.


	3. No Warrant or Variance Request Permitted
	a. Primary street frontage build out;
	b. Minimum residential density;
	c. Permitted uses in a district;
	d. Maximum dimensions of traffic lanes;
	e. Required provision of rear alleys;
	f. Maximum requirements for parking;
	g. Requirements of parking location;
	h. Public frontage requirements; and
	i. Type of sign permitted in T4 or T5-c.




	Sec. 3.12.  Administrative Adjustment
	3.12.1 Applicability
	A. The Director of Planning has the authority to authorize minor building encroachments of up to 15 percent into the front, side or rear setbacks.
	B. The Director of Planning must refer to the Zoning Board of Adjustment as a Variance to be reviewed in accordance with Sec. 3.15 any request involving an encroachment exceeding 15 percent of the required setback.

	3.12.2 Application Submittal
	3.12.3 Review Process
	A. The Director of Planning must approve, approve with conditions or deny an Administrative Adjustment application.
	B. When an encroachment is between 10 percent and 15 percent of the required setback, the Director of Planning may notify adjacent property owners and consider their input in making a decision.

	3.12.4 Review Criteria

	Sec. 3.13.  Building Permit
	3.13.1 Applicability
	A. Approved Plat
	B. Development Plan Approval
	C. Unplatted Property
	1. September 1st, 1983;
	2. City annexation; or
	3. Extension of the City’s extraterritorial jurisdiction.


	3.13.2 Site Plan Required with Building Permit for Nonresidential or Multiple Family Uses
	A. Applicability
	1. In addition to the above requirements, a Building Permit may not be issued for any nonresidential or multiple family property until a Site Plan has been submitted for review and approval by the Director of Planning.
	2. Site Plan submission and review for projects in the Temple Medical and Educational (TMED) Overlay District will be conducted in accordance with Sec. 3.11.
	3. Site Plan submission and review for projects in the I-35 Corridor Overlay District will be conducted in accordance with Sec 6.7.4.

	B. Site Plan Requirements
	1. The applicant must submit a legible Site Plan together with a Site Plan check list certified for completeness with the applicant’s signature.
	2. The Site Plan may be submitted in advance or concurrently with the building permit application.
	3. The Site Plan must be drawn to scale, dimensioned and labeled and include all information needed to ensure compliance with Articles 7 and 8 of this UDC, the Comprehensive Plan, other master plans, the Design and Development Service Manual, and all ...


	3.13.3 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	1. The Director of Planning must determine whether a Site Plan is complete and satisfies the submittal requirements.
	2. If the Site Plan is determined incomplete, the Director of Planning must notify the applicant in writing. The notification must list all missing or incomplete items.
	3. The Director of Planning may request additional information that is required for the accurate review of the proposal.
	4. Upon receipt of the complete Site Plan, the Director of Planning must review the Site Plan and the submitted Building Permit application for compliance with development standards and make a recommendation to the Chief Building Official.

	B. Chief Building Official Final Action
	1. The Chief Building Official must approve, approve with conditions or deny the Building Permit.


	3.13.4 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Chief Building Official Final Action

	3.13.5 Construction Plans

	Sec. 3.14.  Sign Permit
	3.14.1 Applicability
	A. It is unlawful for any person to erect, relocate structurally alter or change the face panel or copy of any sign requiring a Sign Permit within the City without first obtaining a Sign Permit.
	B. A Sign Permit is not required for repair, repainting or maintenance that does not entail structural change or for changing the copy on a permitted message board sign as described in Sec. 7.6.

	3.14.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Chief Building Official Final Action

	3.14.3 Review Criteria
	3.14.4 Expiration
	3.14.5 Sign Permit Application Contents
	A. Name, address and telephone number of the applicant and name and firm of person erecting sign;
	B. If applicant is not the owner of real property where sign is proposed to be erected, written consent of the property owner;
	C. Location of building, structure, address or legal lot and block to which or upon which the sign or other advertising structure is to be attached or erected;
	D. Site plan, indicating street frontage, property lines, sight visibility triangles, proposed and existing public street rights-of-way, location of sign on property, relationship of proposed sign to ingress and egress points and relationship of propo...
	E. Copy of stress diagrams or plans containing information necessary for the Chief Building Official to determine safety and structural integrity of sign;
	F. Indicate whether the sign will require electricity, and if so, obtain an electrical permit as required;
	G. Copy of Texas Department of Transportation approved permit if state law requires a state permit; and
	H. Such other information as the Chief Building Official may require to show full compliance with this Section and all other City standards.


	Sec. 3.15.   Variance
	3.15.1 Applicability
	A. In accordance with the provisions of the Chapter 211 of the Local Government Code, the Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA) has the authority to hear and take final action on requests for a Variance from standards to the height, yard, area, coverage, s...
	B. Exceptions to the subdivision design and improvement standards in Article 8 are not Variances and must be requested in accordance with Sec. 3.6.7.
	C. Any Variance request less than or equal to 15 percent of any front, side or rear setback may be treated as an Administrative Adjustment in accordance with Sec. 3.12.

	3.15.2 Review Process
	A. Director of Planning Review
	B. Zoning Board of Adjustment Final Action

	3.15.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing
	A. Mailed Notice
	B. Published Notice

	3.15.4 Review Criteria
	A. Required Findings
	1. Special Circumstances on Subject Property
	2. Other Property in Vicinity
	3. Comprehensive Plan
	4. No Material Detriment
	5. Purpose of UDC
	6. Signs

	B. Limitations

	3.15.5 Limitation on Resubmittal

	Sec. 3.16.  Appeal of Administrative Decision
	3.16.1 Applicability
	A. Pursuant to the authority granted to the City in Chapter 211 of the Local Government Code, the Zoning Board of Adjustment may hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any final order, requirement, decision or determination made...
	B. Appeal of a decision of the Director of Planning on building exterior material requirements set forth in Sec. 7.8 or the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district, must be in accordance with the procedure described in paragraph 3.1.3C and D.

	3.16.2 Review Process
	A. Initiation
	B. Effect of Appeal
	C. Zoning Board of Adjustment Final Action
	1. Following notice in accordance with Sec. 3.16.3, the Zoning Board of Adjustment must hold a public hearing and reverse or affirm, in whole or in part, or modify the order, requirement, decision or determination of the administrative official.
	2. The Zoning Board of Adjustment must take final action on the appeal within 15 days of initiation.
	3. In exercising its final decision, the Zoning Board of Adjustment has the same authority as the administrative official.
	4. At the public hearing any party may appear in person or by agent or by attorney.


	3.16.3 Public Notice and Public Hearing


	Article 4 Zoning Districts
	Sec. 4.1. General
	4.1.1 Zoning Districts Established
	A. The following zoning districts are established under authority of Chapter 211 of the Local Government Code. The use and dimensional regulations as set forth in this Article are uniform in each district.
	B. Where the phrase “residential zoning district” is used in this UDC, it means the zoning districts listed under the “Residential Zoning Districts” heading on the table below.
	C. Where the phrase “nonresidential zoning district” is used in this UDC, it means the zoning districts listed under the “Nonresidential Zoning Districts” heading on the table below.

	4.1.2 Zoning District Map
	A. The boundaries of the zoning districts established in Sec. 4.1 are delineated upon the official Zoning District Map of the City. The Zoning District Map is hereby adopted by reference and declared a part of this UDC as fully as if the map were set ...
	B. The official Zoning District Map is available on the City’s website. The Director of Planning must post all amendments to the map as soon as possible after the effective date of the Zoning District Map amendment.
	C. Reproductions for information purposes may, from time to time, be made of the official Zoning District Map.

	4.1.3 Zoning District Boundaries
	A. Boundaries indicated as approximately following the centerlines of streets, highways or alleys are construed to follow such centerlines.
	B. Boundaries indicated as approximately following platted lot lines are construed as following such lot lines.
	C. Boundaries indicated as approximately following City limits are construed as following City limits.
	D. Boundaries indicated as following railroad lines are construed to follow the centerline of the public street right-of-way or if no centerline is established, the boundary is interpreted to be midway between the public street right-of-way lines.
	E. Boundaries indicated as following shore lines are construed to follow such shore lines, and in the event of change in the shore line are construed as moving with the actual shore line; boundaries indicated as approximately following the centerlines...
	F. Boundaries indicated as parallel to or extensions of features indicated in A through E above are so construed. The scale of the map determines distances not specifically indicated on the original Zoning District Map.
	G. Whenever the City Council vacates a street, alley or other public street right-of-way or whenever such area is franchised for building purposes, the zoning district line adjoining each side of such street, alley or other public way is automatically...
	H. Where physical features on the ground vary from information shown on the official Zoning District Map or when there arises a question as to how or whether a parcel of property is zoned and the application of this Section cannot resolve such questio...


	Sec. 4.2. Newly Annexed Territory
	A. All territory hereafter annexed to the City must be temporarily classified in the AG, Agricultural zoning district, until the City Council establishes a permanent zoning district for the property. The procedure for establishing permanent zoning on ...
	B. In an area temporarily classified as AG, Agricultural zoning district:
	1. A person may not erect, construct or proceed or continue with the erection or construction of any building or structure or add to any building or structure or cause the same to be done in any newly annexed territory to the City without first applyi...
	2. The Chief Building Official may only issue a Building Permit or Certificate of Occupancy for a structure or use  permitted in the AG, Agricultural zoning district, unless and until the City Council rezones such territory to a zoning district other ...
	3. When annexation and permanent zoning of territory is under consideration, both annexation and zoning may be recommended and acted upon simultaneously.


	Sec. 4.3. Zoning District Purpose Statements
	4.3.1 AG, Agricultural
	A. The Agricultural zoning district allows single-family detached residences and related accessory structures. The Agricultural zoning district is the typical zoning district assigned to property upon annexation.
	B. The Agricultural zoning district consists generally of areas containing rural land uses or undeveloped acreage that is not anticipated to be put to an urban use in the near future. This district is intended for areas that are farther from the City ...

	4.3.2 UE, Urban Estate
	4.3.3 SF-1, Single Family Dwelling 1
	4.3.4 SF-2, Single Family Dwelling 2
	4.3.5 SF-3, Single Family Dwelling 3
	4.3.6 SFA, Single Family Attached Dwelling 1
	4.3.7 SFA-2, Single Family Attached Dwelling 2
	4.3.8 SFA-3, Single Family Attached Dwelling 3
	4.3.9 2F, Two-Family Dwelling
	4.3.10 TH, Townhouse Dwelling
	4.3.11 MF-1, Multiple Family Dwelling 1
	4.3.12 MF-2, Multiple Family Dwelling 2
	A. The Multiple Family Dwelling 2 zoning district permits more modest sized dwelling units and an increased number of units within the multiple family complexes, allowing approximately 20 units per acre in buildings three to four stories.
	B. The Multiple Family Dwelling 2 zoning district  should be designed for a higher density use of the land with amenities and facilities such as  major thoroughfares, parks, transit and utilities close by and adequate for the volume of use.

	4.3.13 MF-3, Multiple Family Dwelling 3
	A. The Multiple Family Dwelling 3 zoning district permits conventional and high density high rise apartment development (from five to 10 stories) allowing approximately 40 units per acre. Other permitted uses include boarding house, hotel or motel and...
	B. The Multiple Family Dwelling 3 zoning district is utilized in areas intended for high intensity uses. Located along major arterials for direct vehicular access, this district is suitable near major employment centers, the downtown urban core and ot...

	4.3.14 O-1, Office 1
	A. The Office 1 zoning district permits low rise garden-type office development providing professional, financial, medical and other office services to residents in nearby neighborhoods.
	B. The Office 1 zoning district should be located convenient to residential areas and should be complimentary to the character of the residential neighborhood served. This district is designed to be a transitional zone allowing low intensity administr...

	4.3.15 O-2, Office 2
	A. The Office 2 zoning district permits a variety of low, mid and high rise office development. Apartments are allowed. Buildings in the O-2 District may be built to any legal height. Office buildings over 40 feet in height must provide additional yar...
	B. The Office 2 zoning district is intended to allow for office uses in an area that is primarily business or high density residential. This district provides for professional, financial, medical and other office services and may include corporate off...

	4.3.16 NS, Neighborhood Service
	A. The Neighborhood Service zoning district permits limited retail services, usually for a small neighborhood area, with uses such as a convenience store, bank, barber or beauty shop, small cleaners or florist, as well as any residential use except ap...
	B. The Neighborhood Service zoning district is the most restrictive retail district and is intended to provide day-to-day retail and service needs for residential neighborhood service areas. This district should be located convenient to residential ar...

	4.3.17 GR, General Retail
	A. The General Retail zoning district is the standard retail district and allows most retail uses including retail sales, restaurants, grocery store, department store or offices and residential uses except apartments.
	B. The General Retail zoning district is intended to serve larger service areas than neighborhoods. This district should be located at the intersection of major arterials and should provide total on-site traffic maneuvering such that traffic entering ...

	4.3.18 C, Commercial
	A. The Commercial zoning district permits all retail and most commercial land uses including auto dealerships with complete servicing facilities, building material sales, light manufacturing and heavy machinery sales and storage. Also, residential use...
	B. The Commercial zoning district is intended to serve citywide or regional service areas. This district should be located along major highways and should provide total on-site traffic maneuvering such that traffic entering and exiting the facility sh...

	4.3.19 CA, Central Area
	4.3.20 LI, Light Industrial
	A. The Light Industrial zoning district permits light industrial uses. Residential uses are not allowed except boarding or rooming houses.
	B. The Light Industrial zoning district acts as a transition from other commercial or retail uses to industrial uses. This district is intended to be located away from areas of low and medium density residential development. The location should be car...

	4.3.21 HI, Heavy Industrial
	A. The Heavy Industrial zoning district permits heavy industrial uses as defined by performance standards in Sec. 7.1. Residential uses are not allowed.
	B. The Heavy Industrial zoning district is intended for those industrial uses that may need to be buffered. Lots should be large enough to contain air, noise, odor, and vibration pollution to a reasonable amount. Location should include access to majo...

	4.3.22 MH, Manufactured Home
	A. The Manufactured Home zoning district allows HUD-Code manufactured home developments, HUD-Code manufactured home land lease communities, single family residences and family or group homes. Manufactured home land lease communities require a minimum ...
	B. The Manufactured Home zoning district is intended to provide moderately priced housing opportunities in areas with less development. This district should serve as a buffer between single family residential development and retail and office uses.

	4.3.23 MU, Mixed Use
	A. The Mixed Use zoning district permits the combination of different but compatible land uses within a single building, site or district to increase efficiency of land use and encourage neighborhood-enhancing economic activity. A variety of housing o...
	B. The Mixed Use zoning district is utilized for an area encompassing a minimum of 25 contiguous acres of land. Redevelopment standards for the district accommodate infill.

	4.3.24 TMED, Temple Medical and Educational District
	4.3.25 PD, Planned Development Overlay
	A. The Planned Development Overlay zoning district is a flexible zoning district, designed to respond to unique development proposals, special design considerations and land use transitions by allowing evaluation of land use relationships to surroundi...
	B. The City Council may apply the Planned Development Overlay zoning district to any tract of land. This district is intended to be either an extension of a particular district, or a transition between districts with different use intensities. Parking...
	C. The Planned Development Overlay zoning district is established:
	1. In order that the public health, safety and general welfare may be furthered in an era of increasing urbanization and to encourage innovations in residential and nonresidential development;
	2. So that the greater variety in type, design and layout of buildings and the conservation and more efficient use of open space meet the growing demands of the population;
	3. In order to encourage a more efficient use of land and of public services, and to reflect changes in the technology of land development so that resulting economies may result;
	4. To lessen the burden of traffic on streets and highways; and
	5. To encourage a procedure that can relate the type, design and layout of residential and nonresidential development to a particular site and the particular demand at the time of the development in a manner consistent with the preservation of the pro...


	4.3.26 H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay
	A. The H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay zoning district is designed to protect, enhance and perpetuate historic areas, places and landmarks that represent or reflect distinctive and important elements of the City's cultural, social, economic, ...
	B. Development standards for property within the North Central Temple Historic Overlay zoning district must conform first, to the procedures and requirements contained in Chapter 17, Historic Preservation, of the Code of Ordinances; and secondly, to s...

	4.3.27 FP, Flood Plain Overlay
	4.3.28 I35, I-35 Corridor Overlay

	Sec. 4.4.  Measurements and Special Cases
	4.4.1 Minimum Lot Area
	A. Minimum lot area standards are established in the tables in Sec. 4.5 and Sec. 4.6.
	B. Lot area is measured as the total area within the lot lines of the lot excluding any street rights-of-way. A lot existing on September 19, 1991, may not be reduced in area below the minimum lot area requirements.
	C. A nonconforming lot of record as defined in Article 11 having less area than required may solely be used for a single-family dwelling.

	4.4.2 Minimum Lot Width
	A. Minimum lot area standards are established in the tables in Sec. 4.5 and Sec. 4.6.
	B. Lot width is measured as the distance between the side lot lines measured at the front building line parallel to the front property line or to the cord of the front property line. A lot existing on September 19th, 1991, may not be reduced in width ...
	C. A nonconforming lot of record as defined in Article 11 having less lot width than required may solely be used for a single-family dwelling.

	4.4.3 Minimum Lot Depth
	A. Minimum lot depth standards are established in the tables in Sec. 4.5 and Sec. 4.6.
	B. Lot depth is measured as the distance from the front lot line to the rear lot line. Where the front and rear lot lines are not parallel, the lot depth is measured by drawing lines from the front to the rear lot lines, at right angles to the front l...
	C. A lot existing on September 19th, 1991, may not be reduced in depth below the minimum lot depth requirements. A nonconforming lot of record as described in Article 11 having less lot depth than required may solely be used for a single-family dwelling.

	4.4.4 Minimum Yards
	A. Open and Unobstructed
	B. Types of Yards
	1. Front;
	2. Side;
	3. Side (corner); and
	4. Rear.

	C. Measurement of Yards
	D. Features Allowed Within Required Yards
	1. Window sills, belt courses, cornices and other architectural features projecting  a maximum of 12 inches into the required side yard; and
	2. Roof eaves or canopies projecting a maximum of 24 inches into the required side yard and a maximum of 48 inches into the required front yard.
	3. Window sills, belt courses, cornices, roof eaves or canopies and other architectural features projecting a maximum of 36 inches into the required rear yard.
	4. Fences that comply with the standards in Sec. 7.7.

	E. Setback Averaging
	1. If buildings on a residential block face have observed an average setback which is greater or lesser than the minimum front yard required for the district in which the street frontage is located, then the average setback of all buildings fronting u...
	2. All vacant lots are assumed to have a minimum front yard specified for the district in computing the average front yard. These provisions may not be interpreted as requiring a front yard greater than 50 feet nor may they be interpreted as requiring...

	F. Yard Requirements for Special Cases
	1. Required Front Yards
	a. In all districts except the Agricultural zoning district where the frontage on one block face is divided by two or more zoning districts, the front yard must comply with the requirements of the most restrictive district for the entire block face.
	b. Where a plat or ordinance establishes a building line and such line requires a front yard setback greater or lesser in depth than is prescribed in Sec. 4.5 for the district in which the building line is located, the required front yard must comply ...
	c. The required front yard setback must be increased in the O-2 and MF-3 zoning districts one foot for each three feet of additional building height over 35 feet.
	d. In the C, CA, LI and HI districts a structure may not be erected nearer than 30 feet to the centerline of any street on which such structure fronts.
	e. Where a lot abuts the turnaround at the end of a cul-de-sac street, the front yard setback required in any of the residential zoning districts may be reduced by a maximum of 10 feet if the lesser setback is shown on the final plat recorded with the...
	f. Where lots have double frontage, a required front yard is provided on both streets unless a building line for accessory buildings has been established along one street frontage on the plat or by ordinance, in which event only one required front yar...

	2. Required Side Yards
	a. O-2 District
	b. CA, C, LI and HI Districts
	i. In the CA zoning district, a minimum side yard of five feet must be provided on the side adjacent to a residential zoning district. If the building height exceeds 40 feet, the side yard setback must increase one foot for each three feet over 40 fee...
	ii. In C, LI and HI zoning districts, a minimum side yard of 10 feet must be provided on the side adjacent to a residential zoning district. If the building height exceeds 40 feet, the side yard setback must increase one foot for each three feet over ...


	3. Required Rear Yards
	a. In the O-1, O-2, NS, GR, CA, C, LI or HI districts a minimum rear yard of 10 feet is required adjacent where a nonresidential use is abuts a residential zoning district or use. Where an alley exists, a rear yard is not required.
	b. In the O-2 zoning district, where nonresidential uses back upon a common district line dividing the district from a single-family residential zoning district, a minimum rear yard of 40 feet is required.



	4.4.5 Maximum Building Coverage
	4.4.6 Maximum Floor Area Ratio
	A. Except as provided in this Section, a structure may not be erected, added to or altered to exceed the maximum floor area ratio (FAR) standards set forth in the table below.
	B. A structure used for off-street parking may not be computed as area subject to FAR standards.

	4.4.7 Maximum Height
	A. Height is measured as the vertical distance of a building measured from the average established grade at the street line or from the average natural front yard ground level, whichever is higher, to (1) the highest point of the roof's surface if a f...
	B. In the zoning districts where maximum building height is restricted to two or three stories, cooling towers, roof gables, chimneys and bent stacks may extend for an additional height not to exceed 40 feet above the average grade line of the building.
	C. A basement must be counted as a story in computing building height. A cellar may not be counted as a story in computing building height.
	D. Water stand pipes and tanks, steeples, domes and spires and school buildings and institutional buildings may be erected to exceed three stories in height in residential areas restricted to two or three stories in height, provided that one additiona...
	E. Airport height zoning regulations in the vicinity of Draughon-Miller Municipal Airport act as an overlay district and may affect maximum allowable building heights. Any development within three miles of the existing runways must comply with airport...

	4.4.8 Intersection Visibility Triangle
	A. An intersection visibility triangle is established at all intersections where the streets, alleys and driveways intersect. It includes that portion of public street right-of-way and any corner lot in the triangular area formed by extending the curb...
	B. A vehicle, fence, wall, screen, view obstruction, or foliage is not allowed within the intersection visibility triangle at elevations between three feet and eight feet above the average street grade. Obstructions of this nature are a public traffic...
	C. Obstruction of an intersection visibility triangle must be abated within 10 days after written notice.


	Sec. 4.5. Residential Dimensional Standards
	4.5.1 Single-Family Detached Dwelling
	4.5.2 Single-Family Attached Dwelling
	4.5.3 Patio Home
	4.5.4 Two-Family Dwelling
	4.5.5 Multiple-Family Dwelling, 1-2 Stories
	4.5.6 Multiple-Family Dwelling, 3-4 Stories
	4.5.7 Multiple-Family Dwelling, 5-10 Stories

	Sec. 4.6. Nonresidential Dimensional Standards

	Article 5 Use Standards
	Sec. 5.1. Use Table
	5.1.1 Prohibited Uses
	A. Mobile home;
	B. Temporary sales that are unrelated and accessory to the primary use of the property except as provided for below:
	1. Temporary uses identified in Section 5.6 Temporary Uses; and
	2. Temporary sales associated with fundraising campaigns sponsored by non-profit organizations subject to the general conditions identified in Section 5.6.2.

	A. Tattoo parlor.

	5.1.2 Legend for Interpreting Use Table
	5.1.3 Use Table

	Sec. 5.2. Classification of New and Unlisted Uses
	5.2.1 The Director of Planning may refer the question concerning any new or unlisted use to the Planning and Zoning Commission requesting an interpretation of the appropriate zoning classification for such a use.
	5.2.2 The Director of Planning must submit to the Planning and Zoning Commission a statement of facts listing the nature of the use and whether it involves dwelling activity, sales, processing, type of product produced, amount and nature of storage, a...
	5.2.3 The Planning and Zoning Commission must consider the nature and described performance of the proposed use; its compatibility with the uses permitted in the various districts, and amend the use table in accordance with the UDC Text Amendment proc...

	Sec. 5.3. Specific Use Standards
	5.3.1 Family or Group Home
	5.3.2 HUD-Code Manufactured Home Development or Land Lease Community
	A. Minimum Area, Density and Setbacks
	1. The minimum lot area for a HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community is one acre.
	2. For a HUD-Code manufactured home development, only one HUD-Code manufactured home is allowed per lot or unplatted property.For individual homes, each lot must be minimum one acre in size.
	3. A HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community must observe a minimum front yard setback of 2050 feet.
	4. A HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community must observe a minimum side yard setback of 20 feet.
	5. A HUD-Code manufactured home development or land lease community must observe a minimum rear yard setback of 10 feet, unless adjacent to property zoned AG, UE, SF-1, SF-2 or SF-3, in which case a minimum rear yard setback of 20 feet setback is requ...

	B. Perimeter Screening
	1. HUD-Code Manufactured Home Land Lease Community
	a. Walls and Fences. Fences and walls must be constructed of wood, masonry, stone or pre-cast concrete with integrated color, texture and pattern.  Structural screening must be a minimum 6 feet in height above the adjacent grade. Fences or walls used ...
	b. Landscaping and Berming. Landscaping must include canopy trees and shrubs or a combination of canopy trees, shrubs and berms. Landscape screening must consist of a minimum of one canopy tree and six shrubs for every 40  linear feet of boundary, inc...
	c. Landscaping must be in conformance with Section 7.4.5- General Planting Criteria.

	2. HUD-Code Manufactured Home Development
	a. Landscaping.  Landscape screening must consist of a minimum of one canopy tree and five shrubs for every 30 linear feet along all sides of the manufactured home.
	b. Fencing and Landscaping Combination. The required number of trees may be reduced by 30% when used in a combination with a decorative fence that is a minimum of 4 feet in height; constructed of wood, wrought iron or galvanized ornamental steel; and ...
	c. Landscaping must be in conformance with Section 7.4.5- General Planting Criteria.
	.


	C. Dimensions
	1. HUD-Code manufactured homes placed in a new or expanded manufactured home subdivision development or land lease community must be “double-wide” units a minimum of 24 feet in width with no structure more than 15 years of age when installed..
	2. HUD-Code manufactured homes placed on an existing lot or pad in a manufactured home subdivision development or land lease community must be single-wide or double-wide units with no structure more than 1015 years of age when installed.

	D. Transport Equipment
	E. Roof
	F. Siding
	G. Foundation
	H. Skirting
	I. Storage Building

	5.3.3 Multiple-Family Dwelling
	A. A minimum side yard setback of 15 feet must be provided for multiple-family dwellings between any building wall containing openings for windows, light and air and any side lot line except that any such building face or wall not exceeding 35 feet in...
	B. Where a building wall contains no openings for windows, light or air, a minimum side yard setback of 10 feet must be provided between such wall and the side lot line.
	C. Where a multiple-family dwelling exceeding three stories in height is erected, the side yard must be increased one foot for each two feet the structure exceeds three stories but no side yard need exceed 50 feet as a result of this provision.
	D. Where multiple-family dwellings exceed three stories in height, a rear yard setback equal to one foot for each two feet in height is required, except that such rear yard setback need not exceed 50 feet as a result of this provision, and except furt...
	E. In the following zoning districts, the maximum building coverage for multiple-family dwellings must conform to the following schedule. Open off-street parking or loading areas may not be computed as area subject to building coverage standards.

	5.3.4 Patio Home
	5.3.5 Single-Family Attached Dwelling
	5.3.6 Townhouse
	A. A complex of townhouses may not exceed 300 feet in length.
	B. A minimum side yard setback of five feet must be provided at the end of each complex of townhouses so that the end of any two adjacent complexes are a minimum 10 feet apart.

	5.3.7 Zero Lot Line Dwelling
	5.3.8 Mini-Storage Warehouse
	5.3.9 Child Care Facility: Family Home or Group Day Care Home
	A. The residence or structure containing the family home or group day care child care facility must contain a minimum of 150 square feet of gross floor area for each child. This use excludes a foster home and group home.
	B. For a family home childcare facility, a safe off-street loading and unloading location must be provided. Off-street parking in addition to normally required parking for the residence is not required.
	C. For a group day care home child care facility, a paved off-street location, such as a circle drive or another suitable location, must be provided for safe loading and unloading. Maneuvering room must be provided on the property for parking and load...
	D. The home occupation standards in Sec. 5.5.4 apply to a family home child care facility and a group day care home that takes place in a residence.
	E. In the LI and HI zoning districts, a group day care home child care facility may be allowed only when provided in conjunction with service to employees of the principal use.

	5.3.10 Child Care Facility: Day Care Center
	A. Location
	B. Construction Codes
	C. Play Area
	D. TDHS Standards
	E. Accessory Use

	5.3.11 Pre-School
	5.3.12 Transitional, Emergency, or Social Service Shelter
	A. A transitional, emergency, or social service shelter may be permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the following considerations.
	1. The transitional, emergency, or social service shelter must be a minimum of 1,000 feet from the following uses:
	a. Alcoholic beverage sales (on-premise or off-premise consumption);
	b. All residential uses or zoning districts as specified in the zoning district table in Section 4.1.1 and in the use table in Section 5.1.3;
	c. Child care uses;
	d. Elementary or secondary schools (public or private); and
	e. Other transitional, emergency, or social service shelters.


	B. A transitional, emergency, or social service shelter may be permitted in accordance with the use table in Sec. 5.1 subject to the following standards.
	1. Space must be provided inside the transitional, emergency, or social service shelter so that prospective and current residents are not required to wait on sidewalks or any other public right-of-way.
	2. The transitional, emergency, or social service shelter must be equipped with a functioning central heating, ventilation and air conditioning system.
	3. The occupancy load and construction of the building must meet the most recent version of the International Fire Code and Building Code adopted by the City, including all Fire Safety requirements.
	4. A minimum of one shelter staff member must be present per 25 clients on-premise of the transitional or emergency shelter. A minimum of one shelter staff member must be present at the shelter at all times.
	5. Emergency shelters are facilities designed and operated in a manner that clients are provided temporary housing for stays of up to thirty (30) consecutive days.
	6. Transitional shelters are facilities designed and operated in a manner that clients are provided temporary housing for periods up to one year.
	7. Occasional, unplanned short term stays that exceed the thirty day or one year normal stay by clients of emergency and transitional shelters shall not constitute a violation of this ordinance.


	5.3.13 Compost Operation
	A. Compost operations classified as Exempt, Notification or Registration facilities under Title 30, Part I, Chapter 332, Composting, of the Texas Administrative Code are subject to the requirements in Chapter 332 for Registration facilities.
	B. The owner of a compost operation classified in Chapter 332 as Permit facilities must present and maintain a current Texas Commission on Environment Quality (TCEQ) permit.
	C. Chapter 332, excluding Subchapter D—Operations Requiring a Permit and Subchapter F—Household Hazardous Waste Collection, and the  TCEQ current Quality Assurance Program Plan are adopted by reference.
	D. For purposes of the City’s administration of registration requirements, the following definitions are substituted for terms defined in Title 30 Texas Administrative Code § 332.2, except where provisions refer to the Commission’s administration of A...
	1. Commission means the City of Temple.
	2. Executive Director and Chief Clerk means the Director of Public Works.
	3. Permit, when referring to City’s administration of Registration requirements, means Conditional Use Permit.


	5.3.14 Recycling Collection Location or Operation
	A. The buying and receiving area must be set back a minimum of 50 feet from the public street right-of-way.
	B. A minimum separation of 75 feet is required between any processing operation and the property line of any adjacent property zoned for residential purposes.
	C. The internal circulation area within a tract used for a recycling collection location must consist of a non-permeable surface of either asphalt or concrete.

	5.3.15 Alcoholic Beverage Sales for On-Premise Consumption
	A. The following standards apply to all establishments with on-premise consumption of alcoholic beverages.
	1. The permittee must design and operate the establishment in such a manner that the use of the premises does not substantially increase traffic congestion or create overcrowding in the establishment or the immediately surrounding area.
	2. The permittee must comply with applicable licensing and permit provisions of the Alcoholic Beverage Code within six months from the date of the issuance of the Conditional Use Permit, such limitation in time being subject to City review and possibl...
	3. The permittee bears the burden of showing that the establishment does not exceed the limitation on gross receipts from sales of alcoholic beverages applicable to its Conditional Use Permit. The permittee must maintain accounting records of the sour...
	4. The permittee must demonstrate that the granting of the permit would not be detrimental to the public welfare of the citizens of the City.
	5. The permittee must, at all times, provide an adequate number of employees for security purposes to adequately control the establishment to prevent incidents of drunkenness, disorderly conduct and raucous behavior. The permittee must consult with th...
	6. The establishment must provide adequate parking spaces in accordance with the standards in Sec. 7.5.
	7. The permittee must operate the establishment in such a manner as to prevent excessive noise, dirt, litter and odors in the establishment or in the surrounding area and operate the establishment in such a manner as to minimize disturbance to surroun...
	8. The City Council may deny or revoke a Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Sec. 3.5 if it affirmatively determines that the issuance of the permit is:
	a. Incompatible with the surrounding uses of property; or
	b. Detrimental or offensive to the neighborhood or contrary to the health, safety and general welfare of the City and its inhabitants.

	9. A Conditional Use Permit runs with the property and a change in the owner or lessee of a permitted establishment does not affect the Conditional Use Permit.
	10. All Conditional Use Permits must be further conditioned that the permit may be canceled, suspended or revoked in accordance with the revocation clause set forth in paragraph 8 above.

	B. In addition to the standards in subsection A above, the following standards apply to all establishments where the gross revenue from the on-premise sale of alcoholic beverages is less than 75% of the total gross revenue of the establishment, includ...
	1. The establishment must not be within 300 feet of a place of worship, public school or public hospital.
	2. The distance between the establishment where alcoholic beverages are sold and the place of worship or public hospital must be measured along the property lines of the street fronts and from front door to front door, and in a direct line across inte...
	3. If the permit or license holder is located on or above the fifth story of a multistory building, in a direct line from the property line of the public school to the property line of the place of business, in a direct line across intersections, and ...

	C. In addition to the standards in subsection A above, the following standards apply to all establishments where the gross revenue from the on-premise sale of alcoholic beverages is 75% or more of the total gross revenue of the establishment.
	1. The establishment must not be within 300 feet of a place of worship, elementary or secondary school, public hospital, public park or any residentially zoned or developed lot.
	2. The distance between the establishment where alcoholic beverages are sold and a protected use must be measured in a straight, direct line from the property line of the establishment to the nearest property line of a place of worship, elementary or ...
	3. An establishment in a multi-storied building on other than the ground floor must be treated as though it were on the ground floor for purpose of the measurement between property lines.


	5.3.16 Outdoor Shooting Range
	A. Only handguns (pistols and revolvers) are permitted to be used at the outdoor shooting range. No shotguns, rifles or automatic weapons are permitted at the range.
	B. No armor piercing or incendiary ammunition is allowed.
	C. Ammunition larger than 0.460 caliber is not allowed.
	D. No minimum lot area is required. The range, range site and uninhabited downrange safety area must be under uniform control and ownership, so as to maintain its permanency.
	E. The range area includes the firing line; target line, backstops, side berms and walls; and baffles and other safety barriers. No portion of a range area may be nearer than 100 feet to any public street right-of-way or adjacent property line.
	F. The firing of handguns is prohibited during the hours between seven p.m. and seven a.m.
	G. The range may be used only under the supervision of trained personnel.
	H. Appropriate certifications must be obtained from the Texas Department of Public Safety.
	I. Adequate accident and liability insurance must cover operators in an amount of not less than $1,000,000 per single occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate per year (combined single limit for personal injury, death or property damage).
	J. Conditional use permit may be revoked at any time in accordance with Sec. 3.5.
	K. The range must conform in all respects to TCEQ standards and regulations.
	L. The range must be handicap accessible and provide required handicapped parking and restrooms.
	M. The range operator is responsible for proper disposition of spent casings and projectiles.
	N. The range operator is responsible for ensuring no alcoholic beverages are present on the entire range site.
	O. Violation of any federal, state or local law is grounds for revoking the Conditional Use Permit.
	P. No portion of range may be located in a floodway.
	Q. Projectiles must be contained within the berm or enclosure within the range site.
	R. If berms or baffles consist of tires, tires must be covered with earthen material.
	S. A fence designed in accordance with the standards in Sec. 7.7 must surround the range site and downrange safety area. Such fence must be of suitable height and material to exclude persons or livestock from unauthorized entry. Warning signs must be ...

	5.3.17 Alcoholic Beverage Sales for Off-Premise Consumption, Package Store
	A. Such use must comply with Chapter 4, “Alcoholic Beverages,” of the City Code.
	B. Outdoor lighting must comply with the standards in subsection 6.7.5K.
	C. If applicable, a pick-up window must be visible from the public right-of-way, and may not be placed in alleys.
	D. The drive-through lane must provide a minimum of 60 feet of stacking space as measured from the pick-up window.
	E. An escape (bypass) lane must be provided parallel to the drive-through lane, if applicable, from the beginning of the drive-through lane.
	F. Parking (in any zoning district including in CA) must be provided on-site, not less than one space for each 250 square feet of retail space (plus the number of parking spaces required for non-retail space as specified in Sec. 7.5).
	G. Window signs are prohibited.
	H. Lighted signs must be turned off at closing time. This requirement does not apply to multi-tenant signs that meet the requirements of Sec. 7.6.3 of this UDC.
	[Ord. No. 2015-4707]

	5.3.18 Cleaning, Pressing and Pick Up Shop
	5.3.19 Auto Sales, New or Used (Outdoor Lot)
	5.3.20 Auto Sales Facility, New or Used
	5.3.21 Fuel Sales
	5.3.22 Major Vehicle Repair
	A. Vehicle repair must be conducted within a building.
	B. All buildings must be set back a minimum of 20 feet from:
	1. Residentially zoned or developed property; and
	2. Public property such as a school or park.

	C. Vehicle parts, wrecked vehicles, commodities, materials and equipment may be stored behind a building in the rear area if screened from public view from any street, residentially developed or zoned property, or adjacent or opposite public property ...
	D. There is no size limit for vehicles being repaired.

	5.3.23 Minor Vehicle Servicing
	A. Vehicle servicing must be conducted completely within an enclosed building.
	B. Vehicles being serviced may not exceed one and one-half tons.
	C. All buildings must be set back a minimum of 25 feet from:
	1. The  public street right-of-way;
	2. Residentially zoned or developed property; and
	3. Public property such as a school or park.

	D. No outside storage or display of any kind is permitted.
	E. No parking of damaged motor vehicles is permitted, except on a temporary basis not to exceed 72 hours.

	5.3.24 Wrecking or Salvage Yard
	5.3.25 Kiosk
	A. All of the Dimensional and General Development Standards in Article 4 and Article 7 of this UDC apply to a kiosk as if it were the principal use of the property.
	B. Drive-through kiosks must provide 3, 8-ft by 22-ft. queuing spaces per kiosk service window.
	C. Wall signs on the wall of a kiosk itself are the only sign type allowed for advertising the services of the kiosk. Wall signs on a kiosk are limited to a maximum of 25 percent of the surface area of each wall. Wall signs are permitted only on the s...
	D. Pedestrian access to the kiosk use must be included from all pedestrian facilities, including but not limited to sidewalks.


	Sec. 5.4. Personal Wireless Service Facilities
	5.4.1 Purpose
	A. To enhance the ability of the providers of telecommunications services to provide such services to the community safely, effectively and efficiently;
	A. To enhance the ability of the providers of telecommunications services to provide such services to the community safely, effectively and efficiently;
	B. To encourage the users of support structures and antennas to collocate where possible, and to locate all facilities, to the extent possible, in areas where adverse impact on the community is minimal;
	C. To identify standards in order to ensure equitable treatment of providers of functionally equivalent telecommunications services; and
	D. To minimize the visual impact of towers through design, screening and landscaping.

	5.4.2 Prohibited Districts
	A. UE, Urban Estate;
	B. SF-1 through SF-3, Single-Family Dwelling;
	C. SFA through SFA-3, Single-Family Attached;
	D. MH, Manufactured Home;
	E. TH, Townhouse;
	F. 2F, Two-Family Dwelling; and
	G. MF-1 though MF-3, Multiple Family Dwelling.

	5.4.3 I-35 Interstate Corridor Overlay District Standards
	A. Except as provided in this section, Freestanding Personal Wireless Service Facilities are prohibited in the 135, Interstate Corridor Overlay.
	B. Freestanding Stealth Personal Wireless Service Facilities may be considered in all I 35 Interstate Corridor Overlay Sub-Districts by the Director of Planning. The Director of Planning will determine whether or not a proposed freestanding stealth fa...
	C. In addition to Freestanding Stealth Personal Wireless Service Facilities, freestanding monopoles are permitted in the Industrial Sub-District.

	5.4.4 Chief Building Official Review and Final Action
	5.4.5 Conditional Use Permit
	A. A Conditional Use Permit reviewed in accordance with Sec. 3.5 is required for personal wireless service facilities proposed to be located:
	1. In the H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay zoning district; or
	2. In a manner that is not eligible for administrative approval as set forth in Sec. 5.4.3 above.

	B. Every application must be evaluated for compatibility of height with surrounding areas and provision for collocation.
	C. A personal wireless service facility must meet the design standards in Sec. 5.4.65.4.5 below.
	D. The radius for mailed notice of a Zoning Map Amendment as described in Sec. 3.3.3 must be increased to 500 feet for an application for a Conditional Use Permit for personal wireless service facilities. The procedure for notice to surrounding proper...

	5.4.6 Design Standards
	A. Boundary and Use Setbacks
	1. A guy or guy anchor for a facility must not be closer than 20 feet to a bounding property line.
	2. The distance between the base of a self-supported tower and the property line of any residential zoning district or use must not be less than 3 times the height of the tower structure.

	B. Security Screening Fence
	1. A solid, wood or masonry fence, a minimum of eight feet in height, must completely enclose the base of every tower.
	2. In a residential zoning district or on property that abuts a residential zoning district or use, a solid wood or masonry fence, a minimum of eight feet in height, must complete enclose all mechanical equipment and accessory structures.
	3. A security screening fence for a facility built or permitted after May 17th, 2001, may not be less than 6 feet in height.
	4. A security fence must be built to safely discourage unauthorized access to facilities by climbing.
	5. External and internal gates and doors that provide access to a facility must be equipped with a self-locking or self-latching mechanism for purposes of preventing unauthorized access.
	6. Screening is not required for a facility located on a building that is not designed or built primarily to support the facility, if the ancillary equipment, including but not limited to the equipment enclosure, is not visible from an abutting proper...

	C. Screening
	1. As much of the total facility as possible must be screened or located so as to not be visible from prevalent views.
	2. Landscaping must be continuously maintained in a healthy, growing condition and be trimmed as necessary to comply with ordinances governing height of grass, corner sight obstruction and street and sidewalk obstruction.

	D. Collocation
	1. Height is not sufficient to meet applicant’s engineering requirements;
	2. Structural strength is not sufficient to support applicant’s proposed facilities and cannot be reinforced in accordance with engineering requirements;
	3. Other aspects of structure do not meet applicant’s technical design requirements;
	4. Electromagnetic interference would result from collocation;
	5. Fees or costs for sharing or adapting are unreasonable; any cost that is less than the cost to construct and develop a new tower is presumed to be reasonable;
	6. Owners of alternative structures are unwilling to accommodate the applicant’s needs within 30 days after the date such owners received applicant's written request; or
	7. Other factors render alternative support structures unsuitable.


	5.4.7  Abandonment of Tower
	A. At such time as the facility is no longer utilized for service, the tower owner or operator must submit written notification to the Chief Building Official within 30 days of non-use.
	B. In the event the use of any facility has been discontinued for a period of 180 consecutive days, the tower is deemed abandoned. The Chief Building Official is responsible for making a determination of the date of abandonment. The Chief Building Off...
	C. Upon such abandonment, the owner or operator of the tower has 90 days to complete either of the following:
	1. Request to reactivate the use of the tower or transfer the tower to another owner or operator with the use of the tower being identical to that approved for the original applicant; or
	2. Dismantle and remove the tower and associated facilities.

	D. If a facility remains abandoned after the 90 day period, the City may require the removal of the facility. All aspects of the facility, including but not limited to paving material, support structures, wires, fencing and platforms must be removed f...

	5.4.8 Removal After Revocation of Permit

	Sec. 5.5. Accessory Uses and Structures
	5.5.1 Use Table for Accessory Uses
	A. Residential Accessory Uses
	B. Nonresidential Accessory Uses
	C. Residential Accessory Uses
	D. Nonresidential Accessory Uses

	5.5.2 Minimum Setback Requirements
	A. The following minimum setback requirements apply to accessory structures.
	B. Notwithstanding the standards in the table in subsection A above, the following standards apply to residential accessory structures.
	1. Where a one-hour fire wall is provided, a side yard setback on one side of a lot only and a rear yard setback is not required for an accessory building.
	2. Detached accessory buildings must be separated from the principle building by a minimum distance of 10 feet
	3. Where a garage or carport is designed and constructed to be side- or alley-loaded, such garage or carport must be set back from the side street or alley a minimum distance of 18 feet to facilitate access without interference to the use of the stree...

	C. Except for a carport or fence for a dwelling in the MU zoning district, an accessory building in a nonresidential zoning district must:
	1. Be located in the rear half of the property;
	2. Be separated from the principle building and any accessory building by a minimum distance of 25 feet; and
	3. Meet the requirements of Chapter 12, Fire Prevention and Protection, of the Code of Ordinances, dependent upon the uses of the building, and meet the general development standards of Article 7 as they relate to accessory buildings.


	5.5.3 Accessory Dwelling Units in Nonresidential Districts
	A. All Nonresidential Districts Except for CA
	1. Only one accessory dwelling unit is permitted per lot.
	2. An accessory dwelling unit may not occupy more than 49 percent of the total gross floor area of the main structure.
	3. An employee of the business occupying the main structure and that employee’s family are the only persons who may occupy an accessory dwelling unit.
	4. Parking is required for the accessory dwelling unit in accordance with Sec. 0.

	B. CA District
	1. More than one accessory dwelling unit is allowed per lot.
	2. Parking is required for each accessory dwelling unit in accordance with Sec. 0.


	5.5.4 Home Occupations
	A. General Standards
	1. A home occupation must take place in the main structure only.
	2. The use of a dwelling unit for a home occupation must be clearly incidental and subordinate to its use for residential purposes, and must under no circumstances change the residential character of the dwelling.
	3. Additional persons from outside the family living at the home may not be employed at the home occupation.
	4. A sign advertising the home occupation is not permitted.

	B. Prohibited Characteristics
	C. Prohibited Uses
	1. Repair garage;
	2. Beauty shop;
	3. Barber shop; or
	4. Sexually oriented business.


	5.5.5 Stable, Residential or Noncommercial
	A. The stable building must be set back from all adjacent property lines a minimum of 50 feet and a minimum of 100 feet from any adjacent residence.
	B. The site must be a minimum of one acre in area.


	Sec. 5.6. Temporary Uses
	5.6.1 Permit Required
	1.
	2.
	3.
	4.
	5.
	5.1.
	5.2.
	5.3.
	5.4.
	5.5.
	5.6.
	A. The following temporary uses require a Temporary Use Permit:
	1. Seasonal Product Sales; and
	2. Farmers’ market.

	B. The following temporary uses require a Commercial Building Permit:
	1. Asphalt or concrete batching plant (temporary); and
	2. Temporary field or construction office.

	C. The following uses or features are exempt from regulation under this section and do not require a Temporary Use Permit or a Commercial Building Permit but must comply with the general requirements set forth in Sec. 5.6.2 and any specific limitation...
	1. Temporary Real estate sales offices or model homes; and
	2. Seasonal product sales in accordance with Sec. 7.7.7.

	D. The Chief Building Official may suspend or revoke a Temporary Use Permit immediately upon determination that general and specific conditions set forth in Sec. 5.6 have been violated.

	5.6.2 General Requirements
	A. If the property is developed, the temporary use must be located in an area that is not actively used by an existing principal use and that would support the proposed temporary use without encroaching or creating a negative impact on existing buffer...
	B. The temporary use must not endanger or be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or injurious to property or improvements in the immediate vicinity of the temporary use, given the nature of the activity, its location on the...
	C. The height and placement of any merchandise/seasonal products, tents, or temporary structures must not encroach upon the intersection visibility triangle.
	D. Off street parking must be adequate to accommodate the proposed temporary use. This requirement does not apply to Temporary Real Estate Sales Offices or Model Homes.
	E. The temporary use must not cause undue traffic congestion increase accident potential.
	F. Permanent changes to the site are prohibited.  This requirement does not apply to Temporary Real Estate Sales Offices or Model Homes.
	G. No signs in connection with a temporary use are permitted except in accordance with the provisions of Article 6 and Article 7 of this UDC.
	H. No temporary uses may be located in the floodway.

	5.6.3 Use Table for Temporary Uses
	A. Unless otherwise stated, permitted temporary uses for Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts will comply with applicable use standards provided in Article 5.
	B. The following temporary uses are permitted by right, permitted subject to limitations, permitted subject to limitations, or require a Conditional Use Permit issued in accordance with Sec. 3.5.

	5.6.4 Seasonal Product Sales
	A. Seasonal product sales are limited to agricultural or horticultural products including but not limited to pumpkins, Christmas trees, nursery stock or produce sales.
	B. Seasonal product inventory must be located a minimum of 10 feet from the property line.
	C. Seasonal product sales may not be located in the public right-of-way.
	D. Temporary use permits for a season product sales are limited to a single vendor.
	E. Temporary use permits for seasonal product sales are valid for up to three consecutive months.
	F. Temporary use permits may be renewed once annually.
	G. Applicants are limited to two temporary use permits per site per year.
	H. A seasonal product vendor must obtain the written permission of the property owner.

	5.6.5 Temporary Field Office or Construction Office
	5.6.6 Temporary Real Estate Sales Office or Model Home
	5.6.7 Farmers’ Market
	A. A farmers’ market sponsor or organizer must obtain the written permission of the property owner.
	B. All tents, booths, tables, and other temporary structures used in the operation of an outdoor farmers' market must be removed from the farmers' market site at the conclusion of each day the market is in operation.
	C. All trash, fruit or produce remnants, debris, and general litter must be removed from the farmers' market site at the conclusion of each day the market is in operation. The sponsoring committee or organization is responsible for ensuring the genera...
	D.  A farmers’ market is permitted use in the TMED zoning district and the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district subject to all the general and specific requirements identified in Sec. 5.6.
	E. Temporary Use Permits for farmers’ markets are valid for a period of one year.



	Article 6 Special Purpose and Overlay Zoning Districts
	Sec. 6.1. MH, Manufactured Home
	6.1.1 Applicability
	6.1.2 Use Table
	6.1.3 Prohibited Uses
	6.1.4  Dimensional Standards

	Sec. 6.2.  MU, Mixed Use
	6.2.1 Use Table
	6.2.2 Prohibited Uses
	6.2.3 Dimensional Standards
	A. Minimum Front Yard
	B. Minimum Side Yard
	C. Minimum Rear Yard
	D. Minimum Building Separation

	6.2.4 Nonresidential Uses
	A. A Conditional Use Permit approved in accordance with Sec. 3.5 is required for nonresidential uses on property abutting a residential use or residential zoning district.
	B. Hours of operation are limited to the hours between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m.
	C. Exterior lighting must be arranged to reflect away from residentially used property.
	D. Outdoor storage must be screened from the view of neighboring property and streets.

	6.2.5 Accessory Uses

	Sec. 6.3.  TMED, Temple Medical and Educational
	6.3.1 Boundary
	6.3.2 Establishment of Transect Zones
	A. T4 General Urban Zone
	B. T5-e Neighborhood Edge Zone
	C. T5-c Urban Center Zone
	D. Special Districts
	1. S&W Memorial Hospital and Texas A&M Health Science Center (SD-h)
	2. The Central Texas Veterans Health Care System (SD-v)
	3. Temple College (SD-c)
	4. Temple Independent School District (SD-t)


	6.3.3 Applicability
	A. The provisions of the TMED zoning district apply to nonresidential and multiple-family development as established in the table below.
	B. The provisions of the TMED zoning district apply to single-family development as established in the table below.

	6.3.4 TMED Site Plan Review Process
	6.3.5 General Regulations
	A. Applicability
	B. General to all Districts
	C. Permitted Encroachments Into Setbacks
	1. The table below establishes encroachments that are permitted in required setbacks. Encroachment must comply with all other standards of this and other applicable Sections of this UDC.
	2. Buildings are not permitted to overlap property lines.

	D. Building Configuration

	6.3.6 Use Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Prohibited Uses
	1. Agricultural Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3;
	2. Auto parts sales;
	3. Commercial Uses as listed in the use table in Sec.5.1.3;
	4. Industrial Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3;
	5. Kiosk;
	6. Natural Resource Storage and Extraction Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3Error! Reference source not found.;
	7. Package store;
	8. Two-family dwelling (Duplex); and
	9. Vehicle Sales and Service Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1.3.

	C. Legend for Interpreting Use Table
	D. Use Table
	E. Specific Use Standards
	1. Uses are limited to a maximum of gross floor area of 10,000 square feet.
	2. In addition to vehicle space in front of drive-through window, three spaces are required for stacking in the drive-through. The drive-through is only permitted to the rear or side of the principal building.
	3. Multiple-family dwellings are permitted only if they are part of a mixed use development in which 40 percent of the nonresidential uses are constructed with or prior to multiple-family construction.
	4. Hotels are permitted in accordance with the following provisions:
	a. External balconies and walkways must be set back 200 feet from any residential zoning district.
	b. Hotel staff must be present on-site 24 hours a day.
	c. All rooms must be accessed through an internal hallway, lobby or courtyard. Exterior entrances to individual rooms are prohibited.
	d. The hotel site must contain a minimum of three amenities from the list below:
	i. Indoor/outdoor pool;
	ii. Spa/sauna;
	iii. Weight room/fitness center;
	iv. Playground;
	v. Sports court;
	vi. Plaza/atrium;
	vii. Game room;
	viii. Conference room (1,000 square foot minimum); or
	ix. Full service restaurant (minimum seating capacity of 35).


	5. All commercial surface parking lots must adhere to screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E.
	6. Overhead doors are prohibited.
	7. Accessory dwelling units are only permitted on lots with single-family detached structures. Accessory dwelling units are not permitted in the required garage. Accessory dwelling units must comply with all setback and coverage requirements. Accessor...
	8. Parking structures must integrate commercial uses on the first floor on primary and secondary frontages. Parking structures must be treated the same as nonresidential structures for the application of TMED standards.
	9. The Specific Use Standards in Sec. 5.3 apply to use these uses.
	10. The drive-through is only permitted to the rear or side of the principal building and must be screened in accordance with parking lot screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E.
	11. Fuel stations are only permitted on South 31st Street. Fuel pumps must be located to the rear or side of the principal building and must be screened in accordance with parking lot screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E. The number of pumps i...
	12. Multiple-family dwellings are not permitted on the first floor of structures fronting on collectors or arterials without approval of a Warrant.
	13. All structured parking on public frontages in SD districts must adhere to screening requirements in subsection 6.3.10E. In addition to screening requirements, one additional ornamental tree must be planted every 25 feet.
	14. All nonresidential standards apply.

	F. Uses Not Addressed
	G. Outdoor Storage
	H. Outdoor Retail Display
	1. Commodities must not be displayed outdoors for sale in a transect zone or Special District where such sale is not an allowed use.
	2. Commodities must not be displayed outdoors for sale in the TMED zoning district, except that temporary outdoor display for a sidewalk sale is permitted that does not extend more than five feet from a front façade and reserves at least five feet of ...

	I. Home Occupations

	6.3.7 Circulation Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Thoroughfare Standards
	1. Cul-de-sacs are prohibited in the TMED zoning district.
	2. New thoroughfares must comply with the Design and Development Standards Manual.

	C. Block Perimeter
	D. Access and Connectivity
	1. General
	a. Access and Connectivity standards do not apply to Special Districts.
	b. Nonresidential driveway connections to adjacent property must be provided.
	c. All driveway connections must be constructed and stubbed or connected to any existing stub.
	d. Driveway spacing must be based on the Design and Development Standards Manual and the appropriate alignment with any existing or proposed median breaks as approved by the City Engineer.
	e. The requirement for a driveway connection may be waived by the Director of Planning when unusual topography or site conditions would make such a driveway or access easement useless to adjoining properties.

	2. Specific to T5-e on First Street


	6.3.8 Parking and Loading Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Required Parking Ratios
	1. Required Parking Ratios do not apply to Special Districts.
	2. The standards in Sec. 0 apply with the following exceptions:
	a. The minimum requirements for all nonresidential uses and multiple-family uses are reduced by 25 percent.
	b. If parking in excess of 100 percent of the minimum parking spaces required is provided, additional landscaping area and planting equivalent to two percent of the parcel’s impervious cover must be provided per each additional parking space.


	C. Parking Space Dimensions
	D. Parking Requirements for New or Unlisted Uses
	E. Off-Street Loading Regulations
	1. Common or shared loading and delivery entrances must be provided between adjacent buildings or developments.
	2. Off-street loading areas and truck staging areas must be located in the rear yard and must not be visible from the public right-of-way.

	F. Shared Parking
	G. Parking Location
	1. General
	a. Surface parking areas must be screened from all public rights of way by a building or screen in accordance with Screening Standards.
	b. Surface parking areas must be constructed with curb and gutter.

	2. Single-Family Detached or Attached Dwelling, Townhouses, Row Houses and Live/Work Units
	3. Mixed Use, Multiple-family and Nonresidential Uses
	a. Mixed use, multiple-family and nonresidential driveways must be no wider than 24 feet in the first layer.
	b. All parking areas and garages must be located at the second or third layer of the principal frontage, and must be accessed by rear alleys.

	4. Alleys

	H. Specific to Zone T5-e on First Street
	1. A single row of teaser parking not exceeding 40 feet in pavement depth is permitted parallel to South 1st Street.
	2. Where parking is located in the front of the building there must be a minimum setback of ten feet from the right-of-way line to the parking area.

	I. On-Street Parking
	1. On-street parking spaces may be located on streets as identified in the table in subsection 6.3.11B.5.
	2. On-street parking may be used to satisfy 50 percent of the off-street parking standards for nonresidential uses excluding multiple-family dwellings.
	3. On-street parking may only be achieved through parallel parking.


	6.3.9 Bicycle Facility Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Bicycle Facilities
	1. The table below establishes minimum required bicycle rack spaces.
	2. Bicycle facilities must be placed in clearly designated, safe and convenient locations, so that no tenant entrance is greater than 200 feet from a bike facility.
	3. Bike facilities must be separated from motor vehicle parking in order to protect both bicycles and vehicles from accidental damage. Facilities must be separated from the building or other walls, landscaping, other features a minimum of three feet t...
	4. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific bicycle facility models and styles that are permitted in the TMED zoning district.


	6.3.10 Private Property Landscape Standards
	A. Applicability
	A.
	B.  General Site Landscape
	1. A minimum percentage of the total area of the private property on which development, construction or reconstruction is proposed must be dedicated to landscape area including trees, shrubs, groundcover, sod or other living plant material.
	2. The table below establishes minimum site landscape requirements for the TMED transect zones.

	C. Tree Mix
	1. Private property trees must be selected from the table in subsection 6.3.12B.
	2. A minimum of 50 percent of required trees must be selected from the medium or large size tree list.
	3. A minimum of 50 percent of required trees must be evergreen species.

	D. Parking Lot Landscaping
	1. Landscaped parking islands are required in all parking lots.
	2. One landscaped island must be provided for every 10 parking spaces. Islands may be located throughout the parking lot except all parking rows must begin and terminate in a curbed landscape island.
	3. Islands must be a minimum of 170 square feet in area and eight feet in width back-of-curb to back-of-curb. One small or medium tree from the approved planting list is required in each island.
	4. All islands must be raised at least six inches, curbed and planted with approved landscaping materials.
	5. Parking islands shrubs, trees and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	E. Parking Lot Screen
	1. All parking must be screened from public rights-of-way a minimum 36 inches in height, through one of the following methods:
	a. Planting screen of evergreen shrubs;
	b. Masonry wall;
	c. Combination of evergreen shrubs and berm; and
	d. Combination of evergreen shrubs and wall.

	2. Planted screening must be capable of providing a solid, opaque 36-inch screen within two years, and must be planted in a prepared bed that is at least three feet in width.
	3. Parking lot screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.
	4. In addition to required parking lot screen shrubs, four small canopy street trees are required in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual on First Street at all intersections.

	F. Screening of Mechanical Equipment
	1. All roof, ground and wall-mounted mechanical equipment (e.g., air handling equipment, compressors, duct work, transformers and elevator equipment) must be screened from view or isolated so as not to be visible from any residential districts or uses...
	2. Roof-mounted mechanical equipment must be shielded from view on all sides using parapet walls.
	3. Wall or ground-mounted equipment screening must be constructed of:
	a. Vegetative screens; or
	b. Brick, stone, architecturally finished concrete, or other similar masonry materials; and
	c. All fence or wall posts must be concrete-based masonry or concrete pillars.

	4. Exposed conduit, ladders, utility boxes and drain spouts must be painted to match the color of the building.
	5. Mechanical equipment screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	G. Screening of Waste Containers
	1. Waste containers must be located on the rear of the building and screened from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the structure.
	2. Waste containers must be located a minimum of 50 feet away from any residential use or district’s property lines with the exception of multiple-family.
	3. Waste containers must be screened on all four sides, using an enclosure that screens the waste container from view at the property line.
	4. Screening must be at least as tall as the waste container(s) and comprised of materials and color schemes that are visually and aesthetically compatible with the overall project that incorporate the following:
	a. Brick;
	b. Stone;
	c. Stucco;
	d. Architecturally finished concrete; or
	e. Other similar masonry materials.

	5. Waste containers with fence posts must be rust-protected metal, concrete based, masonry or concrete pillars; and waste containers must have six-inch concrete filled steel pipes (bollards) that are located to protect the enclosure from truck operati...
	6. Waste container enclosures must have steel gates with spring-loaded hinges or the equivalent and fasteners to keep them closed. When in use, tie-backs must be used to secure the steel gates in the open position.
	7. Waste container screening must be maintained by the owner at all times.
	8. The ingress, egress, and approach to all waste container pads must conform to fire lane requirements.
	9. Waste container pad and aprons requirements must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	10. Waste container screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	H. Screening of Loading Docks
	1. Loading and service areas must be located at the rear of the building and screened from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the principal building.
	2. Loading areas must not be located closer than 50 feet to any single-family lot, unless wholly within an enclosed building.
	3. Off-street loading areas must be screened from view from any street or adjacent property of differing land use.
	4. All loading areas must be enclosed on three sides by a wall or other screening device a minimum of eight feet in height.
	5. Loading areas that are visible from any public right-of-way must also include a combination of evergreen trees and shrubs that will result in solid opaque vegetative screening a minimum of eight feet in height within two years of planting. The plan...
	6. Loading dock screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Sec. 6.3.10.

	I. Fence and Wall Standards for All Uses
	1. Fences and walls on the primary and secondary frontage may have a maximum height of three feet.
	2. Fences and walls to the rear of the site may have a maximum height of six feet, unless they are required for loading dock screening.
	3. Fencing and walls must not be placed within the required line of sight as determined by the sight triangle established in Sec. 4.4.8.
	4. Chain link, barbed wire, razor wire and metal or corrugated panels are prohibited.

	J. Nonresidential and Multiple-Family Uses
	1. Fences and walls must be constructed of decorative blocks, brick, stone, vinyl, woodcrete and wrought iron. Alternative materials may be approved by Warrant.
	2. Breaks in the fence or wall must be made to provide for required pedestrian connections to the perimeter of the site and to adjacent developments.

	K. Single-Family Uses

	6.3.11 Public Frontage Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Public Frontage
	1. Public frontage is the space between the existing or proposed back-of-curb and the property line.
	2. Total public frontage depth is measured from back-of-curb. If existing right-of-way does not accommodate all requirements, private property must be used to account for the additional required depth.
	3. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for examples of Public Frontage requirements.
	4. Curb and gutter installation is required.
	5. The table below establishes five public frontage types and assigns standards to each public frontage type.

	C. Public Frontage Implementation
	D. Public Frontage Landscape Standards
	1. Street Trees
	a. One tree per 25’ linear street frontage is required.  Tress must be planted in a regularly spaced pattern. Spacing of trees may be offset to allow a view corridor into the primary entry of a nonresidential use.
	i. Type A, B, C and D Public Frontage
	ii. Type E Public Frontage.

	b. Public frontage trees must be planted within the required street yard planting strip adjacent to the back-of-curb.
	i. Type A Public Frontage
	ii. Type B, C, D, and E Public Frontage

	c. Large canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are not present. Medium canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are present.

	2. Planting Area
	a. Type A, B, C and D Public Frontage
	b. Type E Public Frontage


	E. Public Frontage Sidewalk Standards
	1. Sidewalks must extend the entire length of the development’s frontage on a public street and must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual and related provisions in this UDC.
	2. Sidewalks must be constructed before the Chief Building Official issues a Certificate of Occupancy.
	3. Sidewalks must connect to existing adjacent sidewalks, or be designed and placed to allow connection to future adjacent sidewalks.
	4. Sidewalks of different widths must be transitioned within a length of sidewalk by two expansion joints not less than six feet apart as required by Texas Accessibility Standards.
	5. Sidewalks must connect to parking within the lot and to primary entrances of each nonresidential building.
	6. Pedestrian walkways must also connect the principal building entrances to all associated outdoor amenities, such as courtyards and other outdoor gathering places.
	7. Residential sidewalks must be installed from the primary entrance of the residence to the perimeter street sidewalk system.

	F. Public Frontage Amenities
	1. Benches must be provided at all intersections within the public ROW surrounding the development. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific bench models and styles that are permitted in the TMED zoning district.
	2. Trash receptacles must be placed next to required seating areas. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific trash receptacle models and styles that are permitted in the TMED zoning district.
	3. Pedestrian-scale lighting must be provided at all intersections and at 100’ intervals along all public and private roadways within the development. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific pedestrian-scale lighting models and style...

	G. Public Frontage Hike and Bike Trail Implementation

	6.3.12 General Planting Criteria
	A. Applicability
	B. Approved Tree List – Article 7: General Development Standards: Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria: B Approved Tree List.
	C. Approved Groundcover List
	D. Approved Shrubs – Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; C Approved Shrub List.
	E. Approved Lawn Grass – Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; E approved Lawn Grass.
	F. Landscape Installation – Applicable to TMED
	1. Trees
	a. All required large trees must be a minimum of three inches in diameter at breast height or 65-gallon container size at planting.
	b. All required medium trees must be a minimum of two and one-half inches in diameter at breast height at planting.
	c. All required small trees must be a minimum of two inches in diameter at breast height at planting at planting.

	2. Shrubs
	3. Groundcover
	4. Lawn Grass
	a. Grass areas must be planted with drought resistant species normally grown as permanent lawns, such as Bermuda, Zoysia or Buffalo.
	b. Grass areas must be sodded, plugged, sprigged, or seeded. However, solid sod must be used in swales, berms or other areas subject to erosion.

	5. Landscape Maintenance
	a. All new plant material must be planted and maintained in accordance with the latest edition of the American National Standards Institute requirements for Tree, Shrub, and Other Woody Plant Maintenance (ANSI A300 Parts 1 through 6).
	b. All required public frontage and private frontage landscaping must be maintained in good condition after installation. The owner must replace any plant material that ever becomes diseased, deteriorates or dies within 30 days of death of the plant m...

	6. Irrigation


	6.3.13 Architectural Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Materials Required
	1. The exterior finish material on all facades is limited to brick, stone, cementitious siding and stucco.
	2. Cementitious siding is limited to a maximum 20 percent per façade plane for multiple-family and nonresidential uses.
	3. A minimum of two distinct materials are required on all facades. Materials may be combined on each facade only horizontally, with the heavier below the lighter.
	4. Balconies and porches must be made of painted wood, concrete or metal.

	C. Accent Materials
	1. Tile;
	2. Exterior Insulation Finishing System (EIFS);
	3. Wood Siding or shingles;
	4. Architecturally finished concrete block;
	5. Architectural metal; and
	6. Other materials may be approved by warrant.

	D. Building Design

	6.3.14 Parking and Garage Standards
	6.3.15 Private Property Common Area Standards
	A. Private property common area requirements do not apply to Special Districts or single-family detached and single-family attached residential uses in T4 and T5.
	B. Common area requirements are in addition to required public and private landscaping.
	C. Multiple open space areas may be created, however all open space areas must contain a minimum of 100 sq ft.
	D. Common areas must have defined edges, either through grade change, perimeter edging or the integration of buildings as perimeter edging.
	E. The table below establishes minimum private property common area standards for the TMED zoning district.

	6.3.16 Sign Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Permitted Sign Types
	C. Specific Sign Type Standards
	1. Sandwich Board Sign
	2. Projecting Sign
	3. Wall Sign
	4. Monument Sign
	a. Monument signs may be approved by Warrant only. If approved, they are limited to one per lot with a maximum of 50 square feet per sign face, a maximum height of six feet and a maximum width of two feet.
	b. A monument sign must not interrupt the required tree planting and spacing or be located within three feet of a hike and bike trail.
	c. Sign material must consist of a limestone or brick base and columns that are architecturally compatible to the principal building. Other materials may be approved by Warrant if architecturally compatible.

	5. Multi-Tenant Sign
	a. Multi-tenant signs may be approved by Warrant only. If approved they must be limited to one per lot and a maximum of 60 square feet per sign face, 8 feet in height and 2 feet in width.
	b. Such sign must not interrupt the required tree planting and spacing or be located within 3 feet of a Hike and Bike Trail.
	c. Signage material must consist of limestone or brick that is architecturally compatible to the Principal Building. Other materials must be approved by warrant if architecturally compatible.

	6. Directional Sign
	7. Exceptions
	8. Lighting
	9. Prohibited Signs


	6.3.17 Street Light Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Street Light Policy

	6.3.18  Utility Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Underground Utilities Required


	Sec. 6.4. PD, Planned Development Overlay
	6.4.1 Permitted Uses
	6.4.2 Dimensional Standards and Design Elements

	Sec. 6.5.  H, North Central Temple Historic Overlay
	6.5.1 Zoning District Map Amendments
	6.5.2 Modification of Base Zoning District

	Sec. 6.6.  FP, Floodplain Overlay
	6.6.1 FP Designation
	6.6.2 Permitted Uses
	A. Agricultural Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1;
	B. Off-street parking incidental to principal uses permitted in the district;
	C. Utility Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1;
	D. Public or private park or playground, community center, or public golf course;
	E. Natural Resource Storage and Extraction Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1 with Flood Plain Administrator approval in writing before such operation is begun;
	F. Recreational and Entertainment Uses as listed in the Use Table in Sec. 5.1 that take place outdoors if approved by Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Sec. 3.5; and
	G. Heliport if approved by Conditional Use Permit in accordance with Sec. 3.5.

	6.6.3 Flood Plain Administrator Review and Final Action
	6.6.4 Removal From Overlay
	A. An area may be removed from the flood plain "FP" prefix designation when by the provision of drainage works, grading, flood protection or specific drainage study, the City Engineer determines that the flood hazard has been alleviated. Removal of th...
	B. The fact that land is, or is not, within a district having a flood plain "FP" prefix may not be interpreted as assurance that such land or area is, or is not, subject to periodic local flooding.


	Sec. 6.7.  I35, Interstate 35 Corridor Overlay
	6.7.1 Boundary
	A. Tracts of land that abut or adjoin a public street or an intersection with I-35;
	B. Tracts of land that are developed used, managed, or marketed as a group that includes a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public or private access street or an intersection with I-35; or
	C. Tracts of land that shares parking space with a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public or private access street or an intersection with I-35.

	6.7.2 Sub-Districts
	A. Civic Sub-District
	B. Industrial Sub-District
	C. Freeway Retail/Commercial Sub-District
	D. City Entry Sub-District

	6.7.3 Applicability
	6.7.4 Design Review
	A. Design Review Process
	1. This Section establishes a design review process to ensure that all development within the I-35 Corridor Overlay District meets requirements set forth in these design standards. The review covers site planning, architecture, landscaping, exterior l...
	2. The design review process is divided into four steps:
	a. Design Orientation;
	b. Conceptual Design Review;
	c. Preliminary Design Review; and
	d. Construction Documents Review.

	3. Formal submittals for design review must be provided at each of the steps in the design review process listed above. Official approvals must be obtained in writing for each of these steps.
	4. All requests for design review approvals must be submitted in writing to the City.
	5. The applicant must provide all required submittals to the City in a single package that includes the following information:
	a. Property owner’s name, mailing address, business telephone and home telephone numbers;
	b. Lot number (location of proposed construction);
	c. Name, address and phone number of architect or owner’s representative;
	d. Scale, north arrow, preferably at a scale of 1"=100' or smaller; and
	e. Architectural plans at a scale ¼ " = 1' or smaller.

	6. Questions, meetings and informal and partial submittals are encouraged to promote early communication and resolution of issues. Verbal responses are unofficial and are subject to change in written response. Only written approvals from the City are ...

	B. Submittal Requirements
	1. Design Orientation
	2. Conceptual Design
	a. When the initial design for the project is prepared, two conceptual drawings must be submitted to the City for formal review. This review covers conceptual site planning, architecture, landscape areas, and sign location.
	b. The purpose of this conceptual design review is to provide the owner and designer with written assurance that the fundamental designs are acceptable, before requiring plans suitable for City permitting. It also provides a clear list of any issues t...

	3. Preliminary Design
	a. Two sets of preliminary design plans must be submitted for this review. These plans must include, but are not limited to the following:
	i. Preliminary Site Plan
	(A) All property lines, easements, setbacks and buildable area limits;
	(B) Location of water, sewer and electrical connections and conceptual distribution layout;
	(C) All buildings, walls, driveways, parking, walks, pools, patios, terraces, signs and any other above grade development;
	(D) Dimensions between existing and proposed construction and between proposed construction and nearest property lines;
	(E) Building height reference elevation; and
	(F) Vicinity map showing relationships of this site to the rest of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district.

	ii. Preliminary Grading
	(A) Existing and proposed ground level contour concepts; and
	(B) Slope treatment and drainage concepts.

	iii. Preliminary Roof Plan
	(A) Any unusual conditions or construction requirements; and
	(B) All roof mounted equipment and required screening.

	iv. Preliminary Building Elevations
	(A) At least two principal exterior elevations of all proposed buildings (in color);
	(B) Maximum building heights on each elevation drawing; and
	(C) Conceptual finish materials, colors and textures under consideration.

	v. Preliminary Building Sections
	vi. Preliminary Landscape Plan
	(A) Planting concept, including locations and types of all plant materials; and
	(B) Demonstration that plant and wall design along the street frontage meets the streetscape design guideline requirements for the I-35 Corridor Overlay District.

	vii. Fence and Wall Plan
	(A) Locations, materials, colors and heights in relation to on-site grades; and
	(B) Relationships to walls, fences and grades on adjacent parcels.

	viii. Sign Plan
	(A) Locations in relation to on-site grades; and
	(B) Elevations and details of sign graphics with data table of permitted and proposed.

	ix. Tree Survey


	4. Construction Documents
	a. When the preliminary design is further refined and the final construction drawings and specifications for the project have been prepared, they must be submitted to the Chief Building Official for review and final decision. This review covers all de...
	b. The purpose of construction documents design review is to provide the owner and designers with written assurance that the final design is acceptable for construction and that any conditions placed on the previous review have been addressed.
	c. Two sets of final construction plans must be submitted for this review. They must contain, but are not limited to a Final Site Plan showing:
	i. Final locations of all structures, terraces, patios, driveways, parking and walk ways;
	ii. Dimensions from buildings and paved areas to setbacks and property lines;
	iii. Water, sewer and electrical connection points and distribution lines;
	iv. Locations of all above-ground mechanical equipment, including electrical transformers, fuel tanks, water tanks, filtration equipment, backflow  prevention devices, air-conditioning units and irrigation controllers; and
	v. Any other drawings required by the City for construction permitting.

	d. After the Final Site Plan is approved, an approval letter must be submitted to the owner within 12 working days, giving written assurance the Final Site Plan drawings have been found acceptable for construction. At this time the building plans may ...



	6.7.5 General Design Requirements
	A. Final Site Plan Review
	1. A Final Site Plan must be submitted, reviewed and approved prior to construction for all developments proposed on a tract of land within the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district.
	2. The Final Site Plan must contain sufficient information demonstrating compliance with all of the applicable requirements of this overlay zoning district and any additional information required by the Director of Planning.
	3. In reviewing the Final Site Plan, the City may consider other factors that may be relevant to a particular application,  which may include the following:
	a. The relationship to neighboring properties;
	b. The zoning and the uses of nearby properties;
	c. The extent to which the proposed use would substantially harm the value of nearby properties;
	d. The extent to which the proposed use would adversely affect the capacity or safety of that portion of the road network influence by the use, or present parking problems in the vicinity of the property;
	e. The extent to which utilities and services, including, but not limited to, sewer, water service, police and fire protection and are available and adequate to serve the proposed use;
	f. The conformance of the proposed use to the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district, the Comprehensive Plan and other adopted planning policies; and
	g. The recommendation of the professional staff.


	B. Tree Preservation
	1. A tree survey and preservation plan is required with the preliminary site plan submittal. The tree survey must be signed and sealed by a licensed landscape architect, arborist, engineer or land surveyor.
	2. The location, diameter, height and common name of all trees with more than a six-inch DBH must be shown on the plan.
	3. The removal of protected trees must be replaced on the property by planting new trees, found in the Plant List in subsection F below, that are equal to the total caliper-inches of the removed trees.
	4. The City has taken inventory of existing vegetation along the IH 35 Corridor to ensure compliance with this Section.

	C. Parking
	1. Curb and gutter six inches in height is required around the perimeter of the parking area and all landscaped parking islands.
	2. Parking aisles must be designed to be perpendicular to the front of the principal building.
	3. Parking to the side and rear of buildings is encouraged and preferred.
	4. Parking areas must be planned so that vehicles are not required to back out of parking spaces directly into a public or private street.
	5. Parking lots must be designed to preserve the maximum amount of existing trees on site as possible.
	6. Parking spaces that face and are adjacent to a building must utilize wheel stops.
	7. Wheel stops are required adjacent to all landscaped areas.
	8. Wheel stops are required adjacent to all sidewalks, except for raised sidewalks at least 6 feet in width (8 feet if parking spaces front both sides).
	9. All parking must be landscaped and screened per the standards set forth in subsection E.12 below.
	10. No parking is allowed in the landscape buffer.

	D. Screening and Wall Standards
	1. Storage in connexes, shipping containers and semi-trailers is not permitted. Portable buildings may not be made into permanent structures in any form.
	2. All garage and service bays, including but not limited to off-street loading bays and service bays used for vehicle repair and servicing, must be located to the rear of the principal building or on the side of the building that is not visible to th...
	3. No outside storage and display, sales, leasing or operation of merchandise outside of sales areas for dealerships for new trucks, cars, boats and motorcycles, are permitted unless such activity is visually screened with a continuous solid screening...
	4. Any public utility stations, such as lift stations and electric sub-stations, must be screened from public view with a masonry wall matching the architectural style and color of the building.
	5. A masonry wall matching the architectural style and color of the building must be located between properties when a multiple-family or nonresidential use abuts a residential use or zoning district. Such wall must not be less than six feet or more t...
	6. Except as provided below, the following site elements must not be clearly visible at eye level from any public street right-of-way or any adjoining residential use or located within 100 feet of any public street right-of-way, unless a masonry scree...
	a.  Vehicle Loading and Unloading Zones and Service Areas
	b. Refuse Storage and Compactors
	c. Mechanical and Utility Equipment
	i. All ground mounted service equipment such as air conditioners, transformers, trash collection equipment, and other service functions must be located at the rear of buildings, and integrated into the building envelope or enclosed service areas, unle...
	ii. If such equipment is visible from a public street right-of-way, the screening materials must be 100 percent opaque. Screens must incorporate shrubbery with year-round foliage, or a wall, fence, or architectural element of the adjacent building, an...
	iii. All roof-mounted equipment must be screened from a vantage point that is six feet above finished street grade with materials that are 100 percent opaque. In all cases, screening must be compatible with building color and materials.



	E. Landscape
	1. A total of 15 percent of the total site area must be landscaped with living approved trees, shrubs and groundcovers. Such landscape areas must consist of approved plants and irrigation covering 100 percent of the required landscaped area.
	2. All required landscaping must be maintained in good condition after installation. The owner must replace any plant material that becomes diseased, deteriorated or dies within 30 days.
	3. Areas not covered by building or pavement must be landscaped.
	4. Drainage facilities are not allowed within the landscape area except those that are necessary to convey drainage in the shortest possible route to or from the public street right-of-way. Drainage facilities include detention ponds, water quality po...
	5. Vegetation must be used to soften the appearance of walls, including those used for screening. This may include either vines trained up the wall or minimum five-gallon shrubs planted a minimum of thirty inches on center.
	6. Foundation plantings are required within a planting area a minimum of six feet in width along 70 percent of the length of any façade visible to the public. Foundation planting may count toward the required minimum site landscape area required in pa...
	7. All landscape and turf areas must be irrigated and maintained on a regularly scheduled basis.
	8. A landscape buffer is required adjacent to any public street right-of-way based on the sub-district’s Area Regulations and as follows.
	a. One minimum three-inch caliper canopy tree, as set forth in the City’s Plan List, must be planted for each 30 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along the lot lines.
	b. Required trees must not be planted in a regular interval, but in clusters.
	c. Substituting four ornamental trees per one canopy tree is allowed under power lines.
	d. A minimum 60 percent of required trees must be evergreen with year around foliage.
	e. A minimum 20 percent of the required landscape buffer must have native grass beds or wildflowers.
	f. Berms not less than 24 inches nor more than 48 inches in height at no more than a four to one slope are required in the landscape buffer, covering a minimum of 50 percent of the buffer area.

	9. Any of the following must be screened by a continuous hedge or shrubs, earthen berms, or retaining walls that are two and one-half to four feet in height:
	a. Parking lot or vehicle use area;
	b. Fuel pumps visible from the direction of traffic flow; or
	c. Vehicle drive-through window facing the street or traffic flow.

	10. Meandering sidewalks a minimum of five feet in width are required in accordance with City standards within the landscape buffer the entire length of the street frontage in the following locations.
	a. Along any street in the Civic Sub-District; and
	b. Along any street that intersects or runs immediately parallel with I-35, if the Trails Master Plan recommends a sidewalk adjacent to the property.

	11. The width and composition of a sidewalk required in subsection 10 above must be in accordance with the following standards.
	a. A sidewalk that is a minimum of 10 feet in width is required where the Trails Master Plan shows a Citywide Spine Trail adjacent to the property.
	b. A sidewalk that is a minimum of eight feet in width is required where the Trails Master Plan shows a Community-Wide Connector Trail adjacent to the property.
	c.  A sidewalk that is a minimum of six feet in width is required where the Trails Master Plan shows a Local Connector Trail adjacent to the property.

	12. Landscaped parking islands are required as follows in all parking lots, but are not required adjacent to industrial truck docks. Parking islands may count toward the required minimum landscape area set forth in the sub-district Area Regulations.
	a. Interior Islands
	b. Terminal Islands
	c. Median Islands

	13. All landscape areas must accent building features, entryways and driveways.
	14. Native plants and drought tolerant species are preferable to reduce water requirements.

	F. Approved Tree List – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; B Approved Tree List.
	G. Approved Groundcover List – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; C Approved Shrub List.
	H. Approved Shrubs – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; D Approved Groundcover List.
	I. Approved Lawn Grass – See Article 7; General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; E Approved Lawn Grass.
	J. Signs
	1. Permitted Sign Types
	2. Maximum Signs per Site
	3. Multi-Tenant Sign Provisions
	a. Developments containing three or more businesses, whether in single or multiple buildings, must share freestanding sign structures for advertisement of multiple businesses within the development. This provision applies to businesses located on the ...
	b. Multi-tenant sites are permitted a maximum of one freestanding sign (monument or pylon) per 300 feet of frontage on the I-35 Frontage Road. Both individual business freestanding signs and multi-tenant signs count towards the total for the entire de...
	i. Multi-tenant pylon signs must be oriented to the I-35 Frontage Roads, not to side streets.
	ii. Multi-tenant monument signs may be used at primary entranceways (spacing permitting) on streets not directly fronting I-35.
	iii. Businesses may not advertise on both multi-tenant pylon signs and individual single-site pylon signs;
	iv. One monument sign is permitted per individual business advertised on multi-tenant signs.


	4. Freestanding Sign Materials
	5. Sign Illumination
	6. Pylon Sign Provisions
	7. Prohibited Sign Types
	a. Roof Sign;
	b. Banner or Pole Banner;
	c. Fence Sign;
	d. Inflatable Device;
	e. Message Board; and
	f. Pole Sign.


	K. On Premises Lighting
	1. Directional Control
	a. All luminaires of 1,800 or more lumens must be full-cutoff as installed. For luminaires under 1,800 the bulb must be frosted glass or installed behind a translucent cover. Floodlights must be aimed no higher than 45 degrees below horizontal. This c...
	b. Exterior lighting must have soft, indirect illumination concealed behind landscaping or placed in outdoor lighting fixtures that do not produce direct glare. Lighting must be focused and provide the minimum amount of illumination required for safety.
	c. On-site lighting design must be used to identify and illuminate entries, walks and parking areas. Site lighting used for building illumination must be down wall washing only. No flood lighting or up lighting is permitted.
	d. Security lighting must be designed to avoid glare, and must direct light toward the building or storage area instead of away.

	2. Reasonableness of Intensity
	a. The maximum allowable total lumens generated on each parcel are 80,000 lumens per net acre with full-cutoff lighting. Parcels less than one net acre are allowed full-cutoff lumens in a portion equal to the parcel's portion of a net acre.
	b. Lights mounted on the underside of a roof 15 or more feet from any edge of the roof count one-quarter toward the limit. Lights on the underside of a roof less than 15 feet from the edge of the roof count one-half toward total lumens.
	c. Exterior lighting must have soft, indirect illumination concealed behind landscaping or placed in outdoor lighting fixtures that do not produce direct glare.
	d. Lighting must be focused and provide the minimum amount of illumination required for safety.
	e. Outdoor lighting fixtures must be a maximum of 30 feet in height. All light fixtures located within 50 feet of any residential use must not exceed 15 feet in height.
	f. Lighting that flashes, blinks or moves in any way is not allowed.
	g. Mercury vapor lighting is not allowed.

	3. Light Trespass
	a. The maximum illumination at five feet inside an adjacent residential parcel or public street right-of-way, or beyond, from light emitted from an artificial light source is 0.1 horizontal foot-candles and 0.1 vertical foot-candles. Such illumination...
	b. No line of sight to a bulb is permitted five feet or more beyond a residential property line or public street right-of-way by an observer viewing from a position that is level with or higher than the ground below the fixture. Compliance is achieved...

	4. Sign Lighting
	5. Temporary Lighting
	6. All-Night Lighting
	7. Lighting Exemptions
	a. Swimming pools and other water features, monuments, historic structures, or flags;
	b. Stairs and ramps, as required by the Building Code;
	c. Signs must meet the requirements in Sec. 7.6.3I of this UDC, but all signs are recommended to be fully shielded;
	d. Holiday and temporary lighting must meet the requirements in Sec. 7.6.8 of this UDC;
	e. Sports lighting is exempt from the lumens per net acre limitations as to the playing field only, but full-cutoff fixture design is required and light trespass requirements apply; and
	f. Low voltage landscape lighting, but such lighting should be shielded in such a way as to eliminate glare and light trespass.


	L. Utilities

	6.7.6 Dimensional Illustration
	6.7.7 Civic Sub-District
	A. Permitted and Conditional Uses
	B. Dimensional Standards
	C. Landscape
	1. An additional 10 percent of vegetation is required above the general landscaping requirements in landscape buffer areas.
	2. In addition to those trees already required ornamental trees must be used in the landscape buffer. One, minimum two-inch caliper, ornamental tree must be planted for each 30 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along the l...


	6.7.8 Industrial Sub-District
	A. Permitted Uses
	B. Prohibited and Conditional Uses
	C. Dimensional Standards
	D. Architectural Design
	1. Site Development
	a. The location and placement of buildings on individual sites must reflect consideration for roadway access, the preservation of major existing natural vegetation, visual impact and the relationship to surrounding developments.
	b. In order to preserve privacy of residential properties when located adjacent to nonresidential uses in a non-mixed use setting, the building must fit within a 2:1 slope from the residential property line, regardless if distance is greater than that...

	2. Exterior Appearance of Buildings and Structures
	a. All buildings must be architecturally finished on all sides with same materials, detailing and features, with a higher level of finish on the primary facades.
	b. Building entrances must be articulated six feet and defined to present a strong entry presence. All buildings must be designed to incorporate no less than one of the following architectural elements. Buildings over 50,000 square feet must include a...
	i. Canopies, awnings or porticos;
	ii. Overhangs;
	iii. Recesses or projections;
	iv. Arcades;
	v. Peaked roof forms;
	vi. Arches;
	vii. Outdoor patios;
	viii. Display windows;
	ix. Architectural details (such as tile work or moldings) integrated into building façade;
	x. Articulated ground floor levels or base;
	xi. Articulated cornice line;
	xii. Integrated planters or wing walls that incorporate landscape and sitting areas;
	xiii. Offsets, reveals or projecting rib used to express architectural or structural bay; or
	xiv. Accent materials.

	c. Building design must incorporate a basic level of architectural variety. All industrial buildings with facades greater than 250 feet in length, visible from a public street right-of-way, must have wall plane projections or recesses that are a minim...

	3. Building Materials and Colors
	a. Conceptual facade plans, color palette and sample boards must be submitted with the Preliminary Site Plan application. Final facade plan and sample boards must be submitted with final site plan application for all nonresidential uses.
	b. The color of all structures must be generally earth-tone in hue. The Director of Planning may approve accent colors that are not earth tone, but may not approve a façade that displays more than 10 percent of non-earth tone colors. No façade may dis...
	c. The designer may select a variety of exterior materials for use as the dominant material on the facades of a building, but the number of materials on a single building must be limited to no more than three materials in order to achieve a clean desi...
	d. Windows must not be glazed or re-glazed with mirrored or reflective glass.
	e. Maintenance and durability of materials must be considered as important qualities for every element of the design. Special care must be taken to specify the use of vandal resistant building components.
	f. The following is a list of approved building materials and accent materials per façade (not to exceed 20 percent of materials used). The Director of Planning may approve materials not listed below.



	6.7.9 Freeway Retail / Commercial Sub-District
	A. Permitted Uses
	B. Prohibited and Conditional Uses
	C. Dimensional Standards
	D. Architectural Design
	1. Site Development
	a. Development must be sited as to maximize street presence.
	b. The location and placement of buildings on individual sites must reflect consideration for roadway access, the preservation of major existing natural vegetation, visual impact and the relationship to surrounding developments.
	c. In order to preserve privacy of residential properties when located adjacent to nonresidential uses in a non-mixed use setting, the building must fit within a 2:1 slope from the residential property line, regardless if distance is greater than that...

	2. Exterior Appearance of Buildings and Structures
	a. All buildings, including accessory buildings, must be architecturally finished on all sides with the same materials, detailing and features, with a higher level of finish on the primary facades.
	b. As an alternative for facades that are not visible from a public street, a single row of trees may be planted along the building or in the landscape buffer on offset 30-foot centers in a minimum 10-foot landscape edge, where 50 percent of the trees...
	c. Building entrances must be articulated and defined to present a strong entry presence. Such entries must be inset or offset from the front building plane by at least six feet. All buildings must be designed to incorporate no less than three of the ...
	i. Canopies, awnings, or porticos;
	ii. Overhangs;
	iii. Recesses or projections;
	iv. Arcades;
	v. Peaked roof forms;
	vi. Arches;
	vii. Outdoor patios;
	viii. Display windows;
	ix. Architectural details (such as tile work or moldings) integrated into building facade;
	x. Articulated ground floor levels or base;
	xi. Articulated cornice line;
	xii. Integrated planters or wing walls that incorporate landscape and sitting areas;
	xiii. Offsets, reveals or projecting rib used to express architectural or structural bay; or
	xiv. Accent materials (minimum 10 percent of exterior façade).

	d. All buildings must be designed and constructed in tri-partite architecture to express a base, midsection and top. The base and tops of buildings must vary in material, and the heaviest building material must be used as the base. All facades must in...
	i. Articulated ground floor levels;
	ii. Minimum three-foot overhangs at eaves; and
	iii. Articulated cornice lines.

	e. All buildings must be designed to be consistent with the purpose of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district. Building design must incorporate a basic level of architectural variety. All retail and commercial buildings with facades greater than 20...
	f. Buildings must contain a minimum of 40 percent and up to a maximum of 80 percent of windows on each building elevation, excluding the rear elevation.

	3. Building Materials and Colors
	a. Conceptual facade plans, color palette and sample boards must be submitted with the Preliminary Site Plan application. Final facade plan and sample boards must be submitted with final site plan application for all nonresidential uses.
	b. The color of all structures must be generally earth-tone in hue. The Director of Planning may approve accent colors that are not earth tone, but may not approve a façade that displays more than 10 percent of non-earth tone colors. No façade may dis...
	c. The designer may select a variety of exterior materials for use as the dominant material on the facades of a building, but the number of materials on a single building must be limited to no more than three materials in order to achieve a clean desi...
	d. No single building material may cover more than 80 percent of the front of any building, with the exception of on-site utility or service structures.
	e. Windows must not be glazed or re-glazed with mirrored or reflective glass.
	f. Maintenance and durability of materials must be considered as important qualities for every element of the design. Special care must be taken to specify the use of vandal resistant building components.
	g. The following is a list of approved building materials and accent materials per façade (not to exceed 20 percent of materials used). The Director of Planning may approve materials not listed below.


	E. Vehicle Sales
	1. Parking lot islands must be located at the end of the inventory aisle, span the width of such aisle and have a minimum depth of 10 feet; and
	2. Evergreen shrubs a minimum of five gallons in size must completely fill the island area.

	F. Vehicle Sales in Portion of Sub-district
	1. Inventory Parking Lot Islands
	a. Parking lot islands must be located at the end of the inventory aisle, span the width of such aisle and have a minimum depth of 10 feet.
	b. Evergreen shrubs a minimum of five gallons in size must completely fill the island area.

	2. Landscape Buffer
	a. A landscape buffer a minimum of 10 feet wide is required adjacent to Jack White Boulevard.
	b. A landscape buffer a minimum of five feet wide is required adjacent to North 31st Street.

	3. Garage and Service Bays
	a. Garage and service bays, including but not limited to off-street loading bays and service bays used for vehicle repair and servicing, must face Jack White Boulevard and Bray Street.
	b. A wing wall or opaque landscaping is not required to screen garage and service bays as required in Sec. 6.7.5D, if landscaping along north General Bruce Drive and Jack White Boulevard is designed to screen such garages and bays.



	6.7.10 City Entry Sub-District
	A. Permitted Uses
	B. Prohibited and Conditional Uses
	C. Dimensional Standards
	D. Architectural Design
	1. Site Development
	a. Development must be sited as to maximize street presence.
	b. The location and placement of buildings on individual sites must reflect consideration for roadway access, the preservation of major existing natural vegetation, visual impact and the relationship to surrounding developments.
	c. In order to preserve privacy of residential properties when located adjacent to nonresidential uses in a non-mixed use setting, the building must fit within a 2:1 slope from the residential property line, regardless if distance is greater than that...

	2. Exterior Appearance of Buildings and Structures
	a. All buildings, including “out” buildings, must be architecturally finished on all sides with same materials, detailing and features, with a higher level of finish on the primary facades.
	b. For facades that are not visible from the public streets, a single row of trees can be planted along the building or in the landscape buffer on offset 25-foot centers in a minimum 10-foot landscape edge, where 50 percent of the trees are canopy eve...
	c. The principal building wall is to be setback a minimum of 18 and a maximum of 24 feet from the back of the drive curb.
	d. Building entrances must be articulated and defined to present a strong entry presence. Such entries must be inset or offset from the front building plane by at least four feet. All buildings must be designed to incorporate no less than three of the...
	i. Canopies, awnings or porticos;
	ii. Overhangs;
	iii. Recesses or projections;
	iv. Arcades;
	v. Peaked roof forms;
	vi. Arches;
	vii. Outdoor patios;
	viii. Display windows;
	ix. Architectural details (such as tile work or moldings) integrated into building façade;
	x. Articulated ground floor levels or base;
	xi. Articulated cornice line;
	xii. Integrated planters or wing walls that incorporate landscape and sitting areas;
	xiii. Offsets, reveals or projecting rib used to express architectural or structural bay; and
	xiv. Accent materials (minimum 10 percent of exterior façade).

	e. All buildings must be designed and constructed in tri-partite architecture to express a base, midsection and top (see Exhibit D). The base and tops of buildings must vary in material, and the heaviest building material must be used as the base. All...
	i. Articulated ground floor levels;
	ii. Minimum three-foot overhangs at eaves; and
	iii. Articulated cornice lines.

	f. All buildings must be designed to be consistent with the purpose of the I-35 Corridor Overlay zoning district. Building design must incorporate a basic level of architectural variety. All retail and commercial buildings with facades greater than 15...
	g. Buildings must contain a minimum of 40 percent and up to a maximum of 80 percent of windows on each building elevation, excluding the rear elevation.

	3. Building Materials and Colors
	a. Conceptual facade plans, color palette and sample boards must be submitted with the Preliminary Site Plan application. Final facade plan and sample boards must be submitted with final site plan application for all nonresidential uses.
	b. The color of all structures must be generally earth-tone in hue. The Director of Planning may approve accent colors that are not earth tone, but may not approve a façade that displays more than 10 percent of non-earth tone colors. No façade may dis...
	c. The designer may select a variety of exterior materials for use as the dominant material on the facades of a building, but the number of materials on a single building must be limited to no more than three materials in order to achieve a clean desi...
	d. No single building material may cover more than 80 percent of the front of any building, with the exception of on-site utility or service structures.
	e. Windows must not be glazed or re-glazed with mirrored or reflective glass.
	f. Maintenance and durability of materials must be considered as important qualities for every element of the design. Special care must be taken to specify the use of vandal resistant building components.
	g. The following is a list of approved building materials and accent materials per façade (not to exceed 20 percent of materials used). The Director of Planning may approve materials not listed below.


	E. Landscape
	1. A minimum of 15 percent of the total site area must be landscaped.
	2. All driveways into the site must have enhanced paving of stone, brick or patterned concrete for a minimum of 50 percent of the driveway throat.
	3. An additional 10 percent of vegetation is required above the general landscaping requirements in landscaped buffer areas.
	4. In addition to those trees already required, small canopy trees must be used in the landscape buffer. One minimum two-inch caliper small canopy tree must be planted for each 30 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along th...
	5. One minimum three-inch caliper large or medium canopy tree must be planted for each 25 feet of frontage along public street rights-of-way as measured along the lot lines.

	F. Lighting
	G. Utilities


	Sec. 6.8. 1st and 3rd Overlay District
	6.8.1 Boundary
	6.8.2 Applicability
	A. The provisions of 1st and 3rd Overlay District apply to development types in the table below.
	B.  Improvements to existing buildings are cumulative within a 15-year period when determining which of the following standards apply. Costs of interior improvements count toward the cumulative improvement thresholds, but standards are not triggered u...
	C. When more than one threshold is reached, the most stringent standards apply.
	D. All other provisions of the UDC apply unless otherwise stated.

	6.8.3 1st and 3rd Overlay District Site Plan Review Process
	6.8.4 General Standards
	A. Article 4, Zoning Districts, applies in its entirety with the addition of the following:
	1. Maximum impervious lot coverage for residential uses is 50%.
	2. Maximum impervious lot coverage for non-residential uses is 70%.

	B. Article 5, Use Standards, applies in its entirety.
	C. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.1 Performance Standards applies in its entirety.

	6.8.5 Access and Circulation Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.2 Access and Circulation does not apply.
	C. Thoroughfare Standards
	1. Cul-de-sacs are prohibited in the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.
	2. Flag lots are prohibited in the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.

	D. Access and Connectivity
	1. General
	a. All driveway connections must be constructed and stubbed or connected to any existing stub.
	b. Driveway spacing must be based on the appropriate alignment with any existing or proposed median breaks as approved by the City Engineer and TxDOT.
	c. Each business is permitted one 24’ wide curb cut per street frontage.
	d. If a site has greater than 300’ of frontage on South 1st or greater than 400’ of frontage on North 3rd, it may have two 24’ wide curb cuts for that street frontage.



	6.8.6 Public Frontage Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Public Frontage
	1. Public frontage is generally the space between the existing or proposed back-of-curb and the property line.
	2. Total public frontage depth is measured from back-of-curb. If existing right-of-way does not accommodate all requirements, private property must be used to account for the additional required depth.
	3. Raised curb and gutter installation is required.
	4. The table below establishes public frontage type and assigns standards to each public frontage type.

	C. Public Frontage Landscape Standards
	1. Street Trees
	a. One tree per 25’ linear street frontage is required. Trees must be planted in a regularly spaced pattern. Spacing of trees may be offset to allow a view corridor into the primary entry of a nonresidential use.
	b. Trees must be a single species selected from the table in Section 6.8.9.
	c. Trees must be planted within the required planting strip and buffer zone adjacent to the back of sidewalk based on public frontage type.
	d. Large canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are not present. Medium canopy trees must be planted if overhead utilities are present.
	e. Public Frontage Type A - Trees must be planted a minimum 10’ from back-of-curb in the required planting strip.
	f. Public Frontage Type B - Trees must be planted a minimum thirteen feet from back-of-curb in the required planting strip. If TxDOT right-of-way is greater than 13’, the required street trees must be located 1’ away from TxDOT right-of-way. The plant...
	g. Public Frontage Type C - Trees must be planted a minimum twelve feet from back-of-curb in the required planting strip. If TxDOT right-of-way is greater than 12’, the required street trees must be located 1’ away from TxDOT right-of-way. The Plantin...

	2. Planting Area
	a. Public Frontage Planting Strip Type A – must be planted with approved shrubs in accordance with Section 6.8.9 at a rate of one one-gallon container per 3 linear feet of street yard planting area and filled with river rock.
	b. Public Frontage Planting Strip Type B – must be planted in sod or evergreen groundcover in accordance with Section 6.8.9.
	c. Public Frontage Planting Strip Type C – must be planted in sod or evergreen groundcover in accordance with Section 6.8.9.


	D. Parking Lot Screen
	1. All parking must be screened from public rights-of-way a minimum 36” in height, through one of the following methods:
	a. Planting screen of evergreen shrubs;
	b. Masonry wall;
	c. Combination of evergreen shrubs and wall.

	2. Planted screening must be capable of providing a solid, opaque 36” screen within two years, and must be planted in the public frontage planting strip and buffer zone.
	3. Parking lot screening shrubs and landscape area count towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8 but not towards public frontage planting area.

	E. Public Frontage Sidewalk Standards
	1. Sidewalks must extend the entire length of the development’s frontage on a public street and must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual and related provisions in this UDC.
	2. Sidewalks must be constructed before the Chief Building Official issues a Certificate of Occupancy.
	3. Sidewalks must be constructed at the back of curb.
	4. Sidewalks must connect to existing adjacent sidewalks, or be designed and placed to allow connection to future adjacent sidewalks.
	5. Sidewalks of different widths must be transitioned within a length of sidewalk by two expansion joints not less than six feet apart as required by state and federal accessibility standards.
	6. Sidewalks must connect to parking within the lot and to primary entrances of each nonresidential building.
	7. Pedestrian walkways must connect the principal building entrances to all associated outdoor amenities, such as courtyards and other outdoor gathering places.
	8. Residential sidewalks must be installed from the primary entrance of the residence to the perimeter street sidewalk system.


	6.8.7 Public Frontage Lighting
	A. Applicability
	1. This subsection applies only to City initiated projects in the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.
	2. Pedestrian-scale lighting must be provided at all intersections and at 100’ intervals along all public and private roadways within the development. Refer to the TMED Design Criteria Manual for the specific pedestrian-scale lighting models and style...


	6.8.8 Private Property Landscape Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.3 Landscaping does not apply.
	C. General Site Landscape
	1. A minimum percentage of the total area of the private property on which development, construction or reconstruction is proposed must be dedicated to landscape area including trees, shrubs, groundcover, sod or other living plant material.
	2. The table below establishes minimum site landscape requirements for the 1st and 3rd Overlay District.

	D. Foundation Planting
	1. Foundation plantings are required within a planting area a minimum of four feet in depth along 50% of the length of any façade visible to the public.
	2. Foundation planting shrubs and landscape area count towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	E. Tree Mix
	1. Private property trees must be selected from the table in Section 6.8.9.
	2. A minimum of 50 percent of required trees must be selected from the medium or large size tree list.
	3. A minimum of 40 percent of required trees must be evergreen species.


	6.8.9 General Planting Criteria
	A. Applicability
	B. Approved Tree List – Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; B Approved Tree List.
	C. Approved Shrubs - Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; C Approved Shrub List.
	D. Approved Groundcover List
	E. Approved Lawn Grass - Article 7: General Development Standards; Section 7.4 Landscaping; Subsection 7.4.5. General Planting Criteria; E Approved Lawn Grass.
	F. Landscape Installation – Applicable to 1st and 3rd Street Overlay
	1. Trees
	a. All required large trees must be a minimum of three inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height or 65-gallon container size at planting.
	b. All required medium trees must be a minimum of two and one-half inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height at planting.
	c. All required small trees must be a minimum of two inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height at planting at planting.

	2. Shrubs
	3. Groundcover
	4. Lawn Grass
	5. Landscape Maintenance
	a. All new plant material must be planted and maintained in accordance with the latest edition of the American National Standards Institute requirements for Tree, Shrub, and Other Woody Plant Maintenance (ANSI A300 Parts 1 through 6).
	b. All required public frontage and private frontage landscaping must be maintained in good condition after installation.
	c. The owner must replace, within 30 days, any plant material that is diseased, deteriorated or dead. The Director of Planning may issue up to a 90-day extension of time for replacement during drought or summer months.

	6. Irrigation


	6.8.10 Off-Street Parking and Loading
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.4 Off-street Parking and Loading applies in its entirety with the following additions.
	1. General
	a. Surface parking areas must be constructed with raised curb and gutter.



	6.8.11 Signs
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.5 Signs applies in its entirety with the following additions and exceptions.
	1. Lighting
	2. Prohibited Signs


	6.8.12 Screening and Buffering
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.6 Screening and Buffering applies in its entirety with the following additions and exceptions.
	B. Screening of Mechanical Equipment
	1. All roof, ground and wall-mounted mechanical equipment (e.g., air handling equipment, compressors, duct work, transformers and elevator equipment) must be screened from view or isolated so as not to be visible from any residential districts or uses...
	2. Roof-mounted mechanical equipment must be shielded from view on all sides using parapet walls.
	3. Wall or ground-mounted equipment screening must be constructed of:
	a. Vegetative screens; or
	b. Brick, stone, architecturally finished concrete, or other similar masonry materials; and
	c. All fence or wall posts must be concrete-based masonry or concrete pillars.

	4. Exposed conduit, ladders, utility boxes and drain spouts must be painted to match the color of the building.
	5. Mechanical equipment screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	C. Screening of Waste Containers
	1. Waste containers must be located at the rear of the building and screened on all sides, including gates, from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the structu...
	2. Waste containers must be located a minimum of 50 feet away from any residential use or district’s property lines.
	3. Waste containers must be located a minimum of 50 feet away from a multi-family entryway.
	4. Screening must be at least as tall as the waste container(s) and comprised of materials and color schemes that are visually and aesthetically compatible with the overall project that incorporate the following:
	a. Brick;
	b. Stone;
	c. Stucco;
	d. Architecturally finished concrete; or
	e. Other similar masonry materials.

	5. Waste containers with fence posts must be rust-protected metal, concrete based, masonry or concrete pillars; and waste containers must have six-inch concrete filled steel pipes (bollards) that are located to protect the enclosure from truck operati...
	6. Waste container enclosures must have steel gates with spring-loaded hinges or the equivalent and fasteners to keep them closed. When in use, tie-backs must be used to secure the steel gates in the open position.
	7. Waste container screening must be maintained by the owner at all times.
	8. The ingress, egress, and approach to all waste container pads must conform to fire lane requirements.
	9. Waste container pad and aprons requirements must be constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	10. Waste container screening shrubs and landscape area count towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	D. Screening of Loading Docks
	1. Loading and service areas must be located at the rear of the building and screened from public view to minimize visibility. If the property has two public frontages the waste container must be placed on the side of the principal building.
	2. Loading areas must not be located closer than 50 feet to any single-family lot, unless wholly within an enclosed building.
	3. Off-street loading areas must be screened from view from any street or adjacent property of differing land use.
	4. All loading areas must be enclosed on three sides by a wall or other screening device a minimum of eight feet in height.
	5. Loading areas that are visible from any public right-of-way must also include a combination of evergreen trees and shrubs that will result in solid opaque vegetative screening a minimum of eight feet in height within two years of planting. The plan...
	6. Loading dock screening shrubs and landscape area may be counted towards the general site landscaping requirements established in Section 6.8.8.

	E. Fence and Wall Standards for All Uses
	1. Fences and walls on the primary and secondary frontage may have a maximum height of four feet.
	2. Fences and walls to the rear of the site may have a maximum height of six feet, unless they are required for loading dock screening.
	3. Fencing and walls must not be placed within the required line of sight as determined by the sight triangle established in Section 4.4.8.
	4. Chain link, barbed wire, razor wire and metal or corrugated panels are prohibited for all uses.

	F. Nonresidential and Multiple-Family Uses - Fences
	1. Fences and walls must be constructed of wood panels on steel posts, decorative blocks, brick, stone, vinyl, woodcrete and wrought iron.
	2. Breaks in the fence or wall must be made to provide for required pedestrian connections to the perimeter of the site and to adjacent developments.

	G. Single-Family Uses - Fences
	H. Outdoor Storage
	I. Outdoor Retail Display

	6.8.13 Building Exterior Materials
	A. Article 7, General Development Standards, Section 7.7 Building Exterior Materials Applies in its entirety.

	6.8.14 Utility Standards
	A. Applicability
	B. Underground Utilities Required

	6.8.15 Exception Requests
	A. Upon application, the Director of Planning may consider an administrative exception for sidewalk width and location. In determining whether to approve, approve with conditions or deny an administrative exception, the Director of Planning must consi...
	1. whether the reduction in width or location is consistent with the purpose of the overlay district; and
	2. building location; and
	3. extent to which parking is affected and cannot be remedied by restriping, relocation, and/or other means

	B. Application Submittal
	C. Any party aggrieved by a decision of the Director of Planning on a development review application in the 1st and 3rd Street Overlay District may appeal to the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council for final action.



	Article 7 General Development Standards
	Sec. 7.1. Performance Standards
	7.1.1 General
	7.1.2 Noise
	A. At no point at the property line may a zoning district receive sound pressure levels that exceed the decibel levels specified in the groups designated in the following table:
	B. Decibel (dB) means a unit of measure of sound pressure, or noise level. An increase by ten decibels doubles the volume.
	C. Measurement of the noise level must be made with a decibel meter meeting American National Standards Institute (ANSI) standards using the A-weighted scale.
	D. The noise levels included in this Section are not applicable to extraction operations or emergency vehicles.

	7.1.3 Smoke and Particulate Matter
	7.1.4 Odorous Matter
	A. A use may not be located or operated in the LI zoning district that involves the emission of odorous matter from a source of operation where the odorous matter exceeds the odor threshold at the bounding property line or any point beyond the tract o...
	B. A use may not be located or operated in the HI zoning district that involves the emission of odorous matter from a source of operation where the odorous matter exceeds a concentration at the bounding property line or any point the tract on which su...
	C. The Chief Building Official determines the odor threshold as set forth in this UDC by observation. In any case where uncertainty may arise or where the operator or owner of an odor emitting use may disagree with the enforcing officer or where speci...

	7.1.5 Fire and Explosive Hazard Material
	A. A use involving the manufacture or storage of compounds or products that decompose by detonation is not permitted in an LI or HI zoning district except that the Fire Chief may approve chlorates, nitrates, perchlorates phosphorus and similar substan...
	B. The storage and use of all flammable liquids and materials such as pyroxylin plastics, nitrocellulose films, solvents and petroleum products is permitted only when such storage or use conforms to the standards and regulations of Chapter 12, Fire Pr...

	7.1.6 Toxic and Noxious Matter
	A. A use permitted in the LI zoning district may not emit a concentration across the property line of the subject property of toxic or noxious matter that exceeds the concentration (exposure) deemed as the threshold limit for an industrial worker as t...
	B. A use permitted in the HI zoning district may not emit a concentration across the bounding property line of the tract on which such operation or use violating state or federal environmental laws. Open storage and open processing operations, includi...

	7.1.7 Vibration
	A. A use in the LI zoning district may not at any time create earthborn vibration that, when measured at the property line of the subject property, exceed the limit of displacement set forth in the following table in the frequency ranges specified.
	B. A use in the HI zoning district may not at any time create earthborn vibration that, when measured at the property line of the subject property, exceed the limit of displacement set forth in the following table in the frequency ranges specified.

	7.1.8 Glare

	Sec. 7.2.  Access and Circulation
	7.2.1 Applicability
	A. The following access and circulation standards must be utilized in the determination of drive approaches in the City of Temple. These standards address factors including curb cut placement, width, angle, number of approaches per tract and other ele...
	B. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section, the Texas Department of Transportation requires access points on state-maintained roads to conform to its access management policies.

	7.2.2 Site Plan Required
	7.2.3 General
	A. If a change in curb cuts or an additional curb cut is proposed which would result in an additional conflict with these regulations, the Planning and Zoning Commission must determine the appropriateness of the request.
	B. The City may impose a more restrictive standard than contained in this Section, in conjunction with review of a subdivision plat, if anticipated development under these standards will result in a dangerous or unsafe condition to the public.
	C. The linear feet of property frontage determines the maximum number of drive approaches allowed under this Section, as shown in the tables in Secs. 7.2.5 and 7.2.6. Platting or replatting that reduces the property frontage may result in a reduction ...
	D. In conjunction with curb cuts approved under this Section, medians, signage, striping or other traffic control devices may be required to be installed at the time of permit approval or at some time in the future as needed for public safety or welfare.
	E. Commercial and Industrial drive approaches as set forth in Secs. 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 must be set at an angle of between 45 and 90 degrees from an abutting two-way public street right-of-way or private access easement. One-way egress or ingress drive ap...
	F. Curb radii for intersections of public streets and alleys are set forth in the table in subsection 8.2.1G.
	G. Where access to properties is desired at more frequent intervals than these standards permit, the property owner may install service roads or acceleration/ deceleration lanes after the applicable authorities, including the  Director of Public Works...

	7.2.4 Residential Drive Approaches
	A. A drive approach for a Residential Use listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 is prohibited on arterial streets, unless the lot fronts on an arterial street on a final plat approved prior to February 19, 1987.
	B. Joint access curb cuts are encouraged where lots are less than 50 feet in width.
	C. The minimum corner clearance of a residential curb cut is15 feet.
	D. The minimum radius for a residential curb cut is two and one-half feet.
	E. Where a circular residential driveway is proposed for a corner tract, both curb cuts must meet the minimum corner clearance of 15 feet as set forth in paragraph C above.
	F. Please see the Design and Development Standards Manual for curb cut standard details.

	7.2.5 Commercial Drive Approaches
	A. A drive approach for the following commercial uses listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 must conform to the standards in the table below:
	1. Agricultural Uses;
	2. Commercial Uses;
	3. Education and Institutional Uses;
	4. Office Uses;
	5. Overnight Accommodations;
	6. Recreational & Entertainment Uses;
	7. Restaurant Uses;
	8. Retail Sales & Service Uses;
	9. Transportation and Related Uses;
	10. Utility and Service Uses;
	11. Vehicle Sales and Service Uses.

	B. Maximum drive approach widths and maximum number of drive approaches may be used only where the frontage is sufficient to achieve minimum corner clearance, curb return radii and suggested minimum island width. The width of the combined curb cuts mu...
	C. One-way access curb cuts are permitted, but may not be less than 15 feet in width. The combination of one-way curb cut widths must not exceed the maximum width for a two-way curb cut based on lot frontage.
	D. A minimum edge clearance of five feet must be provided, unless a joint access drive approach is provided.
	E. Joint access curb cuts are encouraged where lots are less than 100 feet in width.

	7.2.6 Industrial Drive Approaches
	A. A drive approach for Industrial Uses and Natural Resource Storage and Extraction Uses set listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 must conform to the standards in the table below.
	B. Maximum drive approach widths and maximum number of drive approaches may be used only where the frontage is sufficient to achieve minimum corner clearance, curb return radii and suggested minimum island width.
	C. One-way access curb cuts are permitted, but may not be less than 25 feet. The combination of one-way curb cut widths must not exceed the maximum width for a two-way curb cut based on lot frontage.


	Sec. 7.3. Sidewalks
	7.3.1 Applicability
	A. A new building or structure is built requiring a Building Permit as set forth in Sec. 3.13; or

	7.3.2 Sidewalks Not Required
	A. For a new single-family dwelling where all adjacent properties are developed and where no sidewalks have been provided on adjoining property.
	B. For property located within an Industrial Park as set forth in Sec. 8.2.3.

	7.3.3 Waiver of Sidewalk Requirements

	Sec. 7.4.  Landscaping
	7.4.1 Purpose
	7.4.2 Applicability
	A. These standards do not apply to single-family or duplex residential uses located in any zoning district, since these uses typically exceed the required landscaping. All other land uses, including HUD-Code manufactured home subdivisions developments...
	B. These standards to not apply to the Draughon-Miller Central Texas Regional Airport.
	C. These landscaping standards are applicable in conjunction with a Building Permit for new development, or an addition that increases site intensity on the lot or tract by 100 percent or more. Site intensity includes, but is not limited to, number of...
	[Ord. 2015-4707]

	7.4.3 Landscape Plan Required
	7.4.4 Landscaping Standards
	A. The developer of each lot subject to these standards is required to provide a minimum landscaped area of five percent of the lot area to be utilized.
	B. If the public street right-of-way is developed with landscaping conforming to these standards, and is combined into an integrated landscape plan with required landscaping, total required landscaping may be reduced to three percent of the lot area. ...
	C. The required landscaped area must be located in the front and side yards, except in the C, LI and HI zoning districts where no front or side yard is required. In these districts, required landscaping must be provided between the principal buildings...
	D. Required landscaped area must consist of living trees, shrubs, turf or other living groundcover, native to Central Texas and Bell County, as described below.
	E. A minimum of one tree is required to be planted in the landscaped area described in paragraph A above or in the parking lot for each 40 feet, or fraction thereof, of linear street frontage. The required number of trees need not be placed uniformly,...
	F. As an alternative to satisfying the requirement above for one tree per 40 linear feet of street frontage, three shrubs, a minimum of five gallons each in size may be substituted.
	G. The height and placement of landscaping must not encroach upon the intersection visibility triangle defined in Sec. 4.4.8.
	H. Where Sec. 7.7 requires a wood or masonry fence, it may be located within the required landscaped area.

	7.4.5 General Planting Criteria
	A. Applicability
	B. Approved Tree List
	C. Approved Shrub List
	D. Approved Groundcover List
	E. Approved Lawn Grass
	F. Landscape Installation
	1. Trees
	a. All required canopy trees must be a minimum of two inches in diameter (single trunk) at breast height or 65-gallon container size at planting.

	2. Shrubs
	3. Groundcover
	4. Lawn Grass


	7.4.6 Phased Projects
	7.4.7 Existing Plant Material
	7.4.8 Maintenance and Irrigation
	A. All required landscaping must be maintained at all times in a living and growing condition.
	B. The owner must replace, within 30 days, any plant material that is diseased, deteriorated or dead. The Director of Planning may issue up to a 90-day extension of time for replacement during drought or summer months.
	C. All required landscaping must be irrigated by an automatic sprinkling system or have access to a hose connection within 100 feet of all landscaping.

	7.4.9 Installment Guarantee
	7.4.10 Phased Projects
	7.4.11 Existing Plant Material
	7.4.12 Maintenance and Irrigation
	7.4.13 Installment Guarantee

	Sec. 7.5.  Off-Street Parking and Loading
	7.5.1 Purpose
	7.5.2 Applicability
	A. Except as provided in this Section, a building or structure may not be erected, altered or converted for any permitted use unless off-street parking is provided as required in this Section.
	B. An established use lawfully existing on September 19, 1991, need not provide required off-street parking as set forth in this Section. In addition, the number of required parking spaces in an off-street parking area in connection with said uses exi...

	7.5.3 Parking Plan Required
	7.5.4 Off-Street Parking Ratios
	A. Rules for Computing Required Parking and Loading Spaces
	1. Developments containing more than one use must provide parking and loading spaces in an amount equal to the total of the requirements for all uses.
	2. Ratios based on number of employees must be based on the largest number of persons working on any shift.
	3. The gross floor area of a structure devoted to off-street parking may be excluded in computing the off-street parking requirements of any use.
	4. The term “seats” includes “seating spaces.” Required parking spaces based on seats must be computed based on the maximum seating arrangement.

	B. Required Parking Ratios
	C. Special Zoning District Provisions
	1. Residential uses other than multiple-family dwellings in the C, Commercial and CA, Central Area zoning districts require a minimum of one parking space per dwelling unit. Minimum off-street parking requirements for multiple-family dwellings and per...
	2. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district, the following minimum off-street parking requirements apply.
	3. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district the Director of Planning may grant a 30 percent reduction in  parking for nonresidential and multiple-family uses if the applicant presents an alternate parking plan using shared parking, off-site parking or oth...
	4. The parking requirements in the table in paragraph B above do not apply in the CA, Central Area zoning district.
	5. In the  residential zoning districts and the O-1, Office One; O-2, Office Two and NS, Neighborhood Service  zoning districts, a parking space, garage or carport or other automobile storage space or structure may not be used for the storage of any t...
	6. Private access drives to parking lots, or areas that are accessory to or serve nonresidential uses in a nonresidential zoning district are prohibited through residential zoning districts.


	7.5.5 Off-Street Parking Design Standards
	A. Dimensional and Access Standards
	1. A typical 90 degree parking space must be striped and measure nine feet by 18 feet.
	2. Off-street parking spaces and areas must be designed so that a driver can exit the space or area without backing a vehicle into a public street, right of way or alley. This provision does not apply to residential uses in the following zoning distri...

	B. Curb and Gutter
	1. Curb and gutter six inches in height is required around the perimeter of the parking area and all landscaped parking islands. An alternative design may be proposed by a design engineer to be considered for approval by the Director of Planning. Area...

	C. Material Standards
	D. Where questions arise concerning the minimum off-street parking requirements for any use not specifically listed in the table in paragraph 7.5.4B, the Director of Planning may apply the parking requirements of a similar use to the use in question.
	E. Where a determination of the minimum parking requirements cannot be readily ascertained for new or unlisted uses according to paragraph 7.4.4A above, the minimum off-street parking requirements are established by the same process as provided in Sec...
	[Ord. 2012-4516]

	7.5.6 Off-Street Loading Regulations
	A. Except in the CA, Central Area zoning district, all nonresidential uses except for those specified in paragraph C below must provide and maintain off-street loading areas. Loading areas must be paved with either asphalt or concrete. Such off-street...
	B. The existence of a paved alley a minimum of 20 feet in width adjacent to the property is deemed the equivalent of one berth.
	C. For Overnight Accommodations, Office Uses and Restaurant Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 located in zoning districts other than in the CA, Central Area zoning district, off-street loading areas must be provided in accordance with the fo...
	D. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district, off-street loading areas and truck staging areas must be located in the side or rear yard.


	Sec. 7.6.  Signs
	7.6.1 Purpose
	A. Safety
	1. Create a hazard due to collapse, fire, decay or abandonment;
	2. Obstruct firefighting or police surveillance; and
	3. Create traffic hazards by confusing or distracting pedestrians, obstacles or other vehicles or to read traffic signs.

	B. Communications Efficiency
	1. Those signs that provide messages and information most needed and sought by the public are given priorities,
	2. Businesses and services may identify themselves;
	3. Customers and other persons may locate a business or services;
	4. A person or group is not arbitrarily denied the use of the sight lines from the public street right-of-way for communication purposes;
	5. Persons exposed to signs are not overwhelmed by the number of messages presented and are able to exercise freedom of choice to observe or ignore such messages, according to the observer's purpose;
	6. The right of free speech exercised through the use of signs containing non-commercial messages is preserved; and
	7. Community events may be identified to the public at large, at strategic locations throughout the City, as approved by the Chief Building Official.

	C. Landscape Quality and Preservation
	1. Do not interfere with scenic views;
	2. Do not create a nuisance to persons using the public rights-of-way;
	3. Do not create a nuisance to occupants of adjacent and contiguous property by their brightness, size, height or movement;
	4. Are not detrimental to land or property values;
	5. Do not contribute to visual blight or clutter; and
	6. Are architecturally compatible and harmonious with the structure to which they pertain and to neighboring structures.


	7.6.2 Definitions
	7.6.3 General Sign Provisions
	A. Display of Permit
	B. Bond Requirement
	C. Building Code
	D. Unlawful Signs
	1. A sign or other advertising device may not be erected or maintained in violation of the requirements of this Section or of the Sign Permit requirements in Sec. 3.14. An unlawful sign is not a nonconforming sign and must be removed or brought into c...
	2. If the Chief Building Official finds that a sign is erected or maintained in violation of this Section or Sec. 3.14, the Director must give written notice of the violation to the permittee or the owner of the property where the violation exists.
	3. An unlawful sign that is lightweight or portable (for example, banner or H frame sign) must be removed within 24 hours after notice of violation. An unlawful sign that is not lightweight or portable (for example, freestanding or monument sign) must...
	4. If the permittee or owner fails, after notice, to timely abate a violation, the Chief Building Official may undertake enforcement by filing a complaint in municipal court, seeking quasi-judicial enforcement through the Building and Standards Commis...
	5. The Chief Building Official may immediately and without notice or compensation remove any sign that presents an immediate peril to persons or property.

	E. Variances
	F. Non-Commercial Messages Permitted in Substitution
	1. Any sign allowed under this Section may contain, in lieu of any other copy, any lawful noncommercial message that complies with all other requirements of this ordinance Section.
	2. The right that this subsection creates is one of substitution and not one of addition.

	G. Signs Exempt from Regulation
	1. Address and postbox numerals;
	2. Governmental signs that the City, county, state or federal government erects in furtherance of their governmental responsibility;
	3. Public notice or warning that a valid and applicable federal, state or local law, regulation or ordinance requires;
	4. Sign inside a building, not attached to a window or door, and not legible from a distance of more than five feet beyond the lot line of the property on which such sign is located;
	5. Works of art that do not include a commercial message; and
	6. Memorial signs or tablets including headstones in cemeteries.

	H. Maintenance
	1. Maintain all signs and keep them in good repair;
	2. Keep all signs with painted or plastic faces free of fading, rusting, cracking, peeling, gaps and holes;
	3. Repair or remove any sign that has more than 25 percent of its face damaged;
	4. Repair or remove a sign in its entirety with broken or damaged sign faces;
	5. Install blank sign faces on signs with faces removed due to vacancy of the building;
	6. Remove sign poles with open metal frames;
	7. Keep signs with paper or fabric faces free of tears, rips, fading and voids where part of the text or face is missing;
	8. Keep ties or ropes that hold in place signs with fabric faces secure and taut with no loose or missing ties;
	9. Maintained sign poles in a uniform and sound condition;
	10. Repair or remove poles that are dented to the point where they are leaning out of plumb or have damage to the support or hangers
	11. Maintained sign poles free of rust, peeling or fading so that they are uniform in color;
	12. Maintain flags, banners and pole banners free of tears, fading and rips; and
	13. Remove flags, banners and pole banners when they become torn, faded or ripped.

	I. Luminance
	1. An applicant may not erect a lighted sign must within 150 feet of a residential district unless the lighting is shielded from view of the residential district.
	2. A sign or must not be illuminated with lights that:
	a. Glare into or upon the surrounding area or any residential property; or
	b. Distract operators of vehicles or pedestrians on the public right-of-way.



	7.6.4 Prohibited Signs
	A. Abandoned Signs
	B. Animated or Moving Signs
	C. Bench Signs
	D. Cardboard Signs
	E. Glaringly Illuminated Signs
	F. Handmade Signs
	G. Obscene Signs
	H. Obstructing Signs
	I. Outdated Sign
	J. Pole Signs in MU
	K. Portable Signs
	L. Sign Creating a Traffic Hazard
	1. Obstruct free and clear vision at any street intersection;
	2. Interfere with, obstruct the view of or be confused with any authorized traffic sign, signal or device because of its position, shape or color;
	3. Make use of the words "STOP", "LOOK", "DANGER" or any other word, phrase, symbol or character in a manner that interferes with, misleads or confuses traffic; or
	4. Present a traffic hazard by using illumination resembling an emergency signal.

	M. Snipe Signs
	N. Unlisted Sign
	O. Unsafe Signs
	P. Signs On or Over Public Property or Right-of-Way
	1. A sign must not be erected so as to project into the public street right-of-way of any street or alley, except as allowed in the CA, Central Area zoning district. Any projecting sign must not extend outward from any building face to the public stre...
	2. It is unlawful for any person to place a sign, except a governmental sign or subdivision entry sign, on the premises of any public property, including but not limited to park land, median strips and public rights-of-way.
	3. A person may not attach any sign, paper, material, paint, stencil, or write any name, number (except house or street address numbers) or otherwise mark on or obstruct any sidewalk, curb, gutter or street.
	4. A person may not erect a sign over or in the public street right-of-way except for traffic control devices, street signs, directional signs, subdivision entry signs or real estate kiosks that the City or state has authorized.


	7.6.5 Sign Measurement Standards
	A. Sign Area
	1. The area of a sign includes all lettering, wording, designs and symbols, together with the background, whether open or enclosed, on which they are displayed. The area of uprights, bracings and other structures supporting a sign may be omitted in me...
	2. Where a sign consists of individual letters, words or symbols attached to a surface, the sign area is deemed to be the area of the smallest rectangle that completely encompasses all such letters, words or symbols and any accompanying background of ...
	3. The area for a sign with more than one face is measured by adding together the area of all sign faces, except where the angle at which the two sign faces are placed does not exceed 60 degrees or where the sign faces are parallel and not more than 3...

	B. Sign Height
	C. Sign Setback

	7.6.6 Number of Signs
	A. A maximum of three types of signs and a maximum of 12 individual signs may be used per business at a time with a business property frontage of less than 200 feet.
	B. A maximum of four types of signs and a maximum of 15 individual signs may be used per business at a time with a business frontage of 200 feet or more.
	C. Specific standards for the number of permitted freestanding signs are set forth in Sec. 7.6.9.

	7.6.7 Special Height Signs
	A. Only Special Height Signs may exceed the maximum building height permitted in the specific district.
	B. Special Height Signs are allowed in association with Office Uses or Retail Sales and Service Uses as listed in the use table in Sec. 5.1 containing six acres or more, or for Fuel Sales, Overnight Accommodation Uses, Restaurant Uses or Vehicle Sales...

	7.6.8 Standards According to Sign Type
	7.6.9 Freestanding (Pole or Ground) Signs
	A. Maximum Height and Area
	1. Freestanding signs must conform to the area-height-setback relationship indicated in the table below, except as allowed for Special Height Signs as set forth in Sec. 7.6.7.
	2. Freestanding signs must not exceed a height of greater than 50 feet above the level of the street upon which the sign faces, or above the adjoining ground level, if such ground level is above the street level.
	3. Freestanding signs must not exceed 300 square feet in area, except as allowed in incentive provisions.
	4. In the MU, Mixed Use zoning district, freestanding signs must be monument style, not exceeding five feet in height.

	B. Minimum Setback
	C. Minimum Separation
	D. Maximum Number Allowed
	E. Multiple Businesses, Services, Tenants
	1. Buildings housing multiple businesses are encouraged to group signage. A 30 percent increase in sign area is allowed for a group sign, advertising a center with multiple businesses, with no corresponding effect on sign setback and height specified ...
	2. The number of freestanding signs allowed may be increased by one of the following credits.
	a. If more than one business, service or tenant occupies a single building on a lot or tract, a maximum two freestanding signs are allowed. The combination of sign area for the two signs must not exceed the maximum allowed area in the table in Section...
	b. If the lot, tract or parcel exceeds 200' of frontage along the street where the sign is proposed, additional freestanding signs are allowed, in accordance with the following table.


	F. Alternate Sign Plan

	7.6.10 Wall Signs
	A. Location and area
	1. A maximum 50 percent of each tenant's store front, side or rear oriented to each street may be utilized for a wall sign. A single wall sign may not exceed 300 square feet in area.
	2. In the MU district, the maximum aggregate area of wall signs is 200 square feet.
	3. A wall sign must not cover wholly or partially any wall opening, nor project beyond the ends or top of the wall to which it is attached in excess of four feet.
	4. A wall sign must not extend more than six inches beyond the building line or be attached to a wall at a height of less than 10 feet above the sidewalk or ground. Alternative placement may be permitted with approval by the Director of Planning for f...


	7.6.11 Standards for Off-Premise Signs
	A. Sign Permit Required
	B. Dimensional Standards
	1. Location
	2. Minimum Spacing
	a. An off-premise sign along Interstate 35 may not be erected within 1,500 feet of another off-premise sign.
	b. An off-premise sign along H. K. Dodgen Loop may not be erected within 2,000 feet of another off-premise sign, except that, in exchange for the removal of one double-faced sign that is larger than 386 square feet and existing along the Loop on March...
	c. Spacing is measured on the same side of the road, between points along the public street right-of-way of the regulated highway perpendicular to the center of the signs.

	3. Area
	4. Height
	5. Setback

	C. Design Standards
	1. Faces
	2. Roof
	3. Light
	4. Traffic Hazard
	5. Scenic Vista
	6. Construction
	7. Encroachment
	a. A part, foundation or support of any off-premise sign may not be placed on, in or over any of the following:
	i. Public property or street rights-of-way;
	ii. Telephone or utility poles; or
	iii. Natural features such as trees and rocks.

	b. Encroachment into a public utility or drainage easement may be allowed with a street use license.


	D. New Off-Premise Signs
	1. Off-Premise Sign Cap
	2. Inventory
	3. Incentives
	a. To encourage removal of off-premise signs that do not comply with current sign standards, the owner of a sign that was lawfully erected in compliance with all standards then in effect or lawfully in place at the time it was annexed into the City ma...
	b. One credit will be awarded for each face that is removed from a lawfully existing off-premise sign. In order to receive a Sign Permit for the erection of an off-premise sign, 1.25 credits must be used per new face.
	c. The Chief Building Official may issue a Sign Permit to any person holding sufficient credits, for erection of an off-premise sign in an eligible location as set forth in paragraph B.1 above, in his or her sole discretion. The Sign Permit must state...
	d. Credits are transferable.
	e. Credit is received when a permittee removes a sign voluntarily, even if the reason is loss of the lease. Credit may not be awarded for the removal of an off-premise sign that was in violation of federal, state or City laws when erected.
	f. To be awarded a credit under the incentive program, a sign owner or operator must notify the City within 60 days of the removal of an off-premise sign and receive a letter from the City awarding a credit. Failure to apply for a credit within 60 day...
	g. The Director of Planning must provide to the Planning and Zoning Commission, as part of the Commission’s annual report, an accounting of unused credits. The Commission’s annual accounting is final if not appealed in writing to the Commission within...


	E. Residential Zoning Districts
	F. Consent
	G. Protected Vegetation
	H. Identification
	I. Alteration
	J. Demolition
	K. Maintenance
	L. Relocation
	1. Does not require payment of a permit fee;
	2. May be erected a minimum of five feet from any highway right-of-way line;
	3. May be constructed with the same number of poles and same type of materials as the existing sign; and
	4. May be erected without enlarging the sign face.
	5. If the proposed off premise sign does not meet all city standards including minimum spacing, area, height and setback, an applicant must receive approval of a Conditional Use permit for the new location.


	7.6.12 Central Avenue Corridor Standards
	A. Purpose
	B. Jurisdiction
	C. Prohibited Signs
	1. In addition to the sign types prohibited citywide in Sec. 7.6.4, the following sign types are prohibited within the Central Avenue Corridor:
	a. Trash receptacle signs;
	b. Flashing signs;
	c. Temporary non-affixed signs;
	d. Satellite dish signs; and
	e. Roof signs.

	2. Flashing and moving signs are prohibited, except that time and temperature and digital scroll displays are permitted in accordance with the standards in the table in Sec. 7.6.8.

	D. Illumination
	E. Materials
	F. Maintenance
	G. Nonconforming Central Avenue Signs
	H. Easement Encroachment Prohibition
	I. Setback Requirements
	1. In addition to the setback requirements for permitted sign types below, the sign must observe the intersection visibility triangle established in Sec. 4.4.8 at each street corner intersection, each driveway opening and each street or alley intersec...
	2. Along Central Avenue, the sign setback is measured as the perpendicular distance between the nearest curb line parallel to Central Avenue and the leading edge of any portion of a sign.

	J. Signs Not Requiring a Permit in Central Ave Corridor
	K. Signs Requiring a Permit in Central Ave Corridor
	L. Sign Area or Height Increase
	1. The maximum area of a low- or high-profile sign may be increased subject to the following conditions.
	a. A separate changeable copy message board may be a maximum of 15 square feet if used.
	b. The maximum area of the sign may be increased two square feet per tenant over one tenant in a single building;
	c. The maximum area of the sign may be increased one square foot for each one foot setback in addition to 16 feet from the curb.
	d. The cumulative effect of the area increase provisions in paragraphs 1 through c above may result in a maximum sign area increase not exceeding 75 square feet for a low-profile sign and 100 square feet for a high-profile sign.

	2. The maximum height of a high-profile sign may be increased subject to the following conditions.
	a. Such signs on properties located west of the west public street right-of-way line of 31st Street may be a maximum height of 35 feet for visibility from IH-35.
	b. Signs located east of the centerline of 21st Street and west of the centerline of 11th Street, in the vicinity of the Central Avenue grade separation, must be no higher than the higher of either:
	i. 15 feet above the nearest natural grade; or
	ii. The top of the nearest curb of Central Avenue where such curb exceeds 15 feet above the natural grade.





	Sec. 7.7.  Screening and Buffering
	7.7.1 Applicability
	7.7.2 Site Plan and Landscape Plan Required
	7.7.3 Fence and Wall Regulations for Single- and Two-Family Dwellings
	A. Front Yard
	B. Behind Front Yard Setback

	7.7.4 Buffering
	A. Location
	B. Design
	1. Buffering may consist of evergreen hedges composed of plants purchased in five-gallon or larger containers, with a minimum planted height of six feet, placed on 36-inch centers.
	2. Buffering may consist of fences or walls constructed of wood, masonry, stone or pre-cast concrete, with integrated color, texture and pattern. Structural buffering must be from 6 to 8 feet in height above the adjacent grade. Fences or walls used fo...


	7.7.5 Materials for Fences, Walls, Screens and Enclosures
	A. Allowed Materials
	1. Plain or coated chain link (installed as manufactured, without affixing materials such as slats and tarps);
	2. Exterior Insulation and finish systems (EIFS);
	3. Fiberglass composite (manufactured for fencing);
	4. Fired brick;
	5. Latticework that does not exceed 2 feet in height and is anchored as a design element at the top of a 6-foot tall fence;
	6. Natural stone;
	7. Pre-cast concrete;
	8. Split faced block;
	9. Smooth faced block;
	10. Support poles made of metal or wood;
	11. Stucco;
	12. Tubular aluminum;
	13. Tubular steel;
	14. Wood planks; or
	15. Wrought iron.

	B. Prohibited Materials
	C. Electric Fences
	1. An electric fence is allowed in the Agricultural zoning district, with proof submitted to the electrical inspector that the fence will be designed to retain animals, be inaccessible to the general public and not pose a hazard to life.
	2. An electric fence is allowed in association with a permitted nonresidential outdoor storage area in the Commercial, Light Industrial and Heavy Industrial zoning districts subject to the following standards.
	a. Unless otherwise specified in this Section, electric fences must be installed in conformance with the specifications set forth in the City’s electrical code and the International Electroctechnical Commission Standard No. 60335-2-76. In addition, th...
	b. The electric fence controller and emergency entry key safe for the electric fence must be located in a single accessible location for the entire fence.
	c. The electric fence must be surrounded by a non-electrical fence or wall six to eight feet in height.
	d. The electric fence must be installed a minimum of one foot from the surrounding non-electric fence or wall, except along the gate. Along the gate, the electric fence must be installed a minimum of three inches from the surrounding non-electric fenc...
	e. The electric fence must be clearly identified with warning signs at intervals of not less than 60 feet.
	f. The electric fence must only be energized during hours when the public does not have legal access to the protected property.


	D. Barbed Wire Fences
	E. Razor Wire Fences
	F. Construction

	7.7.6 Refuse Containers
	A. Refuse container storage areas must be located in a rear or side service area, or alley where available, for all uses other than single-family and two-family dwellings.
	B. A solid wood or masonry fence must screen from public view refuse container storage areas located within 50 feet of the curb line of a public street or visible from the public street Such fence must be at least one foot higher than the refuse conta...
	C. Placement of refuse container storage areas must allow the collection vehicle maneuvering room to avoid backing into a street or other traffic area.
	D. Refuse container storage areas and gates must be built in accordance with specifications in the Design and Development Standards Manual.

	7.7.7 Outdoor Retail Display
	A. Display Consistent with Classification
	B. Commercial Districts
	1. Auto sales, new or used or auto leasing or rental;
	2. Boat sales or rental;
	3. Motorcycle or scooter sales or rental,
	4. Recreational vehicle sales or rental;
	5. Agricultural and horticultural temporary seasonal product sales in accordance with the general and specific conditions set forth in Sec. 5.6.
	6. Farmers’ markets in accordance with the general and specific conditions set forth in Sec. 5.6.
	7. Greenhouse or nursery (retail) or produce stand;
	8. Farm and garden equipment sales or rental;
	9. Outdoor patio and garden furniture sales or rental;
	10. In the O-1, O-2, NS, C and GR zoning districts, temporary display for a sidewalk sale that does not extend more than 10 feet from front façade and reserves at least five feet of sidewalk or walkway for pedestrian use;
	11. In the CA zoning district, temporary display for a sidewalk sale that does not extend more than five feet from front façade and reserves at least five feet of sidewalk or walkway for pedestrian use; or
	12. Other uses not listed above where the display for sale or lease area is situated behind the principal structure and does not exceed a maximum of 10 percent of the gross floor area of the business.

	C. Industrial Districts

	7.7.8 Outdoor Storage
	A. Residential and MU Districts
	B. CA, O-1, O-2 GR, NS, C, LI and HI Districts
	1. Screening in NS, GR, O-1, O-2 and CA
	2. Screening in C and LI
	3. Screening in HI
	4. Business Park Exception

	C. Outdoor Collection Boxes
	1. Where Permitted
	2. Number Permitted and Location
	a. A maximum of one collection box is permitted per any 500 linear feet of street frontage, regardless of property ownership.
	b. Permitted collection boxes must be placed at least 50 feet from all public right-of-way.
	c. Collection boxes are not permitted in required parking spaces.
	d. Collection boxes are not permitted in landscaped areas.

	3. Dimensions and Specifications Maintenance
	a. The maximum dimensions for a permitted collection box are four feet in length, six feet in height or six feet in width.
	b. Permitted collection boxes must be maintained in repaired and painted condition.
	c. Permitted collection boxes must be emptied regularly and not allowed to overflow.
	d. Items deposited outside a collection box must be removed within 24 hours from deposit.

	4. Permits Required
	a. An applicant must apply for and receive a permit for the placement of a collection box.
	b. The permittee must have written authorization from the property owner allowing placement of the collection box.
	c. Placement of a collection box without a permit is a violation by the person who places the box, owns the box, or owns the property where the box is placed.
	d. The permittee placing or maintaining the collection box must display current information including street address and telephone number on the collection box. This information must be readable and clearly visible to the public.
	e. The permittee and property owner are jointly and severally liable and
	f. The maintenance, upkeep, and servicing of the container and cleanup and removal of donations left on the property outside of the container.
	g. The permit expires 365 days after approval. The permittee must apply for and receive another permit prior to the expiration of the original permit. There is no limit on the number of renewals.



	7.7.9 Maintenance

	Sec. 7.8.  Building Exterior Materials
	7.8.1 Applicability
	7.8.2 Building Elevations Required
	7.8.3 Residential Uses
	A. Definition of a Metal Facade Residential Primary or Accessory Building
	B. Metal Façade Residential Accessory Buildings Allowed by Right
	1. For lots of less than two acres, a new or remodeled metal façade residential accessory building is allowed by right if:
	a. A Building Permit is approved in accordance with Sec. 3.13;
	b. The metal façade residential accessory building is placed on the same lot as the primary residential building;
	c. The square footage of the metal façade residential accessory building does not exceed 15 percent of the primary residential building, or a maximum gross floor area of 320 square feet;
	d. The metal façade residential accessory building has a maximum vertical wall height of eight feet;
	e. There is only one accessory building per lot; and
	f. The metal façade residential accessory building is located in the rear half of the lot, and meets all yard setbacks and coverage maximums established in Article 4.

	2. For lots of two acres or more, a new or remodeled metal façade residential accessory building is allowed by right if:
	a. A Building Permit is approved in accordance with Sec. 3.13;
	b. The metal façade residential accessory building is placed on the same lot as the primary residential building;
	c. The square footage of the metal façade residential accessory building does not exceed 5,000 square feet;
	d. The metal exterior accessory building has a maximum vertical wall height of sixteen feet;
	e. There is only one accessory building per lot; and
	f. The metal façade residential accessory building is located in the rear half of the lot, and meets all yard setbacks and coverage maximums established in Article 4.


	C. Metal Façade Primary Residential Buildings Allowed by Right
	1. A Building Permit is approved in accordance with Sec. 3.13;
	2. It is the first structure placed on a lot;
	3. The metal façade primary residential building contains an exterior siding material of an approved steel or a vinyl siding, and applied in a horizontal lap joint treatment as the City adopted International Residential Code requires;
	4. The Director of Planning determines that the metal façade primary residential building is complimentary to the character of the residential neighborhood served, taking into consideration the review criteria set forth in subsection E below; and
	5. The metal façade primary residential building meets all yard setbacks and coverage maximums. Established in Article 4.

	D. Metal Façade Residential Accessory or Principal Buildings Allowed by Special Permit Only
	1. In situations where a metal façade primary or accessory residential building is not allowed as a matter of right, a Special Permit is required to place a metal exterior primary or accessory residential building on a residential lot.
	2. The Director of Planning may approve a Special Permit as part of the Building Permit review process. If the Director of Planning denies a request for a Special Permit, the property owner may appeal the decision to the City Council, who may grant a ...

	E. Special Permit Review Criteria
	1. Current and future uses of the property and adjacent property for which a Special Permit for a metal façade primary or accessory residential building is sought in keeping with the City’s Comprehensive Plan;
	2. Whether other metal exterior primary or accessory residential buildings are currently found within 200 feet of the subject building location;
	3. The visibility of metal sides of proposed metal exterior primary and accessory residential building from public streets or adjoining properties;
	4. Whether 25 percent or more of any exterior wall of the metal façade primary or accessory residential building is made of metal and visible to the surrounding properties or public streets;
	5. The extent to which the appearance of the metal façade mimics the appearance of wood or masonry products for which no Special Permit is required; and
	6. Whether existing or proposed semi-permanent screening (e.g., topography, landscaping, masonry walls, etc.) would shield the metal façade from adjoining properties or public streets from view.

	F. Documentation

	7.8.4 Nonresidential and Multiple-Family Uses
	A. Purpose
	B. Applicability
	1. The standards of this Section apply to building construction that occurs after April 17, 2008. Buildings in existence or permitted before April 17, 2008, may continue to utilize materials other than those listed as approved materials so long as any...
	2. The standards of this Section apply to the first two stories or first 25 feet of vertical height, whichever is lower, of the following types of construction:
	a. New nonresidential or multiple-family buildings; or
	b. Additions to such buildings, whether connected or not, that are determined to be a single building plot.

	3. The standards of this Section apply to primary, secondary and accessory buildings.

	C. Exceptions
	1. Residential buildings other than multiple-family dwellings;
	2. Buildings in a public or quasi-public business park in existence before April 17, 2008;
	3. Buildings located in the AG, Agricultural zoning district; or
	4. Buildings located in the LI, Light Industrial or HI, Heavy Industrial zoning district, if the buildings are more than 500 linear feet away from residentially zoned property (measured starting from the closest edge of the residentially zoned propert...

	D. Designation of Strategic Corridor Streets for Properties Zoned LI or HI.
	a. IH-35;
	b. South 1st Street from South H. K. Dodgen Loop to intersection with South 3rd Street;
	c. South 5th Street from SH 93 to the intersection of West Avenue M;
	d. Central Avenue from IH 35 to Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard;
	e. FM 2305;
	f. FM 1741 (31st Street) from FM 93 to IH 35;
	g. FM 93;
	h. SH 317;
	i. Outer Loop;
	j. Loop 363 (H. K. Dodgen Loop);
	k. SH 53;
	l. FM 2271;
	m. Canyon Creek Drive from South 5th Street to South 31st Street;
	n. Marlandwood Drive, from South 5th Street to South 31st Street;
	o. Lowes Drive;
	p. Raleigh Drive;
	q. Kegley Road;
	r. Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard;
	s. Avenue M;
	t. Avenue G;
	u. Avenue H;
	v. 3rd Street;
	w. 57th Street;
	x. 25th Street; and
	y. SH 36

	E. Extent of Strategic Corridors
	1. Tracts of land that abut or adjoin a public street or highway designated as a strategic corridor;
	2. Tracts of land that are developed, used, managed or marketed as a group that includes a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public street or highway designated as a strategic corridor; or
	3. Tracts of land that share parking space with a tract of land that abuts or adjoins a public street or highway designated as a strategic corridor.

	F. Standards
	1. Façade
	a. Natural stone;
	b. Fired brick;
	c. Split-faced block;
	d. Tile;
	e. Granite;
	f. Marble;
	g. Stucco;
	h. Exterior Insulation and Finish Systems;
	i. Tilt-wall concrete, including, but not limited to smooth faced, patterned and aggregate materials, and other concrete products, such as thin-set masonry, that simulate brick, stone, marble, granite or tile to appear being laid up unit by unit;
	j. Fibrous masonry product that simulates a wood or stucco material to appear being laid up unit by unit that is equal to or less than 45 percent of the 70 percent minimum coverage ; or
	k. Smooth-faced block that appears to be laid up unit by unit that is equal to or less than 45 percent of the 70 percent minimum coverage.

	2. Combinations
	3. Measurement
	4. Integration
	5. Multiple-Family Dwellings
	6. Rear Façade
	a. Permanent evergreen plantings, a minimum of five feet planted height, spaced 48 inches on center;
	b. Masonry or wood fences or walls, a minimum of six feet in height; or
	c. Alternative screening materials and methods that the Director of Planning approves.


	G. Additional Standards Based on Building Square Footage
	1. A portion of the façade must consist of fired brick or natural stone laid up unit by unit to meet the following proportions in relation to building square footage:
	2. The façade must incorporate articulation consisting of a minimum of two of the following design elements spaced every 45 linear feet for the front façade plus one design element spaced every 45 linear feet for the other facades, excluding the rear ...
	a. Columns;
	b. Canopies;
	c. Arches; or
	d. Awnings.

	3. For buildings less than or equal to 100,000 square feet in area, articulation must project a minimum of two feet from the vertical wall.
	4. For buildings greater than 100,000 square feet in area, articulation must project a minimum of five feet from the vertical wall.

	H. Exceptions
	1. Review Criteria
	a. Visibility from the public street right-of-way and adjoining properties;
	b. Percentage exception requested;
	c. Existing or proposed permanent screening (topography, permanent evergreen landscaping, masonry walls, berms, other screening techniques);
	d. Extent to which facades have building articulation, fenestration or architectural relief, contrasting complementary colors, columns, canopies and arches; and
	e. Whether the material sought furthers an architectural theme.

	2. Material Samples
	3. Technological Advances




	Article 8 Subdivision Design and Improvements
	Sec. 8.1. General Provisions
	8.1.1 Authority
	8.1.2 Applicability
	A. Unless otherwise stated, the standards of this Article apply if a property is proposed to be subdivided in accordance with the procedures set forth in Sec. 3.6, Sec. 3.7 or Sec. 3.8.
	B. This Article is administered in coordination with all other applicable local, state or federal ordinances, codes, standards and regulations. The provisions in this Article are also administered in conjunction with the Comprehensive Plan, Design and...
	C. Plat approval is not required for a division of land into two or more parts for the sole purpose of securing a loan, so long as all of the land remains in the same ownership.

	8.1.3 Type of Improvements Required
	A.  The applicant must provide the following improvements, of adequate width and size, in accordance with the standards of this UDC, the Design and Development Standards Manual, The Drainage Criteria Manual, City Code Chapter 12 (Fire prevention and P...
	1. Building setback lines;
	2. Public streets and alleys;
	3. Sidewalks;
	4. Easements;
	5. Blocks and lots;
	6. Water, wastewater and drainage facilities;
	7. Fire hydrants;
	8. Street lights;
	9. Parks;
	10. Other public places or facilities.

	B. Fire hydrants in the extraterritorial jurisdiction
	1. The proposed plat is not within the City’s fire district;
	2. The City does not provide water service to the area proposed for platting; and
	3. The City has not set forth plans to annex the area proposed for platting in the City’s Municipal Annexation Plan.

	C. The applicant must coordinate street layouts and street planning with the Comprehensive Plan, with other municipalities, and with county, state and federally designated highways, as applicable review bodies may deem in the best interest of the gene...

	8.1.4 Compliance with Exceptions
	A. The City does not repair, maintain, install, provide , or issue permits for any streets or public services in any subdivision for which a Final Plat has not been approved and filed for record in accordance with Sec. 3.6.6, nor in which the standard...
	B. The City does not repair, maintain, install or provide private streets, facilities or improvements.

	8.1.5 Requirements for Recorded Plat to Obtain Permits
	8.1.6 Utility Services
	A. The City does not sell or supply any water or wastewater services to or within any subdivision platted after October 6, 1994, for which a Final Plat has not been approved and filed of record in accordance with Sec. 3.6.6. If an exception to the sta...
	B. The City will not make a water or wastewater connection until City inspection confirms that the requirements as to the installation of water and wastewater mains have been met within the block facing the street on which the property is situated. Th...

	8.1.7 Dedication of Land for Public Use
	8.1.8 Planned Developments
	A. Submittal and Review Provisions
	B. Instruments of Covenants

	8.1.9 Private Streets, Facilities or Improvements
	A. The association bears total responsibility for maintenance in perpetuity of private improvements; and
	B. A program is established that requires the maintenance of private facilities.

	8.1.10 City Coordinates

	Sec. 8.2. Design Standards
	8.2.1 Streets
	A. Street Classifications
	1. Rural Local Street;
	2. Local Street;
	3. Rural Collector Street;
	4. Collector Street;
	5. Arterial Street; and
	6. Major Thoroughfare.

	B. Street Proposed in Comprehensive Plan
	C. Right-of-Way and Pavement Dimensional Standards
	1. The minimum standards for public street right-of-way and street pavement width are as follows:
	2. Pavement width of a street with curbs and gutters is measured from back-of-curb to back-of-curb. Pavement width of a rural street with concrete ribbon edging is measured from outer edge of asphalt to outer edge of asphalt.
	3. Where the Director of Public Works has specifically determined that no substantial problems are created, a maximum of 10 feet on either side of a roadway may be required to be dedicated as utility easement in lieu of a comparable number of feet in ...
	4. Depending on traffic patterns, densities, needs and other related factors, the City may require:
	a. Additional pavement width or public street right-of-way width for major thoroughfares;
	b. Additional public street right-of-way in vicinity of intersections of collector, arterial and major thoroughfares to adequately accommodate turning movements or access; and
	c. Additional easements needed to provide for utilities.


	D. Street Layout
	1. General
	2. Relation to Adjoining Street System
	3. Residential Subdivision Entrances
	4. Projection of Streets
	a. Where adjoining areas are not subdivided, the arrangement of streets in the subdivision must make provisions for the future projection of streets into such unsubdivided areas, unless the Comprehensive Plan provides otherwise.
	b. Subdivisions must provide for the location of a reasonable number of street openings to adjoining properties. Such an opening must occur a minimum of every 1,000 feet or in alignment with existing or proposed subdivision streets along each boundary...
	c. The developer must convey or dedicate land to the appropriate public entity for the future projection of collector and larger streets into adjoining, unsubdivided areas. For the future projection of local streets, the developer must either dedicate...

	5. Prohibition of Reserve Strips
	6. Local Streets

	E. Curvilinear Streets
	1. Curvilinear streets must meet the following standards.
	2. The City Council may approve local streets with smaller radii than required above in accordance with the exception provisions in Sec. 3.6.7. In the case of such an approval, the applicant must pay the additional cost of installing water and wastewa...

	F. Half Streets and Adjacent Streets
	G. Street Intersections
	1. Subdivision layout must provide for a minimum practical number of intersections with arterials, and those intersections should be with collector streets at intervals of a minimum of 800 feet.
	2. Off-center street intersections will not be approved; however, street jogs with centerline offsets of more than 180 feet may be submitted for consideration in accordance with the exception provisions in Sec. 3.6.7.
	3. More than two streets intersecting at one point is not permitted.
	4. A street may not intersect any other street at an angle of less than 60 degrees and curb radii at the corner must be adjusted accordingly.
	5. Major thoroughfare intersections must have property line corner chords with a minimum tangent distance of 30 feet.
	6. Curb radii at intersections, including alley openings, must be a minimum of 15 feet, measured from face of curb, except in nonresidential developments where the radii must be a minimum of 20 feet. Curb radii for drive approaches are set forth in Se...

	H. Cul-de-Sacs
	I. Typical Street Section
	J. Street Grade
	1. Streets other than local streets must have a maximum grade of five percent, unless the natural topography requires steeper grades, in which case a seven and one-half percent grade may be used, if the site distance is adequate and there are no inter...
	2. Local streets may have a maximum grade of seven and one-half percent.
	3. All streets must have a minimum grade of five-tenths of one percent.
	4. Centerline grade changes with an algebraic difference of more than two percent must be connected with vertical curves of sufficient length to provide a minimum of 600 feet sight distance on collectors, arterials and major thoroughfares. A minimum s...
	5. If a cross slope is necessary or desirable from one curb to the opposite curb, such cross slopes must not exceed 12 inches in 30 feet.

	K. Curbs and Gutters
	1. Streets must be edged with curbs and gutters and designed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual. Rural local and rural collector streets must be edged with 12-inch wide concrete ribbons.
	2. Radial curbs and gutters must be constructed at each corner upon each block to which curbs and gutters are constructed.
	3. Lay-down curbs must be constructed across all alleys with street intersections.
	4. State specifications govern construction and alteration of state highways.

	L. Street Construction by Bonded Contractor
	M. Street Post and Markers
	N. Monuments
	O. Streets Within Planned Developments
	P. Provision for Replatting Subdivisions

	8.2.2 Alleys
	A. Generally
	B. Intersection of Alleys
	C. Dead-End Alleys

	8.2.3 Sidewalks and Trails
	A. Purpose
	B. Where Required
	1. Sidewalks must be provided in the public street right-of-way, along both sides of arterial streets and along one side of collector streets.
	2. The location of new sidewalks along a collector street must be in the established pattern, or as the Director of Planning determines, considering available public street right-of-way and existing or future infrastructure, or, all factors being equa...

	C. Dimensional and Construction Standards
	1. Sidewalks along local (if provided) and collector streets must be a minimum of four feet wide.
	2. Sidewalks along arterial streets must be a minimum of six feet wide.
	3. Sidewalks must be built in line with existing sidewalks. In the absence of an adjoining sidewalk, the edge of the sidewalk closest to the street must be a minimum of two feet from the curb. This section should not be construed to prohibit paving th...
	4. Sidewalks must be built in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	5. Construction plans must be submitted with the Building Permit application. Required sidewalks must be constructed before the Chief Building Official issues a Certificate of Occupancy.
	6. Obstructions including, but not limited to utility poles and signs are not permitted in sidewalks.

	D. Sidewalk Not Required
	1. Where the subject property is proposed for single-family residential use in the UE (Urban Estates) zoning district.
	2. Where the subject property is located along streets within Industrial Parks described below:
	a. Northwest Industrial Park – for the purposes of this Section the Northwest Industrial Park consists of properties within or fronting on the boundary depicted below and formed by:
	i. Moore’s Mill Road from Wendland Road to Pegasus Drive;
	ii. Pegasus Drive from Moore’s Mill Road to North General Bruce Drive;
	iii. North General Bruce Drive from Pegasus Drive to Enterprise Road;
	iv. Enterprise Road from North General Bruce Drive to Eberhardt Road;
	v. Eberhardt Road from Enterprise Road to Industrial Boulevard;
	vi. Industrial Boulevard from Eberhardt Road to Wendland Road; and
	vii. Wendland Road from Industrial Boulevard to Moore’s Mill Road.

	b. Southeast Industrial park – for the purposes of this Section, the Southeast Industrial park consists of properties within or fronting on the boundary depicted below and formed by:
	i. East Avenue H from one-half mile west of the western H.K. Dodgen Loop right-of-way line to easternmost city limit line;
	ii. The easternmost city limit line from East Avenue H to Farm to Market Road 3117;
	iii. Farm to market road 3117 from the easternmost city limit line to the eastern State Highway 36 right-of-way line;
	iv. The eastern State Highw36 right-of-way line from the southern city limit line to the eastern H.K. Dodgen Loop right-of-way line;
	v. A straight line from the eastern State Highway 36 right-of-way line to one-half mile west of the western H.K. Dodgen Loop right-of-way line.



	E. Cost Sharing for Sidewalks
	1. On portions of property developed for single-family residential use that adjoin an arterial street, or a County, State, or Federally maintained highway, the developer shall build an arterial width sidewalk, and the City shall bear the cost of sidew...

	F. Waiver of Sidewalk Requirements

	8.2.4 Utility Easements
	A. Each block that does not contain an alley must contain or have access to a utility easement at the rear of all lots, or at other appropriate locations as determined by utility providers or the City Engineer, reserved for the use of all public utili...
	B. Required drainage easements must allow for a minimum of 15 feet in width in addition to any width required for a drainageway structure. This easement may be split between drainageway sides but one side (easement) must be a minimum of 10 feet in wid...
	C. The developer must arrange with the appropriate utility provider for the payment or refund of construction costs of each utility involved.
	D. Where two utility easements intersect or turn at right angles, a diagonal of not less than 10 feet from the normal intersection of the easement line is required. At other angles the Director of Public Works must review the diagonal length.

	8.2.5 Blocks
	A. Intersecting streets determining block lengths must be provided at such intervals as to serve cross traffic adequately and to meet existing streets or contemporary and accepted subdivision practices.
	B. Blocks must be designed with the standards in the Design and Development Standards Manual.
	C. A plat must demonstrate reasonable provisions in the street layout for the public health and safety, particularly the circulation of emergency vehicles and anticipated truck traffic.

	8.2.6 Lots
	A. General Requirements
	B. Access to Lots
	C. Side Lot Lines
	D. Extra Depth and Width in Certain Cases
	1. Where a lot in a residential area backs up to a railroad right-of-way, a high pressure gasoline, oil or gas line, an industrial area or other land use that has a depreciating effect on the residential use of property, and where no marginal access s...
	2. In no case may a residential lot depth in excess of 175 feet be required. Additional lot width, up to 100 feet may be required where a residential lot sides to the conditions described in paragraph 1 above.

	E. Lot Arrangement
	F. Subsequent Platting

	8.2.7 Water and Wastewater
	A. Size of Water Mains
	1. The recommendation of the design engineer for the developer;
	2. Peak demands for domestic and irrigation use of water;
	3. Fire protection and hydrant coverage; and
	4. Growth and development possibilities for the area.

	B. Size of Wastewater Lines
	1. The recommendation of the design engineer for the developer;
	2. Peak demands; and
	3. Growth and development possibilities for the area.

	C. Wastewater Clean Outs
	1. Full-size clean outs may be used in place of manholes at the end of cul-de-sacs where
	a. Wastewater mains run in a straight line;
	b. A maximum of three service lines converge at one point; and
	c. The distance from the proposed cleanout to the nearest manhole is less than 500 feet.

	2. Each home or building drain must be provided with a clean out near the junction of the building drain and building sewer, in accordance with Chapter 7, Article 21, Plumbing Code, of the Code of Ordinances and the Design and Development Standards Ma...

	D. Time of Construction
	E. Fire Hydrants
	F. On-Site Sewage Facilities
	1. A subdivision with a proposed on-site sewage facility must not be approved if adequate wastewater service is available within 500 feet of the property line of the subdivision or if the subdivision contains one or more lots that are less than 22,500...
	2. The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve a subdivision with on-site sewage facilities containing lots that are less than 22,500 but more than 15,000 square feet in area if:
	a. Such subdivision predominantly contains either the Altoya, Bastrop, Lewisville, Mendard or Venas soil series; and
	b. The owner or developer of the subdivision demonstrates by convincing evidence that due to soil type, volume of sewage, topography, building size, density, percolation tests, design of the on-site sewage facility and other relevant factors that a sm...

	3. In no event may such a subdivision be approved containing lots which that are less than 15,000 square feet in size.


	8.2.8 Drainage and Storm Sewers
	A. Drainage structures must be designed and constructed in accordance with the Drainage Criteria and Design Manual and in such locations and of such size and dimensions to adequately serve the subdivision and associated drainage area as demonstrated o...
	B. In new subdivisions, the developer must provide all the necessary easements and rights-of-way required for drainage structures, including storm sewer and open or paved channels.

	8.2.9 Flood Damage Prevention
	8.2.10 Street Lights
	8.2.11 Subdivision Construction Standards
	A. Inspection of Construction Work
	B. Addressing, Street Naming and Subdivision Naming
	C. Administration of Construction Standards
	D. Costs of Installation

	8.2.12 Avigation Release
	8.2.13 Development on H. K. Dodgen Loop
	A. Provision of Loop and Frontage Road Right-of-Way
	1. Any property subdivided or upon which a Building Permit is requested, that fronts on H.K. Dodgen Loop, must be built upon or subdivided in such a manner so as to provide for the main lanes for H.K. Dodgen and frontage road, where necessary, that co...
	2. An owner or developer of property fronting H.K. Dodgen Loop desiring to subdivide, or obtain a Building Permit on said property must submit a plat or site plan to the City for approval. The plat must address public street right-of-way for the main ...

	B. Access Standards
	1. General Requirements
	a. Temporary Access
	b. Shared Access
	c. Internal Circulation
	d. Temporary Deceleration Lane
	e. New Crossovers

	2. Standards and Specifications



	Sec. 8.3.  Park Land Dedication
	8.3.1 Requirements for Park Land Dedication
	A. General Requirements
	1. Whenever an approved residential Final Plat is filed of record with the County Clerk of Bell County, such plat must contain a clear fee simple dedication of an area of land to the City for park purposes. Such area must equal one acre for each 133 p...
	2. All plats must show the area proposed to be dedicated under this Section. The payment of cash may meet the parkland dedication that this Section requires when this Section permits or requires.
	3. The City Council declares the development of an area smaller than three acres for the public park purposes as impractical. Therefore, if a Preliminary Plat proposes fewer than 399 units resulting in a required dedication of less than three acres, t...
	4. Where an area of less than five acres is required to be dedicated, the  Planning and Zoning Commission  may accept the dedication or require payment of cash instead of land dedication in the amount that Sec. 8.3.2 requires if it determines that suf...
	5. The dedication that this Section requires must be made by the filing of the Final Plat clearly showing such parkland dedication or contemporaneously by separate instrument unless additional dedication is required subsequent to the filing of the Fin...
	6. Before any dedication of parkland or payment of cash instead of land dedication may be required, the Planning and Zoning Commission must find at the public meeting at which the subdivision is considered for final approval, that the dedication of pa...
	7. If payment of cash instead of land dedication is determined to be appropriate, the Director of Parks and Leisure Services must determine the location of the park where the funds will be spent within 90 days of the final acceptance of the completed ...
	8. When the Temple Housing Authority or Habitat for Humanity is the developer of a subdivision, park dedication requirements (land or cash) may be waived, and the City must provide or obtain park land, or fund the park fee, to assure provision of neig...

	B. Prior Dedication or Absence of Prior Dedication
	1. Credit may be given for dedication of land or cash paid instead of land dedication that was dedicated or paid pursuant to the previously existing zoning ordinance or subdivision ordinance of the City.
	2. If a dedication requirement arose prior to the passage of this section, the ordinance in effect at the time such obligation arose controls that dedication requirement, except that additional dedication is required if the actual density of the dwell...

	C. General Requirements in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ)
	1. The area proposed for development is more than one mile from the existing city limits’
	2. The proposed subdivision will create fewer than nine lots; and
	3. The City has not set forth plans to annex the area proposed for development in the City's Municipal Annexation Plan.


	8.3.2 Cash Instead of Land Dedication
	A. A land owner responsible for dedication under this Section may elect to meet the requirements of Sec. 8.3.1 in whole or in part by cash payment instead of land dedication in the amount set forth in subsection B below. Such payment instead of land d...
	B. The dedication requirement may be met by a payment of cash instead of land dedication sufficient to acquire land and provide for adjacent streets and utilities for a neighborhood park to serve the area in which such development is located. Such per...
	C. The City Council, following a recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission, may reduce the per dwelling unit contribution for multiple family dwellings and manufactured home land lease community by a maximum of one half if they are satisfie...
	D. The Director of Parks and Leisure Services may reduce the per dwelling unit contribution for a land lease community by one-half to credit the development for required onsite recreational amenities.

	8.3.3 Comprehensive Plan Considerations
	8.3.4 Special Fund and Right to Refund
	A. There is hereby established a special fund for the deposit of all sums paid instead of land dedication under this section. The fund is known as the Parkland Dedication Fund. All monies set aside in the fund must be used exclusively for park and rec...
	B. The City must account for all sums paid instead of land dedication under this Section with reference to the individual plats involved and the contributing developer. Funds designated for development of an existing neighborhood park must be spent wi...
	C. Funds designated for land acquisition and development of a new neighborhood park must be spent within five years from receipt.
	D. When funds from several different subdivisions are being accumulated to develop a neighborhood park serving several different subdivisions they must be segregated in an account earmarked for that particular project within the parkland dedication fu...
	E. The placing of a parkland dedication fund in a "treasury fund" that the Director of Finance has established is not deemed a violation of this Section, so long as the Director of Finance maintains a separate account for these proceeds for the purpos...

	8.3.5 Additional Requirements
	A. Any land dedicated to the City under this section must be suitable for recreational purposes, such as for parks, playgrounds and usable open space.
	B. The following characteristics of proposed parkland areas are generally unsuitable:
	1. Any area is primarily, (more than 50 percent), located in the hundred year floodplain.
	2. Any areas are of unusable topography or slope that render more than 25 percent of the area unusable for organized recreational activities.
	3. Due to unusual circumstances relating to subsoil, slope or topography, the development of the property for park or recreational purposes would be extremely difficult or expensive as the Director of Public Works and the Director of Parks and Leisure...

	C. The above characteristics of a park land dedication area may be grounds for denial of any Preliminary or Final Plat.
	D. Drainage areas may be accepted as a part of a park if the channel is constructed in accordance with the Design and Development Standards Manual, and if the channel cuts off no significant area of the park from public access. Provided, however, that...
	E. Each park must have ready access to an improved public street so as to provide visual access to a majority of the park area.


	Sec. 8.4. Improvement Guarantees
	Sec. 8.5.  City Participation
	8.5.1 Perimeter Streets
	A. Local and Collector Streets
	B. Arterial and Larger Streets

	8.5.2 Internal Streets
	A. A substantial amount of traffic will be generated from, to or through the subdivision because of existing or future conditions; or
	B. The Comprehensive Plan indicates a need for certain major thoroughfares through or adjacent to the subdivision.



	Article 9 Nonconformities
	Sec. 9.1. General
	9.1.1 The provisions of this Article are adopted pursuant to Local Government Code Chapters 43, 211 and 212.
	9.1.2 Nonconformities are those land uses, structures, signs or lots of record that do not conform with the requirements of this UDC. The adoption of this UDC does not make nonconformities illegal; however, nonconformities must not be modified except ...
	9.1.3 Nothing in this Article prohibits the ordinary repair and maintenance of a nonconformity.

	Sec. 9.2. Nonconforming Uses and Structures
	9.2.1 A nonconforming status for a use or structure exists when:
	A. On September 19, 1991, the use or structure was in existence and lawfully constructed, located and operating in accordance with the provisions of the previously existing zoning ordinance; or
	B. As a result of amendments to this UDC, the use or structure does not comply with the standards of this UDC.

	9.2.2 A nonconforming use or structure lawfully existing and operating prior to the adoption of this UDC may not be increased, enlarged or expanded beyond that, as it existed on September 19, 1991, except in the following circumstances.
	A. To provide off-street loading or off-street parking spaces upon approval of the Zoning Board of Adjustment; or
	B. To remodel or build an addition to an existing residential structure in a LI, Light Industrial or HI, Heavy Industrial district, in conformance with the Area Regulations for Single-Family Dwelling-3 districts.
	C. To replace a mobile home with a HUD-Code manufactured home or a HUD-Code manufactured home with a different HUD-Code manufactured home, on property where the existing mobile home or HUD-Code manufactured home was in existence and lawfully located b...

	9.2.3 Any nonconforming use may be changed to a conforming use and once such change is made, the use must not be changed back to a nonconforming use.
	9.2.4 If a nonconforming use is abandoned, all nonconforming rights cease and the use of the premises must, from that point on, be in conformity with this UDC. Abandonment involves the intent of the user or owner to discontinue a nonconforming operati...
	9.2.5 If a nonconforming structure or a structure occupied by a nonconforming use is destroyed by fire, the elements or other cause, it may not be rebuilt except to conform to the provisions of this UDC. In the case of partial destruction of a nonconf...
	9.2.6 Where a lot, tract or parcel is occupied by a lawful structure, and where the acquisition of public street right-of-way by a City, county, state or federal agency causes such structure to become nonconforming regarding any requirement of this UD...
	9.2.7 The Zoning Board of Adjustment may require the discontinuance of nonconforming uses or structures under any plan whereby the full value of the structure and facilities can be amortized within a definite period of time, taking into consideration ...
	9.2.8 The Zoning Board of Adjustment may permit an extension of the two-year amortization period for nonconforming use as a sexually oriented business under the terms of the City’s regulations governing sexually oriented businesses. The applicant must...
	A. The full amortizable value of structures and fixtures attached such structures if the applicant made such investments prior to September 19, 1991 or prior to the first required public notice by the City Council of its intent to annex the land when ...
	B. The net profits and depreciation realized during the two-year amortization period; and
	C. Any incidental costs associated with termination of the nonconforming use, such as structural demolition expenses or moving expenses of nonfixture property.

	9.2.9 After examining such evidence and hearing discussion by City staff and the applicant, the Zoning Board of Adjustment may, if necessary, grant any extension that the applicant is due under the terms of this subsection.

	Sec. 9.3. Nonconforming Signs

	Article 10 Enforcement, Violations and Penalties
	Sec. 10.1. Enforcement
	10.1.1 See Sec. 1.4 of the UDC. Administration, interpretation and enforcement of this UDC is the shared responsibilities of the Director of Planning and the Chief Building Official, in coordination with the Director of Public Works. Administration of...
	10.1.2 See Sec. 1.4 of the UDC. The City Attorney may institute appropriate action in a court of competent jurisdiction to enforce the provisions of this UDC with respect to any applicable violation that occurs within any area subject to the provision...

	Sec. 10.2. Violations
	Sec. 10.3. Penalties

	Article 11 Definitions
	Sec. 11.1. Abbreviations
	Sec. 11.2. Defined Terms
	(a) To help residents recuperate from the effects of drugs or alcohol addiction;
	(b)  To help homeless persons or families achieve independence and obtain permanent housing; or
	(c)  To provide temporary shelter for persons who are victims of domestic abuse.







